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INTRODUCTION 

SUPERMAC 1894-1986 
mn 

Harold Macmillan was one of the most successful actors to 
reach 10 Downing Street in the twentieth century. His career 
as a Member of Parliament ran for forty years from 1924, and 
when illness forced him to resign the premiership in October 
1963 he had held the office for seven years, a longer continu- 
ous period than any of his twentieth-century predecessors had 
enjoyed. In the last fifteen years of his active career, and even 
more so in a long and occasionally mischievous retirement, he 
depended for power and influence upon a persona which was 
lovingly crafted to take advantage of the times. As the ever- 
unflappable Supermac, who invented the “Middle Way’ in the 
1930s, built more houses than any Housing Minister before or 
since, invented Premium Bonds, told an electorate that they 

had ‘never had it so good’, and restored Britain’s position in 
the world in the role of Greece to the new American Rome, he 

was also the ‘last Edwardian in Downing Street’ who sustained 
the grace and style of a lost generation at the summit of power. 
No historical reinterpretation can take this away from him; but 
no historical interpretation can now overlook the strenuous 
effort he expended on these displays of ‘effortless superior- 
ity’, the nervous tension which drove the ‘unflappable’ prime 

minister, the risks and disappointments which punctuated his 
relations with American presidents, or the self-seeking ruth- 
lessness which governed his relations with colleagues and his 
approach to political issues, from the beginning to the end of 
a long and highly successful political career. 

Like all truly successful politicians, Macmillan possessed a de- 
gree of ambition which could be lethal to competitors. Unlike 
many, he was able to turn this energy and ambition to political 
ends which seemed radical and constructive, even if hindsight 
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MACMILLAN 

suggests that they were not enough to deal with the problems 

which he had identified. During his ministerial career he was 

preoccupied with Britain’s changing circumstances, economic 

and political. Protecting British interests abroad and reshaping 

commitments to match resources were the watchwords of his 

overseas policy: they led him to retreat from the empire, culti- 

vate the American connection and in due course seek British 

entry to the European Common Market. At home he was an 

ingenious but often unlucky manager of a declining economy, 

who saw clearly that structural renewal was needed but found 

his government buffeted by the short-term pressures of infla- 

tion and recurrent crises in the balance of payments. In his 

handling of domestic and foreign policy he was very often at 

odds with his party, and perhaps his greatest achievement was 

to lead the Conservative Party so far towards places which it 
never knew it wanted to visit. 

Towards the end of his premiership he was widely criticised 
for preferring show to substance and for defending an an- 
cien régime with cynical disregard for the country’s real needs. 
Macmillan’s reputation evaporated during the 1964 General 
Election. He was the real target of Labour’s charge of ‘thir- 
teen wasted years’: his was the economic policy of ‘stop-go’ 
which had discredited demand-management without putting 
anything useful in its place; his was the government which had 
subordinated British policy to the ‘special relationship’ with 
the United States and then bungled entry into Europe; his 
was the offhand political style which had alienated government 
from the rising generations, while condoning the depravity of 
the Profumo scandal. His memoirs, which began to appear in 
1966, were an attempt to rebut these charges, if only by burying 
them under a mountain of detail, but it was an uphill struggle. 
The first examination of his full political career, by Anthony 
Sampson, appeared in 1967 with the sub-title ‘A Study in Am- 
biguity’, and retained the quizzical perspective which seemed 
natural for the 1960s. A brilliant essay by Larry Siedentop, pub- 
lished in 1970, was the first academic effort to analyse his whole 
career, and looked behind the persona to the working politi- 

cian. Siedentop was no hagiographer, but he took Macmillan 
seriously, made an effort to distinguish style from content and 
to see style as part of political technique, and thereby set a new 
and useful tone for examination of his subject’s contribution 
to politics and policy. By now, though, it was becoming appar- 
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INTRODUCTION: SUPERMAC 1894-1986 

ent that Macmillan himself was well able to influence his own 
historical reputation by the weight of his own writing, and by 
merely staying alive. His major work of the 1930s, The Middle 
Way, was republished in 1966 with a polemical essay ‘The Mid- 
dle Way: 20 Years After’, which combined a swingeing attack 
on the Labour Party with a bold claim that the Tories were 
the permanent rightful tenants of the political middle ground. 
His memoirs of his premiership appeared in the early 1970s, 

enabling reviewers to contrast an earlier Conservative govern- 
ment’s competence with the uncomfortable experiences of the 
Heath administration; rumours even surfaced that Macmillan, 

only in his mid-seventies and renewed in health, was waiting 
to be recalled to the leadership if events took a turn for the 
worse. ! 

The election of Margaret Thatcher to the Conservative lead- 
ership in 1975 made it clear that the Conservative Party was 
not, for the moment, looking for a return to the Toryism 
of ‘One Nation’. Yet the contrast between the new and the 
old party did no damage to Macmillan’s reputation among the 
party’s enemies and the new leader’s few surviving opponents 
within the party. The self-conscious repudiation of the alleged 
post-war consensus has stirred critics to compare the economic 
performance of Macmillan’s governments with the experience 
of the 1980s, and find in favour of Macmillan.2, Macmillan 

himself was known to object to the Thatcher government’s pri- 
vatisation policy, which has endeared him to the Centre and 
to the Left. New information about the 1964-70 Labour gov- 
ernment reveals the hollowness of Labour’s criticism of its pre- 
decessors.’ In this climate Alistair Horne’s official biography, 

the appearance of which was postponed until after Macmillan’s 
death, was eagerly awaited. In the event, despite the breadth 
of unpublished material from the Macmillan archives available 
exclusively to an official biographer, it is not clear that very 
much of the received interpretation will have been changed 
by its appearance. Horne has confirmed what many had sus- 
pected, and for an official biographer his personal judgements 
are unusually candid and sometimes acerbic. But he does not 
seek to alter the main outlines of Macmillan’s own account 
of his political career, nor to reassess his position within the 

Conservative Party. 



MACMILLAN 

MACMILLAN IN PROFILE 

As a ‘Profile in Power’ this book is not offered as a definitive 
biographical study, let alone as a substitute for the official biog- 
raphy. Its purpose is to assess Macmillan as a political leader, 
to explain his rise to power in its historical context, and to sug- 
gest a perspective on his achievements as a politician, Cabinet 
minister and ultimately as prime minister. It is based largely 
on the wealth of printed sources available on twentieth-century 
political history, but on occasion the temptation to use unpub- 
lished material has been irresistible, and it is therefore not 

merely a synthesis of existing knowledge. Because even polit- 
ical life is experienced chronologically, the book is laid out 
without apology as a narrative until it reaches the premiership, 
when it has often proved more convenient to follow themes 
through to their conclusion. As an account of the pursuit and 
use of power by one man it inevitably omits a great deal of 
importance even on the issues about which he was concerned. 
These gaps are partly filled by references to further reading. 

Unlike many of the subjects of this series, Macmillan is a con- 
temporary figure, who was still alive, though only just, when 
the book was commissioned. There are hazards in the striking 
parallels between the issues facing Macmillan’s governments 
and issues which are central to contemporary politics. Anglo- 
American relations, Britain’s relations with Europe, industrial 

relations and wage settlements, inflation and even the balance 
of payments are still the stuff of political debate. It is very 
easy to assume that the questions are identical, when in fact 
thirty years of rapid change has radically altered the context in 
which they appear. For an author whose first conscious memo- 
ries of contemporary political events are of newspaper pictures 
of the Suez invasion, there are further hazards. Macmillan was 

prime minister when it was first explained to me what a prime 
minister was. I was first aware of the Conservative Party as the 
parliamentary supporters of Mr Macmillan and of the Labour 
Party as a body of people who criticised Mr Macmillan’s govern- 
ment. This makes objectivity more difficult for anybody with 
even the most minimal political views, especially when those 
views are somewhat to the left of what I believe Macmillan’s 

views to have been. 



INTRODUCTION: SUPERMAC 1894-1986 

Fuller, and I hope objective conclusions about Macmillan as 
politician and statesman can be found in the Conclusion, but 

there is a place here for some observations about Macmillan 
as a person, since responses to him as a person have evidently 
coloured much of what has been written about him, and no 

doubt colour the chapters which follow. The contrast between 
the showman or actor-manager who became prime minister 
and the private individual has been emphasised by almost every 
writer since Emrys Hughes (who saw nothing but the show- 
man). Often this has been taken as evidence of hypocrisy, 
and weighed in the scales against him. His ruthlessness is leg- 
endary, witnessed by innumerable episodes from his takeover 
of the Next Five Years group in 1936 to his dismissal of half 
his cabinet in the Night of the Long Knives in 1962, and his 
long and successful campaign to deny the premiership to R.A. 
Butler. His sarcasm, and his talent for Trollopian comedy, is 

evident from his diaries, published in part in his memoirs and 
in full for the war period. 

Yet nowhere in this can be seen the hollowness and cynicism 
with.which his enemies charged him. To the end of his pre- 
miership, if not to the end of his life, Macmillan seems to have 

been a shy, vulnerable and often unhappy man. He found 
it difficult to enter the bonhomous world of pre-war Conser- 
vatism, because he was too obviously cleverer than most MPs 

and at the same time lacked the social skill to conceal the dif- 
ferences between himself and his fellows. Understandably, he 
preferred books to people, and was an isolated man with few 
friends. His marriage was for a long time unsatisfactory and 
disappointing. He once openly explained his determination to 
get on in politics as an attempt to compensate for personal un- 
happiness. It was also a natural counterpart to a deep and un- 
forced religious faith, which gave him a social conscience which 
he was sometimes at pains to conceal. His physical courage was 
proved during the First World War and on many recorded oc- 

casions later; his moral courage was tested repeatedly during 

his career, and not found wanting. It seems to me difficult 

not to sympathise with such a man, and in particular impossi- 

ble not to admire his ability to continue a career and promote 

what he saw as the interests of his country and his party at 

enormous personal cost. Ruthlessness, egotism and disingenu- 

ousness are the stock in trade of politicians. They need them 

to get power, and without power they are useless. Macmillan 
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MACMILLAN 

had them all, but used them appropriately. Where they are 

remarked upon in later chapters, it is by way of explanation, 

not condemnation. They are the counterparts to the determi- 

nation, inner self-confidence, patience and intelligence which 

brought Harold Macmillan to the top of the greasy pole. 

NOTES AND REFERENCES 

1. Anthony Sampson, Macmillan: A Study in Ambiguity (London: Allen 

Lane, 1967); L.A. Siedentop, ‘Mr Macmillan and the Edwardian Style’ 

in Vernon Bogdanor and Robert Skidelsky (eds), The Age of Affluence 
(London: Macmillan, 1970); Harold Macmillan, The Middle Way (Lon- 

don: Macmillan, 1938, reprinted 1966). 

2. For example, Hugo Young and Ann Sloman, The Thatcher Phenomenon 
(London: BBC, 1986), p. 142, quoting Roy Jenkins: Britain in 1985 
had eight times the number of unemployed, and six times the inflation 
rate, of 1960; the annual growth rate was 3.1 per cent compared with 

5.5 per cent in 1960, the rate of investment in 1985 was 7.7 per cent, 
against 9.7 per cent in 1960. Whatever the explanations, and there are 

many, such comparisons did Macmillan no harm. 

3. Clive Ponting, Breach of Promise: The Labour Governments, 1964—70 (Lon- 
don: Hamish Hamilton, 1989). 



Chapter 1 

THE LAST EDWARDIAN 

Harold Macmillan was, of course, a Victorian by birth, not an 

Edwardian, and the carefully cultivated persona of his years of 

power scarcely acknowledged the influences which formed his 
childhood and early youth. He was born in 1894, the son of 

Maurice Macmillan, a partner in Macmillan’s publishers, and 
Helen (Nellie) Tarleton Belles, the daughter of an Indiana 

doctor. As a background for a future politician the Macmil- 
lan family had advantages and drawbacks. Harold Macmillan’s 
own account of it is coloured by a strong sense that family tra- 
dition created expectations which he had to discharge. His 
grandfather, Daniel Macmillan, the son of a crofter on the 

Isle of Arran, set up in business as a bookseller and in 1843 
as a publisher, with his brother Alexander. He died in 1857. 

His son Maurice, Harold’s father, was educated at Uppingham 
and Christ’s College Cambridge, and became a schoolmaster 
before marrying Nellie Belles and entering the family business. 
Family mythology was constructed around Daniel Macmillan’s 
self-improvement and instinctive self-reliance. Despite the very 
adequate comfort in which the family lived, the emphasis on 
striving and seriousness discouraged any temptation to enjoy 
the fruits of affluence. Macmillans went to the best available 
schools and universities, but this was expected to be only the be- 
ginning of lives of solid achievement. Daniel Macmillan took 
his religion seriously and by the end of his life had become 
an admirer of Cardinal Newman; when Maurice was born he 
was keen on the Christian Socialists, and the boy’s godfathers 
were F.D. Maurice and Charles Kingsley. Nellie Macmillan, 
who dominated her household, was fiercely ambitious for all 
her offspring and brought her own doctrines of self-reliance 
to complement the Macmillan doctrines she had married. She 
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MACMILLAN 

was also rigidly Protestant, and a firm believer in the impor- 

tance of education.! 

Macmillan’s childhood, by his own description, was under- 

standably austere. The family house was in solidly affluent 

Cadogan Place, in London. He went to school at Summer- 

fields in Oxford, thence as a Scholar to Eton, thus beginning 

an academic career which was distinguished, but not as distin- 

guished as that of his elder brother Daniel. He remained at 
Eton for three years, but in 1909 became extremely ill. When a 
heart condition was diagnosed his formidable mother decided 
to keep him at home, where he was to have private tuition to 

prepare him for entrance to Oxford. 
Macmillan was evidently a rather precious adolescent, not 

perhaps as physically frail as a domineering mother would have 
him believe, now thrust back into a family life marked by in- 
tense emotional stress. His departure from Eton was associ- 
ated with a period of despondency and self-doubt. It was his 
duty now to succeed, and he had a number of tutors, amongst 

whom the most important was Ronald Knox, an Eton contem- 
porary of his brother. Knox was already moving towards the 
spiritual metamorphosis which was to make him, as the Uni- 
versity Catholic Chaplain from 1926 to 1939, an influence over 
many generations of clever Oxford undergraduates.? For the 
moment he was an Anglo-Catholic, passionate in his conviction 

and eager to proselytise. A deep affection sprang up between 
the two young men: Knox was twenty-two and Macmillan was 
ready to be instructed. Discovering this, Nellie ordered Knox 
not to discuss religion with her son. When he refused, he was 

put on the next train sans bicycle or laundry.? Apart from its 
effect on Knox,* this episode seems to have confirmed the 

contradictions in Macmillan’s relations with his mother. He 
later told a friend that ‘I admired her, but never really liked 
her.... She dominated me and she still [in the 1960s] domi- 

nates me.’ It was with acknowledged relief that he escaped to 
Oxford, taking a Classical Exhibition at Balliol. 

Macmillan’s biographer, perhaps predictably, has likened 
the world which he entered in 1912 to the Oxford of Zuleika 
Dobson. It was certainly a comfortable existence, with all the 
trappings of privilege and, for the first time in Macmillan’s 
experience, a wealth of agreeable friendships. It was also a 
period in his life when he applied himself conscientiously to 

self-advancement. He was Secretary of the Oxford Union in 
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his fourth term and_Treasurer in his fifth, and a member of 
many political societies. These activities established connec- 
tions which he could revive later, such as a link with Walter 
Monckton, later a colleague in government. On the other 
hand, his spiritual preoccupations were intensified by the pres- 
ence next door of Ronald Knox, still an Anglican and Chap- 
lain of Trinity College, and by his close friendship with Guy 
Lawrence, who formed the third apex of a triangular relation- 
ship with Knox and Macmillan. Knox’s pressure on his young 
friends was intense, though it cannot be established that this 

contributed very much to an apparent recurrence of Macmil- 
lan’s nervous difficulties in the spring of 1914 which nearly 
brought him to withdraw from the university. Macmillan con- 
sidered seriously whether he should become a Roman Catholic, 
and his eventual decision in 1915 that he was ‘not going to 
“Pope” until after the war (if I’m alive)’ was a mortal blow to 

his intimate relationship with Knox, who had by then joined 
the Roman Catholic church. This relationship, together with 
enough academic work to get him a First in Classical Modera- 
tions, evidently occupied much of his time as an undergradu- 
ate. He was no more aware than anyone else of his generation 
that their world was about to be obliterated by the Great War. 
The Archduke Franz-Ferdinand was assassinated at the be- 

ginning of the Long Vacation, and Macmillan did not return 
to Balliol to read Greats. He first enlisted in the King’s Royal 
Rifle Corps, but was transferred to the 4th Battalion, Grenadier 

Guards, after his mother pulled the appropriate strings. Here, 
especially after his posting to the Western Front in August 1915, 
he confronted death and the working classes with an almost 
equal sense of novelty. His physical and moral courage as a 
young officer responsible for thirty men in action stands out 
even from the detached and ironical record in his memoirs. 
He was wounded in the hand in his first action, at the Battle of 

Loos, hospitalised and then sent back to ceremonial duties in 

London until he had fully recovered. In April 1916 he was sent 
out again, to the 2nd Battalion of Grenadiers. After a period in 
a quiet sector of trenches near Ypres, his battalion took part in 
the second wave of the Somme battle, and on 15 September he 

was wounded again while attacking a machine-gun post near 
Ginchy, in an engagement where Haig’s premature and incom- 
petent use of tanks had left the advancing infantry vulnerable 
to machine-gun fire from entrenched positions. Macmillan was 
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hit in the pelvis at close range and spent most of the battle in a 
shell-hole, feigning death to discourage any passing Germans 
from despatching him, while, according to his own account, 

reading Aeschylus’s Prometheus in the original when times were 
quiet. After some hours he was found by guardsmen from his 
company and eventually reached a field hospital in Abbeville. 
From there he was returned to England. His mother rescued 
him from the blundering ministrations of military surgeons, 
and he spent the rest of the war in a private hospital in Bel- 
grave Square, suffering a series of unpleasant operations which 
left him with aslight limp and a lifetime of recurrent pain. 

These were not experiences to leave a man unchanged. In 
May 1916 he had written to his mother that ‘I never see a man 
killed but I think of him as a martyr’, and his letters home 
are full of crusading imagery and an outspoken patriotism.® 
By the end of the war he had begun to show the sense of 
separateness which afflicted many who had seen action in that 
war. His irritation at the civilians who had stayed at home was 
not diminished, but his sense of loyalty to his comrades now 
took the form of a deep resentment against the incompetence 
of the generals and an almost romantic admiration for the 
personal qualities of ordinary soldiers as well as for his officer 
friends who had died. He never found it easy to like Germans, 
or men who had spent the war behind the lines or out of 
uniform; he did find it easy to like the common soldier, or 

people who might become soldiers, especially when they were 
his constituents in industrial Stockton. 

After the Armistice, Macmillan, though secure in the offer 

of a job in the family firm, looked for employment abroad 
‘to be on my own’.6 The state of his health prohibited a 
move to Bombay, where he had hoped to join his acquain- 
tance George Lloyd, who had just been appointed Governor. 
Nellie once more intervened, arranging with her friend Lady 
Edward Cavendish that Captain Macmillan should go to Ottawa 
as ADC to the Duke of Devonshire, Lady Edward’s son, who 
was the Governor-General of Canada. He travelled to Canada 
in March 1919 to embark on ten months of ‘almost unalloyed 
enjoyment’.”? His own description is of a long house-party, and 
indeed the functions of the Governor-General included a great 
deal of entertaining, both formal and informal, which occu- 
pied much of the ADC’s time. Moreover, Macmillan’s great- 
est single achievement during his period of duty in Ottawa 
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was to become engaged to the Duke’s daughter, Lady Dorothy 
Cavendish, whom he married in April 1920. This rather un- 
expected match, which later broke down in substance if not 
in form, marked Macmillan’s adoption into an intensely polit- 
ical dynasty, as well as a striking forward move in his personal 
development. Into a life which had previously been spent be- 
tween a sequestered home and a number of masculine institu- 
tions, with a heavy and rather precious overlay of religion and 
self-conscious morality, came an energetic, ill-educated, earthy 

young woman who immediately captured his affections. Ru- 
mour and biographers would have it that she was anxious to 
escape from a particularly domineering mother — Evie, Duchess 
of Devonshire — and had not reckoned on Nellie Macmillan, 

and the basis of his attraction for her is still a matter of debate. 
Nevertheless, the life of a Governor-General’s ADC was not 

all play and flirtation, and it is significant that Macmillan’s 
first practical experience of politics was at the very top. Cana- 
dian politics were in a state of flux. The ruling Conservative 
Party, which under Sir Robert Borden had staunchly supported 
the British war effort, was under pressure in the reconstruc- 
tion period from social unrest in industrial areas and from the 
perennial discontent of the francophone majority in Quebec. 
It was also recognised that even if these problems were solved, 
Canada’s relations with the British Empire and with the United 
States were bound to change. Simultaneously Borden and his 
chief lieutenant, Arthur Meighen, were trying to construct a 
peacetime coalition with some of their Liberal opponents to 
preserve the wartime governmental arrangements, rather as 
Lloyd George had done in Britain. This involved the Governor- 
General in a good deal of cross-party negotiation. It was his 
habit to discuss progress with his young ADC and although 
(perhaps because) nothing came of the various schemes pro- 
posed, the intricacies of policy at national and international 
level fascinated the young Macmillan. 

Marriage seems to have dictated a return to England, and 
Macmillan finally entered the family business in 1920. His 
opportunity to make a mark was not great, since his uncles 
were still in firm control of editorial decisions and most aspects 
of the business, but he began to investigate the technicalities of 
book-production, which later and unexpectedly brought him 
an early brush with high politics. For a year or two his life 
seemed to settle into a steady pattern of business which had 
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no intrinsic reason to change. But for an able young man with 
a well-connected wife and an intensely ambitious mother, this 
state of affairs could not long survive. 

NID Ot 
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Chapter 2 

LAUNCHING A CAREER 

1922-40 

Macmillan decided to ‘try for Parliament’ at some time be- 
fore the election of 1922, though the date of this decision is 

unknown.! The Duke of Devonshire, who had returned from 

Canada in 1921, was Colonial Secretary in Andrew Bonar Law’s 

government and kept the office under Stanley Baldwin until 
the Conservatives were defeated in 1923. With a father-in-law 
in the Cabinet, it was difficult for Macmillan to avoid some 

thought of political career, and when Baldwin decided at the 
end of 1923 to call an election on the single issue of Tariff Re- 
form, he applied to Conservative Central Office for a seat. He 

was offered Stockton-on-Tees, a borough seat in a declining 
shipbuilding area which was generally reckoned unwinnable, 
and within days the local association had nominated him. Be- 
ing rich enough to meet his election expenses he was glad to 
accept, and he remained loyal to this rather unlikely political 
base until after the Second World War, with the exception of 
some flirtations with southern seats in the early 1930s. 

Macmillan’s first campaign at Stockton was a fair success, 
about which he has written amusingly in his memoirs.? With 
his wife he canvassed energetically, toured the steelworks, and 
made the usual round of formal election speeches. He ob- 
served the Conservative Party’s standard protectionist line with 
positive enthusiasm, and laid about the Labour opponents he 

was already learning to call ‘socialists’, as well as the Liberals 
who had held the seat since 1910. As a stranger to industrial 
England he was appalled by the level of poverty caused by un- 
employment in heavy industrial areas, and made this clear in 
his campaign. Although he was generally recognised to be a 
bad speaker and a shy man who found it difficult to talk to the 
voters personally, he was reinforced by Lady Dorothy’s com- 
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plementary enthusiasm and willingness to go anywhere and 

canvass anyone. The final result gave the Liberal 11,734 votes, 

Macmillan 11,661 and Labour 10,619. 

It was Macmillan’s misfortune that the Liberal Party in Stock- 
ton was taking an unconscionable time to die. Although he 
romanticised the working class, spoke movingly of its soldierly 
qualities, and repeatedly returned to the view that ‘before the 
rise of the Labour Party, the working class had traditionally 
been Tory’,3 his main problem in Stockton was not how to 
appeal to the supposed old allegiances of trade unionists, but 
how to capture the Liberal vote (a great deal of it working-class) 
which throughout the 1920s swung the balance both nationally 
and in many northern constituencies. He failed to do this to 
a sufficient extent in 1923; he was luckier in 1924. 

Though not yet in the Commons, Macmillan was fully en- 
gaged in politics during the brief tenure of the first Labour 
government which resulted from the election, kept informed 
by his brothers-in-law (Lord Hartington and James Stuart, who 
had married his wife’s sister) and determined to fight again in 
Stockton. When the election was called in October, one of the 

first moves advised by his agent was to approach local Liberal 
notables to seek their support, which was thought to be influ- 
ential with wavering Liberal voters. This he later scorned as 
being less important than personal canvassing, and indeed the 
notables probably had little direct influence; but the result il- 
lustrated how critical the Liberal vote was to be. In Stockton, as 

elsewhere, the Labour vote actually rose as the party’s working- 
class supporters responded to the achievements of their own 
government. The Liberal vote collapsed, and most of the ben- 
efit went to Macmillan, who polled 15,163 against Labour’s 

11,948, with his Liberal opponent reduced to 8,751. His par- 

liamentary ambitions had been achieved, by a comfortable ma- 

jority, less than a year after he had first expressed a positive 
interest in standing. Luck, a skilful political wife, a plausible if 
not very warm speaking manner, and the stumblings of Ram- 
say MacDonald’s government had all contributed to an early 
success in an unpromising constituency; but in the end it must 
be said that it had not been very difficult at all. 

Macmillan had become a Conservative M.P. because it would 
have been unnatural for him to join any other party. Tempera- 
ment, culture and family impelled him to it. Moreover, of the 

two parties which might have accepted him, the Liberal Party 
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was destroying itself while the Conservative Party appeared to 
be the natural party of government for the foreseeable future. 
For an ambitious man with some wealth and excellent con- 
nections, it was the only choice. From his first campaign in 
Stockton, Macmillan identified the Labour Party as the most 
serious long-term threat, and teasingly labelled it ‘socialist’ to 
make sure the voters knew the difference between his brand 
of progressive thought and anything offered by the other side. 
He joined a party which first under Stanley Baldwin and then 
under Neville Chamberlain was to succeed in controlling that 
threat until the crisis of war in 1940. 

AMBITION 

Macmillan’s memoirs give a clear and plausible account of his 
early career plans. He concentrated on home affairs, allow- 
ing his constituency knowledge to determine his own political 
agenda. Rather than seek early promotion, he persistently crit- 
icised the nerveless economic policies of his own front bench, 
and looked outside the Conservative Party for intellectual al- 
lies. Lloyd George was an early hero, with his readiness to ex- 
periment with novel methods of state intervention. Later, in 

the 1930s, Macmillan helped to convene the cross-party ‘Next 
Five Years’ group and contributed especially with his own writ- 
ing to the definition of a ‘Middle Way’ between extreme free- 
market capitalism and the atavistic muddles of socialism.* In 
this way he anticipated the post-war consensus over which he 
was ultimately to preside as prime minister. 

This account makes up in clarity and plausibility for what 
it lacks in strict fidelity to events. Macmillan had clearly not 
intended to remain so long on the back benches, and his in- 
terwar political career was determined by the need to make 
the best of a bad job. Baldwin’s Conservative Party was se- 
cure in its dominance of the inter-war polity, largely because 
of the divisions among its opponents. After the upset of 1923, 
when Baldwin went to the country on a Tariff Reform plat- 
form and scared rather too many middle-class voters back into 
Liberal hands, most Conservative M.P.s could expect a reason- 

able security of tenure, and competition for junior office was 
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intense. At most levels, but especially at the top, the 1924— 
29 government was riddled with faction. The major source 
of dissension within the Cabinet was the demand for protec- 
tive tariffs, to which Leopold Amery, Neville Chamberlain, 

Philip Cunliffe-Lister and Arthur Steel-Maitland were commit- 
ted, while Winston Churchill, as Chancellor, was fundamen- 

tally opposed. Challenges from protectionists, organised on 
the back benches through the Empire Industries Association, 
represented the strongest threat to Baldwin’s leadership of the 
party in the dying years of the administration. Macmillan him- 
self was a staunch protectionist, even though he had nothing 

to do with pre-war Birmingham, where Tariff Reform had been 
nurtured, and his wife’s grandfather had been a leading Union- 

ist Free Trader before the War. 
Another source of dissent, noticeable even during the 1920s, 

was imperial policy, in which Baldwin’s willingness to contem- 
plate reform in India made him unpopular with Churchill and 
the political heirs of the pre-war Die-Hards. This was linked to 
disputes over naval policy which pitted Churchill against the 
First Lord of the Admiralty, William Bridgeman. On these two 
questions Macmillan also tended to oppose Churchill and sup- 
port the Conservative Front Bench. At home, in its industrial 
relations policy, the Cabinet was driven by events and parlia- 
mentary passions. Its failure to solve the structural problems of 
the coal industry led inexorably to the miners’ strike in 1925 
and thus to the General Strike in 1926; reaction to this up- 
heaval forced Baldwin and his colleagues to prepare a punitive 
Trade Disputes Act which divided his Cabinet. In this area, 
Macmillan was once again to be found comfortably behind the 
government, rather than boldly critical of his party: he voted 
for the Trade Disputes Act while complaining that it might 
presage an outbreak of extremism on Left and Right. Only in 
the area of industrial policy, where the government was weak- 
est and least loved, did he make a very clear stand against the 
front bench. Nonetheless, a fellow Durham member, Cuthbert 

Headlam, remarked as early as July 1926 that he was ‘easily the 
cleverest of the “coming men”, though he is a trifle sententious 
and apt to be carried away into rather vague views which might 
lead him into other camps than the Conservative’. For all that, 
rumour was offering him a job at the Admiralty in December 
1926.5 
Assessments of Baldwin’s second ministry have generally 
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stressed its successes and its moderation, though recent writ- 
ers have questioned its unanimity of purpose and sureness of 
touch.® The modern view is more realistic: the parliamentary 
party which Macmillan entered was divided over so many issues 
that the administration which it supported was often direction- 
less. As a young MP he therefore tried to make his name by 
attaching himself to distinctive positions, and it was no disad- 

vantage that some of these positions should be different from 
those of his leaders. He made his maiden speech on the 1925 
Budget and was suitably partisan, attacking the speech of the 
former Labour Chancellor Philip Snowden, with a lumbering 
wit. 

If he thinks that he and his party have only to offer us as true 
socialism a kind of mixture, a sort of horrible political cocktail, 
consisting partly of the dregs of exploded economic views of Karl 
Marx, mixed up with a little flavour of Cobdenism, well iced by the 
late Chancellor of the Exchequer, and with a little ginger from the 

Member for the Gorbals (Mr. Buchanan) — if he thinks that this 

is to be the draught given to our parched throats and that we are 
ready to accept it, he is very much mistaken.” 

He then began to concentrate on housing and rating reform, 
which was unpopular and (more disadvantageously) rather 

dull. After the General Strike he came together with Robert 
Boothby, Oliver Stanley and John Loder to produce Industry 
and the State, an extended pamphlet on the relations between 
the state and the two sides of industry which foreshadowed 
in many important respects the arguments of The Middle Way 
which Macmillan published in 1935. 

Industry and the State, though, is less important for the fu- 
ture than for the context in which it was produced. In the 
aftermath of the General Strike, while the Cabinet was mani- 

festly unable to persuade the mine-owners to accept either a 
substantial reorganisation of their industry or a real amend- 
ment of their policy of reducing wages unilaterally, Macmillan 
suggested that the Government should legislate for compul- 
sory amalgamations. While a Cabinet Committee was at work 
on the Trades Disputes Bill, during the winter of 1926-27, he 
began to speak on the need for ‘a sense of partnership’ in 
industry to be achieved by greater public control of utilities, 
such as electricity and transport, coupled with legislation for 
compulsory arbitration and conciliation in industrial disputes. 
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Industry and the State was the next step, published in April 1927 

in anticipation of the Trades Disputes Bill which appeared the 

following month. 
In later years Macmillan was to insist that ‘what then seemed 

so visionary has now become commonplace and generally ac- 

cepted’ and likened his proposals to modern ideas of the mixed 

economy.’ At the time he was probably more aware of it as a 

‘constructive alternative to Socialism’. He had been shaken 

by the General Strike; as well as participating enthusiastically 

in the distribution of The Times, he supplied a list of blackleg 

printers to the Morning Post for possible use in producing the 

British Gazette. His aim was to defuse a dangerous conflict, and 
incidentally to nudge the government towards policies which 
might help him and some others with similar views to retain 
their seats in marginal industrial constituencies. At this stage 
there was little sign of centrism, and, although he was fairly 

liberal with his contempt, his sympathies were not evenly di- 
vided between the two sides. Speaking on the coal dispute as 
it dragged on into September 1926 he remarked that 

... the leadership of the men throws discredit either upon the in- 
telligence or upon the patriotism of those leaders, and there is no 
explanation of their conduct which does not impute to them either 
the most extraordinary puerility or the most sinister motives. The 
leadership of the owners, it seems to me, in my humble judgement, 
has been unnecessarily harsh when it should have been pliable and 
obstinate when the time came to give way... 

Later in the same speech he attributed ‘the mentality of a Rus- 
sian revolutionist’ to the miners’ leadership.!° 

During 1927 and 1928 he repeatedly expressed sympathy for 
the economic proposals which Lloyd George was developing 
through the Liberal Summer Schools. These finally took shape 
in the Liberal Industrial Inquiry (the “Yellow Book’) and in 

We Can Conquer Unemployment, and it became clear that Lloyd 
George was advocating a much higher level of expenditure 
than Macmillan envisaged. The official response (Certain Pro- 
posals relating to Unemployment, Cmd. 3331) criticised not only 
Lloyd George’s proposal in direct detail, but also by implica- 
tion the propositions of Industry and the State. 

Besides Industry and the State, Macmillan soon busied himself 
with the notion of industrial de-rating. A simple idea in itself, 
it was to have potent consequences. Its essence was that in- 
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dustry in depressed areas was burdened with high fixed costs 
because local authority expenditures, often inflated by the con- 
sequences of high unemployment for the Poor Law, were met 
by rates levied on property. Macmillan proposed to replace 
this source of revenue by a partial Exchequer subsidy. As early 
as July 1925 he suggested that ‘the whole system of raising 
local taxation is... built upon an obsolete and mediaeval foun- 
dation ... [which] ...throws an undue burden on productive 

industry’, and in late 1926 he raised the possibility of ‘nation- 
alising’ certain services, by which he meant funding them di- 
rectly from the Exchequer.!!_ This was in due course taken 
up by Churchill at the Exchequer and eventually turned into 
the main proposal of the 1928 Budget and the centrepiece of 
his last year of office, the Industrial Derating Bill of February 
£929: 

Macmillan’s place in the development of the idea is indicated 
by considerable detailed correspondence with Churchill over 
the winter of 1927-28, and Macmillan and his friend Robert 

Boothby, who was Churchill’s Parliamentary Private Secretary, 
became outspokenly attached to it as a means of restoring 
the electoral fortunes of the Conservative Party.!2 It must 
be said, though, that Macmillan’s ‘chance remark’ had under- 

gone considerable development at the hands of Churchill and 
senior Treasury officials before it saw the full light of political 
day, and that the success of the scheme depended entirely on 
Churchill’s ability to persuade Neville Chamberlain, the Minis- 
ter of Health, to accept a bold scheme which, for all its merits, 

disrupted Chamberlain’s own large plans for the reform of lo- 
cal authority finance. 

All this is not to denigrate Macmillan’s own part in the affair, 

nor to belittle its significance for his own developing political 

position. In December 1927 he was taken fully into the Chan- 

cellor’s confidence, and wrote a lengthy political memoran- 

dum on the implications of the proposed combination of de- 

rating and a profits tax. This document is interesting because 

it sets a robustly partisan tone which coloured all Macmillan’s 

dealings with de-rating. To the rhetorical question ‘Will the 

Socialists raise the cry “You are letting off the rich employer 

& doing nothing for the poor working man”? Will this be a 

dangerous cry?’, he answered shrewdly: 

It will be more dangerous in prosperous areas than in distressed 
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areas. It will be no good in agricultural areas at all.13 We can in 

reply point to 
1. Gold Standard for the Rentiers 
2. Widows, orphans & old age Pensions Acts for the people 
3. This scheme for depressed Industry. Industry is after all our 

‘father & mother’. On its prosperity we all ultimately depend. 
I am not much afraid of this cry nowadays. It would have been more 
dangerous before 1920. But the ‘slump’ has left its mark & a great 
number of ordinary folk have begun to learn the lesson, in a hard 
school, of the mutual interdependence of all classes and interests. !4 

He challenged Neville Chamberlain’s warning that without in- 
dustrial rating local businesses would cease to have any interest 
in the soundness of local authorities’ financial administration 
by remarking that ‘These people will still be to some extent in- 
terested as residential ratepayers. Moreover, if the fat kine are 
taken away, the lean kine will have nothing left to devour but 
their own proletarian hides.’ This was not entirely an emollient 
Conservatism. 

Macmillan was further taken into Churchill’s confidence 
when he was shown the whole Treasury file on de-rating on 
21 December. His response was to describe Churchill’s propos- 
als as ‘absolutely masterly and quite unanswerable.... We shall 
“dish the Whigs” & steal their clothes while they are bathing, in 
the true Disraelian style.’ A certain amount of mutual flattery 
ensued, and it was clear that Macmillan saw many advantages 
in a political attachment to Churchill. Although the connec- 
tion was to wither, for both political and personal reasons, it 

sustained Macmillan’s career for a few important months, and 

when the de-rating measure was finally introduced he took a 
significant part in its parliamentary presentation. 

CONFUSION AND DESPAIR 

In 1929 Stockton fell to Labour, in a microcosm of the Gen- 

eral Election result in which the temporary revival of Liber- 
alism elbowed Conservative candidates out of marginal seats. 
It was ironical that Macmillan himself was probably as keen 
a supporter of Lloyd George’s economic policy as the official 
Liberal candidate. Yet the election result could hardly be seen 
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as a vindication of his policy prescriptions, and in the scram- 
ble to attribute blame which occupied the Conservative Party 
for the next two years Macmillan’s voice was raised but rarely 
heard. As a convinced protectionist, he was naturally attracted 
by Lord Beaverbrook’s Empire Free Trade campaign, and for a 
few months during the winter of 1929-30 he co-operated with 
Beaverbrook in attempts to overthrow Baldwin — an episode 
which he later attributed to youth and inexperience. He was 
present also at two meetings in November 1929, attended by, 
among others, Boothby and Walter Elliott, with blessings re- 
layed from Amery and Oswald Mosley, which contemplated 
the formation of a new party but in the event could not agree 
on its form or its policy.!5 His journalism reiterated the themes 
of his earlier speeches, and in an attempt to combine criticism 
with loyalty he emphasised ‘new directions’ rather than directly 
attacking Baldwin’s leadership. These consisted of ‘modernisa- 
tion of our economic methods, the humanisation of our indus- 

trial relations, and the expansion of our foreign, and primarily 
of our imperial markets’.!6 In 1930 his restlessness brought him 
temporarily close to Oswald Mosley: he wrote teasing letters to 
the press in support of Mosley’s famous ‘Memorandum’ in May 
193017 and later in the year considered joining the ‘New Party’ 
which Mosley launched after leaving the Labour Party. His 
wavering loyalty to official Conservatism was noted by, among 
others, R.A. Butler, who wrote to the press recommending that 
he find ‘a pastime more suited to his talents’, giving Macmillan 
something to remember and resent in years to come.!8 

Macmillan’s brief relations with Mosley are important, not 
because they indicate any latent Fascism but because they illus- 
trate both the strengths and the limits of political dissent in the 

early 1930s. Mosley himself had fallen from a position of po- 

tential influence because his ideas could not be carried either 

in Cabinet, where they were opposed by Philip Snowden, or in 

the Parliamentary Labour Party. He was quintessentially a vic- 

tim of party discipline and committees. Macmillan, like many 

others who at first admired the direction of Mosley’s thinking, 

decided that it was impossible to make a career outside an es- 

tablished party. This he later rationalised in a famous passage 

of his memoirs, remarking that ‘It is a deep and, no doubt, 

a sound political instinct in our country, that men do better 

to stick to their own parties and try to influence their poli- 

cies and their character from within.’!9 Although some writers 
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on economic policy-making have argued that the parties had 

by this time abdicated much of their influence to organised 

interests such as the TUC and the Federation of British Indus- 

tries,20 working directly with the departments of government, 

the important negative power of the political parties should 

not be underestimated. Angry young men would always count 

the cost of dissent. 
Moreover, the limitations of Macmillan’s ideas must also be 

stressed. His constituency responsibilities and the electoral 
threat from Labour forced him to be most concerned with 
the results of unemployment. His ideas on the causes and 
cure of the disease were less fully worked out. He can hardly 
be blamed for this: J.M. Keynes, on whose journalism most of 
the novel economic ideas of the later 1920s were based, had at 

this point only a partial grasp of the problem, and his General 
Theory was still in the future. Politicians during the economic 
crisis of 1929-32 were for the most part reworking old ideas, 
such as public works expenditure (to relieve unemployment di- 
rectly) and tariffs (to protect uncompetitive domestic produc- 
ers). Lloyd George’s ability, claimed on his behalf by Keynes, 
to ‘Conquer Unemployment’ was at first based mostly on a pub- 
lic works scheme aimed at the million or so long-term unem- 
ployed who were troubling politicians in 1928. Keynes’s later 
gloss, that the famous ‘multiplier effect’ would create snow- 
balling economic growth, had not been worked out; nor had 
the unemployment figure reached its final figure of three mil- 
lion. Most politicians were still relying on an upturn in inter- 
national trade to revive the economy. Macmillan, as one of his 
articles in the Saturday Review shows, was among them, and he 

had not fully grasped the possibilities of expanding domestic 
demand, which was the centrepiece of Mosley’s scheme. His 
contributions to Industry and the State were more obviously in 
the tradition of the ‘productioneers’ of the First World War: 
an appeal for the modernisation of business methods, and co- 

operation between big business and organised labour, backed 
by protection for the home market. His problem was that nei- 
ther the state nor the organised interests were very interested, 
either in 1927 or in the early 1930s when he revived his pro- 
posals. 

A further reason for Macmillan’s limited political impact 
during the period of the second Labour government was that 
he was undergoing a profound personal crisis. Lady Dorothy 
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Macmillan began an affair with his colleague Robert Boothby 
which was to last for the rest of her life. It brought the Macmil- 
lans’ sexual relationship to an end (Sarah Macmillan, born in 

1930, was Boothby’s daughter), subjected Macmillan to pro- 

tracted humiliation in ‘society’, where everyone knew of the 
affair without needing to discuss it, and induced what his bio- 

grapher calls ‘a full-scale nervous breakdown’ by 1931.2! It 
also divided him from Churchill, of whose circle Boothby was a 
prominent member. In the long term, the effective collapse of 
his marriage is said to have strengthened Macmillan’s political 
ambition, brought him to a more realistic and ruthless aware- 

ness of the limits of human happiness, and reinforced his re- 
ligious faith. In the short term the benefits were less obvious, 

but the Macmillans’ decision not to divorce appears to have 
been based on a mutual agreement that Lady Dorothy would 
continue her active and very useful support for her husband’s 
election campaigns. This at least enabled him to pick up his 
political career at the 1931 election. During the political cri- 
sis of August 1931 he was in a sanatorium in Germany, where 
until the election was mooted Lady Dorothy was urging him to 
stay. On hearing of the election he wrote to his mother that 
‘I want to get into the H of C, because I think it wd. make my 

life much easier’,?2 and he arrived back in England, walking 

with a stick, five days after the beginning of a campaign which 
his wife had already mounted. 

RETURN AND CONFUSION 

Returning to Parliament as part of a triumphant coalition in 

1931 did not solve the problem of Macmillan’s career. His 

victory in Stockton, like so many other Conservative victories 

in northern constituencies, was obtained by the withdrawal of 

the Liberal candidate; Labour’s vote against him was only 800 

fewer than in 1929. However, since both Labour and the Liber- 

als were in disarray, both the government and Macmillan’s own 

seat looked reasonably safe. The same could be said for dozens 

of other young MPs, and the prospect of political advance- 

ment was correspondingly small. All the worse for Macmillan 

was his lack of a patron, since the connection with Churchill, 

so carefully built up over de-rating, had been severed, partly 
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because of Boothby and partly because Churchill’s outspoken 
opposition to Baldwin’s Indian policy had aligned him with 
the most reactionary elements of the parliamentary party, with 
whom Macmillan could not work. He therefore turned to fur- 
ther novelties, which led him during the next two parliaments 

to busy himself with pamphleteering and the promotion of 
cross-party movements. The climax of this effort was The Mid- 
dle Way, a hasty compilation of economic ideas published in 
1938. Only when Macmillan aligned himself once again with 
Churchill over appeasement did his progress towards office and 
power resume: in earnest. 

Macmillan was unusually literate for a back-bench M.P., and 
since he owned a publishing house it was easy for him to use 
print as a medium to convey his ideas. Co-operating with Allan 
Young, a former Mosleyite who had left the New Party because 
he detested Mosley’s leanings to Fascism, Macmillan produced 
a short booklet on The State and Industry in March 1932. This 
was followed in May by The Next Step. These were welcomed by 
Keynes, which is unsurprising since the main economic recom- 
mendations for lower interest rates and an Investment Board 
reflected proposals which Keynes himself had inserted four 
years beforehand, and in rather more detail, in the Liberal 

Yellow Book and thus into the Liberal election campaign in 
1929. A more substantial book, Reconstruction: a Plea for Na- 
tional Unity, published in 1933, added the detail which had 

been lacking in the pamphlets. 
In these three works the concrete proposals built upon 

themes which Macmillan had outlined before in the 1927 pam- 
phlet, Industry and the State, in particular the suggestion that 
economic policy should be decided by the state in association 
with ‘representative bodies’ drawn from both sides of industry, 

which would constitute a ‘sub-parliament’. This suggestion had 
been made before from both Right and Left: G.D.H. Cole had 
proposed something rather like it in Self-Government for Indus- 
try in 1917, while the Federation of British Industries at the 
end of the Great War had suggested it as part of an elabo- 
rate scheme to retain the benefits of state intervention in the 
economy while avoiding state control of industry. In its most 
extreme form the FBI proposal would have had a Ministry of 
Industry directly responsible to the economic sub-parliament. 
This idea was predictably and firmly squashed by the Haldane 
Report on the Machinery of Government, but its attractions as 
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a bulwark against state socialism remained. 
The advantages, from the government’s point of view, of 

shedding work and responsibility on to the shoulders of or- 
ganised interests, were perceived particularly clearly by Lloyd 
George, and a prominent Lloyd George Liberal, Sir Alfred 
Mond, was responsible for a revival of the idea in 1927 in In- 

dustry and Politics. Mond, by then a Conservative, was also 
responsible for an interesting attempt to bridge the gap be- 
tween employers and employees in the Mond-Turner talks 
of 1927, in which leading trade unionists and a number of 
employers, many in ‘new’ industries, discussed co-operation.” 
Mond’s son, Henry Mond, entered Parliament as a Conser- 

vative in 1929 and succeeded his father as Lord Melchett in 
December 1930. In the 1930s he became one of Macmillan’s 
political collaborators, in particular in the Industrial Reorgan- 
isation League which consciously promoted the idea of com- 
pulsory amalgamations and the ‘rationalisation’ of industry. 
Industrial reorganisation was in fact the core of Macmillan’s 
politics from 1931 to 1937, succeeding industrial de-rating as 
an issue to which he could confidently return as an organising 
principle for speeches, writings, lobbying and coalition-making. 
Later writers have recognised him, together with Lord Eustace 
Percy and Raymond Glendinning of the Federation of British 
Industries, as being among the most prominent ‘corporatists’ 
in the Conservative Party in the 1930s,24 giving a particular 
flavour to his well-known support for the idea of ‘planning’. 

Macmillan’s contribution to the much-discussed political 
‘middle opinion’ of the 1930s should be treated with caution. 
Certainly there was a large number of active and articulate in- 
dividuals in and out of Parliament, but mostly outside it, who 
wanted to find an economic policy which would invigorate the 
declining British economy without resort to socialism. Their 
preferred method was generally known as planning, though 
the questions of who would plan, for what, and with what pow- 
ers, very often divided ‘planners’ among themselves. One es- 
pecially persistent group was Political and Economic Planning, 
an association of concerned individuals who came together to 
study both the political and economic system and the process 
of planning itself. PEP, whose members collectively mustered 

a wide range of expertise, eventually grew into an independent 

research institute. In its anniversary history a founding mem- 

ber remarked of Macmillan and his associates that ‘we were 
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essentially a research group; they issued political manifestos’ .? 

This represented a real difference between Macmillan’s middle 

position, which was rooted in party politics, and the middle po- 

sition occupied by PEP, which included Labour supporters and 

addressed itself to concerns which had no immediate foothold 

in party debate. There was cross-fertilisation: Macmillan, with 

half a dozen other Conservative politicians including Melchett, 

Eustace Percy and Oliver Stanley MP, was present at PEP’s first 

formal dinner and brought his Industrial Reorganisation pro- 

posals for discussion with the PEP Industry Group.?° Never- 

theless, Macmillan was attracted to ‘planning’ because he was 

an ambitious politician — ambitious to change the world but 

also to advance his own career. Headlam guessed that ‘His 

idea ... may well be that, if he makes a nuisance of himself 

and can form a small and effective group to assist him in the 

job, he may persuade hoi en Telloi to offer him a billet to silence 

his opposition.’27 

The prominence of ‘planning’ as a political idea made the 

competition for attention very intense. The Industrial Reor- 

ganisation League, established by Melchett and Macmillan in 

the summer of 1934, was one of many bodies promoting ratio- 

nalisation in industry. Its early members included Sir Robert 

Horne, once Lloyd George’s President of the Board of Trade, 
Lord Weir of Weir Engineering, who had also once been in 
a Lloyd George government, and Sir Harry McGowan of ICI. 
The rationalisation which it advocated was a chameleon con- 
cept. The Economist noted in 1929 that it was a neologism used 
‘as a cloak for confused ideas, and sometimes as a badge of re- 

spectability for processes of doubtful value’.?8 More often than 
not, it meant horizontal amalgamations of companies in similar 
fields of business in order to reap economies of scale. Some- 
times it implied the closure of inefficient plant; sometimes it 
implied the development of new methods; sometimes it im- 
plied the extension of market control, in which case its protag- 
onists often wanted to combine companies vertically so that, 
for example, steel producers and tinplate producers would 
join in a single company. The version favoured by Macmillan 
and Melchett was mainly horizontal amalgamation. To pub- 
licise this, as much as to effect real change, they arranged in 

November 1934 to introduce an Enabling Bill which would give 
statutory backing to compulsory mergers if 75 per cent of an 
industry approved of such a plan. 
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This proposal is interesting for a number of reasons. First, 
it harked back to the ideas of the ‘productioneers’ of the First 
World War, who believed that big business was the key to eco- 
nomic success, and that the government should reject the tra- 
ditional prejudice against trusts and combines which was en- 
shrined both in public policy and in the common law.29 Sec- 
ond, it picked up points made in the Liberal Yellow Book about 

the need for public regulation of merger activity. Third, and 
most important, it was a means to rebuild Macmillan’s career 
as a radical in politics. 

Industrial Reconstruction coincided both in timing and in 
tone with Lloyd George’s eruption into the politics of eco- 
nomic depression with a scheme for a New Deal, which was 

launched in January 1935. Lloyd George’s New Deal was both 
opportunity and embarrassment for Macmillan: Headlam re- 
marked that ‘I fancy that [Lloyd George] is hoping to catch 
Harold Macmillan and his little band of earnest supporters 
and they may be silly enough to be caught’.3° As a former 
prime minister and a consummate publicist, Lloyd George was 
able to force ministers to respond, despite the undying hostil- 
ity of Neville Chamberlain, now Chancellor of the Exchequer. 

In May 1935 he had a meeting with a Cabinet committee to 
present his ideas. Sir H.P. Hamilton of the Board of Trade 
and Sir Richard Hopkins of the Treasury were commissioned 
to provide ammunition against Lloyd George’s proposal of a 
National Development Board. In answering a hostile question- 
naire drawn up by these officials, Lloyd George remarked that 
‘Iam in agreement with the proposals for a general Enabling 
Bill as advanced by Mr Macmillan and his colleagues of the 
Industrial Reorganisation League.’ Macmillan provided fur- 
ther notes in defence of this position, which were annotated 
unfavourably in the Board of Trade. On the afternoon of the 
meeting a Board of Trade official reported that Macmillan had 
rung him up to check the time and date of his meeting with 
the Cabinet committee. 

I replied that there seemed to be some serious misunderstanding. 
At the Meeting which Mr Lloyd George had this morning with Minis- 
ters, it had been agreed that Mr Lloyd George’s experts on Industrial 
Organisation should confer with Board of Trade officials... 

Mr Macmillan took the strongest possible exception to his being 
regarded as ‘an expert’ of Mr Lloyd George. While it was true that 
he had been asked by Mr Lloyd George to answer certain questions 
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on Industrial Organisation and that he had prepared answers to 

these questions, he did not regard himself in any way as a ‘Lloyd 

George expert’. He was sure that some of his friends would take the 

same line. 
He had no intention of acceding to any request of Mr Lloyd 

George or his private secretary to attend a Conference with the 

officials of the Board of Trade, though he would of course gladly 

accept the invitation of the President of the Board of Trade to a 

Conference on this subject.... 

The President’s delighted private secretary minuted “This is 

almost too good to be true. I think we can now lie low until 

the row between LG and his chief expert is finished.’ 
A compromise was achieved, which hardly gave Macmillan 

all he wanted. On 30 May the Parliamentary Secretary to the 

Board of Trade, John Colville, received a deputation from the 

League which presented a memorandum by Macmillan reas- 
suring the Board that ‘the Industrial Reorganisation League is 
not a political organisation.... I might say that I am its Chair- 
man more by accident than design. It merely happened that 
I had been expressing a similar view in speech and in writing 
at the time...’. The deputation was made up of politicians 
and industrialists, and a number of prominent businessmen 
sent written apologies and statements of support. From these, 
and the report of the discussion, it is possible to locate the 

Industrial Reorganisation League quite precisely in an indus- 
trial spectrum, but not so readily in politics. The business- 
men — P.G. Donald of Clydesdale Builders Merchants, George 
Douglas of the Bradford Dyers Association, Malcolm Robert- 
son of Spillers Ltd, H. Summers of John Summers (steel sheet 
manufacturers) and Sir William Firth, chairman of Richard 

Thomas and Baldwin’s — were all deeply involved in major 
price-fixing associations which controlled large shares of their 
respective markets. Those sending apologies included Frank 
Platt of the Lancashire Cotton Corporation, one of the most 
ambitious attempts ever made in the interwar period to ratio- 
nalise an invalid staple industry. Their complaints were uni- 
form and predictable. They would have liked to be empowered 
by Melchett’s Bill to buy up surplus plants for the purpose of 
closing them down. They had tried price-fixing, but they found 
themselves thwarted by outsiders trying to enter their trades, 
and despaired of preventing such undercutting. The politi- 
cians present, besides Macmillan and Melchett, included C.W. 
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Peat, MP, who was also a partner in Peat Marwick Mitchell. 
Sir Robert Horne sent a letter of support, as did Sir Valen- 
tine Crittall, a manufacturer of window-frames who had been 
a Labour MP for nine months in 1924. It is hardly surprising 
that officials should catch a whiff of Lloyd George in these 
connections, nor that Macmillan should have some difficulty 
in denying it plausibly; this was not a conventional rally of loyal 
Conservative back-benchers.3! 
The threat of being upstaged drove Macmillan to further 

efforts. The specific thrust of the Industrial Reorganisation 
League was complemented by the wider aspirations of the Next 
Five Years group. The progenitor of this body was Clifford 
Allen (Lord Allen of Hurtwood), a prominent conscientious 

objector in the First World War who had been active in the 
ILP in the 1920s, despite recurrent illness caused by his prison 
experiences. His socialism moderated during the later years of 
the decade, and he was content to take a peerage from Ramsay 
MacDonald in December 1931, to support the National Gov- 

ernment in the Lords. One of his many services to the infant 
National Labour Party was to run a News-Letter, and his first 
contact with Macmillan seems to have been an invitation to 
him in April 1932 to write an article on the reorganisation of 
industry for this broadsheet.32 Allen was soon writing to Ram- 
say Macdonald that ‘I have been seeing a good deal recently 
of the younger Conservative Members of Parliament, and they 
are most emphatic in wanting the Government to lead and 
not allow itself to be frightened by possibly fifty to one hun- 
dred of the old fashioned Tories. They seem to me to be en- 
tirely at your disposal.’ At the end of 1933 Macmillan helped 
him in an unsuccessful attempt to buy the Weekend Review as 
a mouthpiece for ‘vigorous action scientifically conceived’ in 
both national and international politics.44 Some of the parties 
involved, including Allen and Macmillan, put together a mani- 
festo called Liberty and Democratic Leadership, published by Allen 
and signed by Macmillan, among other Conservative MPs, in 

February 1934. 
This was a difficult period. Cuthbert Headlam noted in 

March 1934 that Macmillan 

...is evidently still anxious for a political career, but realises that 
he has missed the boat. My advice to him was to go on pushing his 
ideas and developing them — but not to keep speaking and voting 
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against the Government — and, above all else, to find a safer seat 

than Stockton. His only chance is to make good while the Party 

is in opposition, and if we are really to have a smash at the next 

election, it is no good anyone who wants to have a political career 

to stand for a seat in Co. Durham.95 

Within a couple of months Headlam found his strange friend 

‘now wrapped up in his plans for “reconstructing” everything 

and does not appear to grasp that reconstruction by Act of 

Parliament may lead to odd results’ .%® 
A coherent group intent on ‘reconstruction’ was formed at 

an Oxford meeting in the late summer of 1934, and Macmillan 

joined a drafting committee which also included Clifford Allen, 

W. Arnold Forster, A. Barratt Brown,?? Geoffrey Crowther, and 

Arthur Salter. The final product of their efforts was The Next 
Five Years: An Essay in Political Agreement, published in July 1935. 
Macmillan had helped to draft the first, economic section of 

this work. It is not certain that he played ‘a leading role in 
the development of its economic themes’, as his biographer 
believes, since that part of the book closely resembles earlier 
work by Arthur Salter, but there is no doubt that its message 
was similar to what he had been saying and writing since 1927, 
or that it was a political statement which openly competed for 
attention with Lloyd George’s ‘Councils of Action for Peace 
and Reconstruction’. This was an excellent vehicle for the 
advancement of his own career. 

Correspondingly, much of the later history of the Next Five 
Years group as a cross-party and non-party organisation was 
shaped by the political calculations of its leading members, of 
whom Macmillan was the most prominent and the most cal- 
culating. By the middle of 1935 he was a ‘very bitter, poor 
man’ because he had not been offered a job when so many of 
his parliamentary contemporaries were entering the ministry.°9 
The election expected in the autumn of 1935 encouraged talk 
of a ‘centre party’, and some members of the Next Five Years 

group, including Macmillan, visited Lloyd George in August 
to sniff the possibility of co-operation with the Councils of Ac- 
tion. They decided against it, ostensibly because it would be 
incompatible with the ‘spirit of our original constitution’; but 
Macmillan seems to have been in the minority.4° Allen and 
other members supported Macmillan in his election campaign, 
even trying, without success, to persuade the Liberal candidate 
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in Stockton to stand down. 
Within weeks of the election Macmillan was ready with a new 

tack. He sent a long memorandum to Lloyd George on the 
new situation in Parliament: 

The Government is secure for four or five years. The attempt to 
create a group of progressives holding the balance of power has 
definitely failed. In these circumstances it seems to me that the 
Members who agreed to the Council of Action Questionnaire cannot 
attempt to compete with the opposition parties in doing the routine 
work of critical examination in the day to day activities of Parliament. 
An entirely different method is forced upon them by the secure 
position of the Government 

Concluding that persuasion rather than parliamentary oppo- 
sition was the only promising course, he went on boldly to 
suggest that 

The Council of Action group will find it difficult to enlist. ..co- 
operation from the Government side of the House. Under the pres- 
sure of Election necessity it has become quite definitely associated 
with the opposition as an anti-Government movement. Would it not 
therefore be better to allow the Council of Action Group as such 
to disappear and replace it with a Parliamentary Group working in 
consultation with the “Next Five Years’ organisation which has no as- 
sociation in the public mind with any electoral activity in the past?4! 

No response appears to have survived to this rather imper- 
tinent suggestion that the Council of Action should abolish 
itself. 

The Next Five Years group was reformed in February 1936 
as a pressure group committed to a ‘practical programme of 
action’ but emphatically not as a new political party. Within 
a few months, however, the establishment of a periodical to 
promote its ideas — The New Outlook — led to a fierce internal 
disagreement. Allen complained that Macmillan was trying 
to control all the group’s activities. Macmillan wanted to co- 
operate with other groups, including Lloyd George; Allen in 
particular did not. The row over the form of the new publica- 
tion led Macmillan to propose a radical reform of the group’s 
function whose purpose was to remove Allen from any con- 
trolling influence. In this he was largely successful, but just to 
make sure he floated The New Outlook as an independent jour- 
nal under his own chairmanship to run a simple programme of 
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collective security, the abolition of the means test, action in the 

distressed areas, tariff reduction, and greater public control of 

industry. 
At the end of 1936 Allan Young, acting as Macmillan’s sec- 

retary, proposed to the Next Five Years group that it was time 

to unite the progressive opposition: and among the groups to 

be approached was Lloyd George’s Council of Action. This 

move had been authorised by ‘a number of private and in- 
formal conversations [which] have been held under the aus- 

pices of The New Outlook with regard to the possibility of achiev- 
ing a unity of the progressive elements in the political life of 
Britain’. Macmillan returned to the themes of late 1935, urg- 

ing on Lloyd George that a ‘nucleus formed as a result of the 
co-ordination of the Next Five Years Group, the Council of Ac- 
tion, and others, would be able to enlist sufficient support to 

enable it to act as the midwife of the new alliance’ of Liber- 
als and Labour with progressive Conservatives.*? Allen’s fragile 
patience finally broke, and he wrote to a member of the Next 
Five Years Executive: 

You probably do not know what is behind this proposal of Macmil- 
lan’s. It all dates back from the stupid squabble for power which 
first appeared when Macmillan was inclined to do a deal with L.G.’s 
Council of Action when it was formed, and when he and I went 

down to see L.G..... 
The fact is that when Macmillan was a supporter of the National 

Government he took X view of the functions of “The Next Five Years’ 
Group. Now that he has cut his traces and has no political home, he 
looks at the work and functions of our Group in a new way, which 
is largely influenced by his own personal position.*8 

In these transactions Macmillan was, no doubt, behaving with 

ruthless self-interest; but that is what politicians do. Cuthbert 
Headlam reckoned at the beginning of the Group’s existence 
that ‘the one thing he is really hankering for is political success 
and I feel that he would accept any job that was offered him’ 
and further that “Harold is a strange creature...the longer 
you know him, the less intimate you become with him and his 
sole interest in life appears to be himself.’44 Allen, by contrast, 

was an attractive figure, much loved by his friends on all sides 
of politics and widely respected for his sincerity. He had also 
shown himself in many contexts to be a difficult and prickly 
colleague, energetic but quick to take offence, and wedded 
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to his own vision of ‘truth and justice. A rift between the two 
men was not a surprise. By the end of 1937 both the magazine 
and the group were defunct, not because its policies were any 
less attractive to its members, but because it no longer offered 
Macmillan any interesting opportunities for political advance- 
ment. 

THE MIDDLE WAY 

Once separated, fairly amicably, from the Next Five Years 
group, Macmillan was free to make his own statement. He 

did so in The Middle Way, written with the help of his secretary 

Allan Young and published in May 1938. Distinctive and indi- 
gestible, it is now the best remembered of Macmillan’s books, 

though it differs little in substance from his earlier pamphlet 
and polemic writing.* Allowing himself the luxury of an eth- 
ical position as well as a political statement, Macmillan con- 
structed an argument very close to that of the New Liberals 
of his youth, believing like them that capitalism was in danger 
and that the greatest political threat in a democratic system 
was socialism: 

It should be the responsibility of society to find the means of grant- 
ing to every one of its citizens a guarantee of security in the enjoy- 
ment of minimum standards of food, clothing, and shelter in return 

for their willing offer to share in the labour necessary to produce 
them. That is to say, society has the responsibility of creating the 
social and economic organisation for the continuous supply of these 
minimum requirements; society has not the right to abandon the in- 
dividual because, as a result of faulty organisation, the labour which 
he is still willing to expend cannot temporarily be utilised. 

To this Macmillan added certain other obligations of society, 
such as that to provide adequate care for mothers and babies, 
educational opportunities for children ‘in so far as the parents 
are unable to provide these essentials’, and, echoing a tradi- 
tional Labour Party slogan, the requirement that ‘If it fails to 
provide the citizen with work for his willing hands, then society 
must provide him with maintenance.’4 At this point his argu- 
ment moved beyond that of the New Liberals, for he urged 
that it was not enough merely to redistribute wealth through 
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the transfer payments — pensions, sickness and unemployment 
benefits and the like — which they had hoped would fend off 
the wrath of the working classes. Arguing that ‘we are ap- 
proaching the limits of what can be accomplished by the nega- 
tive procedure of transferring wealth through taxation or levy’, 
Macmillan wanted society to ‘achieve an increased production 
of wealth out of which to support the satisfactory minimum 
standards that so obviously are essential’.4” 
The solution was to lie through planning rather than social- 

ism: 

(a) A form of Industrial Organisation which curbs unwise, specula- 
tive over-expansion of any industry and assists, by an intelligent 
system of market anticipation, in guiding capital investment into 
the correct channels and in the correct proportions, to maintain 

a balance in the quantities of separate goods which, if stability is 
to be preserved, must exchange for one another. 

(b) A method of ensuring that financial policy is conducted in such 
a way as to keep the factors of production at the highest possible 
degree of permanent employment. 

(c) A method of insuring the consumer against a loss of purchasing 
power arising from unforeseen fluctuations, which, by maintain- 
ing his standard of life at an irreducible minimum by means of 
social provisions, would check in its early stages any tendency to- 
wards depression that might still arise. The proposals under this 
head will rest, therefore, not only upon the humanitarian argu- 
ments that have already been advanced, but upon the require- 

ments of a comprehensive economic policy.48 

Industrial organisation he proposed to deal with by a general 
Enabling Bill, reminiscent of his proposals for the Industrial 
Reorganisation League. On finance he was evidently influ- 
enced by the Liberal Yellow Book of 1928, by Keynes’s General 
Theory, published in 1936, and to a lesser extent by Lionel 
Robbins’s The Great Depression. of 1934. He argued that ‘the 
volume of credit and the quantity of money should be regu- 
lated in accordance with the needs of the productive system 
and not be dominated by irrational and anti-social speculation 
in the fluctuating value of securities’.49 He also commented on 
the adverse consequences of excessive saving: the hoarding of 
idle balances because of investors’ ‘liquidity preference’ which 
Keynes had put at the centre of his explanation of the cur- 
rent economic discontents. Macmillan therefore proposed a 
reformed Bank of England and, more tentatively, a National In- 
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vestment Board to co-ordinate public borrowing and regulate 
capital issues and overseas investment. Unabashed at the num- 
ber of authorities he was creating, he also proposed a foreign 
trade committee to manage the balance of payments through 
duties, subsidies and bulk purchasing of imports — a suggestion 
first made by the 1931 Committee on Finance and Industry. 

By this stage in his argument Macmillan was ready to propose 
an overarching system of economic control. This was nothing 
if not comprehensive: 

The direction and guidance of a single national policy through the 
channels that our organisational structure would provide, would 
bring each branch of activity into a harmonious relationship with 
the others in the pursuit of a common aim.... The National Eco- 
nomic Council, with all the facts before it, would survey the whole 

field of economic activity, and, in consultation with the responsible 

representatives of the Government, formulate a comprehensive plan 
for general guidance. The Central Bank, the National Investment 

Board, the Foreign Trade organisation, and the Industrial Advisory 

Council would conduct their operations in accordance with this pol- 
icy and seek to enlist the co-operation of industries or enterprises 
to assist in carrying it into effect. 

The National Economic Council was not to be an elected body 
nor, properly speaking, an executive agency either. Although it 
was expected to guide the subordinate organisations, its policy 
was supposed to be subject to ratification by the government. 
Its membership was to be appointed by the government, but 
drawn from the subordinate organisations and from the TUC, 
the National Confederation of Employers’ Organisations, the 
Federation of British Industry, with ‘representatives of every 

department of Government concerned with economic policy’ 

and ‘selected individuals of eminence in the fields of Economic 

Science and any other branches of learning from which expert 

assistance could usefully be recruited’. This bore disconcert- 

ing similarities to the Economic Advisory Council which Ram- 

say MacDonald had set up under the 1929-31 Labour gov- 

ernment, and Macmillan offered no reason for thinking that 

such a group would not reproduce the internal disagreements 

which had crippled the earlier body,>! but it seems clear that 

his main concern in describing it was to reassure readers that 

the sovereignty of Parliament would not be infringed. After 

the careful preparation of earlier chapters, there is a surpris- 

ing contrast between the cautious description of the powers of 
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the planning bodies and the bold assertion that through them 
‘the Government will be expected to achieve the full employ- 
ment of the labour and capital resources of the nation’.>? 

The Middle Way was graciously reviewed, both by friends and 
opponents. Harold Nicolson in The Observer described it as “an 
exhaustive and intelligent study of the means by which we can 
obtain economic liberty without sacrificing political liberty’ and 
remarked that ‘many progressive and puzzled people will hail 
this book with relief’, while G.D.H. Cole praised it in the New 
Statesman. Judged by the standards commonly applied to books 
written by practising politicians, it is clearly far above average, 
though one must wonder whether it would have maintained 
its reputation had the author not subsequently become prime 
minister. An assessment of its originality and its place in the 
context of contemporary writing about economic policy can- 
not be so clear-cut. Every idea has a history, and every idea 
in The Middle Way can be fitted into debates about unemploy- 
ment, foreign trade, industrial reorganisation and the structure 

of government which were pursued vigorously throughout the 
interwar period. 

For the most part The Middle Way is a rather cautious com- 
pilation of the economic revisionism of the 1930s, written up 
so that Conservatives need not find it too unpalatable. Harold 
Nicolson’s ‘relief’? seems to have been the intended effect. This 
is particularly noticeable in the passages dealing with macro- 
economics in which Macmillan relies heavily on Keynes and 
Robbins. Economists are used in these passages to lend author- 
ity to some valid criticisms of the effect of existing economic in- 
stitutions on the prospects for recovery. Some quite technical 
matters, such as Keynes’s discussion of liquidity preference and 
the possibility that the economy, if left unmanaged, will reach 
equilibrium at a point where there is still substantial unem- 
ployment, are put firmly in front of the reader. But although 
Macmillan admits the possibility of counter-cyclical spending — 
‘Government spending would be reduced to a minimum when 
everybody else was spending freely, whether on consumption 
or investment, and it would be expanded to the maximum 

when any interruptions occurred in the flow of savings into 
effective demand for capital construction, or for use as work- 
ing capital’53 — even this is described as a ‘reserve weapon’ and 
relegated in significance by comparison with the major plan- 
ning agencies. The concept of demand management does not 
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emerge at all clearly,in any part of the book. Given the rate 
at which Keynes’s revolution in economic thought was by that 
time sweeping academic economics, and the remarkable speed 
with which even such bastions of orthodoxy as the Treasury and 
the Parliamentary Labour Party were to take up his views within 
the next ten years, it is misleading in the extreme to suggest 

either that Macmillan’s book in 1938 was ‘in many ways a revo- 
lutionary document’ or that he was ‘adhering faithfully to the 
doctrines of Keynes’ in what he wrote.54 Macmillan himself, 
in an otherwise unconvincing gloss on the book delivered as a 
lecture thirty years later, observed of it simply that ‘it is along 
this line that the Tory tradition springs from the past and leads 
to the future’. This, rather than revolution, is the hallmark of 

The Middle Way. 

IN THE WILDERNESS 

The publication of The Middle Way was, though not a turning 
point in Macmillan’s life, a convenient watershed for the his- 

torian. After 1938 the main theme of his political career was 
his reconciliation with Churchill and the Eden group of dissi- 
dent Conservative M.P.s. Appeasement and rearmament were 
the main issues in his political repertoire, and in his disillu- 
sionment with the Conservative leadership he became an out- 
spoken critic of Neville Chamberlain. These are the themes 
which begin the next chapter. The economic issues which he 
had made his own were of diminishing importance, both to 
him and to the political world at large. It is an appropriate 
point, therefore, at which to review the first stage of his politi- 

cal career. 
In 1938 Macmillan was forty-four years old. He had entered 

Parliament at the age of thirty, and made an immediate im- 
pression. ‘Janitor’, one of the wittiest and occasionally most 
acute of commentators on politics in the later 1920s, wrote 
in 1927 that ‘On the whole...if I had to “spot” the future 
leader of the Tory Party from the ranks of the Young Conser- 
vatives, my choice would fall...on Harold Macmillan.’ This 
was for idiosyncratic but interesting reasons. Janitor made a 
neat comparison between Macmillan and Duff Cooper: “Both 
joined the Brigade of Guards; both distinguished themselves 
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rather unexpectedly in an uncongenial profession; and both 

have married Wives.’ But Macmillan had been an unusually 

active constituency member, and moreover: 

In the House his reputation rests, not on a single effort, but on a 
sequence of thoughtful speeches, out of which emerges the germ of 
a constructive industrial policy. He knows his subjects. As a director 
of the famous publishing firm with which his family is associated, 
he is necessarily in contact with many of the business and industrial 
problems of the day; and having been A.D.C. to the Duke of De- 
vonshire during his Canadian Governorship, he has some personal 
knowledge of the Empire. 

So sound a reputation has he made for himself in so brief a space, 
that to-day, when under-secretaryships fall vacant, people are begin- 
ning to mention his name as a candidate for office.°5 

But eleven years later he had not become even an under- 
secretary. Anthony Eden, who had entered Parliament only 
a year before (and quite failed to make an impact on ‘Jani- 
tor’) had already reached the Cabinet and resigned from it; 
R.A. Butler, who entered Parliament in 1929, had held two 

under-secretaryships in succession. Even Boothby, whose per- 
sonal ambition was nullified by his epicurean tendencies, had 
come closer to the smell of power as Churchill’s PPS at the 
Treasury. Macmillan was a political failure. 

The historian must decide between his own account of his 
misfortune, which as outlined above was that he had deliber- 

ately chosen to pursue an unpopular principle and an unpop- 
ular attitude rather than grovel to the managers of his increas- 
ingly unsatisfactory party, and a more contingent explanation. 
The latter has the merit of explaining rather better than the 
former Macmillan’s realistic and calculating attitude to polit- 
ical ideas. Under the second Baldwin administration, from 

1924 to 1929, he behaved as a rationally ambitious politician 
should. He concentrated on his subject, worked on his parlia- 
mentary style, sought publicity in print as well as in the cham- 
ber, and attached himself firmly to a political patron. The 
choice of Churchill as a patron was, however, doubly unfortu- 

nate. Churchill’s own unhappy relations with the large Tariff 
Reform element in the party forced him into increasingly tor- 
tuous manoeuvres after the government fell, culminating in a 
dramatic breach with Baldwin over India. This lurch to the 
Right left Macmillan without a patron. Any hope of restoring 
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relations was blighted by Boothby’s presence in Churchill’s co- 
terie. On the other hand, Macmillan had singularly failed to 
make an impression on Chamberlain, who was the rising star 
in the party. The flirtation with Mosley’s New Party was an 
entirely natural response to frustration; his final rejection of it, 
in favour of loyalty to the established Conservative Party, was a 
rational decision which left scars. 

During the 1930s it seemed clear that Macmillan could not 
leave the Conservative Party, even if he had wanted to do so. 
He was married, albeit unhappily, to a daughter of the Conser- 
vative establishment. He was a wealthy man, as he told Lord 
Longford in 1938 in explanation of why he could not join a 
Popular Front.°® In the prejudiced but often very acute analysis 
of ‘Simon Haxey’ in Jory MP Macmillan was identified as hav- 
ing ‘shown on many occasions a vigorous independence and 
respect for our democratic traditions’,57 by which the author 
meant that he had spoken against appeasement, but he also 
appeared as a railway director and as one of the six current and 
nine former MPs related to the Cavendishes. The gravitational 
force of these connections kept him loyal to the party, with- 
out guaranteeing him any preferment. His adventures across 
party lines, with the Industrial Reorganisation League and es- 
pecially with the Next Five Years group, were never intended 
to detract from his political partisanship, and although cir- 
cumstances forced him into conflict with the party’s leaders, 

especially Neville Chamberlain, these were not circumstances 
of his own choosing. Macmillan in the 1930s was not so much 
a natural rebel as a frustrated careerist, making outlets for his 
natural energies. He was also unhappy in his private life, cuck- 
olded by a former close friend and known in the Conservative 
Party and in society at large as a conceited, rather introverted 

bore. 
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Chapter 3 

THE SECOND WORLD WAR 

1938-45 

The Second World War dramatically put an end to the unpro- 
ductive frictions of the 1930s, though not before the Cham- 
berlain government had made an unsuccessful bid to carry 
on political business as usual. In 1940 the Conservative Party, 
which had dominated the Commons and the country since 
1922, was forced to yield to a Coalition government in which 
Labour held a commanding position in home affairs. Within 
the party, Churchill’s succession to the premiership restored a 
number of the political casualties of the 1930s to the eminence 
which they might have expected to enjoy but for Chamberlain’s 
displeasure. Macmillan was one of these. As a supporter not 
only of the overthrow of Chamberlain but also of Churchill's 
succession, he was rewarded by his first taste of office, the Par- 

liamentary Secretaryship at the Ministry of Supply. From there 
he moved on to the Colonial Office as a junior minister, where 
he took responsibility for the economic section. Finally he 
became a Minister of State with Cabinet rank (whatever that 

meant) as Minister Resident in Algeria, from January 1943. 

His political responsibilities finally extended to the whole of 
the Mediterranean theatre of war, and he was responsible for 
the political arrangements which brought the war to a close 
in Italy, Greece and Yugoslavia. This was a ‘good war’ for a 
middle-aged civilian, especially for one whose political ambi- 

tion had for so long been thwarted. Although his own very 

full recollections concentrate on his achievements as a diplo- 

matist, the more notable lesson of these five years is that he 

was able to establish a reputation for energy and organising 

ability in economic matters, concealed behind an ironical and 

patrician facade. 
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APPEASEMENT 

In a political sense, Macmillan’s war began with Appeasement. 
His role in the fall of Chamberlain was therefore important for 
his own career as much as for the history of politics. He was 
associated with a number of anti-Chamberlain groups within 
the House of Commons. The ‘Eden group’ in particular acted 
together after Munich, with Leopold Amery and Lord Cran- 
borne prominent among its members, and Macmillan tried to 

act as a link between it and Churchill’s more particular follow- 
ers such as Duncan Sandys and Boothby. He also kept in touch 
with Chamberlain’s Labour opponents, especially Hugh Dal- 
ton, and this led him naturally to co-operate with the all-party 
‘action group’ convened by Boothby and Thomas Horabin, a 
Liberal, in the early part of the war. His public commitment 
as an anti-Munich Conservative came with his support for A.D. 
Lindsay, the anti-Munich Independent candidate, in the Ox- 
ford by-election of October 1938. 

Yet the eruption of feeling after Munich had been long pre- 
pared. Macmillan’s commitment to ‘collective security’ dated 
back at least to the Liberty and Democratic Leadership man- 
ifestos which he had signed in 1934, and which prepared the 
ground for the Next Five Years group. He had criticised the 
Hoare-—Laval pact in 1935, on the ground that it nullified the 
League of Nations sanctions against Italian action in Abyssinia. 
When Hitler marched into the Rhineland in March 1936 he 
condemned Baldwin and MacDonald for ‘elevat[ing] inactiv- 
ity into a principle’, and after a foreign affairs debate in June 
1936, again over Abyssinia, he voted against the government 

and a week later resigned the Whip, which he was only to ac- 
cept again a year later. By the time Chamberlain had been to 
Munich and abandoned the Czechs to their fate, Macmillan 

was recognised by the Whips as a ‘habitual suspect’ on foreign 
affairs, and a collaborator, albeit a somewhat distant collabo- 

rator, with Anthony Eden, who had become Foreign Secretary 
after Hoare’s resignation in 1935 and had himself resigned in 
February 1938. 

Macmillan’s foreign policy views were closely linked with the 
economic proposals of The Middle Way: in a pamphlet on The 
Price of Peace, published in October 1938, he argued that the 
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necessary armaments could only be produced by careful eco- 
nomic planning if they were not to disrupt the civilian econ- 
omy. This point was taken further in February 1939 in Economic 
Aspects of Defence which sold widely because of its relevance to 
the European crisis but whose main interest in retrospect is its 
powerful defence of industrial reconstruction, control of in- 

vestment, and state-backed foreign trade. In both pamphlets, 

and in the House of Commons, he emphasised the achieve- 
ment of the German government in reducing unemployment. 
He was one of only three Conservatives — the others being 
Churchill and Brendan Bracken — to vote against the govern- 
ment in a Liberal and Labour call for a Ministry of Supply 
in November 1938. By the middle of 1939 he had challenged 
the Chamberlain government’s policy with a critique which was 
unusual both for its breadth and for its cogency. 

Nevertheless, dissent was a forlorn road, and it was often dif- 

ficult for the dissidents to maintain coherence and determina- 
tion in the face of Chamberlain’s relentless news management 
and large, loyal parliamentary majority. Despite the best efforts 
of Churchill and Eden the back-bench opposition to Chamber- 
lain’s foreign policy was tiny, perhaps twenty reliable members 
compared with around eighty who consistently opposed the 
party leadership’s India policy in the early 1930s. It was eas- 
ier to be right about Germany than to do anything to correct 
the government’s errors, and many of the anti-appeasers were 
conscious that they had somehow to get back into office if they 
were going to achieve anything. Eden in particular seemed 
inhibited by his natural ambition to return to the Cabinet. 
Macmillan, having less to lose, was more outspoken, but his 

decision to accept the Whip again in June 1937 was a recogni- 
tion that no-one could stray too far from the Conservative Party 
and still hope to influence events. His practice of remaining 
somewhat closer to Eden than to Churchill was realistic. In 
later life Macmillan was to make much of the psychological 
gulf between supporters and opponents of Munich, as indeed 
was Eden, but in the last two years before the war the disparity 

in size between the pro and anti groups restrained the anti- 

appeasers from full-blooded action. 

Macmillan himself was among the most energetic, espe- 

cially in October 1938, immediately after Munich, when he 

welcomed Duff Cooper’s resignation and tried hard to set 

up what he called ‘1931 in reverse’, with the Tory minority 
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joining Labour in an anti-appeasement government. He ap- 

proached Dalton on 3 October, after seeing Churchill, and 

got the friendly assent of Clement Attlee and Herbert Morri- 

son for exploratory talks. But, as Eden pointed out, the arith- 

metic was wrong; Parliament was behind the government, and 

if Chamberlain went to the country he would be supported 

strongly, so there was nothing except destruction to be gained 

from splitting the Tory Party on that particular line of cleay- 

age. Macmillan’s hopes of reconstructing party politics were 

dashed.! 

WAR 

At the outbreak of war the Conservative dissidents stepped up 
their efforts, but in vain. Chamberlain’s serenity was hardly 

disturbed by continual military and political failures, and the 
inclusion of Churchill in the government at the beginning of 
the war as First Lord of the Admiralty did little to cheer the 
critics, since they feared that he would be dragged down in 
the inevitable collapse. Like most of his political collaborators, 
Macmillan was confined to the back benches. He used up his 
energy in constituency work, Commons interventions on mat- 
ters of industrial production and supply, and a semi-official 
mission in support of the Finnish government, which was ne- 
gotiating for covert British support in its war against Russia.* 

The collapse of British operations in Norway in early May 
1940 precipitated action by the Conservative rebels. Macmil- 
lan was present at meetings of the Salisbury group, the ‘Eden 
group’ — now chaired by Amery — and the all-party group, all 
of which decided that the government must be brought down. 
The announcement that Churchill was to be ‘spokesman’ of all 
military departments in the War Cabinet did not deflect them, 
and Amery’s Cromwellian appeal to Chamberlain on 7 May 
1940 — ‘In the name of God, go!’ — precisely expressed Macmil- 
lan’s view as he later recalled it. Macmillan did not speak in 
the debate; his main contribution was to urge, in a number of 

meetings of the dissident Conservatives, that Churchill rather 
than Halifax should be the next prime minister. 
On assuming office Churchill constructed a ministry which 

included not only Labour and Liberal members, but also a 
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broad range of Conservatives including Chamberlain and some 
of his closest supporters. He could hardly do otherwise, since 
few of the anti-appeasers were administratively experienced or 
competent and in any case it was important to maintain the 
unity of the party. Macmillan was offered a lowly office, the 
Parliamentary Secretaryship at the Ministry of Supply, working 
first under Herbert Morrison, then under Sir Andrew Duncan, 

and finally for a period under Beaverbrook. In the circum- 
stances this was not a flattering appointment. 

At first his rdle at the Ministry was to devil for his ministers 
and answer for them sometimes in Parliament; he would take 

on any job from the management of a glut in salvaged oily rags 
to the winkling out of unused drop-forging capacity in Manch- 
ester.2 When Beaverbrook took over, in July 1941, Macmillan 
took full responsibility for representing Supply in the Com- 
mons. Although none of this gave him the independent ex- 
ecutive responsibility which he wanted, he was fully occupied 
with administrative detail and gained an intimate knowledge of 
production problems. By the beginning of 1942 he was able to 
write a detailed proposal for the establishment of a Ministry of 
Production to take full responsibility, as a super-ministry, for 
all the factors of production and allocate them between all the 
producing departments. The aim was to overcome the hand- 
icap faced by the Ministry of Supply, which was the same as 
that faced by Lloyd George’s Ministry of Munitions in the First 
World War: although Supply was responsible for equipping the 
army, the Admiralty jealously maintained its own production 
organisation and the supply of aircraft was in the hands of an 
independent Ministry of Aircraft Production. This would have 
involved integrating the control of manpower with the control 
of capital equipment and raw materials; it would have trod- 
den on the toes of Ernest Bevin, the Minister of Labour; it 

was therefore politically unworkable. But the proposals were 
accepted, in a modified form, in February, and Beaverbrook 

became Minister of Production.4 
Macmillan’s work at the Ministry of Supply depended for 

its texture on the character of his successive ministers. Morri- 

son, whom he respected as a politician but not as an admin- 

istrator, left him alone to develop the machinery of industrial 

planning and the control of raw materials. Sir Andrew Dun- 

can had greater administrative confidence but no political in- 

stinct, and Macmillan’s growing competence in the House of 
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Commons began to yield results. Beaverbrook was an elemen- 

tal force, who applied to the Ministry of Supply the energy, 

though rather less of the genius, which Lloyd George had ap- 

plied to the Ministry of Munitions in the previous war. Because 

Beaverbrook sat in the Lords, Macmillan had full responsibil- 

ity for representing the department in the Commons, and this 

he finally came to enjoy. The job expanded after Russia’s en- 

try into the war in June 1941. Because Beaverbrook, unlike 

his predecessors, had the will and the capacity to spend time 

abroad in high-level negotiation, Macmillan assumed more and 

more responsibility for the running of the department. These 

valuable experiences, which of course complemented what he 

had already learned as a businessman, confirmed Macmillan’s 

confidence in his own abilities. In addition, they exposed him 

to senior politicians. Morrison, after a pounding received from 
Macmillan during the post-war debates over steel nationalisa- 
tion, eventually turned against him. Beaverbrook, too, found 

himself in the 1950s horrified at the changes Macmillan was 
making in Conservative policies. Both men, even so, claimed 

to have recognised in their Parliamentary Secretary a consid- 
erable administrative and political talent, and Macmillan was 
one of many younger politicians who found themselves having 

to make a conscious effort to resist Beaverbrook’s undoubted 

personal magnetism. 
Macmillan’s reward for his work at Supply and his part in 

designing the new Ministry of Production was a Privy Coun- 
cillorship and a transfer to the Colonial Office. The Minister 
of Production was given no Parliamentary Secretary, and since 
Sir Andrew Duncan was chosen to return to Supply from the 
Board of Trade, Macmillan could not find a parliamentary role 
there. The Colonial Office, where Lord Moyne was Secretary 
of State, provided a convenient opening. Three weeks after 
Macmillan’s arrival Moyne was replaced in a Cabinet reshuffle 
by Macmillan’s old friend Lord Cranborne,® and in a work- 
ing relationship which lasted nine months Macmillan took on 
the economic organisation of the colonial empire. The main 
object was to increase Empire production of strategic materi- 
als such as rubber, tin and wolfram, and of vital food prod- 

ucts such as palm oil and peanuts, and to arrange trade in 
these commodities so as to use scarce shipping most effec- 
tively. Macmillan, who later admitted freely that his ‘knowl- 
edge of the Colonies was very limited’, simply applied, with 
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considerable success, the methods he had learned in the Min- 

istry of Supply. Imperial economic contributions to the war 
effort did improve,’ and at the same time the Colonial Office 

took some preliminary steps towards economic reconstruction 
of the colonies after the war, with discussions — never in the 

event to come to anything — on land reform in East Africa and 
industrial development elsewhere. This stage in Macmillan’s 
rise ended when Oliver Stanley was appointed to succeed Cran- 
borne.’ Preferring not to serve under a member of the House 
of Commons, Macmillan contemplated resignation but was dis- 

suaded by Churchill’s confidant, Brendan Bracken. Within a 
month he had been invited to take on a new role as Minister of 
State in Algiers, sent to influence the North African campaign 
and the evolution of French politics in the liberated territories 
in the directions determined by British interests. He was the 
prime minister’s second choice, after Harry Crookshank.? 

NORTH AFRICA 

Macmillan began his new mission with enthusiasm. As he later 
wrote, ‘Although neither I nor the Prime Minister had re- 

ally the slightest idea what I was going to do, I would do it 
with the utmost diligence and perseverance.’ Within days of 
the appointment Admiral Darlan, the representative of Vichy 
France who had become the effective civilian authority in Alge- 
ria under Allied occupation, was assassinated by a sympathiser 
with the Free French. Macmillan’s immediate reaction was to 
fear that ‘the fact that Darlan had been eliminated might so 
simplify the French situation that a new Minister would not 
be needed’. Fortunately there was no prospect of simplify- 
ing French politics-in-exile, and the role of the Minister of 

State expanded steadily. Besides acting as a buffer between 
Churchill, the American government and de Gaulle, until de 

Gaulle was installed, in August 1944, as de facto leader of the 

provisional government of a liberated France, Macmillan man- 
aged the transfer of power from the invading forces to a pro- 
Allied government in Italy, and also exercised local political 

control over the liberation of Greece in 1944 and British inter- 

vention in the Greek rebellion. Finally, he was responsible for 

British policy in the Balkans, where British, French, American, 

Soviet and Yugoslav forces were fighting alongside one another 
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by the Austrian border and in the Venezia Giulia. Here, in a 

brief encounter with the problem of anti-communist Cossack 

prisoners of war, he became involved with the ‘Klagenfurt con- 

spiracy’ which has overshadowed discussion of his activities in 

the Mediterranean theatre.!° For most of the time, his work in 

the Mediterranean was coloured by the need to align British 

and American policy in a theatre of war whose political com- 

plexity increased as its military significance declined. 
The problem of France occasioned Macmillan’s mission to 

Algeria and dominated his first year’s activity. After the sur- 

render of the French army on 22 June 1940, the Germans had 
divided France into an Occupied Zone under German military 
government and an Unoccupied Zone in the south, which from 
July 1940 was governed from Vichy by a new administration 
under Marshal Pétain. General Charles de Gaulle, who had 

been a junior defence minister in the last independent French 
administration, left France on 18 June and launched the Provi- 
sional French National Committee, which stood for the contin- 

uance of the war and was supported by the British government. 
De Gaulle’s ‘Free French’ won the support of the administra- 
tions of some of France’s minor colonies, but the major set- 
tlements of West and North Africa, and the French mandated 

territory in Syria, resisted temptation: their governors took the 
view that the Vichy regime was the legitimate government of 
France. An assault on Dakar in September 1940, supported 
by the British, was a failure. In February 1942 another com- 
bined operation, against Syria and the Lebanon, succeeded, 
and Madagascar was invaded by British troops in May 1942. By 
this time the Vichy regime and the Free French were deadly 
enemies. The emergence of Admiral Darlan as Vice-President 
and Foreign Minister at Vichy was an important development. 
He was much more inclined than Pétain to co-operate with 
Germany — it was at his instance that Vichy agreed to the op- 
eration of German and Italian forces from Syria, which precip- 
itated the Allied attack in 1942 — and he was associated with 
the introduction in Vichy France of repressive and anti-semitic 
legislation, to conform to German policy. 

Vichy had no diplomatic relations with Britain, but until De- 
cember 1941 the United States maintained an ambassador to 
the Pétain government, and afterwards retained some hope 

that Vichy would eventually co-operate in the liberation of 
metropolitan France. Correspondingly, the Americans were 
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suspicious of de Gaulle. The Allied landings in North Africa 
in November 1942, the main purpose of which was to eliminate 
German and Italian troops from Libya and Tunisia, were com- 
manded by an American, General Eisenhower, even though 
most of the troops involved were British. The Americans had 
insisted that de Gaulle’s forces be excluded from the campaign, 
and indeed even from its planning, on the grounds that French 
colonial administrations who were still attached to Vichy de- 
tested the Free French and were more likely to co-operate if a 
different French figure were available. Their choice had fallen 
on General Giraud, a cavalry commander who had recently 
escaped from a German prison camp and who had no connec- 
tion with either Vichy or the Free French. 

After the landings, which were resisted by French forces in 

Algeria, Giraud was spurned by the local French commanders, 
and the Allies found themselves dealing with Admiral Darlan, 

who was by chance in Algiers when the landings took place. An 
agreement was quickly reached, and Darlan ordered a general 
cease-fire in North Africa and assumed control of all French 
forces and civil administration in the area. He also ordered 
the French fleet at Toulon to join the Allies. At this point, 
fearing the collapse of their hegemony in southern France, the 
Germans occupied the Vichy area, sent troops to Tunisia (then 
controlled by Vichy) and forced Pétain to repudiate Darlan. 
The naval commander at Toulon, though hostile to the British, 

scuttled his ships rather than let them fall into German hands. 
De Gaulle, already bitterly offended by his exclusion from the 
planning of the campaign, was cut to the quick by the deal with 
Darlan, and refused to co-operate with Allied forces in North 
Africa until the ‘guilty men’ were eliminated. 

The agreement with Darlan had caused bitterness in both 
Britain and the United States, where public opinion tended 
to share de Gaulle’s view of Frenchmen who collaborated with 
Germany. The British government was attacked in Parliament, 
and a Secret Session on 11 December required all Churchill's 
powers of persuasion.!! Churchill was particularly concerned 

to retain the support of the Americans in the Mediterranean, 

and therefore did not wish to fall out with them. Neverthe- 

less, de Gaulle’s forces had a great and growing potential in 

the overseas colonies, and his support was also important. On 

Christmas Eve, 1942 Darlan was assassinated. This cleared the 

air somewhat, but it was soon obvious that where there had 
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once been two French factions at daggers drawn, there were 

now three: the Free French, the Vichy regime and its sup- 

porters in France, and the colonial administrators and military 

and naval officers in North Africa who believed that the Dar- 

lan agreement, and only that agreement, had legitimated their 

repudiation of Vichy and their co-operation with the Allies. 

It was Macmillan’s unenviable job to bring about a political 

settlement in French North Africa which would serve Britain’s 

ends in both the long and the short term. After getting rid 

of the Comte de Paris, who showed some signs of introducing 

a fourth warring element by launching a Royalist campaign, 

he began to work for an agreement between de Gaulle and 
Giraud. At first, although his presence in Algiers and regular 

intercourse with assorted French officers and politicians was 
important, the initiative lay higher up. At the Casablanca Con- 
ference (15-29 January 1943) Roosevelt and Churchill spent 
some time trying to resolve their own differences about the fu- 
ture of French politics, and it was at Casablanca, after consider- 

able effort, that de Gaulle and Giraud were persuaded to shake 
hands in public, though de Gaulle did not get the recognition 
he wanted as an equal participant in Algerian government.!? 

In March, acting with Robert Murphy, President Roosevelt’s 
political representative in North Africa, Macmillan managed to 
get Giraud to accept Gaullist representatives into his ‘Comité 
de Guerre’, which was in effect to be the core of a reunified 

French resistance to Germany, in which de Gaulle’s French 
National Committee, based in London, would participate in a 

single government-in-exile. His next move was to secure the 
allegiance of ‘Force X’, a detachment of the French fleet in- 

terned in Alexandria harbour. The final arrangements, both 

for the fleet and the political union, took until the end of 
July, with numerous resignations and counter-resignations on 
the part of de Gaulle, Giraud and their followers; by 26 Au- 
gust, de Gaulle was prime minister of a single, unified French 

government-in-exile which had been recognised by Britain and, 
more reluctantly, by the United States. This outcome, the 
French National Committee of Liberation, owed a great deal to 
Macmillan’s diplomatic skill and his willingness to ‘interpret’ 
his instructions from Churchill and the Foreign Office. The 
affair also gave him important personal contacts with de Gaulle 
and Jean Monnet, which he was to use later when managing 
Britain’s policy towards the European Economic Community. 
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Macmillan had by now made himself an important figure in 
inter-Allied politics, taking initiatives without undue concern 
for the torrent of instructions which emerged from Churchill 
and Anthony Eden, the Foreign Secretary. His exchanges with 
London over Force X are particularly revealing. His plan was 
to force the commander, Admiral Godfroy, to acknowledge Gi- 

raud’s authority as the legitimate head of the French state by 
ensuring that the subsidies advanced to Godfroy by the Allies 
were henceforth paid through Giraud. Godfroy, though a de- 
voted Anglophile and hater of Germans, was inclined to stand 
on the letter of his loyalty to the regime in Vichy. Macmillan 
finally persuaded him that Pétain was no longer a free agent 
and therefore that the French state was now in other hands; 

meanwhile he had authorised the payment of a small subsidy 
through Giraud before Godfroy’s agreement was confirmed. 
Churchill exploded. 

Prime Minister to Minister Resident, Algiers, 12 April 1943 [telegram] 

What you propose is exact opposite of what was explained, through 
you, to Giraud in my telegram.... No pay of any kind should reach 
recalcitrant squadron. ..until they definitely come over to Giraud. 

Minister Resident to Foreign Office ¢ May 1943 
From your telegram[s].... I judge that you consider that I have 

not followed out the plan agreed on.... 
I am afraid Admiral Godfroy will never rally in the full-blooded sense 
of that word. The most that he could do would be to make dainty 
and decorous approaches in the nature of the steps of a minuet. I 
think he has already taken steps in the direction of his partner and 
is in fact committed.... Throughout all this I have had not as much 
help as one might have expected from our Ally, partially because - 
quite frankly — State Department policy has been vacillating, obscure, 
and none too straightforward. I cannot believe, therefore, that it 

would be wise at this juncture to risk throwing away all that we have 
achieved, largely by our own efforts, by quarrelling with Giraud on 
this comparatively minor point.!3 

Churchill continued to grumble, but Macmillan’s policy was 

vindicated. 

ITALY 

The peculiarity of Macmillan’s position became more evident 

as the North African campaign was concluded (on 13 May, with 
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the surrender of all German and Italian forces in Tunisia) and 

Allied attention turned to the invasion of Sicily. He had orig- 

inally been sent to establish an arm’s-length relationship with 

Allied Force Headquarters (AFHQ) the military body which 

had planned and executed the Torch campaign in North Africa 

with Eisenhower as supreme commander. His job was to give 

political advice to the commanders on the spot and to rep- 

resent the British government with ministerial authority. In 

practice he had become a skilled mediator between the com- 

manders in North Africa and their masters in London and 

Washington. ‘London’ was an entity in which there were some 

conflicts of view between Churchill, Eden at the Foreign Office 

and the War Office planners; but the manipulation of ‘“Lon- 

don’ was relatively simple when compared with the problem of 

‘Washington’, where conflicts between the State Department, 

the War Department and the White House were endemic, with 

all three elements becoming involved in the political work of 
dealing with the French in North Africa and, later, the Italians 

in Sicily and on the mainland. A typical episode in June 1943 
illustrates the nature of Macmillan’s job: 

General Eisenhower showed me some further telegrams from the 
President, and I showed him mine from the P.M. General Eisen- 

hower then said, ‘What do you think I should do?’ I said, that as 

he observed from my telegrams, my instructions were to give him 
absolute support in carrying out the President’s instructions. He 
said, ‘Oh yes. But as a friend, what would you advise me to do?’ I 

said that was quite a different question, and that I thought we might 
interpret these instructions in our own way. Finally he sent a very 
sensible reply to the President, which he dictated in front of us. He 
asked me to suggest amendments, and I made a few.!4 

The meeting was attended only by Macmillan, Robert Mur- 
phy, Roosevelt’s own representative, and General Walter Bedell 

Smith, Eisenhower’s Chief of Staff. 

Macmillan’s influence over events in the Mediterranean the- 
atre was increased as the invasion of Sicily got under way. The 
landings were commanded by a British officer, General Sir 
Harold Alexander, with whom Macmillan had a close and ad- 

miring relationship. As the campaign proceeded AFHQ devel- 
oped a more prominent role in the Mediterranean, which was 
not diminished even when Eisenhower left the theatre (to take 

over command of the operations in north-west Europe) and 
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was replaced by General Sir Henry Maitland Wilson (‘Jumbo’), 
with whom Macmillan also struck up a good relationship, 
despite having pushed Alexander for the job. Increasingly 
Macmillan’s claim to influence was his ability to understand 
and work with the Americans, a skill which was especially im- 
portant as the purely British command in Cairo, which had its 
own Minister Resident, became less influential. 

Macmillan’s readiness to stretch his instructions was demon- 
strated to even greater effect during negotiations for the sur- 
render of Italy. Allied forces landed in Sicily on 10 July 1943. 
On 25 July it was learned that Mussolini had stepped down, to 
be replaced by Marshal Badoglio; it was later discovered that 
he had done so after the Germans had refused to promise to 
defend Italy south of the River Po. The immediate priority for 
the Allies was to persuade the new Italian government to join 
the war against Germany, thus reversing the existing balance 
of forces in the Italian peninsula. The British and American 
governments wanted to impose comprehensive peace terms on 
Italy; the local commanders and Macmillan, as the local politi- 
cal adviser, wanted a quick and acceptable armistice to prevent 

the need for a costly invasion of the mainland. In the midst of 
a seven-way telegraphic correspondence, a policy was worked 
out during July and August. Macmillan’s experience of bal- 
ancing military and political needs in liberated territories was 
evident from the first: early in the turmoil he reflected that 
‘if the King and Badoglio do not within a few days ask for an 
armistice, we can get up a real revolution in Italy against them. 
But it would suit us better not to be stimulators of revolution, 

which we shall only have to suppress later.’!5 Negotiations were 
carried on through the British Embassy in Lisbon and in direct 
conversation between Italian and Allied officers at the Allied 

headquarters in Palermo, and an armistice signed on 3 Septem- 

ber. Meanwhile German forces had been rushed to Italy, so 

that on 8 September Badoglio’s government tried to postpone 

the armistice, but this was firmly squashed and on the same 

day Allied forces landed at Salerno, opposed by German but 

not by Italian troops. Macmillan described the armistice as 

‘the biggest bluff in history’.!® 

Badoglio’s government left Rome for Brindisi on 9 Septem- 

ber,taking with it the king and the crown prince but leaving 

behind much of the civilian administration; Macmillan’s task 

was to define Allied relations with this government. Eventu- 
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ally it was decided to impose the ‘long terms’ which had been 

drawn up by the Allied governments in July as an Instrument of 

Surrender. Badoglio accepted them, with some reluctance, at 

the end of September, and Italy henceforth had ‘co-belligerent’ 

status with Britain, France and the United States — an indica- 

tion of being on the same side in the war against Germany 

without the benefit of a full military alliance. 
These negotiations were delicate and exhausting in the short 

term, but the long term held the greater difficulties. Macmil- 

lan wanted an early and complete return to an ‘indirect rule’ 

through a properly constituted Italian administration, while 

the Americans at first preferred to govern directly through an 

Allied Military Government in Occupied Territory (AMGOT). 
It was later agreed that AMGOT should be confined to the area 
immediately behind the advancing armies, with an Allied Con- 
trol Commission to support local administrations indirectly in 
areas further to the rear. The problem of establishing a legit- 
imate and stable government in the Control Commission area 
was not straightforward. The American government wanted 
to force the King of Italy into abdication; Macmillan and the 
British government did not. Macmillan also feared the grow- 
ing influence of the Communist Party, a fear compounded by 
the unilateral action of the Soviet Union in exchanging diplo- 
matic representatives with the Italian government in March 
1944. King Victor Emmanuel was forced to abdicate in April, 
after a stiff interview with Macmillan, and it was learned with 

considerable relief on 21 April that ‘an infant government had 
definitely come into the world and was expected to live. The 
P.M. will be pleased because Badoglio remains P.M. and For- 
eign Secretary.... Moreover, the Interior [Minister] is a Chris- 

tian Democrat (moderate), not a Communist.’!7 Even so, he 

was dissatisfied with the general drift of policy. He believed 
that Eden and the Foreign Office were inclined to be harsh 
with the Italians out of a sense of retribution, while he pre- 

ferred ‘a positive policy based upon the desire to rescue the 
Italian people and help them to preserve their general social, 
economic and religious life, and thus prevent them, perhaps, 
from falling into the hands either of the extreme Commu- 
nist movement on the one hand or of Fascist reaction on the 
other,’18 

By now his responsibilities extended beyond France and 

southern Italy. In December 1943 the Allied military com- 
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mands in the Middle East and North Africa were unified (un- 
der ‘Jumbo’ Wilson) and Macmillan took over political re- 
sponsibility for the whole area, relinquishing the embryonic 
French state to Duff Cooper who became Minister Resident 
in Algiers. Just as the Italian situation took a further twist 
in June, with the enforced retirement of Marshal Badoglio 
in favour of Bonomi, Macmillan took on the political prob- 
lems of Yugoslavia and Greece. In Yugoslavia Marshal Tito’s 
(communist) partisans were fighting the Germans and also the 
(Royalist) Chetnik underground forces under Mihailovic. The 
Chetniks, an exclusively Serbian group, were supported by the 
Americans, but not by the British who suspected them of col- 
laborating with the Germans and Italians in their campaign 
against Tito. Macmillan proposed to repeat the pattern of ne- 
gotiation he had adopted with the French and the Italians. 
He would allow the rival groups to wrangle with one another 
until they sought help from the Allies, while making it diffi- 
cult for either side to get what it wanted without Allied help. 
This angered Eden, who by the middle of 1944 had deter- 
mined to reduce Macmillan’s independent political activity in 
the Mediterranean. 

Eden’s antipathy was hardly surprising, and it was recipro- 
cated. Macmillan had earlier complained of the ‘very tired 
and very unimaginative’ policies of the Foreign Office and in- 
sisted that ‘I am not an ambassador, and am not the servant of 

Mr Eden, or the P.M., or anyone else.’!9 In early 1944 most of 

the tension between Macmillan and London concerned French 
politics, and relations between Churchill and Macmillan were 

strained, the prime minister being heard to urge General Wil- 

son to ‘Keep Harold up to the mark. He is much too pro- 
French. He will not carry out my policy or my wishes. I rely 
on you.’20 The success of Macmillan’s activity in Italy, and the 
steady consolidation of French politics, improved his stock with 
the prime minister, but Eden was not consoled. In June 1944 
Macmillan visited London briefly to discuss the next stage in 
the Mediterranean campaign — whether to attack in southern 
France or north-east Italy - and found Eden and the Foreign 
Office very hostile, and Churchill very friendly. In a farewell 
visit to the Foreign Secretary he found Eden ‘still adamant, 

and he seems to think I want to be Foreign Secretary every- 

where. I quite see his point of view; I told him, frankly, that if 

I were Foreign Secretary I would secure the immediate liquida- 
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tion of all Ministers Resident wherever and whoever they might 

be.’2!. This clearly struck Eden as a good idea, for in August he 

sent his private secretary, Pierson Dixon, to Italy with that very 

aim. Macmillan’s response was to ‘resent being got out by the 

back door, and I have told Bob Dixon so. I shall now fight for 

my position to the bitter end.’ He succeeded, by persuading 

Churchill that he and not Sir Noel Charles, the ambassador 

to the Italian Government, should take responsibility for the 

Allied Control Commission.?? 

YUGOSLAVIA AND GREECE 

Yugoslavia and Greece were now the most taxing problems. 

Macmillan wanted Dr Subasic, the exiled Ban (Governor) of 

Croatia and a Royalist, to be allowed to come to an agreement 

with Tito to merge the Royalist army with the partisans, and 

encouraged Subasic to return to Yugoslavia to try to form a 

political combination. In Greece, the main problem was to re- 

turn the emigré government of Papandreou to Athens as soon 

as the German army was out of the way, to prevent a vacuum 

of power which might be filled by the communist partisans 

in the ELAS resistance movement. Papandreou’s government 

included representatives of communist, socialist and miscella- 

neous bourgeois parties. As with Yugoslavia and Italy, the ten- 

sion between Royalist and anti-Royalist parties was already evi- 

dent, and although London was, as usual, broadly sympathetic 

to monarchy as a principle, Macmillan was concerned to keep 

both the King and the Crown Prince of Greece out of Greek 

affairs. The basis for co-operation with Papandreou was that, 

although he was a socialist, as a Greek nationalist he was deter- 
mined to resist ‘Slavic’ — Soviet — aggression in the Balkans. He 
was therefore willing to take a firm line against the resistance 
movement which in both its manifestations — the political Na- 
tional Liberation Front (EAM) and the paramilitary National 

Liberation Army (ELAS) — was dominated like many European 
resistance movements by the Communist Party (KKE).?3 

In October the Papandreou government was taken to Athens 
in a British flotilla to re-enter Greece, formally under British 
military protection. Macmillan accompanied them, and im- . 
mediately began work to stabilise the Greek currency and dis- 
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arm the communist.guerrilla forces in areas evacuated by the 
Germans. He was to be engaged in this characteristic réle 
of civilian manager of war for the rest of the year. The cur- 
rency was stabilised on 11 November and the new National 
Guard planned; but on 3 December civil war began with the 
withdrawal of communist politicians from the Papandreou gov- 
ernment and a major riot in Athens. British troops supported 
the Papandreou government, to the horror of the Americans 
and of the House of Commons. Macmillan, by chance, was in 

England during the debate, and recorded his view that ‘If we 
yield now, we shall be committing the first act of appeasement 
in the liberated countries to the Fascism of the left.’24 

The Greek civil war did play an important part in the evolu- 
tion of the Cold War, and the eventual success of the (Labour) 

government in persuading President Truman to extend the 
‘Truman doctrine’ to Greece in 1947 helped to align the ter- 
ritorial division of Europe into ‘spheres of influence’ with 
the ideological division between Communism and the Western 
world. Macmillan’s foresight reflects the depth of experience 
he had gained in the complex and fast-moving politics of the 
Mediterranean war. His remarks also reflect a well-rooted sus- 
picion of the United States and of some opinion-makers in 
Britain, which had grown during his efforts to make a useful 
settlement in Italy and were now brought into the open. His 
dismay at the apparent perversities of American policy had be- 
gun in Algiers. When Anglo-American co-operation worked, 
as it sometimes had done during the reconstruction of the 
French polity-in-exile, he found it an enormously powerful po- 
litical weapon, and he was keen to protect it from muddles 

imposed from afar by the Foreign Office. A change of per- 
sonnel in Washington, bringing Edward Stettinius to the State 
Department, reinforced a streak in American diplomatic activ- 

ity at all levels which was profoundly suspicious of the British 
Empire and also of Britain’s apparent sympathy for the tat- 
tered remnants of the European royal houses. Macmillan was 
criticised by the Americans for encouraging British military ac- 
tion in the oppression of Greek resistance fighters, and for 
supporting a Regency, and he realised that American sympa- 
thy for his approach to Mediterranean politics would always 
be limited. While negotiating with the Greek factions in late 
December 1944 he noted that ‘the President has let us down 
badly’,25 and he frequently had occasion to complain of the 
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over-organisation, and consequent inefficiency, of the Amer- 

ican political presence in Italy. Afterwards he always empha- 

sised the importance of Anglo-American co-operation, but took 

care to represent himself as a skilled craftsman working with a 

particularly obdurate material to achieve good results. 

Even with his determination to take a flexible view of the pos- 

sible outcome of Greek factionalism, Macmillan found it hard 

to bring about an orderly settlement, and at various points 

had to bring in reinforcements in the shape of the army and 

Churchill. He returned to Greece on 11 December, to find 

the rebels holding more than four-fifths of Athens, including 

the port, the power station and the water supply, and also 

the commanding positions in the hills around the city. With 

Rex Leeper, the Ambassador, he resolved on the plan of mak- 

ing Archbishop Damaskinos into a Regent for King George of 

Greece, who was in London. The king objected, and Macmil- 

lan, with Leeper and General Scobie, the C-in-C, spent many 

hours persuading Papandreou to tender formal advice to in- 
duce George to change his mind. By 17 December he was 
recording in his diary that ‘It is clear that the politicians have 
double-crossed us (and each other) completely’,?6 but the in- 
genuity of squabbling politicians was steadily overhauled by 
Macmillan’s counter-ingenuity and the exercise of consider- 
able force by the army and the RAF, which used rocket and 
machine-gun fire against the rebels in Athens to expand the 
area in which the British writ could run. 
On Christmas Day Churchill and Eden arrived to meet 

Damaskinos, and after an initially difficult interview Macmillan 
was able to overcome Churchill’s suspicion of an arrangement 
which appeared to attack the interests of the monarch. The 
Archbishop became Regent; General Plastiras, a robust former 

dictator, became prime minister of a coalition government in- 

cluding the Royalist and Venizelist parties together with some 
Liberals, Progressives and indeed most of the non-communist 
factions with the exception of some socialists sympathetic to 
ELAS and EAM. This gave Macmillan, now commuting be- 
tween Greece and Italy to oversee his many responsibilities in 
the Mediterranean, an unparalleled opportunity to exercise his 
skills in writing political comedy, which can be read in his War 
Diaries. It also exercised his political talent to restrain Plastiras 
from counter-revolutionary excesses, such as imposing his will 
through former associates who had been involved in the anti- 
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communist ‘Security Battalions’, which were tainted by associ- 
ation with the German occupation. The ultimate purpose was 
to arrange a truce between the government and EAM/ELAS, 
which required an amnesty for political offences committed 
since 3 December 1944. This was finally consummated in 
the early hours of 12 February 1945, and blessed by a confer- 
ence between Churchill and the Greek government two days 
later. Though much credit is due to Leeper and to General 
Alexander, the resolution of the immediate crisis in Greece 

was Macmillan’s greatest political achievement up to that date, 
and contributed much to his political self-confidence. 

Attention now turned to the northern Adriatic, where the po- 

litical problem of liberating Europe flowed even more directly 
into the political problem of the Cold War. Greece and Italy, 
and to some extent France, posed difficulties for the British 
and American governments because the best-organised ele- 
ments of the resistance movements were the communist parti- 
sans. To avoid communist domination of the post-war regimes, 

the liberating armies were therefore obliged to make deals 
with anti-communist elements in the resistance movements and 
even with politicians and groups with a record of collabora- 
tion with Germany. In France and Italy this was successful, 
though it was not without complications. In Greece, the com- 
plications were not resolved without considerable bloodshed, 

but the result attained by February 1945 was generally satisfac- 
tory to British policy. These were Macmillan’s main political 
achievements as Minister Resident. By contrast, Russian policy- 
makers concerned with the areas of Eastern Europe liberated 
by the Russian armies were equally determined to impose an 
acceptable post-war regime, and lacked any inhibition about 
using considerable force against political opponents, including 
civilians, to impose communist governments. The Yalta agree- 
ments of 4-11 February 1945 embodied high-flown resolutions 
about the independence of a liberated Europe, and did not 
acknowledge the Soviet Union’s full territorial claims in East- 
ern Europe. Within a month the Russian armies had imposed 
communist-dominated regimes in Bulgaria, Romania and Hun- 

gary, while the Czechoslovak government was forced to accept 
more communist members. Britain and America were power- 
less to prevent these developments, much as the Russians had 

been unable to prevent the temporary effacement of commu- 

nism in Italy. 
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In north-east Italy and Austria, though, the Western Allies 

had substantial forces deployed, and confronted the commu- 

nist Yugoslav partisans led by Tito, who was determined to ex- 

pand his sphere of operations to the province of Venezia Giulia 

and even into Austria. Russian forces, pushing German troops 

back across a wide front in Eastern Europe, arrived in Aus- 

tria themselves, and the competing liberators found themselves 

side by side. The crisis blew up suddenly after German forces 

surrendered to Alexander on 2 May 1945, though the problem 

of Tito’s territorial claims to areas inhabited by ethnic Slavs had 

been recognised since 1943. On 4 May Macmillan noted in his 

diary that ‘a fresh headache is developing — Yugoslav armies 

are advancing into Venezia Giulia and Austria — in a fierce race 

with the Eighth Army’.2” With ‘as usual... only vacillation or si- 

lence’ from the British and American governments, Macmillan 

and Alexander had to devise a practicable scheme to contain 

the situation. Macmillan had previously wanted to negotiate 
a military settlement with Tito, holding over any discussion of 
political sovereignty until after the war, but with the war in Eu- 
rope now over he had no choice but to look for a political set- 
tlement. On 10 May Macmillan and Alexander received Tito’s 
proposals, which assumed that all territory east of the River 
Isonzo belonged to Yugoslavia. This, with the implication that 

Italian claims to sovereignty over Trieste would have to be aban- 
doned, posed an acute political problem. With Togliatti, the 
Italian communist leader, supporting Yugoslav claims to the 
Venezia Giulia, there was a full-scale political crisis in Rome, 
threatening the existence of the Bonomi government, whose 
inherent instability Macmillan had foretold when it overthrew 
Badoglio in June 1944. To nip trouble in the bud, Alexander 
referred the matter to the British and American governments 
(on the grounds that Tito had turned a military question into 
a political one) and ordered his staff to estimate the forces 

needed to drive Yugoslav troops out of the Venezia Giulia. 
This was another episode of political untidiness created 

partly by political scheming and partly by military necessity. 
In 1944 the Allied troops advancing in northern Italy had to 
choose between going westwards or eastwards round the Alps 
to enter Germany. The westward method, finally adopted, was 

Operation Anvil, which was eventually chosen by the Allied 
governments partly in response to Stalin’s desire that Anglo- 
American offensives should tie down German troops as far to 
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the west as possible. The other proposal, known inelegantly as 
Operation Armpit, was favoured by Alexander and Macmillan, 
and would have sent an Anglo-American force north-eastwards 
through the Venezia Giulia and through the ‘Ljubljana Gap’ 
towards Vienna. The decision to give ‘priority’ to Anvil re- 
moved four American and four French divisions from Alexan- 
der’s forces by the middle of 1944. The result of this decision 
was that, at the end of hostilities with Germany, British forces 

in Venezia Giulia were outnumbered by the partisans. To make 
matters worse, the British forces which had finally moved for- 
ward into Austria to occupy the British Zone agreed at Yalta 
found themselves jostling with Russian troops who spilled over 
rather too readily into the British Zone, and another arm of 
Tito’s forces which had raced into Carinthia with thirty or forty 
thousand troops in an attempt to seize Klagenfurt. Russian 
forces were known to have installed heavy anti-aircraft emplace- 
ments in their own zone even after the Luftwaffe had ceased 
operations on the Eastern Front. With the Germans defeated 
(but not, unfortunately, out of the way), the full complexity of 

the situation was dropped into Macmillan’s experienced hands. 
Because Macmillan was plucked from the middle of this sit- 

uation to return home as Secretary of State for Air, he was 
unable to follow through the political developments which res- 
ulted: a treaty provision of 1947 giving most of Venezia Giulia 
to Yugoslavia, and a settlement in 1954 ending the partition 
of Trieste, which became an Italian city. He is therefore re- 
membered less for his small contribution to balancing rela- 
tions between Tito and the Italian government than for his 
efforts to solve the immediate military problem for Alexan- 
der. The commander of the Eighth Army needed safe lines of 
communication from northern Italy to his advanced positions 
in Austria, in case he had to fight either Yugoslavs or, in the 

most extreme circumstances, Russians, to preserve the British 

presence in Austria. So long as Tito’s partisans held the hinter- 
land of Trieste, his operations in Austria could be endangered, 

which was why he had attempted to make a military deal with 
Tito. Furthermore, it was not certain that the rank and file of 

the Eighth Army would cheerfully set upon the Yugoslavs when 

ordered to do so, now that the European war was over. The 

availability of American forces was in doubt, because Washing- 

ton changed its mind frequently about its priorities. Against 

this background of confusion and changing priorities, Alexan- 
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der and Macmillan had to make the best of their options. An 

entry in Macmillan’s diary for 13 May 1945 records a problem 

and its resolution on a brief visit to the Klagenfurt headquar- 

ters of the British V Corps: 

...in addition to the Yugoslavs, to the order of 30,000 to 40,000, 

General Keightley has to deal with nearly 400,000 surrendered or 
surrendering Germans, not yet disarmed (except as to tanks and 
guns) who must be shepherded into some place or other, fed and 
given camps, etc. On his right flank Marshal Tolbukhin’s armies 
have spread into what is supposed to be the British zone in Aus- 
tria, including the important city and road centre of Graz. With the 
Russians are considerable Bulgar forces. Moreover, among the sur- 
rendered Germans are about 40,000 Cossacks and ‘White’ Russians, 

with their wives and children. To hand them over to the Russians 
is condemning them to slavery, torture and probably death. To 
refuse, is deeply to offend the Russians, and incidentally break the 
Yalta agreement. We have decided to hand them over... but I sug- 
gested that the Russians should at the same time give us any British 
prisoners or wounded who may be in his area.... 

To add to the confusion, thousands of so-called Ustashi or Chet- 

niks, mostly with wives and children, are fleeing in panic into this 

area in front of the advancing Yugoslavs. These expressions, Ustashi 
and Chetnik, cover anything from guerrilla forces raised by the Ger- 
mans from Slovenes and Croats and Serbs to fight Tito, and armed 

and maintained by the Germans — to people who, either because 
they are Roman Catholics or Conservative in politics, or for what- 

ever cause are out of sympathy with revolutionary Communism and 
therefore labelled as Fascists or Nazis. (This is a very simple for- 
mula, which in a modified form is being tried, I observe, in English 

politics) .28 

The 40,000 Russians among the German prisoners were a 
very mixed bag. Some were prisoners taken on the Eastern 
Front who had volunteered to fight against the Soviet Union. 
Many of these were part of the Russian National Army, led 
by General Vlasov; there was also a Cossack Corps. Others 
were emigrés who had left Russia during or after the Civil War 
and joined the German army either as individuals or in or- 
ganised formations such as the Rogozhin Corps, which had 
fought against Tito in Yugoslavia. Some were Russians only 
in the sense that they had fled from the Russian invasion of 
the Baltic States, or that they originated from parts of pre- 
war Poland which were to be transferred to Russia under the 
Yalta agreements. The Western Powers had agreed at Yalta 
to repatriate only ‘Soviet citizens’, and these were defined as 
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‘persons coming from places within the boundaries of the So- 
viet Union as constituted before the outbreak of the present 
war’; the Foreign Office confined this definition further by ex- 
cluding White Russian emigrés, who had left between 1917 and 
1939, from Soviet citizenship. Enormous controversy arose at 

the end of Macmillan’s life because among the Cossacks and 
White Russians handed over to the Russians were a number of 
these emigrés, accompanied by their wives and children. Nikolai 
Tolstoy has explicitly alleged that Macmillan deliberately engi- 
neered this outcome, and in so doing misled Alexander and 

other senior British officers.29 Moreover, British troops were 
also handing over anti-communist Yugoslavs, in all their vari- 
eties, to Tito, and Tolstoy has held Macmillan responsible for 

their ultimate fate. 
These episodes have received a great deal of scholarly at- 

tention, quite apart from polemics and litigation. The official 
biography gives Macmillan the benefit of the doubt, arguing 
that although he almost certainly consented to the wholesale 
transfer of Russians, including White Russian emigrés, into So- 

viet hands, he neither initiated the process nor consciously 
frustrated the intentions of the Yalta agreements, which had 

been to protect the old emigrés. Macmillan himself is quoted 
as remarking robustly that ‘I may well have said “we’d better 
send them all back”...’ and to have been prepared to take 
the blame for sending them back by mistake, but not for a de- 
liberate conspiratorial plot to send innocents to their deaths.%° 
This interpretation is entirely compatible with the conclusions 
reached by independent scholars working on the tangled mil- 
itary and political history of operations by V Corps in Austria. 
Historians also emphasise the hurry with which decisions had 
to be taken: Macmillan’s visit to Keightley allowed no more 
than thirty minutes’ discussion of the problem of dealing with 
prisoners of war.3! None of Macmillan’s critics can explain why 
he should have wanted to increase the slaughter deliberately, 
nor why he would have deceived Alexander in order to do so. 

In the event the first priority was to reduce British respon- 
sibilities for feeding and clothing prisoners of war, and in the 
case of the Yugoslav Chetniks, to remove from British lines of 
communication a large body of doubtful individuals towards 
whom the British (at any level from field commanders to the 

Foreign Office) felt no pressing political or moral obligations. 

Both the White Russians and the Yugoslav right-wingers had 
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fought against Britain and her Allies, upholding as they did so 

the worst traditions of murder, rape and pillage associated with 

inter-ethnic warfare in Eastern Europe and the Balkans. After 

Macmillan’s visit, and without further intervention by him, V 
Corps headquarters decided to clear its area of prisoners-of-war 
by handing back all Russians except the Rogozhin Corps to the 
Soviet army. Some divisional commanders protested, though 
their protests were aimed at protecting the whole of the Cos- 
sack formations, not just those few who were ‘old emigrés’, from 

Soviet revenge. The moral dilemmas which faced British forces 
in Carinthia in May 1945 arose not only from Yalta, and the 
pragmatism of Macmillan’s advice to Keightley, but also from 
the fact that there was little if anything to chose between the 
inhuman brutality of some of Stalin’s forces and the inhuman 
brutality of some of the Cossacks, White Russians and Chetniks. 
Military necessity dictated an unsparing policy towards former 
enemies, and military necessity, rather than Macmillan, sealed 

the fate of the ‘Victims of Yalta’. 

RETURN 

Macmillan returned to England on 26 May, to become Secre- 
tary of State for Air in the all-Conservative ‘Caretaker Govern- 
ment’ which held office from the end of the European war 
to the General Election of July 1945. For a man who had 
been an ageing and frustrated back-bencher on the outbreak 
of war, this promotion represented a just reward for outstand- 
ing political service to the coalition government. Macmillan’s 
old association with Churchill had now paid off; as Churchill 
rose to the highest office, his client also rose to an appropri- 
ate station. But this simple politique explanation is far from 
adequate to explain Macmillan’s progress. On the one hand, 
he was not promoted above some of the surviving ‘Munichois’ 
whom Churchill had kept on after Chamberlain’s fall; R.A. 
Butler, soon to be a rival as well as a colleague, was promoted 
from the Ministry of Education to the Ministry of Labour and 
National Service. There was a shortage of obvious talent in 
the upper echelons of the Conservative Party, and while Eden 
was established as the heir apparent, Churchill had to make 

do with surprisingly large number of old Liberals from the 
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National Government and non-partisan figures such as Lord 
Cherwell. That Macmillan did not rise to the very top in this 
politically mixed company suggests that more than just politi- 
cal friendship and old loyalty determined Churchill’s choice of 
colleagues, and, furthermore, that although Macmillan clearly 
doted on Churchill as a political mentor, this admiration was 

not fully reciprocated. On the other hand Macmillan had es- 
tablished a claim based on proven political competence in his 
dealings with the governments in exile and successor govern- 
ments in liberated southern Europe. Not only had he kept 
a clear sight of British and Allied political objectives in his 
area of responsibility, he had shown himself able to act on his 
own initiative and to maintain constructive relations with the 
Americans in the Mediterranean theatre, as well as with the 

liberated governments. He was often closer to his own Ameri- 
cans than the two governments were to one another. He had 
also seen off Foreign Office attempts to curb his independence 
by sending Sir Noel Charles to Rome as ambassador. This was 
an excellent first assignment for a man whose ambition was to 
mould the fate of nations, above all because it convinced him 

that political management was well within his powers. 
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Chapter 4 

THE GREASY POLE 

1945-55 

Macmillan returned to the twilight of wartime politics. The 
‘caretaker government’ might chafe under the title, but it was 

a cruelly accurate one. Macmillan himself took temporary 
charge of the Air Ministry (‘How odd!’, he noted),! his first 
full departmental responsibility, but this occupied little of his 
time and correspondingly he did nothing of interest for the 
Air Force or air policy. Most of his days were given to election- 
eering. He found the campaign in Stockton ominously calm, 
and predicted the defeat which was awaiting him. He lost by 
8,664 votes, a mighty reversal of his 1935 majority of 4,068.? 
He quickly decided to remain in politics, and re-entered Par- 
liament after a by-election in November, as the member for 
Bromley, Beckenham and Penge. He was fifty-one. His be- 
lated but very rapid rise in the Conservative Party was to bring 
him over the next eleven years to the threshold of 10 Downing 
Street. 

Macmillan’s post-war progress was both an ideological and 
a personal triumph. He had to persuade the party to accept 
him as a potential leader, and to reconcile his complex social, 
economic and foreign policy ideas with the visceral instincts of 
a great political movement. This he did in two stages, first in 
opposition and then as a minister under Churchill, but it was 

really a continuous process in which he was able to take advan- 
tage of political and personal circumstances which favoured 
his own advancement. As a member of Churchill’s Shadow 

Cabinet he played a full part in the day-to-day leadership of 

the party in opposition, and also contributed to the J/ndustnal 

Charter which in 1947 redefined the party’s public attitude to 

state intervention in the economy. In foreign affairs he took a 

more prominent part, supporting Churchill in his commitment 
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to the European Movement, and he was one of the Conserva- 

tive members of the first Assembly of the Council of Europe 

at Strasbourg in 1949. This was more than a symbolic commit- 

ment to a pious aspiration. By taking part, Macmillan was pro- 
moting the concept of European political unity as a defence 
against communism; he was identifying himself more closely 
with Churchill, in contrast with the surviving traditions of the 

pre-war party; and he was distinguishing himself from Eden, 
who was markedly cold towards the European Movement, and 

from Butler, who was not interested in it. 

His work in opposition helped to promote his career, but 
even by the time Churchill returned to power in 1951 Macmil- 
lan had only established a limited position in the party. He was 
appointed to the Ministry of Housing and Local Government, 
with the appalling task of meeting an electoral commitment to 
building 300,000 houses a year. This was a poisoned chalice 
concocted, rather casually, by Lord Woolton at the 1950 Con- 

servative Conference. Few of his colleagues thought it could 
be done, and Butler as Chancellor of the Exchequer thought 

that it ought not to be done, but Macmillan obstinately did 
it by 1954. This perhaps weakened the country’s economic 
recovery from the war, by diverting capital from industrial in- 
vestment; on the other hand it provided Macmillan with ‘three 

of the happiest years of my life’ and considerably increased his 
political clout, for which he was rewarded in October 1954 with 

the Ministry of Defence. In this rdle he suffered, as Ministers 
of Defence usually do, from the superordinate enthusiasms of 
the prime minister and Foreign Secretary. Defence and for- 
eign policy are inseparable, and the issues of 1954 were the 
independent nuclear deterrent and the military evolution of 
NATO; neither of them subjects from which Churchill or Eden 
could remain detached. Nevertheless Macmillan made an im- 
pression with the 1955 Defence White Paper, and was a plau- 
sible candidate for the Foreign Office when Eden appointed 
him, as second-best choice after Lord Salisbury, in April 1955. 

This marked his entry, really for the first time, into the list of 

possible candidates for the succession to Eden. He was never 
a frontrunner: since Churchill had entered Downing Street 
in 1940 it had been obvious that Eden, among Conservatives, 
was his most likely successor, and during Churchill’s last ad- 
ministration Butler held the unusual and not always dignified 
position of heir-apparent to the heir-apparent. Macmillan’s 
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final lunge to the premiership was based on his record as For- 
eign Secretary and then as Chancellor of the Exchequer, and 
belongs in the next chapter. 

OPPOSITION 

As an opposition politician Macmillan was faced, even more 

acutely than most front-bench Conservatives, by the embarrass- 
ment of opposing a government which held a parliamentary 
majority and apparently a popular mandate. Attlee’s matter-of- 
fact handling of the House punctured any attempt by Churchill 
to capitalise on his wartime reputation; Labour’s robust atti- 
tude to Soviet expansion deflected any serious attack on for- 
eign policy issues; the rapid erection of a Welfare State was 
unassailably popular with the voters; even the nationalisation 
of coal, railway transport, gas and electricity merely concluded 

processes begun by Conservative and National governments 
before the war. In attacking the government, Macmillan had 
the further handicap that his pre-war writings, especially The 
Middle Way, were stout arguments for the public ownership of 
major industries, especially coal. They were much quoted by 
Labour politicians in the House and outside. 
One way through the thicket was to strike dramatic poses. 

Just before the 1946 party conference he proposed that the 
Conservative Party should rename itself the New Democratic 
Party. This move, though it won some support, came to noth- 
ing.* Another response was to be prepared to oppose very 
robustly whenever a real opportunity arose. In one such case, 
that of the nationalisation of road haulage, the government’s 

plans went far beyond anything which could be pinned on The 
Middle Way, since Macmillan’s proposals had been confined to 
public utilities, natural monopolies, and industries which had 

demonstrably failed under private enterprise. Here, Macmillan 
could easily slip into staunch resistance, casting aside the work 
of a party committee which had recommended ‘reasoned op- 
position’ to the nationalisation proposals.+ His parliamentary 
performances were energetic and witty enough to annoy the 
Labour benches, though unfriendly critics found them tire- 

some and later made them the basis of the common charge 

that he was obsessed with poses and indifferent to real results. 
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The other string to his bow was the possibility of shifting the 
party’s attitudes to coincide more closely with his own. His 
opportunity came when a committee was set up by Churchill 
in response to rank-and-file discontent about the absence of 
any substantial policy which could be set against triumphant 
Labour. This was called the Industrial Policy Committee; 

chaired by Butler, who was Chairman of the Conservative Re- 
search Department as well as the most prominent Conserva- 
tive with experience of domestic policy, it included Macmillan, 
Maxwell-Fyfe, Oliver Stanley and Oliver Lyttelton and a num- 
ber of back-benchers. Butler evidently intended it to produce a 
document to rival Peel’s Tamworth Manifesto, to be a ‘rallying 
point for Conservatism’ during a rather grey patch in its his- 
tory, and appropriately called The Industrial Charter.» Macmil- 
lan did not disagree with this purpose, but his idea of the pos- 
sible substance was considerably more radical than Butler’s. 
The most interesting feature of the Industral Charter, though, 

is its careful avoidance of excessive detail within a document 
whose tone was progressive enough to alarm a substantial mi- 
nority of the Conservative back bench and to annoy Churchill, 
whose step-child it supposedly was. Promising a Conservative 
Party which would ‘reconcile the need for central direction 
with the encouragement of individual effort’, the Charter recog- 
nised that the major public utilities would have to remain in 
public hands, that demand-management on Keynesian prin- 
ciples would be necessary to maintain full employment, and 
that public opinion favoured a ‘Workers’ Charter’ to ‘human- 
ise, not to nationalise’ the labour process. Specific policies 
were not spelled out, even though the discussion of demand- 
management was allowed to imply the possibility of a prices 
and incomes policy, and the discussion of industrial relations 
hinted at the withdrawal of government contracts from unco- 
operative companies. Although all this was enough to raise 
the hackles of right-wing back-benchers such as Sir Waldron 
Smithers, it committed the party to very little even after it was 
endorsed, after careful stage-management, at the 1947 confer- 

ence. It was the tone rather than the content, the political 
meaning rather than the economic planning, which was most 
significant about the charter, and this enabled Macmillan to 

take particular credit for it, even though his was by no means 
the only hand in its making. 

This was because the tone was easily linked by outsiders with 
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The Middle Way and thus with Macmillan, even though it was 
Butler who had managed the launch of a carefully designed 
reconciliation between the Conservative Party and modern po- 
litical conditions. Butler succeeded in preventing Macmillan 
from leaking the main points of the document as his own work 
in a by-election speech a week before it was published, but 
he could hardly stop the Sunday Express remarking, in anger, 
that ‘This report is a triumph for Mr Harold Macmillan. [He] 

once wrote a political treatise called The Middle Way. This is 
the second edition.’ Macmillan followed this with a number 
of speeches which enabled him to be recognised as an equal 
progenitor, with Butler, of a new conservatism. In part this was 
just: his pre-war record had been far more ‘progressive’ and 
imaginative than Butler’s and he had been proclaiming the 
need for new policies for longer. On the other hand he had 
been only one of a number of contributors to the new policy, 
and not the main inspiration of it, while some of the details 

of The Middle Way, such as its emphasis on ‘self-government 
for industry’ and state-backed restrictive practices, would have 
been badly out of place in the Industrial Charter. 

EUROPE 

While working his way through the policy-making process 
within the Conservative Party, Macmillan further developed 

his interest in foreign affairs. Where before the war his for- 
eign interests had been confined to the single issue of policy 

towards the European dictators, and even that as a minor coun- 

terpoint to his preoccupations in domestic economic policy, he 

now took on board the whole world. This was to be expected. 

His Mediterranean experience had given him both a taste for 

constitution-making and an appreciation of the endless fasci- 

nation of multilateral diplomacy. Towards the end of the war, 

he had faced the problems of the Soviet Union’s European 

ambitions and the political fragility of the post-war European 

nations, and even more fundamentally the problem of Britain’s 

vanishing capacity to behave like a Great Power. In opposition 

he could do little directly about the retreat from Empire. He 

visited India and took part in the debates on British withdrawal; 
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he commented (in his memoirs at some length) on other im- 

perial problems. Even on Europe he could do no more than 

make speeches. It was in Europe, though, that his more con- 

structive effort was made, as a member of the Council of the 

European Movement, a creation close to Churchill’s heart, and 

ultimately as a parliamentary delegate to the European Assem- 

bly. Although his memoirs reflect on this point the concerns 

of the 1960s, there is no doubt that European unification, ofa 

sort, became an important goal for him and that his attitudes 

were formed in part in the late 1940s and early 1950s. 

The political problems facing Europe after the war had been 

predictable, and indeed predicted, since 1943. Soviet policy 

was predicated on the need to establish a cordon sanitaire be- 

tween the Russian homeland and Western Europe, whether by 

occupying territory directly or by creating client states. From 

the first military operations in southern and Eastern Europe, 

Britain and the United States had tried to balance the need 

for Soviet co-operation against their fear of excessive Soviet 

penetration. Stalin, Roosevelt, Churchill, Truman and Attlee 

wrestled with these problems at Yalta and Potsdam; Macmillan, 

at a humbler level, had tackled them on the ground in Italy 
and Greece. After the European armistice the main problems 
were the reconstruction of Germany - first its economic devel- 
opment, then the question of reuniting the Occupied Zones in 
a single administrative unit — and the stabilisation of regimes 
in Eastern Europe. British foreign policy under Ernest Bevin 
followed the pattern laid down by Eden before the election: a 
careful attempt to limit Soviet expansion by negotiation, cou- 
pled with efforts to keep the United States engaged in Europe 
to maintain a realistic balance of forces. ‘Hasn’t Anthony Eden 
grown fat?’, remarked a Labour MP.’ 

The agreement between Eden and his Labour successor 
about foreign affairs was more striking, and much earlier to 
develop, than the notorious sympathy of view between Butler 
and Hugh Gaitskell over the economy. At first, it also cre- 
ated a rift between Eden and Churchill over European pol- 
icy which led directly to Churchill’s espousal of the European 
Movement; Macmillan’s involvement placed him for the time 
being on the hawkish wing of the party. Churchill’s consistent 
line, expressed most forcefully in a speech at Fulton, Missouri, 
was that the Soviet Union intended a totalitarian domination 
wherever ‘the Communist fifth columns are established and 
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work in complete unity and absolute obedience to the direc- 
tions they receive from the Communist centre’.8 To counteract 
this it was important to consolidate democratic government in 
Western Europe and provide a framework for a common de- 
fence and economic policy. This was the aim of the United 
Europe movement, launched by Churchill in May 1947, which 
despite its ostensibly non-party character was held together in 
Britain largely by Churchill, Macmillan, Boothby and Duncan 
Sandys.? It became part of the wider European Movement in 
December 1947, and took part in a well-publicised meeting at 
the Hague in May 1948. 
Though widely supported, both in Britain and Europe, the 

European Movement was no more than a pressure group: the 
substance of policy was made by governments. In March 1948 
Britain, France and the Benelux countries set up the ‘Brus- 
sels Treaty Organisation’ with a formal secretariat to discuss 
economic and occasionally military matters; a month later the 
Organisation for European Economic Co-operation (OEEC) 

was set up to discuss the common concerns of the fourteen 
European countries receiving Marshall Aid; and during 1948 

military negotiations leading eventually to the North Atlantic 
Treaty Organisation (NATO) were undertaken, with Britain 
and the United States taking the lead. In all this, British pol- 
icy was shifting steadily towards the line taken by Churchill 
at Fulton, and Eden was duly following Bevin. Churchill and 
Macmillan, though, were now looking for a more fundamental 

reform of European affairs. Their opportunity came in the 
Council of Europe, a body set up in 1949 after the Brussels 
Treaty countries had invited Italy, Ireland, Norway, Denmark 

and Sweden to participate in a European Assembly. Bevin had 
insisted that it should not be empowered to deal with defence 
or economic questions; and it was understood that the Con- 
sultative Assembly should consist of parliamentarians selected 
by their governments, while the Council’s main business was 

left to a committee of Foreign Ministers. Nevertheless, it was 
an important forum for raising controversial questions, and 
Churchill and Macmillan seized their opportunity. 
By late 1949 it was possible to say that the question of East- 

ern Europe had been settled, in that the satellites on Russia’s 
western borders had all succumbed to pressure and embraced 
communist governments and formal alliances with the Soviet 
Union. The Fulton speech hadl, in effect, been proved right; 
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Britain and America had responded with NATO; the greatest 

test was no longer the problem of borders and spheres of influ- 

ence, but the military balance between East and West. There 

could no longer be any reasonable doubt that the Cold War 

was happening. The rearmament of Germany — that is of the 

Federal Republic — was now a rational object of policy, to be 

accompanied by the inclusion of Germany in the Council of 

Europe. Despite objections from the British government, and 

a marked lack of enthusiasm on Eden’s part, Churchill and 

Macmillan pursued this in the European Assembly, to the ac- 

companiment of wide publicity in Britain and Europe. Closely 

associated with the reintegration of Germany into Western Eu- 

rope was a broad, and, as it then seemed, almost visionary plan 

for the creation of acommon, regulated market for the produc- 
tion of coal and steel in Europe, which was put forward by the 
French Foreign Minister, Robert Schuman. These two issues 
crystallised the differences between Churchill and Macmillan 
on the one hand and the Labour administration on the other; 

they also emphasised the differences between Macmillan and 
Eden on European matters, and maintained the personal ten- 
sion between them. 
The ‘Schuman plan’ was to pool the coal and steel resources 

of France and Germany under a single authority which other 
European countries could in due course join.!® From the first 
his aims were explicitly political: he wanted to prevent the re- 
vival of hostility between France and Germany by creating an 
economic partnership. Schuman was assisted by Jean Monnet, 
whom Macmillan had met in Algiers and who was convinced 
that a supranational league in Western Europe, stopping short 
of federal union, was both possible and desirable.!! The official 
British reaction was extremely cool, partly because the French 
government demanded agreement in principle as a precondi- 
tion of entering the talks, partly because a substantial section of 
the Labour Party, including Bevin and Dalton, distrusted the 
whole thing as an anti-socialist plot. Macmillan’s immediate 
reaction was that “The situation created by M. Schuman may 
well be a major turning-point in European history. It is cer- 
tainly a turning-point in the fortunes of the Tory Party. This 
issue affords us the last, and perhaps only, chance of regaining 
the initiative.’!2 The Conservatives put down a critical motion, 
which was moved by Eden in a speech which made it fairly 
clear that he was being prodded rudely from behind, but the 
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majority of Conservative speakers were more sympathetic to 
Churchill, who closed the debate with the ringing declaration 
that ‘the Conservative and Liberal Parties declare that national 
sovereignty is not inviolable, and that it may be resolutely di- 
minished for the sake of all the men in all the lands finding 
their way home together’.!3 For the moment, the Conservative 
Party was taking a leading part in foreign policy innovation, 
and Macmillan was prominent in the vanguard. 

OPPORTUNITY 

The Attlee government was by late 1950 winding down towards 
a long-awaited defeat. With its first nationalisation programme 
finished and the foundation of a welfare state in place it could 
find no energy to redefine its social mission; its leading mem- 

bers were exhausted by years of crisis management in diplo- 
macy and external finance, and divided by the consequences 
of the Korean War, which seemed to demand rearmament on 

a huge scale. The narrow election victory of February 1950 
had encouraged no one and left the government with a ma- 
jority of six. The struggle between Gaitskell at the Exchequer 
and Aneurin Bevan in defence of the National Health Ser- 
vice symbolised a deeper conflict between consolidators and 
enthusiasts, and between Right and Left in the party, which 
grew more serious when Bevan (with Harold Wilson) resigned 
in April 1951. Attlee’s decision to call an election in October 
had long been expected, and was not, as his opponents alleged, 
provoked by the government’s embarrassment about troubles 
brewing in Iraq and Egypt.!4 For a demoralised and direc- 
tionless party, Labour performed remarkably well in the 1951 
election, winning 48.8 per cent of the popular vote against the 
Conservatives’ 48 per cent, and returning 295 MPs against the 
Tories’ 321. It was the end of an extraordinarily productive 
period in the Labour Party’s history, yet it hardly seemed to 
signify a new dawning of Conservatism. 

Churchill’s leadership in oposition had been intermittent 
and unpredictable, and there were significant divisions within 
the party and within the leadership over most of the impor- 
tant issues which had been faced in the six years of Labour’s 
administration. The party did not gain a seat from Labour 
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at any by-election between the general elections of 1945 and 

1951, and enormous efforts went into reforming the party’s or- 

ganisation and refining its policies. Macmillan’s role in Con- 

servative politics, and the development in his career during 

this period, must be seen against this background. He was not 

in the very first rank of Tory leaders. Eden was Deputy Leader; 

Butler was chairman of the Conservative Research Department 

and acknowledged as the midwife of a new Conservative social 

and economic attitude. Other senior figures, such as Oliver 

Lyttelton and Lord Woolton, had important and very public 

jobs. Macmillan was distinctive because he had an aggressive 

parliamentary style, albeit with ‘too many jokes’, and because 

the partial and rather slow intellectual conversion of the party 

to an interventionist social and economic policy conveniently 

matched his past record. His efforts to rewrite Conservative at- 

titudes had caused friction which proved difficult to overcome: 

when he tried his hand at a manifesto in 1951, as a draft for 

what became The Nation’s Choice, his efforts were castigated as 

‘exaggerated’, ‘trite’, ‘thin’ and ‘cheap’ by the Research De- 

partment, even though the content was if anything more crit- 

ical of planning than the party machinery wanted it to be.!® 
It was also clear by 1950 that he owed allegiance neither to 
Butler nor to Eden; he was above all Churchill’s man. 

Macmillan’s personal relationships with Butler and Eden 
were later to determine the shape of his own career, and their 

origins lay well before the war. Butler was not a politician to 

Macmillan’s taste. Ever since his entry to Parliament in 1929, 
when he had made a minor stir by lampooning Macmillan’s 

support for Mosley, he had been identified with a cautious 

Conservative establishment. First Baldwin, then Chamberlain, 

had found him a loyal servant, and his contribution to the 
Education Act which bears his name had been the work of a 
cautious, consolidating administrator with an eye to the main 
chance.!6 When Macmillan had been writing radical tracts be- 
fore the war, Butler had been Halifax’s Under-Secretary at the 

Foreign Office, fetching and carrying for Chamberlain’s policy 
towards Germany. This was not the basis for a firm and last- 
ing friendship. With Eden, Macmillan had a longer tradition 
of co-operation, but Macmillan was more flexible than Eden 

and had cooler nerves. Their disagreements during Macmil- 
lan’s service in the Mediterranean had convinced Macmillan 
not only that his own diplomatic instincts were sounder but 
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also that his own view'of European development was superior 
to Eden’s. Personal tension, amounting eventually to jealousy, 
was perhaps inevitable between two such highly-strung men. 
After the war Macmillan was quite content to differ from Eden 
over the Soviet Union and Europe, confident that he was fol- 
lowing Churchill’s lead with greater assurance. 

During the period of opposition Macmillan was competing 
with Butler and Eden as well as co-operating with them. In 
February 1946 his old friend Hugh Dalton cheerfully noted 
that Eden ‘was not doing very well as acting Leader. Many 
of the rest didn’t like him and several, including Macmillan 
and Butler, were trying to oust him.’!7 He could hardly hope 
to supplant Eden as the heir-apparent — neither could Butler 
— but it was to his advantage to establish a strong and inde- 
pendent position. In doing so he made himself a name in 
foreign affairs to which Butler, for all his experience at the 
Foreign Office, did not aspire. At the same time he contin- 
ued to trade on the innovations in Conservative social thought 
which he had helped to launch before the war, and thus ac- 

quired a reputation on social and economic matters to which 
Eden, in turn, could not aspire. From this activity flowed back- 
bench support, a prerequisite for advancement in any party. 
Though older than Butler and Eden, Macmillan was now be- 
having like a young man in a hurry, and with the formation of 

Churchill’s last government came his first and last chance to 
establish himself as a potential leader of his party. 

For all his energy and ambition, Macmillan still had no au- 
tomatic claim on office, and he had to wait for nearly a week 
after the election to learn that he was to be Minister of Housing 
and Local Government. This appointment had a double sig- 
nificance for him. First, it was an opportunity to do something. 
Building houses had been a high priority for the Labour gov- 
ernments, but their policies had been frustrated by shortages 
of materials and skilled labour; Conservatives claimed also that 

the policy of promoting local authority building at the expense 
of private housebuilding tended to limit progress. Labour had 
failed, and it was an opportunity for Conservatives to show that 
non-socialist policies could succeed. Second, he had the ines- 
timable advantage of an unequivocal electoral commitment to 
housebuilding. The promise to build 300,000 houses a year 
had been made by Lord Woolton at the 1951 party conference 

in response to an extraordinary display of rank-and-file discon- 
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tent. It was set at that figure to contrast with the 200,000 target 

adopted by Bevan, and its achievement depended directly on 

the willingness of the Treasury to permit the necessary diver- 

sion of labour and imported materials to housebuilding rather 

than general building. This forced Macmillan to confront But- 

ler, but also gave him the weapon with which to win. 

Dalton, who had been Minister of Health in the outgoing 

government, confidently predicted that ‘He won’t be able to 

build any more, if as many as I.’!8 The greatest threat to 

Macmillan’s plans was the economic situation. The new gov- 
ernment had inherited the economic consequences of rearma- 
ment: inflation and shortage of skilled labour. At the Treasury 
Butler responded by substantial cuts in imports to protect the 
balance of payments, buttressed by an increase in the Bank 
Rate from 2 to 2.5 per cent. Both these measures threatened 
the housebuilding programme. Macmillan briskly proposed 
to raise the rate of building from 230,000 houses in 1952 to 

300,000 in 1954.19 With the support of Lord Swinton, who 
was in charge of raw materials, he was able to prevent a cut in 

the import of timber? but pressure on the interest rate grew 
steadily, so that by the time of the first Budget, in March 1952, 
the Bank Rate had to be raised to 4 per cent to protect the 
reserves. It is a measure of Macmillan’s political success as a 
spending minister that he was able to maintain his programme, 
in which he spent much of his energy persuading local author- 
ities to borrow money to fund housebuilding, and much of the 
energy left over into keeping up the flow of imports, while fully 
aware that both borrowing and imports put the Chancellor’s 
economic policy in jeopardy. 

Macmillan’s methods at Housing were adapted from what 
he had seen during the war at the Ministry of Supply — he 
called it ‘modified Beaverbrookism’ — with the additional spur 
of decentralisation and deregulation. As a minister he had 
no direct power to build houses; if central government did 
take a direct housing initiative, it would be through the Min- 
istry of Works. Macmillan had to work, like Addison after the 

First World War and Bevan after the Second, through the local 
authorities. The tools he had were building licences, which 
controlled the flow of labour and raw materials, and subsidies, 

which were direct annual payments from the Exchequer to the 
local authorities to cover a proportion of the interest which 
had to be paid on loans raised to cover the cost of building. 
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He brought in Sir Percy Mills, a Birmingham engineering man- 
ufacturer who had once been a temporary civil servant at the 
Ministry of Supply, as an unofficial adviser, and used him to 
set up Regional Housing Production Boards whose brief was to 
overcome local shortages of land, labour and materials. The 

principal bottlenecks in housing production were the supply 
of steel and of timber for framing; Ernest Marples, Macmil- 

lan’s junior minister, a civil engineering contractor, pushed 
forward the development of all-concrete houses to save timber, 
while Macmillan put immense political pressure on Swinton to 
provide extra steel. Private housebuilding was encouraged by 
relaxations in the allocation of materials, and by changes to 
the system of building licences which allowed local authorities 
to permit private building to the extent of one in two houses 
built. Macmillan also repealed the Development Charge on 
land, which had been part of the 1947 Town and Country 
Planning Act, though his Bill was only enacted in 1954 and 
therefore had little to do with the enormous increase in the 
number of houses built during his tenure of office. 

With Mills and Marples, whose help he fully acknowledged, 
Macmillan saw the rate of house completions rise faster than 
he had predicted, from 195,000 in 1951 to 240,000 in 1952 
and 318,000 in 1953. He had every right to remind the party 
conference in 1954 that at an earlier conference Lord Woolton 
had ‘stopped the bidding’ at 300,000. ‘He might have made it 
guineas. We could have managed that all right.’2! His achieve- 
ment was substantial, without being miraculous: the houses 
did not spring from nowhere. By a combination of exhorta- 
tion and careful deregulation Macmillan got the best out of 
the housebuilding section of the building trade, especially the 
small builders who were allowed automatic licences to build 
up to twelve houses on a plot as speculative developments, 
or to build for clients provided the houses were small. The 
Ministry of Housing helped to encourage large contractors to 

economise in materials and to switch to concrete instead of 

steel for structural work. For council building, steps had been 

taken by Dalton to reduce the minimum size and specification 

for family houses. Macmillan took this further, so that the 

houses built later in his regime used 10 per cent less materials 

than the sturdy dwellings favoured in Aneurin Bevan’s grand 

housing drive in the late 1940s. The ministry under Macmil- 

lan accelerated the long, and ultimately disastrous quest for 
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economy in land and construction costs through the use of 

high-rise building and prefabricated (‘system’) building meth- 

ods. During his tenure, though, most of the gains in output 

came about because of increases in inputs, such as steel and 

bricks, which he succeeded in wringing out of other sectors 

of the economy. Like Beaverbrook at the Ministry of Aircraft 

Production, he achieved great things by concentrating on his 

own mission, ignoring any consequences this might have for 

anything else. In pressing for money, he was reliably supported 

by Churchill against Butler.*2 
These very impressive results do not tell the whole story of 

housing achievement. Like all Ministers of Health and Minis- 

ters of Housing before him, Macmillan was aiming at a moving 

target. Britain before the First World War had been short of 
adequate housing. The ill-fated Addison programme of 1919- 
21, followed by ambitious public schemes in the 1920s and the 
huge increase in private-enterprise housebuilding for sale in 
the 1930s had just about built enough houses to replace those 
lost in the war and to house the growing number of house- 
holds which appeared as part of the demographic changes of 
the interwar years. Then the Second World War broke out, 

postponing repairs, exposing many areas to bombing raids, 
and further jolting the demographic pattern. As a result even 
the 300,000 target was not enough to shorten the waiting lists, 

and Macmillan needed to embark on a large programme of 
slum-clearance and renovation in order to prevent the hous- 
ing situation actually deteriorating during his tenure, despite 
the enormous achievement in new building. His most positive 
measure was the Rent and Repairs Act of 1954, which was to 
work mainly by lifting some current restrictions on rents to al- 
low landlords to make repairs. Its rather complex provisions 
were the result of a political judgement by Macmillan which 
restricted rent increases to what was necessary to pay for re- 
pairs which landlords had actually undertaken: civil servants 
observed that this was not enough to stimulate widespread im- 
provements, while the Opposition predictably complained that 
it favoured the rack-renting landlord. Its full impact was de- 
layed until after Macmillan had left the ministry. 

Besides its direct link to an electoral pledge, Macmillan’s 
housing programme had a fundamental political significance. 
Defending his new policies in December 1951 he avowed that 
‘We wish to see the widest possible distribution of property. We 
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think that, of all forms of property suitable for such distribu- 
tion, house property is one of the best.’ To work at all, this pol- 

icy depended on a massive diversion of resources from other 
forms of capital formation. Consequently economic policy, 
particularly in relation to external finance, was the one area of 

» general government business in which Macmillan took an inter- 
est during his three years at Housing. In 1952 he began to press 
a policy of increasing home production and concentrating on 
finding supplies and markets in the Sterling Area, to avoid the 
continuing debilitating need for dollars. This had recognisable 
intellectual links with the policies he, and Mosley, had favoured 

in the 1930s. It was also coupled in Macmillan’s exposition 
with the proposal to establish closer economic links with what 
were now becoming known as the ‘Schuman Plan countries’: 
France, Germany, Italy, Belgium, Holland and Luxembourg. 

The alternative, favoured by the Treasury, was to persist in 
the liberalisation of world trade which was embodied in the 
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT).?3 GATT re- 

quired signatories to reduce tariffs progressively and accord 
equal treatment to all signatory nations, and it was designed 
quite explicitly to prevent the re-establishment of Britain’s pre- 
war Imperial Preference policies or the creation of a European 
economic community with a common external tariff. Macmil- 
lan was therefore treading on sensitive ground, and he found 
no allies in the Treasury and few in the Cabinet. In December 
1953 he recorded his defiance in his diary: ‘the great Treasury 
Dream is over! We had better get back to Tariffs and to the 

Commonwealth—Europe plan.’24 
Most of Macmillan’s concerns with economic policy were, for 

all that, the simple instrumental needs of a spending minister 

to get money for his own projects. As Chancellor of the Exche- 

quer Butler had been reluctant in the early years of the ministry 

to allow the levels of spending which Macmillan required, but 

in successive discussions on the Estimates the Treasury position 

had been over-ruled by considerations of political advantage. 

By the time the housing drive was in full swing, Butler was com- 

mitted to rapid economic expansion and could hardly resist the 

Housing Minister’s demands for more and more funds. Later 

judgements on Butler’s management of the Treasury have gen- 

erally been unfavourable,?5 blaming him for an over-rapid ex- 

pansion of the economy which had to be checked abruptly by 

his successors. Butler is said to have reduced taxes too far, 
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allowed expenditure to climb, and relied too much on the ma- 
nipulation of interest rates. Macmillan, who had to pick up the 
pieces as Chancellor and later as prime minister, contributed 
stoutly to this policy by his spending plans and praised the in- 
flationary budget of 1953 for cutting income tax and ending 
Excess Profits Levy: ‘This, of course, will be called a “Capi- 

talist” Budget. But then we believe in Capitalism as the best 
instrument for the prosperity of the people.’*6 No irony was 
ever apparent in his subsequent discussion of economic affairs 

in the 1950s. 

DEFENCE 

In October 1954 Churchill reorganised his rather tired govern- 
ment, and Macmillan was promoted from Housing to Defence. 
This was a recognition of his political achievements in the hous- 
ing drive, but hardly a reward, since the Ministry of Defence 
under a dominant prime minister was a particularly thankless 
office. Nevertheless, Macmillan’s place in the inner circle of 

Conservative leadership was assured, and like most in the cir- 
cle he devoted much of his energies in 1953 and 1954 to the 
delicate task of getting rid of Churchill. Churchill’s advanc- 
ing age — he was seventy-seven when he took office in 1951 — 
had worried those closest to him since the beginning of his 
premiership. In June 1952 Harry Crookshank, the Leader of 
the House, Patrick Buchan-Hepburn, the Chief Whip, James 
Stuart, the Scottish Secretary, and the Marquess of Salisbury, 
the Commonwealth Secretary, decided to ask the prime min- 
ister to resign. When Buchan-Hepburn approached him, he 
refused.?7 In December of the same year Eden asked when he 
intended to go, and what arrangements he would make for a 
smooth succession.?8 He was gently rebuffed. In June 1953 
Churchill had a serious stroke, just as Eden was undergoing 
a major operation in Boston. The gravity of his illness was 
concealed from the public, and in an extraordinary episode 
Churchill’s entourage suggested that if the prime minister was 
unable to carry on Lord Salisbury should become acting prime 
minister to keep Butler out and allow Eden to claim his right- 
ful inheritance when he was himself recovered.22 Churchill 
was back at work in August, and Macmillan was among those 

84 



THE GREASY POLE 1945-55 

who called on him to discover whether he was really fit to con- 
tinue for long.5° By the end of the year he was convinced that 
‘we shall drift on to disaster’3! without a change of leader. By 
the middle of 1954, with the press and his wife combining to 
urge retirement, Churchill was faced by a near-simultaneous 
approach from Eden and Macmillan, seeking a handover by 
the end of June. Macmillan repeated his advice in writing on 
18 June, and was rebuffed.22 Angered, he noted in his diary 
that ‘All of us, who really have loved as well as admired him, are 

being slowly driven into something like hatred. Yet we know 
that illness has enormously altered and worsened his character. 
He was always an egoist, but a magnanimous one. Now he has 
become almost a monomaniac.’33 

The reshuffle, when it came in October, had only a minor 

impact, and Churchill clung on to office until April 1955, not 

without alarming his colleagues as late as March with the dis- 
closure that he was considering a postponement until July. 
Macmillan therefore had six months as Minister of Defence, 

knowing from the beginning that even if Churchill was extraor- 
dinarily obstinate the job would probably last for less than a 
year. For this and other reasons, the service at the Ministry 
of Defence had more influence on Macmillan than Macmillan 
had on defence policy. The issues of the day were the extent 
and nature of European contributions to NATO’s conventional 
armed forces, and the way in which Britain would procure and 
use nuclear weapons for defence against the Soviet Union. 
Macmillan’s predecessor had been a ‘non-political’ appoint- 
ment in the shape of his old friend Field Marshal Alexander. 
Alexander had never mastered politics, and the initiative in 

the high politics of defence had passed to Eden and Churchill, 
while the job of running the armed services had remained with 
the ministers responsible for each separate service. This left 
Macmillan, who had mastered politics a long time ago, with 
relatively little to do. He went to NATO meetings in Octo- 
ber to talk about financial contributions and in December to 
talk about the control of the alliance’s nuclear weapons, but on 

both occasions the lead was taken by Eden. With high policy of 
this sort settled for him, he was left to manage and present the 

Defence White Paper which set out the government’s spend- 
ing decisions. Although the detailed proposals had emerged 
from the elaborate decision-making processes of the separate 
services, and the priority between them was ultimately settled 
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by the Cabinet according to its lights, Macmillan was left in the 
middle to absorb the lessons for future policy. 
The defence problem of the middle 1950s was in one sense 

the same as Britain’s defence problem since the turn of the 
century: how to ensure stability in Europe while defending 
a global empire. The details had changed, in that the Em- 
pire was smaller (by the subtraction of India and Palestine in 
1947 and 1948) than it had been at its height, and the major 

threat to European stability came from the Soviet Union and 
the Eastern bloc, rather than from Germany. After the Sec- 
ond World War the favoured solution, of involving the United 
States in West European defence, had been tried again and on 
this occasion succeeded. Nevertheless, the cost of European 
and imperial commitments to a small and struggling economy 
was prohibitive. Under Churchill’s government, even after the 
Korean War was over, British forces were committed to active 

service defending imperial power in Kenya and Malaya; gar- 
risons were maintained in Singapore, Hong Kong and Cyprus, 
and in Egypt until the provisions of the Egyptian Treaty of 1953 
were in force; at the same time troops were committed to the 
British Army on the Rhine (BAOR) as part of the NATO forces 

defending Western Europe against possible Soviet attack. The 
establishment of SEATO (the South-East Asia Treaty Organisa- 
tion) created obligations to have troops ready for action in that 
area. All this required armed forces of about 800,000 in 1954. 
The development of nuclear weapons demanded greater civil 
defence expenditure to cope with fallout as well as fire and 
blast damage. To do all this, Defence was given a budget of 
£1,525 million for 1955-56, except that it was still hoped that 

Germany would pay some or all of the costs of BAOR forces. 
By the time Macmillan reached the Ministry of Defence the 

outlines of a solution to the problem had been sketched. Like 
the Americans, British policy-makers had decided that nuclear 
weapons were more cost-effective than conventional forces. 
The decision to build an independent nuclear deterrent had 
been taken by the Attlee government, and the Conservative 
government had decided to include the hydrogen bomb as 
part of this development. NATO strategy was to use tactical 
nuclear weapons in an early stage of a European land battle, to 
deny Warsaw Pact forces the advantage of overwhelming num- 
bers of men and tanks. Macmillan summarised the political 
significance of this soon after taking office: 
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I fear that the public will be rather alarmed to discover that we 
really cannot fight any war except a nuclear war. It is quite impossi- 
ble to arm our forces with two sets of weapons.... From a purely 
military point of view, there is no way out. We should be utterly 
crushed in a conventional war. But, politically, it is full of danger, 
at home and abroad, and may lead to a fresh outburst of defeatism 
or neutralism.34 

Even in conventional armaments new hardware with greater 
hitting power was preferred to the maintenance of large forces 
of infantry. It was Macmillan’s job to preside over the imple- 
mentation of these decisions. He had to confirm the aban- 
donment of the Supermarine Swift — a jet fighter which even 
in its seventh version had never fulfilled its specification — in 
favour of the Hawker Hunter, and commission the Blue Sky 
air-to-air missile, which like so many British missile projects was 
never to enter service. Ominously, he also ordered an Amer- 
ican surface-to-surface missile, the Corporal, to enable BAOR 

to deliver tactical nuclear weapons, since no British equivalent 
could be manufactured. At the same time he was pressing the 
Cabinet to face the fact that distant garrisons could not be 
maintained indefinitely, and that when they were cut “There 
would be no safety margin for anything like another Korea.’*° 

Macmillan did not introduce the 1955 Defence White Paper 
in Parliament. It was Churchill’s last opportunity for a ma- 
jor parliamentary appearance, and the most important deci- 
sion to be announced was the building of the British hydrogen 
bomb, which was Churchill’s decision rather than Macmillan’s. 

Macmillan resented his exclusion from the limelight, but there 

is no reason to think that he dissented from the philosophy or 
the details of the policies presented. He was therefore closely 
associated with the formal recognition that the British Empire 
had to be defended in Europe, and that defence problems had 
to be solved through NATO by nuclear means. His commit- 
ment was to recognising and winning the Cold War; he noted 
in 1954 that ‘...we are not really winning it, and the Rus- 
sians have a central position ...and a well-directed effort, with 
strong representation (through the Communist Party) in ev- 
ery country’.36 His fear of Soviet expansion led him directly to 
an instrumental view of European integration. He wanted an 
effective European defensive system, but did not want the Euro- 

pean Defence Community, a plan for a European army which 

had first been floated in 1951, and was therefore pleased when 
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the EDC project collapsed at the end of 1954 with the incorpo- 
ration of German forces in a confederal command structure. 

He remarked in his memoirs: 

This was a proud moment for Britain. The federal solution of Eu- 
ropean unity, of which E.D.C. was the supreme example, was dead, 

the confederal concept represented by Western European Union 
was very much alive. Out of this maze of confusion Britain had 
guided Europe.37 

This determination to match commitments to resources, 

while maintaining British interests throughout the world, was 
to mark his premiership as well as his brief tenure of the Min- 
istry of Defence. It also gives a clue to the otherwise paradox- 
ical twists of his attitude towards European integration, which 

baffled and often irritated colleagues and Europeanists during 
his years of office and afterwards. Macmillan’s commitment to 
European integration during his opposition years has been ex- 
plained above as a political tactic, to distinguish himself from 
Eden and Butler, as well as a constructive policy for the fu- 
ture.38 His approach to Europe became more complicated as 
soon as specific institutional change was proposed. He had 
successfully urged Churchill to put pressure on the Labour 
government to become involved with the Schuman Plan; but 
when the Plan developed, without British participation, into 

a tightly-organised Coal and Steel Community with definite 
supranational features, his ardour was cooled. 

He responded in much the same way to the Pleven Plan, 
which was the basis of the short-lived European Defence Com- 
munity (EDC) idea. René Pleven, the French Defence Minis- 

ter, had launched his plan for a European Army in October 
1950. It had been received well in the Council of Europe, and 
the necessary treaties had been prepared by the summer of 
1951. The Labour government had rejected the idea of par- 
ticipation for the same reason as it rejected participation in 
negotiations over the Schuman Plan: it would restrict British 
sovereignty in matters of vital national interest. When Eden 
entered the Foreign Office in October 1951 he openly sup- 
ported his predecessor’s view. Macmillan opposed him, but, 
significantly, his opposition was not based on enthusiasm for 
the Schuman or Pleven Plans. 
The Foreign Office view, approved by Eden and Churchill, 
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was that ‘We want a united Europe.... It is only when plans 
for uniting Europe take a federal fond that we cannot our- 
selves take part, because we cannot subordinate ourselves or 
the control of British policy to federal authorities’, and in De- 
cember 1951 Churchill told Schuman that the British ‘should 
be with [Europe] though they could not be of it’.29 This was 
very close to Macmillan’s view. The difference came in the tac- 
tics by which it might be achieved. Eden and Churchill were 
happy for France, Germany and the other participants in the 
Schuman Plan to set up their arrangements, and for these to 

include the EDC if that was wanted. Macmillan feared that in 
that way Britain would be excluded from a European politi- 
cal organisation which would steadily increase its power. His 
‘hope’ was that both the EDC and the Schuman Plan would 
fail; his proposal was that Britain should enter negotiations to 
create a confederal structure which, apart from being more 
acceptable to France as a form of co-operation, would allow 

Britain to stay with Europe but maintain its current relations 
with the Commonwealth and the United States. He put this 
point to the Cabinet in February 1952, and continued to press 
Eden not to go on encouraging the French and Germans to 
form a close alliance which would exclude Britain. He even 
suggested that 

With the Commonwealth behind us and holding, as we should, a 

balance between France and Germany, Britain would be the un- 
challenged leader of the European Confederation. This, in itself, 
would further strengthen our position in the Commonwealth. As 
the leader, moreover, of both the Commonwealth and Europe we 

should be able to establish a more equal partnership with the United 
States both in the immediate task of containing Russia and in the 
long term.40 ; 

In this he had no success at all. Throughout the negotiations, 

lasting until September 1952 when the European Assembly 
confirmed the EDC plan, he was a frustrated observer, with 

no power to influence events. For the next two years, while 
Eden was trying to get the French, now the reluctant party, 
to ratify the EDC proposal, Macmillan bombarded him with 
warnings about the dangers for Britain of a European federa- 
tion of six countries ‘with a common army, a common coal and 

steel industry, and eventually ending with a common currency, 
monetary policy and free trade area’.*! 
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Macmillan’s one success in this area came after the French 

Assembly had finally defied British and American pressure and 

refused to accept the EDC proposal. In August 1954 he sug- 

gested a new treaty to replace the 1948 Brussels Treaty, which 

had been agreed between France, Britain and the Benelux 

countries. The new deal would bring Germany into a military 

arrangement with the other Western European powers, with- 

out a supranational organisation, and would make German 

rearmament more acceptable to the French. This scheme was 

better attuned to the current of events than Macmillan’s pre- 

vious interventions. On 23 August Mendés-France, the French 

prime minister, had raised the possibility of a new organisation 

to include Britain and Germany, because he feared that the 

imminent French rejection of the EDC would destabilise Kon- 

rad Adenauer’s government in Germany. Eden and Churchill 

had not taken this up, but after the rejection Eden was more 

sympathetic to Macmillan’s plan, and carried it round the Eu- 

ropean capitals.42 The result was the Western European Union 

(WEU), accepted at last by the French Assembly in December 

1954. To get it, Eden had had to offer a permanent British 

military presence in Europe, including four divisions and the 
Tactical Airforce — a commitment which was to strain the de- 
fence budget in the later 1950s. 

Macmillan’s delight, even as an observer, at the ratification 

of the WEU is explained by this history of heavily qualified 
enthusiasm for European integration. Although he was not an 
isolationist, and criticised both Eden and Churchill for their 

failure to recognise the dangers of allowing Europe to develop 
without British participation, he was a very early subscriber to 
the notion of a Europe des patries in which supranational insti- 
tutions would have no part. On European matters his view was 
therefore remarkably close to that of his old associate, Charles 
de Gaulle; and, ironically, he was to find his own efforts as 

prime minister to enter such a Europe thwarted by de Gaulle’s 
intransigence. 

TO THE FRONT RANK 

When Churchill at last resigned, in April 1955, Eden asked 

Macmillan to take the Foreign Office. The new prime minis- 
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ter had wanted Lord Salisbury for the job, but recognised with 
reluctance that a peer would have difficulty defending the For- 
eign Office in Parliament. Macmillan thus entered the inner 
circles of power, very nearly on even terms with Butler, who 

retained the Exchequer, but still not the automatic choice for 

the highest office. It was a just reward for ten years of politi- 
cal effort, in which the early promise of 1945 had been con- 

verted into solid political and administrative achievement, with 
widespread public recognition to match. His elevation calls for 
an interim explanation of his political career to this point. 

Macmillan’s progress since the war emphasised how impor- 
tant the war had been in his career, as a discontinuity breaking 
a run of bad luck. His early success in Conservative politics 
had been as a protégé of Churchill, and when Churchill had 
been out of favour or Macmillan out of Churchill’s circle, his 

career had languished, despite his ever-active attention to eco- 
nomic policy problems. Then he was taken up in 1940 as a 
loyal Churchillian, and given a succession of offices of growing 
importance in which to demonstrate his skills. At the end of 
the war this gave him an entrée into the Conservative leader- 
ship, but he had to remake his political position. During the 
years of opposition he was careful to stay close to Churchill and 
to differentiate himself from Eden and Butler, his chief rivals 

for the master’s ear. Europe provided the issue on which this 
strategy could be based. Increasingly he emphasised the inter- 
national dimension of Conservative politics, drawing upon his 
wartime experience in the Mediterranean. Even while Housing 
commanded most of his attention, he urged the importance 
of European unity as a counterweight to Soviet expansion. On 
the threshold of the Foreign Office he was a robust and plau- 
sible Cold Warrior. 

At the same time, despite the euphoria over Housing, he was 

setting himself apart from his pre-war radicalism. Admittedly 
his first attempts to win public recognition harked back to the 
pre-war Macmillan: the futile attempt to rename the Conser- 
vative Party, and the rather more successful bid to garner the 

credit for the Industrial Charter by linking it to his own writ- 
ings. Thereafter he ceased to use his radical background as 
a foundation for further advance. This was in part because 
the economic climate had changed. Years of post-war change, 

good luck and good management had reduced the problem of 

unemployment, and Butler’s too-relaxed management of the 
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economy had fostered rapid expansion. This was no time to de- 

mand a resurrection of planning and state ownership after the 

model of The Middle Way. Moreover, as argued above, Macmil- 

lan had been less radical in the 1930s than he later suggested. 

The continuity between his pre-war defence of the free market 

and his post-war defence of capitalism is at least as important 

as the discontinuity in his attitude to public ownership. Yet, 

for all these caveats, there was a real movement in his posi- 

tion, which brought him closer to the Conservative centre of 

gravity than he had been in 1939. Without it, his ambition to 

stand on his own feet unsupported by Churchill’s patronage 

would have lacked plausibility. By becoming a firm advocate 

of NATO as well as a staunch defender of non-socialist policy at 

home, he endeared himself to a party which had moved, albeit 

only slightly, from the complacent rigidity of the Chamberlain 

years. 
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Chapter 5 

THE OPPORTUNITY 

1955-56 

It is a useless but interesting speculation to ask what would 
have happened to Macmillan’s career if the Cabinet had forced 
Churchill to resign in July 1953 and abandoned the attempt 
to ‘protect Anthony’. Butler, as acting prime minister, would 
have succeeded to the premiership. The rest is fantasy: but 
it is a matter of record that Butler’s physical fitness and men- 

tal stability far exceeded Eden’s. Unless he had handled the 
Suez crisis even more incompetently than Eden did, it is hard 
to think that he would have been forced to resign at the be- 
ginning of 1957, leaving the field clear for an older man such 
as Macmillan. To that extent, the nineteen months of Eden’s 

premiership must be seen as an uncovenanted opportunity for 
Macmillan to step up, ready to seize the great prize. He held 
in succession two of the great offices of state, the Foreign Of- 
fice and the Treasury. He was at the Foreign Office for nine 
months, and evidently found it no more comfortable than he 
had found Defence under Churchill, though the day-to-day 
work was more to his taste. At the Treasury he regained some 
of the initiative from Eden and began on a course of retrench- 
ment and reform which also characterised the early years of his 
premiership. But the key to his career, and to all of British po- 
litical history in these years, was the developing crisis over the 
control of the Suez Canal. Suez was to Macmillan what Nor- 
way was to Winston Churchill: an avoidable humiliation for 
British arms, to which Macmillan by his own acts of policy had 
contributed, and from which developed the political situation 

which brought him the premiership. He did not scheme to 

overthrow Eden by humiliating him, any more than Churchill 

had schemed to overthrow Chamberlain. Nevertheless, Eden’s 

humiliation led rapidly to Eden’s collapse and downfall, and 
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by then the only barrier between Macmillan and 10 Downing 

Street was R.A. Butler. 

A GREAT EUROPEAN 

Eden’s official biographer has noted that the new prime minis- 
ter’s ‘dominant concerns and interests ...remained in foreign 
affairs’.! During 1955 this preoccupation finally destroyed what 
little sympathy was left between Macmillan and Eden and cor- 
roded the morale of the new Cabinet. A convincing election 
victory, increasing both the share of the vote and the num- 

ber of seats won by Churchill in 1951, was widely attributed to 
Eden’s own personality; yet the new prime minister lacked the 
self-confidence to leave his ministers alone to run their depart- 
ments. Macmillan was the greatest sufferer, because foreign af- 
fairs was the only subject upon which Eden felt wholly at ease. 
Although much of the tension between them was caused by 
petty and detailed interference from 10 Downing Street, there 
were two major areas of conflict. Macmillan was much more 
sympathetic than Eden towards the strengthening of Britain’s 
involvement in a European polity, and he was much more re- 
luctant to throw Britain’s weight around in the Middle East. In 
the event he was able to do little more than to press on with 
the policies bequeathed to him by Eden. After nine months 
Eden moved him sideways to the Treasury, either because of 
jealousy (as Macmillan himself believed) or because of a real 

need to replace Butler. It was a short and none too successful 
episode which neither posterity nor Macmillan himself have 
been able to praise. 

Macmillan’s first test was the sudden surge of activity in the 
European Coal and Steel Community which led to a meeting 
at Messina of the foreign ministers of the six ECSC powers 
at the beginning of June 1955 to discuss what was called a 
‘Common Market’.? No British minister or official attended 
the Messina meeting, at which Paul-Henri Spaak, the Belgian 

Foreign Minister, was appointed to lead a committee to set 
up a full customs union in Europe. Spaak, with his Dutch 
counterpart Beyen, came to London on 21 June to discuss 
these proposals with a ministerial team chaired by the Chan- 
cellor, R.A. Butler (Macmillan was not included: the Foreign 
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Office was represented by Lord Reading, the Minister of State). 
This meeting was followed by a Cabinet discussion on 30 June 
to which Butler reported. Advice from officials was consis- 
tent with British policy since 1951: the Messina powers wanted 
supranational institutions for political as much as economic 
reasons, the creation of a customs union would damage world- 
wide economic development through GATT, and Britain had 
more to lose than to gain in areas such as atomic energy. The 
Cabinet decided to send officials to the first meeting of the 
Preparatory Committee in Brussels on 9 July, and accepted 
Macmillan’s suggestion that these should be ‘representatives’ 
rather than ‘observers’. His argument, reflecting his earlier 
position on the EDC, was that it was desirable for Britain to 

be fully involved in these discussions from the start, in order 
to have the best chance of preventing the development of a 
supranational Europe from which Britain would necessarily be 
excluded. The Foreign Office disagreed. 

Britain’s representative in Brussels, a Board of Trade official, 

reported from the early meetings that the Messina powers were 
not moving very fast towards a Common Market, and that it 
seemed likely that France would reject a supranational organ- 
isation, in a repeat of the EDC performance. In London both 
officials and ministers rehearsed the disadvantages to Britain of 
entering a customs union: not only would economic relations 
with the Commonwealth and the United States be weakened, 

but Britain would be exposed to damaging European compe- 
tition in textiles and chemicals and probably the engineering 
industries as well. None of this was new, and the decision 

to make a démarche against the Messina proposals in a regular 
meeting of the OEEC in December 1955 was an entirely logical 
consequence of British policy since the war. 

Macmillan himself, who made the decision with Eden, saw 

no conflict between the desire to strangle the Common Market 
in its cradle and his previous fervent Europeanism. 

our responsibilities and our associations ruled out British participa- 
tion in the Common Market.... Our declaration was not condem- 
nation of the six power plans but it was a warning that we must not 
divide Europe in the course of trying to unite it. We felt that it would 
be useful to ...see how the six power plans could be recognised and 
harmonised with the activities of the OEEC.% 

Translated into the language of British interests, he meant that 
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he preferred, as he had always done, to see Britain involved 
both in Europe and in association with the United States and 
the Sterling Area, and that it was against British interests for 
any grouping to exist in Europe which was closer-knit than 
the grouping to which Britain could subscribe. This reason- 
ing lay behind his heartfelt desire to see the end of the EDC, 
and distinguished him from Eden, who was at first happy to 
stand completely aloof and let the Europeans form whatever 
closer organisations they wanted, without British participation. 
The British ambassador in Washington, charged with the job 
of cooling American enthusiasm for the Messina proposals, as- 
sumed in a letter to Macmillan that ‘your real object is to hasten 
the end of the Common Market’.4 

Macmillan inevitably carried his European concerns over to 
the Treasury when he was reshuffled in December 1955. Jan- 
uary 1956 saw a further burst of intense activity on the part of 
the Messina powers, some of whose representatives were clearly 
angry at Britain’s démarche and determined to press ahead any- 
way. Without much affecting the general distaste for suprana- 
tional arrangements, this divided official opinion in London 
between those who thought that the Common Market would 
collapse under its own weight and those who feared that it 
would grow so fast that Britain would be obliged either to come 
to an accommodation with it or to take positive steps to subvert 
it. Although the Treasury tended to discount progress towards 
a Common Market, Macmillan was persuaded by the views of 
his former subordinates in the Foreign Office that something 
strenuous might have to be done to protect British interests, 

and set the Treasury to work in February to make plans for ‘an 
advance which would be recognised as such’.5 At this point he 
still wanted to frustrate the Messina proposals. The outcome 
was an interdepartmental working party which by 13 April had 
produced a set of options. In May, the Messina powers met in 
Venice and agreed to draft a treaty, inviting other OEEC coun- 
tries to attend a conference in Brussels at the end of June. 
Britain stayed away from Brussels. Nevertheless, the invitation 
spurred the Cabinet to choose from the working party’s alter- 
natives a proposal for a partial Free Trade area which would 
include the (six) Messina powers and other members of the 
OEEC, which would not cover foodstuffs and would thus pro- 
tect Commonwealth interests. This became known as ‘Plan G’, 
and was circulated on 27 July. 
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Plan G’s principal. backers in Cabinet were Macmillan and 
Peter Thorneycroft, the President of the Board of Trade. Their 

defence of it was both economic and political: it would ‘open 
the way to those competitive pressures which would force the 
economy to become more efficient’, but also ‘We have a chance 
which might not recur of gaining the general support of what 
might be described as both the European and the Imperial 
wings of the Conservative Party.’6 To a business observer, it 
seemed that: 

... political hunches more than traders’ assessments had led Thorn- 
eycroft and Macmillan to their present line of thought. The political 
factors influencing them seemed to me to have been the probable 
decline of Commonwealth trade on the basis of the preferences, the 

desire to have Britain rather than Germany dominant in European 
influences and the conviction that without U.K. in, Germany would 
in fact dominate, and finally the belief that Britain alone would 

prove too small in size to match U.S.A. round the council table but 
Britain as acknowledged leader of West Europe plus Britain as centre 
of the Commonwealth might exert a not inconsiderable influence 
on the world stage. 

With such thoughts on the political side it only needed that they 
should be at heart Liberal Free Traders and opposed to protection 
for industry or feather-bedding for business men to bring Thorney- 
croft and Macmillan round to where they were now. It was those 
two, I felt, almost alone who were swinging the government.7 

Though ‘Liberal Free Trade’ was stronger in Thorneycroft 
(whose conversation prompted this summary) than in Macmil- 
lan, this was an inspired summary of the political logic of Plan 

Gi 
The last stages of Britain’s fruitless engagement with the 

evolving Common Market were overshadowed by the Suez cri- 
sis, whose first stages coincided almost precisely with the ap- 
pearance of Plan G. Macmillan’s position remained consistent 
in its analysis of British interests. His tactics, though ultimately 
unsuccessful, were at least based on reasonable premises. In- 

deed, during October 1956 it seemed possible that the French 
would repeat their EDC role and smash the Common Mar- 
ket’s pretensions to supranationality by asking for too many 

concessions. But by November the Messina powers were pro- 

ceeding at full speed to draft what became the Treaty of Rome 

(finally signed on 27 March 1957), including the outline of an 

agricultural policy which would make it impossible for Britain 
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to join in without sacrificing Commonwealth interests. On 20 
November the Cabinet plumped for Plan G, but found that 
the Six were unwilling to negotiate on it, either directly or 
through the OEEC. Britain’s bluff was called, and the worst 
case envisaged by the Foreign Office — that the Messina pow- 
ers would succeed in setting up their Market with no British 
participation at all —- came to pass. In all this Macmillan had 
been just as much, or as little, a European as he had been in 
1950; he had foreseen difficulties a few months before many of 

his colleagues, but had not been able to do much about them. 

CYPRUS 

As Foreign Secretary, and then as Chancellor of the Exchequer, 
Macmillan was presented with a series of problems in the Mid- 
dle East of which the Suez crisis was merely the last and worst. 
All of them ultimately concerned the clash between British 
strategic interests and local nationalism, though none was ever 
quite so simple. To the basic problem the case of Cyprus added 
the extra dimension of a fierce ethnic conflict within the ter- 
ritory, and competition between two neighbouring countries, 
Greece and Turkey, to inherit Britain’s suzerainty.8 Cyprus 
had been borrowed from the Turks in 1878 as a convenient 
subsidiary base for the defence of the route to India. The 
island was annexed during the First World War, and made a 
Crown Colony in 1925. Nearly 70 per cent of the population 
were Greek-speaking Christians, many of them refugees from 
Turkish atrocities during the Graeco-Turkish war of 1920-22, 

and the rest Turkish Moslems. The Greek Cypriot popula- 
tion wanted union with Greece — Enosis — and the Turkish 
Cypriot minority duly feared massacre and pillage, which had 
been the normal accompaniments of political change during 
the collapse of the Ottoman Empire. Although Britain had 
proposed some constitutional advance after the Second World 
War, it was assumed that the strategic importance of the Cyprus 
bases would forbid total independence. The decision to evac- 
uate the Suez Canal bases, taken by Churchill’s government 
in 1953, placed further value on the retention of Cyprus, es- 
pecially as an airbase. In April 1955 General Grivas’s EOKA 
movement began a terrorist campaign to drive the British out 
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of the island, supporting an outspoken civil campaign led by 
the acknowledged political leader of the Greek Orthodox com- 
munity, Archbishop Makarios. 

Macmillan inherited a policy devised by Eden with the for- 
mer Colonial Secretary, Alan Lennox-Boyd, providing for def- 

inite but quite slow progress towards internal self-government. 
Faced with explosive evidence that this was not enough he 
took the bold step of engaging Greece and Turkey in discus- 
sion about the future of the island. This initiative brought 
Turkish and Greek representatives, and Archbishop Makarios, 

to London in August. Macmillan engaged in the subtle ex- 
ercises which he had practised so well in Italy and Greece a 
dozen years before. His main aim was to identify ‘moderates’ 
on each side and try to persuade them that they needed British 
help against their own extremists. This worked reasonably well 
for Greece, whose Foreign Minister, Stephanos Stephanopou- 

los, seemed reasonably anxious to deflect Greek-Cypriot pres- 
sure from the shaky government of Field Marshal Papagos in 
Athens. The Turks — ‘confident, assertive and tough’? accord- 
ing to Macmillan — offered no such foothold, and Macmillan 

could do nothing to prevent Makarios from withdrawing nois- 
ily. He had, nonetheless, made detailed proposals which went 
further than the Lennox-Boyd plan: a new Assembly to which 
all departments except defence, foreign affairs and the police 
would be responsible, a quota of seats and of ministerial port- 
folios for the Turkish minority, all to be introduced with the 

help of a tripartite commission appointed by Britain, Greece 
and Turkey. 

Meanwhile the Governor, Sir Robert Armitage, asked to be 
supplied with police officers with Malayan or Kenyan experi- 
ence. Armitage, whom Macmillan curtly described as ‘inef- 
fective, even for a Wykehamist’, was in fact in a difficult po- 
sition. He had warned the government in June that straight- 
forward repression would not be enough without a declaration 
in favour of ‘self determination’, on which Eden had minuted 

‘No’.!0 He had then been denied permission to impose a state 

of emergency, which left him very few options. Nevertheless, 

Macmillan was so exasperated with Armitage’s performance 

that he asked Eden to appoint a new Governor ‘with guts and 

imagination’, suggesting Fitzroy Maclean MP, whom he had 

known as a British agent with Tito during the War.!! Against 

the Foreign Secretary’s advice, Eden instead chose a soldier, 
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Field Marshal Harding. Harding, as expected, was a robust 

Governor who eventually declared a State of Emergency in 
November, which enabled him to be tougher still. While ne- 
gotiations continued with Makarios over whether Britain could 
offer self-government (with foreign policy, defence and the 
police reserved to Britain) or self-determination, the terrorist 
campaign continued unabated. In due course Makarios was 
deported (in March 1956), and released soon after Macmil- 

lan succeeded Eden as prime minister. The Cyprus troubles 
lingered on until 1959 when a settlement was reached, but 
Macmillan’s direct connection was interrupted on his transla- 
tion to the Treasury in December 1955. 
Although Macmillan neither started nor finished the Cyprus 

episode, it throws an interesting light on his position in White- 
hall and in the Cabinet in the early months of Eden’s goy- 
ernment. It was only his business because he made it so. The 
Colonial Office was formally responsible for the Crown Colony, 
and hitherto the co-operation between Lennox-Boyd from the 
Colonial Office and Eden at the Foreign Office had been con- 
ducted on that assumption. Macmillan’s opinion of the Colo- 
nial Office was very poor, and his criticisms of ‘Byzantine in- 
competence’ ring true.!? To deal with the foreign policy issues 
raised by the troubles, Macmillan openly made the Foreign Of- 
fice the leading department on the subject. It had always been 
interested because of Britain’s delicate relations with Turkey 
and Greece over NATO; now it began to take initiatives to solve 
the problem by diplomatic action. As with Macmillan’s efforts 
in Europe, that fact that this initiative did not work does not 
automatically mean that it was a bad idea, or that some other 
procedure than the Tripartite Conference would have done 
anything more to pacify Greek and Turkish Cypriots. Never- 
theless, the business did nothing for his reputation. 

EGYPT "1955 

To a greater extent even than Cyprus, the Egyptian ques- 
tion was inherited by Macmillan rather than begun during his 
tenure, and during all his work on it as Foreign Secretary he 
was subject to constant interference from Eden. Like Cyprus, 
Egypt had British sovereign bases, due for evacuation in 1956, 
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international and strategic significance because of the Suez 
Canal and the proximity of oilfields around the Persian Gulf, 

and bitter local suspicions based on racial hatred, in this case 
between the Arab states and the state of Israel. The state of play 
when Macmillan took over in April 1955 had been determined 
by the flux of nationalist feeling in the Middle East and the 

steady retreat of British power. The British invasion of Egypt 
in 1882 had been sanctified by a series of special arrangements 
of which the most recent was the 1936 ‘perpetual’ Treaty of Al- 
liance which allowed British forces to be stationed in Egypt for 
twenty years. In 1951 the 1936 treaty was denounced by Egypt, 
and internal pressure to remove British bases immediately was 

so intense that King Farouk was overthrown in July 1952. 
The new regime, though stridently nationalist, was a mod- 

ernising military dictatorship which was prepared to make ra- 
tional bargains to achieve its ends. The first of these was to 
drop any claims to the Sudan in return for British agreement 
to withdraw from the Suez base. Since British policy-makers 
had recognised that the base was strategically obsolete, this was 
accepted by Eden. In further upheavals in February 1954 Gen- 
eral Neguib was supplanted by Colonel Nasser, who in July ne- 
gotiated the terms of British withdrawal from the bases. Nasser, 
though apparently willing to co-operate with Britain and the 
United States, was determined to make Egypt, as the most pop- 
ulous modern state in the Middle East, the effective leader of 

an Arab bloc: he was therefore particularly suspicious of the 
Baghdad Pact, by which Britain in 1954 formed an anti-Soviet 
alliance with Turkey, Iran, Iraq and Pakistan. The other major 
element in Middle Eastern politics was Israel, whose occupa- 
tion of the Negev Desert since 1948 was contested both by 
Egypt and by Jordan. 

Macmillan’s first task at the Foreign Office was to imple- 
ment a plan worked out by Eden and John Foster Dulles, the 
American Secretary of State, to provide a link between Jor- 
dan and Egypt across the Negev. ‘Project Alpha’ did not quite 
suggest a corridor: two triangles of territory in the Negev, 
one with its base on the Egyptian border, the other with its 

base on the border of Jordan, would meet at their apexes on 
the road connecting the main Israeli settlements with port of 
Eilat on the Gulf of Aqaba. Thus Israel would maintain ac- 
cess to Eilat, while a land route would be established between 

Egypt and Jordan. The package included an internationalised 
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zone in Jerusalem, financial help from Britain to enable Is- 

rael to compensate Palestinian Arab refugees, and other eco- 

nomic support for Israel from the Western Powers. Although 

Eden had brought this plan to life, and Macmillan compared 

it with his own initiatives in Cyprus —‘Cyprus is my plan. Al 

pha is really an inherited plan’!3 — he was an enthusiastic and 

effective protagonist. In June he visited the United States, 

urging Dulles to continue to press it in Washington despite 
objections from the Jewish lobby during the presidential elec- 
tions. Obstacles to progress included shooting incidents in 
the Gaza Strip, in which the Israeli army was condemned for 

violating the 1949 Armistice, and a running dispute over a 

scheme to divert the Jordan to irrigate the Negev. Macmillan 

and Dulles worked closely together, so that in August Dulles 
committed the United States in public to support a territorial 
rearrangement, in a speech which had been agreed by Macmil- 
lan. Eden’s behaviour at this point brought Macmillan close 
to despair: up to the day before the speech he bombarded his 
Foreign Secretary with comments, mostly directed at what he 
thought was an American tendency to concede too much to 
Israel. Macmillan commented ‘I might as well give up and let 
him run the shop.’!4 

It was essential to Project Alpha that the full details of the 
financial package, and the direct intervention of Britain and 
the United States, should be kept secret. Covert diplomacy left 
room for many pressures and enticements, including the pos- 
sibility of arms supplies from the Western powers to Egypt. In 
September it was suddenly revealed that Nasser had concluded 
an arms deal with Czechoslovakia, and lost interest in Alpha; in 

October, while the Cabinet was still recovering from the shock, 

it was learned that Russia had offered to fund the Aswan High 
Dam project, with which Nasser intended to provide an infras- 
tructure for Egyptian industrialisation. Alpha was obsolete, if 
only because the intended beneficiaries were no longer inter- 
ested, but Eden and Macmillan continued to press both sides 

to make concessions, up to and beyond the end of Macmillan’s 
tenure of the Foreign Office. There were no apparent differ- 
ences between them on the fundamentals of policy. Both were 
more concerned to secure British oil supplies in the Middle 
East than to win any advantages over Egypt. Both underesti- 
mated the intensity of anti-Western feeling in the Arab world.!5 
Where they did differ was over the responsibility for the details 
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of foreign policy, and their personal relations, never easy, were 
further soured by the Middle Eastern problem. 

Middle Eastern affairs before 1956 also created a political sit- 
uation within the Conservative Party which had consequences 
for Macmillan’s future. During the negotiations of 1953 about 
withdrawal from the Suez base a caucus of Tory back-benchers, 

subsequently known as the Suez Group, had dissented very 
openly. They were supported within the Cabinet by Lord Sal- 
isbury, and even Churchill had some sympathy with them, 
though he had loyally supported Eden. The Tory Right was 
sensitive to Middle Eastern issues, and pressed Macmillan when 
he was Foreign Secretary to conclude a defensive treaty with Is- 

rael simply in order to put further pressure on the recalcitrant 
Nasser. Although he never appeared to concede to this pres- 
sure, Macmillan in private was consistently hostile to Nasser’s 
ambitions, remarking for instance in September 1955 that “We 

really cannot allow this man, who has neither the authority of 
a throne nor of a Parliament, to destroy our base and threaten 
our rear.’!6 Though never more than about thirty in num- 
ber, and as few as fifteen by the end, the Suez Group was the 

spearhead of a tendency in the party which reacted against the 
débacle over the Canal Zone in 1956 and reinforced the de- 
mand for a strong prime minister to succeed Eden. When that 
demand came, it very clearly discriminated between Macmillan 

and Butler, even though Macmillan towards the end had usu- 
ally been on the side of concessions to Egypt. It was an irony, 
but an important one, that Macmillan was to be helped into 
office by men whom he had often thought a political nuisance 
when he was trying to manage British foreign policy. 

THE TREASURY 

Macmillan left the Foreign Office under protest. Eden asked 

him on 23 September to take over the Treasury from Butler, 

in whom the prime minister had lost confidence. In some way 

this had been a prepared move: Eden had invited Macmillan in 

August to write a Cabinet Paper on the economy, and he had 

responded with a fairly optimistic piece, proposing marginal 

measures to choke off incipient inflation and a resort to a 

floating exchange rate to take pressure off sterling. He noted 
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that between the wars the strain had been taken by unemploy- 
ment, but ‘we can’t do that again and survive politically’.!” 
At the time this made him seem both more level-headed and 
more imaginative than Butler, who had evidently mishandled 
the pre-election budget. But it was almost certainly not his 
virtues alone, or even Butler’s failings, which caused Eden to 

seek a change, but the prime minister’s urgent need to have a 
compliant Foreign Secretary. Macmillan believed that jealousy, 
or something like it, was the only motive, and deeply resented 
it. He also feared an ulterior motive, and confided in Lord 

Woolton. “Macmillan wondered whether his departure from 
the Foreign Office at a time when things were not going very 
well — he described them as “Eden’s chickens coming home to 
roost” — would not give the appearance of failure.’!8 He first 
demurred to the proposal, then after agreeing to the change 
in October laid down very tough conditions. He warned that 
he would make changes, bring in outside advisers, and attempt 
to reorganise the Bank of England; ‘there is no point in my 
leaving the Foreign Office to be an orthodox Chancellor of 
the Exchequer. I must be, if not a revolutionary, something of 

a reformer.’ His main condition, though, was that his position 

as ‘undisputed head of the Home Front under you’ should 
be protected by abandoning the practice of calling Butler the 
‘Deputy Prime Minister’.!9 Eden agreed to a form of words 
which established a convention that Butler ‘in the absence of 
the Prime Minister... will continue as hitherto to preside over 
meetings of the Cabinet’, and the deed was done. 

Life at the top of the Conservative government in 1955 was 
anything but peaceful. The Cabinet reshuffle nearly caused a 
revolt in the House of Lords, and there was considerable dis- 

content in the Tory press. Hugh Dalton, now a semi-retired 
opponent, had observed cheerfully in April that there was ‘no 
friendship at the top here’ between Eden, Butler and Macmil- 
lan,?0 and the manner of the reshuffle confirmed the very pos- 
itive dislike which both ministers felt for their leader. Neither 
was to be at all reluctant to hasten his downfall when the gov- 
ernment came under pressure a year later. 

Like many new Chancellors, Macmillan soon discovered that 
‘The position is much worse than I had expected. Butler had 
let things drift, and the reserves are steadily falling. If and 
when they are all expended, we have total collapse, under 
Harold Macmillan!’2!_ The problem at the end of 1955 was 
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that the economy was growing too fast with too little struc- 
tural change. Butler and his advisers had contributed to this 
situation by a succession of budgets which had reduced the 
burden of taxation from the heights at which Labour had left 
it, while relying on monetary policy — both interest rates and 
controls on credit — to stabilise the economy. Until 1955 this 
policy seemed to work, but after the April 1955 Budget, later 
condemned as an electioneering exercise because of its con- 
siderable income tax reductions, there was heavy pressure on 
sterling. A good deal of this was the result of Britain’s move 
towards convertibility between sterling and the dollar: non- 
residents had been able to convert sterling into dollars since 
February 1955, and were by now busily engaged in selling the 
sterling holdings they had built up, in expectation of convert- 
ibility, since 1952. A full-scale crisis in the summer of 1955 
was met by an emergency Budget in October which substan- 
tially reduced the government’s capital spending and increased 
both purchase tax and taxation on distributed profits. Butler 
pointedly told an International Monetary Fund meeting in Is- 
tanbul that the pound would not become convertible, but on 
the other hand would not be allowed to ‘float’. It was during 
Cabinet discussions over this Budget, in which Eden had inter- 
fered persistently without showing any sign that he understood 
the reasoning behind the Treasury’s desire to reduce purchas- 
ing power in the economy, that the prime minister decided to 
move Macmillan to the Treasury. 

The Treasury was not satisfied with the October measures, 
and at the turn of the year warned that it would be neces- 
sary to take further steps to protect the balance of payments, 
even though the Budget had apparently curbed inflation at 
least temporarily. Macmillan’s advisers wanted to get rid of 

the bread and milk subsidies, the abolition of which Eden had 

vetoed in October, and to increase the Bank Rate from 4.5 per 

cent to 5.5 per cent. Macmillan himself also wanted to make 

severe cuts in defence spending and to increase income tax, 

in both cases with an eye first on the protection of sterling 

and second on the need to restrain inflation which was then 

running at 3 per cent per annum. Eden objected to all these 

proposals and demanded that all economic measures be gath- 

ered into a single budget in March or April 1956. Macmillan 

was almost openly contemptuous of this approach. He warned 

the prime minister that ‘you would not be wise to attempt an 
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essay in economics’ in a forthcoming speech in January; he 
remarked that ‘it would be nice if we could do everything in 
a single operation. But I am sure we can’t...’ at the end of 
that month; and in the same letter he threatened to resign if 

he was not allowed to announce the end of bread and milk 
subsidies in the middle of February.22 He repeated the threat 
a fortnight later, and won a phased reduction in the subsidies 
and the increased Bank Rate he wanted, both of which were 

announced on 16 February. This pleased him and enabled 
him to claim credit for facing down the prime minister. 

Nevertheless, the decision to stagger the announcements of 
economic measures worked against him. As soon as the Febru- 
ary proposals were out of the way he suggested to Eden that the 
Budget in April should contain a thorough review of defence 
expenditure, on the grounds that ‘it is defence expenditure 
which has broken our backs’.?3 This was refused point blank. 
On 5 April he demanded instead to be allowed to raise £100 
million by increasing income tax, arguing that ‘this demon- 
stration of absolute determination to overcome inflation would 
have a great effect abroad. It would also have a large — perhaps 
decisive — psychological effect at home.’24 Eden once more re- 
fused. 

Historians have commented rather patronisingly on Macmil- 
lan’s failure to get his own way on this issue when he had made 
such a fuss about the bread subsidy,?5 but in fact there are no 
grounds for surprise. The argument over the February mea- 
sures had been conducted with great passion, and Macmillan 
had only been able to win partial concessions (even though he 
called them ‘four fifths’ of his demands) by using the heavi- 
est artillery any Cabinet minister can command. Over income 
tax increases he would have had the additional difficulty that 
Butler would have objected to the direct and public reversal of 
his cuts of the previous year. Macmillan had no further lever- 
age with which to force his colleagues to accept the strong 
budget proposals he would have liked to have made. This is 
all the more significant since it coloured the tone of his only 
Budget, and thus contributed mightily to his subsequent repu- 
tation. Without anything fundamental to offer, he made a 
witty speech in which the high point was the announcement 
of Premium Bonds. This was a sensible, even ingenious way of 
attracting small savers and thus fractionally reducing the pres- 
sure of demand in the economy: interest payments were to 
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be rolled up into a fund from which a small number of savers 
would receive appreciable prizes. Harold Wilson, the Labour 
Party's economic spokesman, duly warned that ‘They will be 
fighting the next election on “Honest Charlie always pays”’. 
In fact the Conservatives were to fight the next election on 
a position easily caricatured as ‘You’ve never had it so good’, 
which was not very different from Wilson’s cruel prophecy; but 
the noteworthy point is that Macmillan had been forced by his 
colleagues to announce a bookmaker’s budget which did his 
reputation no good. His own instinct had been to grasp the 
nettle of controlling an overstretched economy. 

Officials were quick to contrast Macmillan’s achievement as 
Chancellor with that of his predecessor. Robert Hall, the Chief 
Economic Adviser, had described Butler as ‘a weak Chancellor 

who came in at a time when the tide was running in his favour 
and was clever enough to give it a chance’; in contrast, Macmil- 
lan seemed determined to be strict. Although he shocked his 
Adviser at a meeting with City journalists which ‘went on too 
long and the Chancellor really got a little drunk which sur- 
prised and somewhat horrified me as I thought a man of his 
experience would not run any risks’, Macmillan gave the im- 
pression of a man who knew his business much more than 
his predecessor, both in his first memorandum to the Cabinet 

entitled “Thoughts from a Treasury Window’ and his habit of 
drafting his own economic speeches. His dispatch of business 
also impressed.?6 He moved on too soon for his competence to 
take effect, and seems to have regretted the lost opportunity: 
as prime minister he was always ready to give pointed advice 
to his own Chancellors. 

SUEZ 

In the middle of 1956 Macmillan’s main interest in foreign 
affairs was in the balance of payments and the defence of ster- 
ling. This led him into protracted negotiations over German 
contributions to the cost of the British Army on the Rhine, 

and for the longer term sustained his interest in Plan G, the 

proposal for closer association with Europe, described above. 

He had little direct contact with other aspects of foreign policy 

except as a Cabinet colleague of his successor, Selwyn Lloyd, 
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who was himself a patient sufferer from prime ministerial in- 
terference. All this was changed by Nasser’s seizure of the Suez 
Canal on 26 July, a decision taken in direct retaliation for the 
refusal by Britain and the United States to finance the massive 
Aswan High Dam project. Macmillan was a member of the 
Cabinet’s ‘Suez Committee’, set up by Eden on 27 July, and 
took a full part from the decision to invade through to the de- 
cision to withdraw under American pressure. He then played 
a full part in the removal of Eden, co-operating with Butler 
and the Americans to bring pressure on the prime minister to 
resign. At the end of it all, he was prime minister, charged 

with repairing the enormous damage which he had helped to 
inflict on Britain’s position in the world.27 
An analysis of Macmillan’s role must start with an outline of 

the crisis. Within days of the nationalisation the Cabinet had 
decided to regain the Canal Zone by force, in consort with 
the French, and to overthrow Nasser’s regime. Almost imme- 
diately it became clear that world opinion was less offended 
by the nationalisation than were the British and French goy- 
ernments as owners of the Suez Canal Company. In particular, 
Eisenhower and his Secretary of State, John Foster Dulles, were 

unwilling to contemplate the use of force to regain control of 
the Canal, and Dulles came to London in August in search of 

a settlement. At his suggestion a conference met in London, 
attended by representatives of twenty-two nations closely con- 
cerned as users of the Canal. A majority of those present voted 
to send a committee to Cairo, led by Sir Robert Menzies, the 
Australian prime minister, to propose an international author- 
ity to Nasser. By 9 September it was quite clear, from the tone 
and contents of a letter from Nasser to Eden, that the Egyptian 

leader regarded an international authority as an unacceptable 
limitation of Egyptian control. 

Meanwhile Dulles had thought of an alternative approach, 
the Suez Canal Users’ Association (SCUA). This hypothetical 

body would collect canal dues from users, who would use their 
own pilots, and pass on a fair share to Egypt. This scheme 
was welcomed by Eden, and accepted by the Cabinet on 11 
September after the failure of the Menzies mission was clear. 
As an alternative to military action, which was not yet possible, 
it seemed attractive, especially since when first presented it was 
presumed that if Egypt interfered with SCUA it would be a 
complete justification for the use of force. Britain and France 
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pressed on with a formal case before the United Nations Se- 
curity Council. Unfortunately Dulles and Eisenhower disap- 
proved of this move, believing it to be a weak case in law, and 

in any case the American presidential elections forced them 
to protest at every opportunity that the United States would 
not support other countries who used force in the event of the 
breakdown of the SCUA arrangements. At the beginning of 
October, when asked in a press conference whether SCUA’s 

teeth were not being pulled, Dulles made the memorable ob- 
servation that ‘there were no teeth in it, so far as I am aware’. 

This alone should have alerted the British government to the 
dangers of relying on American support, but by now there were 
two further complications. 
The more threatening complication at the time was the 

alarming expression of interest by the Soviet Union. Bulganin 
warned Eden in late September that “small wars can turn into 
big wars’, and this stimulated Eden to renew his efforts to get 
American support for Britain as part of the defence of the free 
world against communism: ‘I feel sure that anything which 
you can say or do to show firmness to Nasser at this time will 
help the peace by giving the Russians pause.’?8 Eisenhower’s 
response, in the full flood of a presidential campaign in which 
he was representing himself as a man of peace, was completely 
unhelpful. 

The other complication was in the military plan for invasion 
and seizure of the Canal Zone. In early September the French 
government approached Israel with an offer of exploratory 
talks about co-ordinated action against Egypt. Although some 
sort of co-operation with Israel had been suggested (by Macmil- 
lan) in the earliest stages of the crisis, the French did not at this 
stage tell the British government. Detailed military discussions 
between France and Israel took place at the end of the month, 
and at last, on 14 October, the French acting Foreign Minister, 

Gazier, and the deputy chief of the air force, General Challe, 

met Eden and proposed what has become known as the Challe 
Plan. This was that Israel would invade the Sinai Peninsula and 
move into Egypt, whereupon Britain and France would exer- 
cise their treaty rights to occupy the Canal Zone in order to 

keep the combatants apart and prevent damage to the Canal 

itself. Eden jumped at this, put it to the Egypt Committee 

on 16 October, and won its support, with Macmillan speaking 

strongly in favour. On the afternoon of that day Eden flew 
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to France with Selwyn Lloyd to close the deal with the French 
and the Israelis. Without officials present, they met Guy Mollet 
and Christian Pineau, the French prime minister and Foreign 
Minister, and reached a preliminary agreement. On 22 Octo- 
ber Selwyn Lloyd attended a conference at Sévres at which the 
Israeli government was also represented. There is no evidence 
that the Plan was ever put to the full Cabinet for its approval. 

After further discussion two British officials, Patrick Dean 

and Donald Logan, went to France on 24 October and signed 

an agreement now known as the Treaty of Sévres, which pro- 
vided for the Israelis to attack on 29 October with the objective 
of reaching the Canal the next day; for the British and French 
governments ‘separately and simultaneously’ to appeal to the 
combatants to withdraw 15 kilometres from the Canal; and, on 

receiving the expected rejection for an Anglo-French force to 
attack Egypt in the early hours of 31 October. When Eden was 
given his signed copy at 10.30 that evening, he ordered Dean 
and Logan to return to France the next day to retrieve all 
copies, but without success. All British copies of the document 

were then destroyed.29 
Destroying the paper did not destroy the plan, which was 

put into operation almost precisely to timetable. On 30 Octo- 
ber, after the Israeli invasion and the Anglo-French ultimatum, 

both the United States and the Soviet Union put resolutions 
to the United Nations Security Council calling for Israeli with- 
drawal. Both were vetoed by Great Britain. Air attacks began 
on 30-31 October, along with naval attacks on Egyptian ves- 
sels. Parachute troops landed at Port Said on 5 November 
and a seaborne invasion force arrived the next day. At mid- 
night on 6 November, after a successful battle in Port Said and 
Port Fouad, a storm of international protest, and a run on 

the pound led by the United States, a cease-fire was ordered. 

Macmillan was at the head of those who demanded that Amer- 
ican objections should be heeded. By 3 December the British 
and French governments had been forced to withdraw their 
forces, unconditionally, and cede control to a United Nations 
force. The Challe Plan had failed, utterly, and the principal 
reason was the determination of the United States to defeat 
the use of force by Britain and France. Within a few weeks of 
withdrawal from Suez, Eden had fallen and been replaced as 
prime minister by Macmillan. 

Macmillan himself looked back on Suez as ‘a very bad 
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episode’*? and the most memorable comment on his réle was 
Harold Wilson’s ‘First in, first out’. Nigel Birch, one of Eden’s 

most loyal acolytes, thought he had done it all to bring about 
Eden’s retirement and his own succession. Anthony Head, 
Minister of Defence during the critical period, merely found 
his behaviour puzzling; ‘It wasn’t naked ambition, though if 
you had a nasty mind you might have thought so. I didn’t.’ 
Whatever the motive, it is an unedifying story. From the news 
of Nasser’s nationalisation of the Canal until the invasion of 
Suez on 5-6 November Macmillan was an ardent supporter of 
vigorous military action, not only to regain the Canal but also, 
by implication, to overthrow Nasser. On realising the conse- 
quences he was no less ardent in calling for a cease-fire, and 

during the month which followed he was also outspoken in 
his insistence on an early and unconditional withdrawal. The 
plainest thing to be said about his behaviour is that he had 
made a very bad mistake; but also that he had quickly realised 
its magnitude, and taken the only possible steps to correct it. 

As a very senior Cabinet minister Macmillan was in the thick 
of decision-making from the beginning, and used his own in- 
ternational experience and contacts even though he was no 
longer Foreign Secretary. On 30 July he entertained Robert 
Murphy from the State Department (his old friend from Al- 
giers) and warned him of the British view that ‘Suez was a test 

which could be met only by the use of force.’3! He took further 
opportunities to impress the point on Dulles when the Ameri- 
can Secretary of State was in London in mid-August. His own 
convictions were apparently unassailable at this point and were 
based on a potent use of the Munich myth which often served 
him well. Even his ex post facto justification for expanding the 
operation beyond the mere reoccupation of the Canal Zone 
was based on Munich symbolism: 

If force was ever to be used, its purpose must be to contain or 

nullify the threat to the whole peace of the Middle East. We knew 
well — for we had all lived through those terrible years — that had 

we taken action against Mussolini in 1935 at the time of his attack 

on Abyssinia, or against Hitler in 1936, when he remilitarised the 

Rhineland, the world might have been spared the horrors of the 

Second War.32 

This logic appealed to Eden, who had marked Nasser down as 

an ‘Asiatic Mussolini’, and also to Churchill, in whom Macmil- 
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lan confided on 5 August. This was also the spirit in which 
Macmillan first thought of involving the Israelis. ‘I said that 
unless we brought in Israel it couldn’t be done. Surely if we 
landed, we must seek out the Egyptian forces, destroy them, 

and bring down Nasser’s government. Churchill got out some 
maps and got quite excited.’33 There was no doubt either 
about Macmillan’s enthusiasm for the use of force, or about 

his conviction that force could succeed. 
The Munich argument convinced Macmillan himself, and 

he seems to have been persuaded also, in the teeth of the 
evidence, that it could convince the Americans upon whom 

everything depended. In late September he used a visit to 
the International Monetary Fund to make a number of exhor- 
tatory speeches in the United States, using anti-appeasement 
language. He also spoke intimately to his old friend Eisen- 
hower, and distilled from an amiable chat the conclusion that 

Eisenhower wanted to see Nasser overthrown and understood 
that Britain needed economic help if it was necessary to ‘play 
it long’.34 On the same day he spoke to Dulles and on the 
next day to the Secretary of the Treasury, George Humphrey, 
both of whom seemed to say that the United States realised 
Britain’s needs and saw the need for American financial sup- 
port. Here lay the seeds of error. Macmillan had misinter- 
preted Eisenhower’s view, and his favourable report of Dulles’ 
conversation, which included the distinct hint that Suez might 

play an important part in the presidential election, was almost 
certainly interpreted in London, and probably by himself as 
well, in the light of this misunderstanding.*® 

Macmillan returned to London on 1 October. While he was 
away Lloyd and Eden had been in Paris discussing military 
plans with the French government; the day after he returned, 
Lloyd went to New York to join the French Foreign Minister, 
Pineau, in presenting the Anglo-French case to the UN Secu- 
rity Council. The next fortnight saw active diplomatic efforts to 
resolve the Suez dispute without resort to force, accompanied 
by energetic preparations for an attack. Cabinet and Egypt 
Committee records from the beginning of October are miss- 
ing or heavily weeded, and Macmillan’s own diary was delib- 
erately destroyed, so the events themselves, and Macmillan’s 

part in them, have to be reconstructed from memoirs and, in- 

directly, from the Foreign Office telegrams. As a result the 
principal source in practice is Anthony Nutting, a confirmed 
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and passionate opponent of the Suez adventure, who was at this 

point Lloyd’s Minister of State at the Foreign Office. Nutting 
has stated in his published account, and insisted in subsequent 
conversations with a number of historians, that between 2 Octo- 

ber and 14 October Eden was willing to entertain a diplomatic 
settlement based on the so-called Six Principles. Between 11 
and 13 October, with the Egyptian Foreign Minister, Mohamed 

Fawzi, making concessions at the UN, it appears that Eden ac- 
tually preferred a diplomatic solution. 

He was deflected by the opportunities offered by the Challe 
Plan, which was presented to him on Sunday 14 October. 
Eden promised the French emissaries that he would reply after 
consulting his colleagues. The only evidence for such a con- 
sultation comes from Nutting, who reports a meeting of the 
Egypt Committee on Tuesday 16 October, after which Eden 
and Lloyd went to Paris for highly secret conversations with 
the French. This Egypt Committee meeting does not appear 
in the numbered series in the Cabinet records, and it is there- 

fore impossible to check Nutting’s recollection that neither 
Macmillan nor Butler were present. 

If Macmillan was absent, he took no part in the original 
decision to agree to the French proposal; but the minutes show 
that he was present at the meeting on 17 October which heard 
the results of the visit to Paris. He was also present at the 
Cabinet of 18 October, which heard a deliberately understated 

account of the proposed co-operation with the French and 
the Israelis. There is little doubt, though, that he was very 

hawkish indeed in the period up to the Cabinet meeting of 25 
October, when the Cabinet was first informed of the intention 

of ‘going in on the backs of the Israelis’.56 During this period 
Lloyd went to Sévres to settle details of the scheme with the 
French and the Israelis; before he did so, a conference on 

21 October between Eden, Butler, Macmillan, Lloyd and the 

new Defence Minister, Anthony Head,?’ had blessed his going, 

and the same group debriefed him on his return. The group 

decided late in the evening of 24 October to recommend the 

scheme to the Cabinet, whose discussions on Egypt had begun 

earlier in the day and were adjourned until 25 October. The 

contents of the Cabinet discussions are recorded in reasonable 

detail, and confirm that Eden was disingenuous in explaining 

the degree of collusion which already existed between Britain, 

France and Israel. The other meetings are not minuted, and 
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the vital information about Macmillan’s contribution to the 
discussion is therefore lost. Eden’s press secretary, William 
Clark, reports that Macmillan threatened to resign if the issue 
was not pressed to a military conclusion, and attributes the 
threat to this short period between 14 and 25 October; the 

official biographer reports Macmillan’s own denial that he ever 
threatened to resign.38 Even the extent of his knowledge is 
disputed, with Eden’s biographer (echoed by Alistair Horne) 

remarking that ‘Eden did not confide in him any more than 
he did in Butler.’°9 But it is very difficult to see how he could 
have been present at the small meetings with Eden and Lloyd 
and not known what Lloyd had been doing in France. 
A divided Cabinet agreed, after long discussion on 25 Octo- 

ber, to the proposals which Eden put before them: that if Is- 
rael attacked Egypt, as he expected, Britain and France should 
intervene. The Israeli attack took place, as arranged, on 29 

October, and the British government, as arranged, sent Notes 

to Egypt and Israel informing them that in default of an im- 
mediate cease-fire there would be an invasion by British forces 
to protect the Canal Zone. The military plan, Operation Mus- 
keteer, required a bombardment on 30 October, which was 

postponed to the night of 30-31 October, and a parachute 
attack followed by a seaborne invasion on 7 October. The in- 
vasion fleet had been at sea since 28 October, leaving Malta on 

the 31st. Although the plan had been agreed with the French 
and the Israelis, ministers were under constant pressure to re- 
vise their plans in response to events, and this was a period 

of unremitting responsibility. The position taken by almost 
every senior minister, from Eden downwards, is a matter of 

some difficulty to ascertain. Of no one is this more true than 
Macmillan. 

Macmillan’s departmental role during the last week of the 
crisis was as important as his contribution to the Egypt Com- 
mittee. In Cabinet on 30 October he warned that the gold and 
dollar reserves were still falling, after reductions of $57 million 

in September and $84 million in October; on the same day he 

discussed with the Governor of the Bank of England the likely 
prospect for the sterling balances.40 As Chancellor he tried 
to stem the run on the pound, which originated mostly in 

New York, and eventually tried to get repayment of the British 
quota from the reserves of the International Monetary Fund. 
In this last effort he found himself blocked by the Americans, 
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who according to the rules of the Fund had to approve the re- 
payment; he had decided against applying before the first air 

attack, and found that American intransigence was insuperable 
once the fighting had begun. He also became aware that the 
Federal Reserve Bank was selling sterling very heavily. None of 
this seemed to deflect him from supporting the operation as it 
was developing. On 4 November, at the Egypt Committee, as 
Selwyn Lloyd reported ‘Macmillan threw his arms in the air and 
said “Oil sanctions. That finishes it”, when warned that the 

Americans were considering this step in support of their UN 
cease-fire resolution, which had been introduced and passed 
in an enormous hurry the previous day.4! For all that, he does 
not seem to have carried his point through to the logical con- 
clusion when in the evening of 4 November, after two meetings 
of the Egypt Committee, the Cabinet decided to press home 

the assault. 
The Cabinet decision was taken in the light of the UN cease- 

fire resolution, overt American hostility to the Anglo-French 
operation expressed by every important American statesmen 
from Eisenhower down, and a cease-fire between Israel and 

Egypt which both sides had now accepted. Most of the case 
for the Anglo-French intervention, carefully confected through 
the Sévres Treaty, was in ruins, yet neither the military nor 
the political objectives had been achieved. General Keightley, 
commanding Musketeer, needed a decision that evening. After 
long discussion, Eden called for a vote. Twelve ministers voted 
to continue the operation; six, including Butler and perhaps 
Macmillan, voted for delay. Eden then adjourned the Cabinet 
and, by all accounts, warned Butler, Macmillan and Salisbury 

that without a united Cabinet he could not go on. Meanwhile 
Israel was persuaded to withdraw its consent to the cease-fire, 
thus resurrecting the ostensible justification for intervention 
to protect the Canal. The Cabinet reconvened, and agreed 

unanimously to order Keightley’s forces forward. 
The operation, which began on 5 November, was a military 

success. Both the military objectives, Port Said and Port Fouad, 
were captured, though with considerable loss of life among the 
civilian population. British and French forces penetrated over 
twenty miles south of Port Said, and were in a position, ac- 

cording to one of the local commanders, to reach Suez itself 
within forty-eight hours. While this was going on, however, 
the American government inspired heavy selling of sterling 
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and tightened the noose on Britain by withholding consent 
to withdrawal of the British IMF balances, as described above. 

In the United Nations, Lester Pearson, the Canadian prime 

minister, had introduced a resolution calling for the establish- 
ment of a United Nations Force on 4 November, and during 5 
November Israel had armed the Secretary-General, Dag Ham- 

marskjold, with further ammunition by accepting the cease-fire 
with Egypt about which they had been dickering for the previ- 
ous three days. 

At this point Macmillan, ‘near panic’,#? intervened in a Cab- 

inet meeting on the morning of 6 November. He warned that 
the reserves had fallen by an eighth since the beginning of 
the month, and that the lack of a cushion from the IMF made 

the situation intolerable. It is futile to try to decide whether 
Macmillan’s intervention weighed more or less heavily with 
his colleagues than the collapse of the pretence that British 
troops were preventing damage to the Canal by standing be- 
tween Israel and Egypt, or the cold calculation that the mission 
had been accomplished. One historian has even attributed the 
initiative to Eden, who after a personal communication from 

Eisenhower some time in the morning of 6 November ‘allowed 
Macmillan to play the leading rdle in winning over his col- 
leagues’.43 The bare fact is that under all these pressures the 
Cabinet decided to order a cease-fire. The claim that it was 
done because the job was finished, and for no other reason, 

which is the basis of Macmillan’s memoir account, is utterly un- 
believable. What is more important is that Macmillan himself 
had reversed his position because the financial situation had 
deteriorated beyond control. Butler, whose cautious opposi- 
tion to the whole scheme was only overborne by Eden’s threat 
to resign if the Cabinet did not back him in the operation, 
was quite right to observe that Macmillan ‘switched overnight 
from being the foremost protagonist of intervention to being 
the leading influence for disengagement’. After Macmillan’s 
intervention, the case for carrying on was not pressed, the or- 
der for cease-fire was given, and Eden prepared to announce 
in the Commons that evening that the operation would now 
halt. No one could tell what further humiliations awaited the 
Cabinet which had so convincingly mishandled a major perfor- 
mance on the world stage. 

Macmillan himself had gone into the Suez affair with his eyes 
open, warned repeatedly by his officials that pressure on the 
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pound would be difficult to resist.44 As early as 8 August Sir Ed- 
ward Bridges, the Joint Permanent Secretary at the Treasury, 

had warned him that the Suez dispute was threatening the bal- 
ance of payments, but Macmillan convinced himself that ‘we 
are pretty well armed for Suez’.4° A month later Bridges urged 
that unless American support was unequivocal any military ac- 
tion would jeopardise sterling; this time Macmillan minuted an 
admission that ‘this is just the trouble. U.S. is being very diffi- 
cult.’46 By late September the reserves were falling fast; by late 
October, with the invasion force preparing in Malta, Macmil- 
lan was telling his Cabinet colleagues that he expected to lose 
$300 million (out of something more than $2,000 million) in 

November. He and the Cabinet knew that an important charge 
on the reserves was the repayment due to the United States un- 
der the post-war Loan Agreement. They also knew that military 
action would ‘cause offence’ to the United States.47 Macmillan 
advised that they should keep on using the reserves rather than 
float the exchanges, and retain informal links with the United 

States to help when it was necessary to borrow from the Inter- 
national Monetary Fund. On 30 October he told his officials 
that the government’s policy was to see the affair through. 
On November 6 Macmillan was told by the Americans that 

without a cease-fire they would not support his application to 
the IMF, nor give any other assistance. Accordingly, he in- 
sisted that the Cabinet should order a cease-fire. This was bad, 

but worse was to come since the Americans wanted withdrawal 
and were prepared to wait for it before contemplating financial 
aid. At the beginning of December the Cabinet bowed to pres- 
sure, with the reserves threatening to drop to the lowest level 

since 1949. With American support the British government 

was able to draw on international credits of $1800 million, re- 

lieving short-term pressure on the exchanges at the cost of a 

major burden of debt which, ironically, was to fall on Macmil- 

lan’s shoulders in the New Year. Worse than that, international 

confidence in sterling was gravely injured by the whole affair, 

and sterling crises were thereafter to be a frequent accompa- 

niment to economic and international strain. As one histo- 

rian has pointed out, much of this could have been avoided if 

Macmillan had passed the Treasury’s advice on to his Cabinet 

colleagues, instead of arguing for a firmness which the reserves 

could not bear.48 His judgement, much more than his courage, 

was called into question by the reversal on 6 November. 
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THE RECKONING 

The Suez crisis destroyed Eden’s career and injured Butler’s, 
but Macmillan survived triumphantly. Eden’s physical health, 
never very secure, collapsed after the Suez débacle; his doc- 

tor packed him off to Jamaica on 23 November, whence he 
returned on 14 December. In his absence Butler as Deputy 
Prime Minister, with Macmillan as his ‘main confidant’, dealt 

with the Americans, the United Nations, the French, the Cab- 

inet and the Conservative Party. The prime minister, isolated 
in a beach-house, was denied detailed information and almost 

gagged by his colleagues when he wanted to make a firm state- 
ment to the press on his return. His political fate was sealed 
by the confusion of the Conservative Party in Parliament: his 
biographer, who was present as a House of Commons Clerk, 

records: 

Indeed it was a melancholy occasion. Eden slipped into the House 
virtually without any attention being paid to him. One Conservative 
MP, Godfrey Lagden, leaped to his feet and waved his order paper; 

he looked around him, was stunned by the pervasive silence on the 

Conservative benches, and subsided with a thunderstruck look on 

his face. The Opposition just laughed. Eden looked hard at his 
shoes, and his colleagues shuffled papers and looked at each other 
meaningfully. At that moment one knew that it was all over.49 

Decisions taken by the Cabinet in Eden’s absence, and the 
changed mood of the Conservative Party, had made inevitable 
the resignation which was to follow on 9 January. Macmil- 
lan’s part in these transactions, in which he so convincingly 
triumphed over Butler, reminds one of the removal of Clif- 

ford Allen from the Next Five Years group twenty years earlier, 
but played for higher stakes on a larger stage: a brutal, self- 
seeking, but, in the last resort, very necessary manoeuvre to 
preserve the interests of the country, the government and the 
Tory Party. 

Macmillan’s first concern was to control the impact of the 
crisis on the position of sterling. American pressure on sterling 
had brought the Suez operation to a halt; but it was not cer- 
tain that that pressure would be removed without even further 
concessions on Britain’s part. Treasury officials told him on 7 
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November that the State Department was still likely to obstruct 
any IMF drawing, while the closing of the Suez Canal and of 
oil pipelines in the Middle East would force Britain to buy oil 
in the Western hemisphere at a cost of over $800 million in a 

full year. Losses to the reserves of this order were not sustain- 
able if the sterling—dollar exchange rate was to be maintained, 
and contemporary wisdom held that resort to a floating rate 
would cost as much even in the short term, quite apart from 
its crippling effect on British prestige. Macmillan’s view was 
therefore that Britain must immediately do anything necessary 
to regain American support. The main obstacle was Eden, who 
on 7 November refused the United Nations General Assembly’s 
request for the immediate withdrawal of British troops. 
The next two weeks were occupied in energetic but futile at- 

tempts to restore Britain’s international prestige and reinvent 
the Anglo-American ‘special relationship’, a nexus which was 
now regarded with scepticism and contempt on both sides of 
the Atlantic. Selwyn Lloyd was sent to New York to stave off a 
vote of censure in the United Nations; arrange for a smooth 

transfer of control from Anglo-French forces to the UN peace- 
keeping force, rather than to Egyptian troops; negotiate with 

the Egyptians for better terms in the management of the Canal, 

using continued occupation of the Canal Zone as a bargaining 
counter; persuade the United Nations to allow British salvage 
vessels to begin work immediately to reopen the Canal; and 
persuade the State Department that continued Anglo-French 
occupation was in the best interests of the world community. 
This last, the most important point, was received singularly 
badly by the Americans.59 American pressure continued, to 
the point that Macmillan asked the Cabinet on 21 November 
to authorise petrol rationing as an emergency measure to re- 
duce the pressure on the exchanges. The Treasury continued 
to warn of the danger to sterling, until on 29 November the 
Cabinet ordered an unconditional withdrawal from Suez, ex- 

pecting that this alone would persuade the Americans to prop 

up the pound. 
American policy-makers were driven to their punitive atti- 

tude towards British needs by an acute distrust of Eden and 

ultimately of Selwyn Lloyd, and it was this which gave Butler 

and Macmillan, with some help from Salisbury, the opportu- 

nity to undermine the prime minister. Eisenhower, re-elected 

as president on 6 November, moved from geniality to suspi- 
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cion in a matter of hours on the following day as Eden pressed 

him to receive a visit from the British and French prime min- 

isters. Lloyd’s activities in New York left him cold, and by 19 

November the president and his closest colleagues were deal- 

ing directly with Macmillan and Butler through the American 

ambassador in London, Winthrop Aldrich. It has been shown 

that this dialogue was initiated by the Americans, and coexisted 

with a channel of communication through Butler to the Sec- 

retary of the Treasury, George Humphrey.®! While there is no 

direct evidence that the Americans made Eden’s departure a 

condition of support, their decision to deal directly with Eden’s 

subordinates even before the prime minister had gone on hol- 

iday suggests that Eisenhower—Eden relations could never pick 

up again exactly where they had left off. Macmillan was keen 

to establish his own private communication with the White 

House, but this was deftly discouraged by Eisenhower, who 

asked Aldrich wherever possible to see Butler and Macmillan 

together.°? 
Thus Butler and Macmillan were left not only in charge of 

events but grappling directly with the central problem, of re- 
surrecting the ‘special relationship’. Macmillan, however, was 
getting no help from Eisenhower in any attempt to turn the sit- 
uation to his personal advantage (‘we don’t want to be in a po- 
sition of interfering between those two’ remarked Eisenhower 
to Aldrich). This job he had to do alone. Butler’s rdle as 
Deputy Prime Minister and understudy in Eden’s absence gave 
him the odium of defending an indefensible policy to the coun- 
try and the Conservative back bench, knowing that whether he 

lied or told the truth he could not possibly please everybody. 
This was to Macmillan’s advantage. On 12 November, dur- 
ing the debate on the Address, he made liberal use of Munich 

analogies to persuade a sceptical House that the attack on Suez 
was justified.5? After Butler’s distinctly ambivalent defence of 
the government’s position to the Commons on 22 November, 

the two men went together to address the back-bench 1922 
Committee. Butler’s biographer has called this joint appear- 
ance ‘a highly expensive mistake’, especially because Butler, 
the senior man, spoke first, leaving Macmillan to give a per- 
formance which Enoch Powell described as “One of the most 
horrible things that I remember in politics...— seeing the way 
in which Harold Macmillan, with all the skill of the old actor- 

manager, succeeded in false-footing Rab. The sheer devilry of 
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it verged upon the disgusting.’> Macmillan’s speech played 
again on the Munich legend, which was soon to become the 
creation myth of Macmillanite Conservatism; his effect upon 
both wings of the party, but especially on the Left, was noticed 
immediately. While Butler was getting steadily more tired and 
less popular as the burden of defending the indefensible set- 
tled upon him, Macmillan spoke little in public and took care 
that when he spoke he was ebullient and uplifting. 

His contribution to unscrambling the mess was not, however, 

an insignificant one. On 28 November, on Treasury advice 
which coincided with his direct understandings of American 
views, he told the Cabinet that American goodwill, which was 

essential to the defence of sterling, “could not be obtained 

without an immediate and unconditional undertaking to with- 
draw the Anglo-French force from Port Said’.55 He pressed this 
point home in the two subsequent meetings, and finally won 
the decision on 30 November. His colleagues had not agreed 
that the withdrawal had to be unconditional, fearing that the 
back bench would not accept such a humiliating climb-down. 
By the end they were convinced that it was necessary. This was, 
of course, a collective decision. As such, it was announced in 

the Commons by Selwyn Lloyd, who was humiliated by the gen- 

tle contempt of the opposition and the fierce contempt of the 
Suez Group. Unkind critics blamed Butler for not taking the 
job himself. No one blamed Macmillan. 

It was clear soon after Eden’s return that his health could not 
support the strain of office. His doctors told him that he would 
die if he did not resign; and although he did not wish to go, he 
was convinced (by a third and fourth medical opinion) that he 

must. He therefore resigned on 9 January 1957. Anticipatory 
mutterings have been documented.5® Although these do not 
seem to have amounted to an attempt, by Butler or Macmillan 
or anyone else, to get rid of Eden at that moment, Macmillan 
told Butler in mid-December that younger members of the Cab- 
inet, especially Peter Thorneycroft, ‘did not think Eden could 

or would go on’. This observation was soon to be linked in But- 
ler’s mind with ‘frequent talks & reunions. ..in the study at No. 
11. Those present included those principally since elevated 
namely Peter Thorneycroft, David Eccles, Alan Lennox-Boyd 
and more distantly Sandys.’>” Even so Macmillan at one point 
had tried to dissuade Eden from going on a Jamaican holiday 
from which he would return as a political casualty. The pre- 
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cise date of Eden’s departure was evidently unexpected, even 

by his senior colleagues, who had to devise very swiftly the pro- 

cedure for choosing a successor. In the event Salisbury and 

Kilmuir interviewed each of their colleagues individually. Kil- 

muir’s account of the process —“To each Bobbetty said, “Well, 

which is it, Wab or Hawold?”’ — is uncorroborated but immor- 

tal nonetheless. Patrick Buchan-Hepburn, and perhaps also 

Walter Monckton and James Stuart, favoured Butler; the rest 

chose Macmillan, as did the Chief Whip (Edward Heath), the 

chairman of the party (Oliver Poole) and the chairman of the 

1922 Committee (John Morrison).58 With no further consul- 

tation, the deed was done, and Macmillan was summoned to 

the Palace the next day. 
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Chapter 6 

FROM SUEZ TO THE PARIS SUMMIT 

Macmillan reached the premiership in January 1957 because 
the Conservative Party, and above all his Cabinet colleagues, 

trusted him more than it trusted Butler, and respected his 

courage. The reasons for this preference are still not clear 
and may not have been clear to Macmillan himself. His contri- 
butions to policy in recent months had been erratic (though 
hardly more erratic than Eden’s); though fertile in ideas he 
had never been at the centre of the party’s policy-making as 
Butler had been; his periods of senior office as Foreign Secre- 
tary and Chancellor had not been as successful as his term as 
Housing Minister; and above all he was not the heir-apparent. 
Butler’s jaundiced conclusion was that ‘what I call affection- 
ately the “Young Turks Movement” had decided in their own 
minds to rally round the European Free Trade system, a mil- 
itary onslaught on Nasser, the retirement of Anthony Eden 
and the eventual succession of Macmillan’.! This alone would 
not have given Macmillan the premiership without at least the 
acquiescence of a wider body of opinion in the Conservative 
party. Even so the new premier predicted that his ministry 
would only last six weeks; yet as soon as he had ridden past 
the aftermath of Suez, the party’s acceptance of new lead- 
ers was enough to assure him two comfortable years in office. 
Moreover, his parliamentary style and the happy coincidence 
of a buoyant economy and a divided opposition tended to 
strengthen his personal position in his first eighteen months 
in 10 Downing Street. 

But if he could rely on his Cabinet colleagues and in due 
course on his back bench for political support, he could not 
expect them to find new answers overnight to the problems 
of the second half of the 1950s. Britain was still living with 
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the consequences of the Second World War. In office Macmil- 

lan had demonstrated a talent for improvisation, but he had 

occupied no office for long enough to grapple convincingly 

with the main issue: that Britain’s commitments and aspira- 

tions far exceeded its resources, and that a ‘solution’ to one 

problem (whether in housing, defence, or foreign relations) 

was more likely than not to exacerbate problems elsewhere. 
Now he had to take responsibility for reconciling these con- 
flicting demands, as well as the conflicts within his party which 
had grown up under Churchill and Eden. 

In Macmillan’s eyes the most important task was to restore 

Britain’: s relations with the United States, because he believed 

that America would” help Britain preserve some in international 

infliénce despite’the manifest. weakness.of the British econ- 
omy. To persuade the Americans of this simple proposition 
was a priority for his first year, which brought him first to the 
Bermuda Conference in March 1957 and then to Washington 
in the subsequent October to enunciate with Eisenhower what 
he rather grandly called ‘the doctrine of interdependence’ .? 
The essence of this was that the United States would continue 
to support NATO and provide Britain with warheads and the 
rockets to deliver them, which would enable it to remain a 

nuclear power. All this had been jeopardised by Suez, and 
the question of Anglo-American relations was raised in his first 
Cabinet meetings. 

By that time, though, Macmillan and his Cabinet had already 

been confronted by other symptoms of Britain’s retreat from 
power. Minor colonial policing matters illustrated a growing 
gap between Britain’s responsibilities east of Suez and the mil- 
itary and economic resources available to discharge them. At 
the same time the Cabinet had to consider the cost of defence, 

and Duncan Sandys, the new Minister of Defence, had been or- 

dered to draw up a new, cheaper defence policy. His proposals, 
including the reduction of British forces in Germany by nearly 
40 per cent, were presented in a White Paper in April.3 This 
could hardly be separated from the issue of Anglo-American 
relations, since the plausibility of Britain’s defence and contri- 
bution to NATO were now to rest on its nuclear forces, which 

were in turn dependent on the United States. 
Weakness abroad was a direct consequence of economic 

weakness at home. To his Cabinet colleagues, Macmillan was 
frank about Britain’s economic dilemmas in the mid-1950s. 
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Although the ‘austerity’ of the immediate post-war period had 
given way to economic expansion throughout the industrial 
world, Britain’s real growth in the early 1950s had been slower 
than that of any other industrialised country, and the twin 

problems of balance of payments stability (symbolised through- 
out this period by the question of whether to seek free con- 
vertibility between the pound and the dollar, and the perpet- 
ual anxiety about the sterling balances), and rising internal 
prices made every Chancellor’s life fairly miserable. The fi- 
nancial crisis caused by Suez added further difficulties, and 

although these were largely overcome by the middle of 1957 
the underlying inflationary trend seemed to remain. Macmil- 
lan’s approach to foreign affairs during his premiership was 
always conditioned by worries about money. 

For most of his premiership Macmillan behaved as though 
internal and external problems were separate. He gave less 
attention to domestic than to foreign affairs, and in foreign 
affairs often seemed to his critics to be trying to cut a figure 
as an international statesman rather than working for British 
interests. But one foreign problem was intimately related to 
Britain’s domestic politics. Since the blunderings of British 
policy towards the Messina proposals, Macmillan’s attitude to 
the economic integration of Europe had reflected his profound 
pessimism about the British economy. ‘Europe’ was a solution 
to the structural problems of the British economy, as well as 
a political move in defence of the Western alliance. Macmil- 
lan and his confidants believed that an exposure to European 
competition would achieve by micro-economic means what the 
macro-economic manipulations of Keynesian policy could not 
do for the decaying structure of British industry. He therefore 
pursued a closer association with Europe, partly by completing 
the stages of Plan G, but in the end by applying to join the 
Common Market. He failed; but he had the consolation that 

a majority of his party were eventually persuaded that the pur- 
suit of economic modernity with Europe was not incompatible 
with sentimental attachment to the Empire or a preference for 
English-speaking Americans over any sort of foreigner. 

By the end of Macmillan’s first year of office an agenda of 
foreign policy problems had thus been set out. None of them 

went away before 1963, and although some of them acquired 

new twists the measure of Macmillan’s premiership was that 

he had to run very hard to make even the slightest progress 
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in any field. His efforts, and the deliberate cultivation of the 

persona of an unflappable wonder-working leader, can best be 

understood by examining each area of external policy in turn: 

relations with the superpowers, the problems of Empire, and 

the opportunities in Europe. 

NOT QUITE A SUPERPOWER 

Harold Evans, who served as Macmillan’s press officer through- 
out his premiership, remarked in March 1960 that ‘he tends 
eventually to say indiscreetly in public what he has been say- 
ing discreetly in private, e.g. the British as the Greeks in the 
Roman Empire of the Americans’.4 This was indeed a major 
theme of the new prime minister’s private and public rumina- 
tions even before he reached Downing Street. He was hardly 
alone in taking this view, but he was alone among post-war 
prime ministers in making it the fulcrum of his foreign policy. 
Others either distrusted the Americans too much (like Eden 

and Wilson), or retained a less pessimistic view of Britain’s in- 
dependent prospects (like Churchill). Macmillan had made his 
point to Richard Crossman in North Africa in 1942,5 and con- 
tinued to make it throughout his years in opposition and as a 
Cabinet minister. In his mind it was entirely compatible with a 
commitment to European unity, because its main purpose was 
to create a secure bulwark against Soviet expansion in Europe. 
A further aim was to support Britain’s overseas presence, also 
threatened by indigenous nationalist movements which looked 
East for moral support and sometimes material aid. 

To make this work it was essential to bring about a rapproche- 
ment with the United States. Macmillan admitted later that 
during the Suez crisis he had misjudged the American mood. 
He felt, in particular, that John Foster Dulles had been unex- 

pectedly unhelpful to Britain and that the officials closest to 
President Eisenhower were unwilling to take the British govern- 
ment into their confidence. Macmillan intended to rely heav- 
ily on the memory of his successful wartime collaboration with 
Eisenhower, but to do this he would have to establish a personal 
contact. He had also to convince his Cabinet colleagues of the 
political wisdom of approaching the United States again; the 
‘Suez group’ of angry right-wing back-benchers were not alone 

130 



FROM SUEZ TO THE PARIS SUMMIT 

in nourishing a fierce, resentment against all things American. 
There were, in addition, many potential differences between 
the two countries even after the end of the Suez episode, and 
these had to be resolved satisfactorily in Cabinet as well as with 
the Americans. 

Macmillan’s greatest ally in this mission was the Soviet Union. 
After Suez the Kremlin made no secret of its enthusiasm for 
intervening in the Middle East, where many regimes were vul- 
nerable to popular uprisings, and where Western powers, all 

tarred with the ‘imperialist’ brush, were automatically suspect. 
To prevent trouble, Dulles and Eisenhower evolved at the end 
of 1956 the ‘Eisenhower doctrine’ which followed the pattern 
of the Monroe and Truman doctrines in defining an area of 
the world in which the President of the United States thought 
it his right and duty to intervene to maintain essential Amer- 
ican interests. The Eisenhower doctrine gave the president 
permission to operate in the Middle East, and by March 1957 
the Senate had voted him $200 million with which to support 
friendly countries. 

This gave the Administration greater leverage to make de- 
mands, especially on Israel, and at first this upset British efforts 
to emerge with some shred of dignity from Suez. During the ef- 
fort to reopen the Canal, the Egyptian government demanded 
that Israeli troops should withdraw from the Gaza Strip be- 
fore French and British ships were once more allowed to pass, 
even though other nationalities were to be allowed through 
as soon as the waterway was clear. This demand Macmillan 
tried to resist, but the United States government urged Israel 
to withdraw, leaving the Gaza Strip under United Nations con- 

trol. Macmillan observed that ‘our honour and our interest 
are in conflict’,®6 and made sure that Britain was not put in the 
position of having to vote at the United Nations in favour of 
sanctions against Israel. 
American decisions also played a large part in the resolu- 

tion of the central Canal controversy, which was whether, if 

British ships did start to use the Canal, the dues should be 
paid to the Egyptian government or into a special blocked 
account which Britain was maintaining as security for British 
claims against Egypt arising from nationalisation. Although the 
United States initially supported British and French demands 
that the dues should be paid to the United Nations, Amer- 
ican diplomats were unable to persuade Nasser to reconcile 
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his conditions for opening the Canal with the Six Principles 
agreed at the United Nations the previous October,’ and in 
April Cabot Lodge, speaking on behalf of the United States 
at the United Nations, recommended that Nasser’s propos- 
als should be given a try. This in effect obliged Britain to 
capitulate, lest economic competitors should gain an advan- 
tage from readier access to oil supplies. The decision to al- 
low British ships to use the canal and pay dues to Egypt was 
announced on 13 May and debated in the Commons on 15 
and 16 May: the greatest parliamentary test yet faced by the 
new prime minister. Macmillan noted soon after he made his 
announcement that ‘the Tory dissentients are beginning to or- 
ganise themselves...’; and even before the debate ‘Lord Salis- 
bury has joined the rebels, with a rather bitter statement in the 
House of Lords about the Suez decision.... (What a blessing 
he went over Makarios!)’8 Macmillan recorded the ‘extreme 

degree of nervous strain involved’ in preparing his speech, was 
disappointed in his performance, and fussed about press reac- 
tions; but he was exhilarated to win the division by forty-nine 
votes, with only fourteen Tory abstentions. In retrospect, he 
declared this a watershed for his new administration, which 

could now be assured of a full term in office.9 Apart from a 
few doubters, he had apparently convinced the Conservative 
Party that American hegemony had to be accepted.!0 

Despite the lowering of tension after British withdrawal, 
American attitudes in the Middle East were still at odds with 
British interests. Nevertheless, the frustrations and humilia- 

tions surrounding Anglo-American dealings in the Mediter- 
ranean could be seen as the end of a chapter, the unavoid- 

able denouement of the Suez drama. The fruits of the new 
beginning, in which Macmillan’s policy and his personal pres- 
tige were much more closely involved, were first seen at the 

Bermuda Conference of March 1957. Here a select gathering, 

consisting of Eisenhower, Dulles, Macmillan, Selwyn Lloyd and 
supporting officials, went over the most important matters at 
issue between the two countries. 

Over Suez, Egypt and Israel it was difficult to reach com- 

mon ground, and the attempt was not pressed. On the closely 
related subject of the Baghdad Pact, Macmillan scored a sig- 
nificant success, using the analogy of the Eisenhower Doctrine 

to persuade the Americans to take part in the organisation’s 
military planning committee, while getting American approval 
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jof Britain’s position as protector of small states in the Persian 
“Gulf. For the moment there was no likelihood of repeating the 
fiasco of 1951, in which American influence had been thrown 
on the side of anti-British forces in Iran and Iraq. The most 
important agreement reached at Bermuda, though, was the un- 
dertaking by the Americans to supply Britain with intermediate- 
range ballistic missiles with American warheads (the Thor mis- 
siles) to bridge the gap until British missiles and warheads had 
been developed as an independent nuclear deterrent. The 
British nuclear arsenal, such as it was, consisted of bombs to be 

dropped by long-range aircraft (the V-bombers); this was reck- 
oned to be inadequate against newly developed anti-aircraft 
weapons, and the Defence White Paper which Duncan Sandys 
was perfecting in the spring of 1957 depended on an effective 
nuclear deterrent to justify very large reductions in conven- 
tional forces. The supply of American missiles.was the only way _ 
to.make Macmillan’s defence policy work...He was duly grate- 
ful, though he later had reason to regret this dependence on 
American equipment. Compared with this very practical aid, 
Anglo-American agreement to co-operate in disarmament was 
of little more than metaphysical significance, at least until the 
middle of the year when the American negotiator at the regu- 
lar disarmament conferences let his enthusiasm run away with 
him. 

Macmillan’s later estimate of the effect of Bermuda was 
guarded and ambivalent, though he made a successful defence 
of his achievement in Parliament by wrong-footing Gaitskell 
over Labour’s attitude to nuclear weapons. Understandably, 
his later reflections put great emphasis on the advantages of a 
personal link between a British prime minister and an Amer- 
ican president. His conversations with Eisenhower were ‘just 
exactly as in the old days’; ‘the atmosphere was very good’;!! 
his approach to Eisenhower at the beginning of the meeting 
was to ‘receive as host; greet as old comrade; welcome as head 

of the greatest and most powerful nation in the world’.!? The 
language Macmillan used to bring this about was unequivocal. 
On the first day he reminded Eisenhower that ‘you cannot be 
neutral in a war between two principles, one of which — Com- 
munism — is evil’, and hung upon this the rest of his argument 
for Anglo-American co-operation in which Britain was needed 
‘for ourselves; for Commonwealth; and as leaders of Europe’.!3 

The rest of the discussion, from the practical problems of 
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nuclear weaponry to the creation of a common attitude in the 

Middle East, was underpinned by this reasoning. It certainly 

persuaded Macmillan. It probably persuaded Eisenhower, at 

least for a time. Its effect on Dulles, whose position in the 

United States policy-making machine was unassailable, was far 

less positive. Macmillan thought that “Dulles, who by tempera- 

ment and conviction is a sort of Gladstonian Liberal, who dis- 

likes the nakedness of facts, has also come a long way’,!+ but 

there was a long way still to go. Macmillan’s hope was that in 

the struggle against communism Britain would be recognised 

not only as an ally but as a necessary and special ally, and this, 

as he realised, was by no means assured at Bermuda. 

T But after the Bermuda Conference, rebounding from Suez, 

the Anglo-American relationship became stronger and more 

‘special’ as it took the practical form of military co-operation 

outside Europe as well as in it, and an increasing intimacy in 

nuclear weapons deployment. Macmillan carefully plotted a 

course to build up British strength, avoiding a mounting pres- 

sure at home and abroad to slow down or halt British nuclear 

weapons development.|On 15 May 1957 the first British hydro- 
gen bomb was tested successfully. Three weeks beforehand, 

Macmillan had received from Bulganin a proposal, buried ina 

wide-ranging document about Anglo-Soviet relations, that the 
two countries should immediately suspend nuclear tests and 
work towards a general prohibition of nuclear testing, inde- 
pendently of the continuing disarmament talks. Macmillan 
was later to dismiss this as ‘the beginning of a propaganda 
offensive that was subtle and seductive’,!5 whose aim was to ex- 

ploit the widespread fears of nuclear war to undermine British 
resolve. The Labour Party’s response convinced him that pub- 
lic opinion in Britain was susceptible; he minuted to Charles 

Hill!6 that ‘I wonder ...whether all this propaganda about the 
bomb has really gone deeper than we are apt to think.... It 
presents many features useful to the agitator. It has an appeal 
for the mother, the prospective mother, the grandmother, and 
all the rest, and every kind of exaggeration or mis-statement 

is permissible.’!7 He therefore decided to embark on a propa- 
ganda offensive of his own, ‘partly in the hope of some genu- 
ine détente and partly to satisfy public opinion at home’,!§ and 
stepped up efforts to ensure that British nuclear capacity was 
firmly established before any concessions were made. 

As if to prove that there was still work to do on the Anglo- 
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American relationship, the American representative at the Dis- 
armament Conference, Harold Stassen, proposed a scheme on 
1 June which would end not only testing but also the pro- 
duction of nuclear weapons material by any power. ‘Is this 
America’s reply to our becoming a nuclear power — to sell 
us down the river before we have a stockpile sufficient for our 
needs?’ wrote Macmillan.!9 He resorted to his personal re- 
lationship with Eisenhower, and since the proposal had not 
in fact been authorised either by the President or by the Sec- 
retary of State it was easy enough to persuade the American 
government to back away, even though it was impossible to 
prevent the Russians from taking advantage of the gaffe. This 
experience emphasised the urgency of Anglo-American tech- 
nical co-operation, and Macmillan duly prepared to ask for a 
repeal of the McMahon Act, which since 1946 had prevented 
the release of information about nuclear weapons to America’s 
allies. He visited Washington in October, after preparation by 
Selwyn Lloyd, and secured both a ‘Declaration of Common 
Purpose’, including the McMahon repeal, and a plan of ac- 

tion which would consolidate the NATO alliance by extending 
the deployment of American Intermediate Range Ballistic Mis- 
siles (IRBMs) in Europe. The other NATO countries agreed 
in principle, after some heartsearching, in December. This 
was achieved by linking the scheme with the offer to the Soviet 
Union of a conference of Foreign Ministers to resolve outstand- 
ing disputes. 

In these transactions Macmillan showed that he had both a 
tactical skill in reconciling American and European sensitivi- 
ties, and a fundamental commitment to making a single front 
against Russian expansion; he noted in his diary that: 

We have got the Americans to take a more realistic view of the psy- 
chological and political situation in Europe.... There is no division 
between NATO countries who approve the rockets and those who 
disapprove — at least on ethical grounds.... We are beginning to 
get the Europeans ont of the ‘Maginot Line’ complex and begin to 
look to their flanks.'Suez — although a tactical defeat for us — is in 
this sense beginning to be vindicated strategically.?? 

Britain’s survival as a major power after Suez depended on 
such efforts of co-operation, and occasionally on bluff. For 
the time being Macmillan was able to provide them. 
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There was never any doubt, though, that his success de- 

_pended_on_the United States, and Macmillan found himself 
in the uncertain position of a witch-doctor who retains his 

hold over an anxious flock by controlling the weather. Some 

knowledge of meteorology allows the shaman to make the 

right incantations at the right time, knowing that the storm 

is about to break; Macmillan’s long acquaintance with Eisen- 

hower and strengthening links with Dulles enabled him to pre- 

dict, roughly, when something could be done. But there were 

always sceptics to the Left and Right who complained that 

his influence over the United States was imagined, and that 

the government therefore had no real control over Britain’s 

fate. Nuclear weapons and nuclear testing, with their associ- 

ated diplomacy, exposed the government to many attacks. 
Labour’s hostility was predictable but much more danger- 

ous to the Labour movement than to the government. The 
Labour leadership —‘some of whom are pro-Russian, others de- 

featist and others sound loyal supporters of NATO and the 
Bevin tradition’2! — was so bitterly divided over nuclear disarma- 
ment, with Bevan always eager to embarrass Gaitskell, that most 

parliamentary exchanges on the subject did Macmillan, and 
the government, more good than harm. The greater threat 

was from the Conservative Right, led by the “Suez group’ who 
most resented American intervention in 1956 and who were 
inspired, and sometimes led, by Salisbury after his resignation 
in March 1957. This group found it difficult to recognise the 
degree of British dependence on the United States, resented 
the terms on which American missiles were based in Britain, 

blamed the United States for forcing Britain to abandon the 
colonial empire, and resented any concession on nuclear test- 
ing which seemed to qualify Britain’s status as a great power. 
Their hostility weakened Macmillan’s power base within the 
Conservative Party, and on occasions threatened to produce 
embarrassing results in parliamentary divisions. Caught be- 
tween the complaining factions, Macmillan became slightly 
querulous, and like almost all Conservative prime ministers 

since the war used Munich metaphors promiscuously to justify 
his position; in December 1957, after the NATO agreement 

on missiles had met a tepid reception at home, with the press 
calling for urgent talks with the Russian leaders, he protested 
that ‘all this is pure Chamberlainism. It is raining umbrellas.’2? 

Always tendentious, the Munich metaphor was in this case 
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also not apt. Macmillan was now fully committed to preserv- 
ing British interests by acting as an intermediary between two 
more powerful nations, and taking what amounted to a bro- 
ker’s commission in diplomatic advantage. His conception of 
global politics recognised the immense military strength of the 
superpowers. He was determined to maintain a nuclear deter- 
rent, on the grounds that it was the only convincing defen- 
sive system which the country could afford. Even so, nuclear 
weapons were never cheap, and his efforts to move towards 
a test-ban treaty, which began in response to correspondence 
with Bulganin at the end of 1958, were a prudent measure 
of economy as well as an opportunity to cut an international 
figure. His relations with the United States grew closer, and 

his efforts to bring Britain into a closer relationship with Eu- 
rope were limited during his first administration to the ster- 
ile completion of discussions about the European Free Trade 
Area. Macmillan’s realism about Britain’s capacity to behave 
as a Great Power was tempered, especially during his first ad- 

ministration, by his huge enjoyment of diplomacy as a pastime. 
Talking to American, and later to Russian leaders was the most 

competitive, and therefore enjoyable, form of the sport. 

TILTING THE BALANCE OF POWER 

Macmillan’s diplomatic calculations in 1957 embraced the test- 

ban proposals themselves, linked as they were to the continu- 

ing disarmament discussions in Geneva, the integration of West 

Germany into NATO, and the nursing of British public opinion 

about nuclear deterrence and the Cold War, which was now be- 

ginning to polarise alarmingly. While contemplating his reply 

to Bulganin in late 1957 he paid an official visit to Germany, 

to seek German support for the EFTA-Common Market ar- 

rangements and to persuade Adenauer’s government that it 

was safe to reduce British conventional forces on the Rhine 

because the remaining troops would be ‘trip-wire’ for a devas- 

tating nuclear riposte. The Germans, in Macmillan’s view, did 

not understand the strategic and economic logic of nuclear 

deterrence which underlay the Defence White Paper. On the 

other hand, he needed German support for Britain’s attempt 
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to establish a constructive relationship with the Common Mar- 
ket, and he therefore had to devote a good deal of effort to 
persuading Adenauer that British policy attached due impor- 
tance to Germany’s survival. Even in 1957 a strong current in 
German thinking was fearful of the implications for Germany 
of a purely nuclear defence of the Western alliance, and moves 
towards a rapprochement with Russia which would include some 
measure of nuclear disarmament were therefore politically de- 
sirable; yet at the same time Adenauer’s government was keen 
to argue that the reunification of Germany must be made a 
condition precedent to any disarmament agreement with the 
Russians. 
None of this made the reply to Bulganin any easier, and 

Stassen’s intervention at the disarmament talks made things 
worse. The formal Anglo-American response to Russian sug- 
gestions for a test-ban treaty was merely to observe that disar- 
mament would only be possible after a reduction of political 
tension.*> This was overtaken by a proposal from the Russian 
negotiator that there should be a two- or three-year morato- 
rium on nuclear tests, monitored by an international agency, 
with inspection posts on Russian and American soil. The Allies 
proposed a ten-month suspension to allow the technicalities of 
inspection and monitoring to be studied. When developed and 
put into a ‘package’ with other proposals for a reduction of 
conventional arms and a plan for non-military use of space ve- 
hicles, these proved unacceptable to the Russians, upon whom 
the onus of rejecting a test ban could therefore be allowed to 
fall. This was a temporary and far from complete solution to 
what was fast becoming a major political problem for Macmil- 
lan. 

His main difficulty was still with domestic opinion. On the 
central issue of nuclear disarmament he had little to worry 
about. His own party was not interested in unilateral nuclear 
disarmament, and only a very few Conservatives had any time 
for any policy of multilateral disarmament which would inhibit 
British progress towards the military security promised by the 
Defence White Paper. The Labour Party was thoroughly em- 
broiled in controversy over unilateralism, with the Bevanite 
Left in full cry against Gaitskell and the Right, so every parlia- 
mentary debate on the subject evoked more bitterness between 
Labour’s factions than between government and opposition. 
On the issue of a test ban, especially outside parliament, the 
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government was much more vulnerable. A test ban seemed 
to the public less drastic than the repudiation of all nuclear 
weapons, and because of the reiteration of Russia’s proposals 
it seemed to be an issue on which Russia and the West could re- 
alistically be expected to agree. Macmillan was much preoccu- 
pied by the domestic response to his carefully paced replies to 
Bulganin, fearing that the nuclear issue had ‘drawn away from 
us that wavering vote with vague Liberal and nonconformist 
traditions which plays such an important rdle because it is still 
the no-man’s land between the great entrenched Parties on ei- 
ther side’.24 In October he was elated by Bevan’s unexpected 
repudiation of unilateralism, which seemed to confirm his feel- 
ing that Russian rejection of the ‘package’ had not pleased the 
Left in Britain, and incidentally threw the Bevanites into a sat- 

isfying confusion. To take advantage of this shift in opinion, 
he suggested a British initiative, to be made public at the au- 
tumn meeting of the United Nations. He proposed to limit 
the number and potential radioactive fallout of tests, whether 

or not the Russians agreed, and to give advance warning of all 
tests. This would either advance international agreement, or 

rally British support for the government; either outcome, or 

both together, would be acceptable. 
The corollary of this was that Britain needed access to Amer- 

ican nuclear technology, for without tests the British nuclear 

programme could not develop enough information for itself. 
This would require the repeal of the MacMahon Act of 1946. 
Macmillan’s main aim in going to Washington in October 1957 
was to persuade Eisenhower and Dulles that the time had come 
to share nuclear information with Britain, and to his surprise 

they agreed. The practical importance of this dramatic step 

was much greater than the flowery ‘Declaration of Common 

Purpose’ in which it was embodied. On the one hand it al- 

lowed Britain to develop the nuclear weapons programme of 

the Defence White Paper without expensive duplication of ba- 

sic research; on the other hand, as part of the Declaration, 

it gave Britain some leverage over American policy, which en- 

abled Macmillan to persuade his most powerful ally that the 

deployment of nuclear weapons in NATO countries in Europe 

would only be accepted by the countries concerned if an offer 

of talks was made simultaneously to the Russians.*5 

The offer was a qualified political success. The meeting of 

NATO in December 1957 accepted the deployment of nuclear- 
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armed IRBMs in Europe; and the next day the House of Com- 
mons, heavily whipped, accepted the result of the NATO meet- 
ing. Macmillan was displeased with his majority of thirty-nine, 

attributing the shortfall largely to the Suez group who resented 
the missile bases as the outward and visible signs of Ameri- 
can hegemony within the alliance. He also found reason to 
complain at the press, which was urging him to get on the 
next plane for Moscow.?6 He responded with a party-political 
broadcast in early January, targetted on three heresies he had 
identified within the Conservative Party and the public. Anti- 
Americanism was a major problem, ‘the English form of the 
great disease from which the French are suffering more than 
any other people — that is, looking backwards to the nineteenth 
century’, compounded with a phobia of European connections 
and finally a susceptibility to ‘the clever Russian propaganda 
for peace’ which affected the public more than the party.27 
Part of this broadcast was a candid statement of the case for 
refusing to work for the total abolition of nuclear weapons; he 

also made the case for progressive negotiations between the 
West and the Russians, aimed first at a non-aggression pact 
and later at reductions in conventional and nuclear forces. A 
test-ban agreement was an essential part of this package. 
The initiative still lay with Russia. On 11 December another 

note from Bulganin proposed an immediate ban on nuclear 
tests, and on 9 January 1958 a further note actually proposed a 
summit conference. Despite the broadcast, this threw Macmil- 
lan and indeed the whole of the leadership of the NATO al- 
liance into a stew. There was considerable suspicion of Russian 
motives, resentment that the Russians were sending identical 
letters to the Allied governments and exploiting the differences 
in their replies, and a widespread fear that a summit would 
break down in such a way that the West would be blamed for 
its failure. The Russians declined to accept the argument for a 
preparatory meeting of Foreign Ministers. Macmillan did not 
want a summit without adequate diplomatic preparation, but 
wanted to get the credit for breaking the deadlock. He there- 
fore tried unsuccessfully to get the Cabinet to agree to a letter 
to Bulganin in which he would offer to go to Moscow in per- 
son, but only to settle an agenda and to set out a procedure for 
future discussions. This idea was rejected, though Macmillan 
warned his colleagues that some initiative from Britain would 
be necessary sooner or later. His final, approved answer merely 
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reiterated the suggestion of preparatory talks either by Foreign 
Ministers or through ordinary diplomatic channels. Tepid as it 
seems with hindsight, this was well received in the Press and in 
the Commons. Macmillan’s stock went up when he defended 
the government’s record successfully in a foreign affairs de- 
bate in February, and although he had to rescue Selwyn Lloyd, 
whose performance in the same debate had been wooden and 
ineffective, he was generally satisfied with the result. 

Macmillan’s concern now was that ‘we should come forward 
as soon as possible with a constructive proposal that will put the 
burden firmly back on the Russians and be understood to do 
so’.28 Until the formal repeal of the McMahon Act he did not 
want to take too many risks with a test ban, so he was anxious 
to make the Western initiative some sort of prolegomena to a 
summit meeting. In this he was only just in time. Khrushchev 
finally got rid of Bulganin on 27 March, and two days later 
an agreed three-power statement went to the now sole Russian 
leader from France, Britain and the United States, proposing 
a summit after preparation by ambassadors and Foreign Minis- 
ters. Two days later the Russians made their announcement of 
a unilateral suspension of nuclear tests — not an enormous sac- 
rifice, since they had just completed a series of tests, but a sig- 
nificant gesture. Macmillan reckoned that the propaganda ef- 
fect of the two announcements probably cancelled each other 
out, and this appears to have been his intention. The British 
tests of the new hydrogen bomb were accelerated, while the 
government resisted demands from the Labour Party for an 
immediate response to the Russian offer with some devastat- 
ing debating points — ‘This is as if in a football match, one side 
having scored two goals asked the opposing team not to play 
any more.’29 
A developing crisis in the Lebanon*® cut across international 

discussions about a summit, and it was not until August that 

Macmillan returned to the subject. In the meantime, although 
there had been some coolness between Britain and the United 
States over the detailed handling of events in the Middle East, 

and although the Americans, especially Dulles, expressed re- 

luctance about appearing too closely associated with Great 

Britain,?! the practice of close discussion between the two pow- 

ers had been cemented. Macmillan was pressing the Amer- 

icans to relax the restrictions on trade with China and the 

Soviet bloc and had succeeded so far as Russia was concerned. 
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Then, to his surprise, Dulles proposed the abandonment of 

nuclear tests by the West ‘pending a workable agreement on 

inspection’. Macmillan was unenthusiastic, especially since the 

details of the exchange of nuclear information between Britain 

and the United States had not yet been worked out. Dulles, 

who won Eisenhower’s support, was insistent, and Macmillan 

was forced to follow, announcing on 22 August that Britain 

would suspend testing after the current series was finished and 

enter talks on 31 October for an internationally agreed gen- 
eral suspension of tests. When the Russians agreed to talk, 

Macmillan was -satisfied. 
Having won political advantages from the planned negot- 

ations, Macmillan was irritated when the Americans added a 

further condition, that suspension of their tests would depend 

upon upon progress towards general conventional disarma- 
ment: ‘the Americans have suddenly and surprisingly turned 
round. Too weak in August, they are being too tough in Octo- 
ber.’32. While technical talks continued at Geneva, Macmillan 

pressed Eisenhower to be more flexible: ‘the Russians are now 
in a better position to fool the world into believing that it is we 
who are preventing agreement by insisting that discontinuance 
of tests should be conditional on satisfactory progress towards 
real disarmament’.33 Even though he was not keen to hurry 
the process unduly, he was determined to retain the political 
advantage. 

Macmillan’s belief that he was better than Eisenhower or 
Dulles at the game of high diplomacy was if anything rein- 
forced by the crisis over Berlin, which blew up in November. 
Khrushchev, ostensibly alarmed by the signs of a rapprochement 
between France and Germany over European security, declared 
that Russia intended to abandon the four-power agreement un- 
der which Berlin was governed in sectors by representatives of 
Britain, France, America and the Soviet Union. The Soviet sec- 

tor was to be handed over to East Germany, the implication be- 

ing that the Western sectors should also be handed over. The 
official Soviet note promised that there would be ‘no changes 
in the present procedure for military traffic from west Berlin 
to the Federal Republic of Germany for six months’. Macmil- 
lan correctly described this as ‘an ultimatum with six months 
to run’; it threatened the tenuous lifeline which had held the 

population of West Berlin to the Federal Republic since the 
days of the Berlin airlift in 1949.34 His reaction was to try to 
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take the initiative in forming the Western response. 
Accepting that it would be unreasonable to reply with aggres- 

sion to a post-dated ultimatum, he threw British influence in 

NATO behind a statement of policy which rejected the Soviet 
plan, upheld the Western governments’ rights (based on the 
Potsdam Agreement) and proclaimed their responsibilities to 
the citizens of West Berlin. At the same time he discouraged 
the Americans from planning a major military effort to res- 
cue Berlin, warning Dulles in February that ‘we must not slip 
into the 1914 position — mobilisation sliding into war’.35 The 
NATO allies had, besides their declaration, no agreed plan to 
deal with the evolving situation, and Adenauer for the Fed- 
eral Republic was urging a firm stand: ‘he stands (officially) 
for absolute rigidity and a solid front against Soviet Russia. 
Behind the scenes, he wrings his hands and says that Russia 
and the West are like two express trains rushing to a head- 
on collision.’°6 The next Soviet suggestion was to recognise 
the two Germanys as separate states and demilitarise both of 
them; the British and their allies held that this would expose 
the NATO alliance to an intolerable military risk. Both at home 
and abroad Macmillan faced the problem that this exchange 
of notes could easily go on until the six-month ultimatum had 
expired, with Britain and the other Western governments ex- 
posed to increasing pressure from left wing and even centrist 
dissentients at home to make a settlement in accord with Soviet 
wishes. The Commons in early January 1959, in particular, was 

distinctly restless. 
Amidst these troubles, Macmillan now revived the plan of vis- 

iting the Soviet Union. It was a risk even to suggest a visit, since 

a rebuff from the Kremlin would be a humiliating setback in 
itself. The attitude of Germany, France and the United States 

could not be assured in advance. In the event the Russians did 

agree; the French and American governments eventually ap- 

proved, though with no great enthusiasm on the part of Eisen- 

hower or Dulles; the German reaction was frosty and cynical, 

with a suggestion from Adenauer that it was no more than an 

election-year stunt. Macmillan went to Russia on 21 February, 

returning on 3 March, and extracted the maximum publicity 

and some diplomatic advantage from a strenuous and unpre- 

dictable tour. Wearing a succession of fur hats, including a 

white one from the Finnish war, Macmillan was photographed 

in Moscow, Leningrad and Kiev in the company of workers, 
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students, milkmaids, nuclear scientists and many other ordi- 

nary citizens. He broadcast on Soviet television. He gave and 
received gifts, ranging from a stuffed elk’s head to a two-volume 
history of Moscow University ‘and a small plaque’ from the Rus- 
sians, and a considerable quantity of antiques from the British 
government to Khrushchev, his family and colleagues. Selwyn 
Lloyd, in attendance, was sent spinning across a frozen lake in 

a large basket in a party game with Kremlin leaders. Caviar 
and vodka were copiously consumed. There were visits to the 
ballet and the opera. 

These diversions occupied a good deal of the ten-day visit, 

but the meat of the trip lay in three episodes. Khrushchev, 
while Macmillan and Lloyd were on a visit out of town, made 
a long speech in Moscow which attacked all the Western al- 
lies — often with personal comments directed at their leaders 
— but largely ignored Britain and concluded with the sugges- 
tion of an Anglo-Soviet non-aggression pact. To this blatant 
attempt to divide the alliance Macmillan felt obliged to reply 
in the formal meeting which took place the next day. In the 
course of the conversation both Khrushchev and Macmillan 
became heated. Eventually Macmillan remarked that ‘if you 
try to threaten us in any way, you will create the Third World 
War’ and Khrushchev lost his temper.37 Thus ended a difficult 
day. The next morning, 26 February, Khrushchev renewed his 

attack on the Western powers’ attitude to Berlin, blaming the 
West for the increase of tension and for having warlike inten- 
tions. Finally he brought out the ‘toothache insult’: a swiftly 
developed indisposition which prevented him from accompa- 
nying the British party to Kiev. Although the final discussions 
of the visit were much friendlier, the tangible outcome was 

hardly an advance upon the state of wariness which had been 
typical of Anglo-Soviet relations before the visit. The final com- 
muniqué produced no more than a reiteration of the need for 
an early agreement to stop nuclear tests and a reminder that 
the two sides were very far apart over Berlin. 

With nothing practical done, the visit nevertheless acquired 
significance because of the mercurial shifts in the official Soviet 
temper from cordiality to bitter hostility and back again. More- 
over, the Soviet offer of an early summit meeting was pointedly 
reiterated, and Macmillan was persuaded of its utility. Macmil- 
lan was thought by some to have held his own in the exchange 
because he had kept faith with the Western allies by tough 
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talking; but he had done so only in response to a Soviet attack, 

without leading the heckling himself. This was his own opti- 
mistic view. Adenauer and de Gaulle both disagreed strongly, 

and said so when he visited Bonn and Paris to report the re- 
sults of his trip. When he visited Washington, his suggestion 
of an early summit, prepared but not over-prepared by prior 
discussions at ambassador level, was greeted with suspicion by 
Dulles (who was, admittedly, terminally ill) and even by the 
normally benign Eisenhower. He was able to get the allies to 
agree to move towards a summit conference, but they would 
only do so very slowly ‘as soon as developments in the Foreign 
Ministers’ meeting warrant’ such a step.3® Dulles’s resignation 
in April 1959 left the more pliable Christian Herter at the State 
Department, but Macmillan had perforce to ‘assume at least 
the moral leadership of the West’39 because no other country 
really wanted to move fast in his direction. 

In effect Macmillan was at odds with the other Western al- 
lies both about Berlin and about the desirability of an early 
summit. The conference of Foreign Ministers at Geneva, as- 

sembled at Russia’s suggestion, spent June and July working 
at the Berlin problem. Repeatedly Macmillan complained at 
the ‘legalism’ of his allies’ demands over Berlin, and warned 
that the Soviet position, though always expressed offensively, 
was softening in practice. When a Russian proposal offered 
a long extension of the ultimatum of the previous year, he 
was aghast when the rest of the allies refused to make a corre- 
sponding concession. Since the Americans were also dragging 
their feet about a test-ban agreement, largely because new tech- 
nological developments made verification more difficult, any 
hope of rapid progress seemed to be thwarted. The greatest 
frustrations for Macmillan were the repeated changes of plan 
in Washington. Herter suggested in mid-June that Macmillan 
should simply invite Eisenhower, Khrushchev and de Gaulle 
to London for an ‘informal’ summit. It transpired that Eisen- 
hower and his advisers did not like the plan. Eisenhower be- 
lieved that the Foreign Ministers must make progress to justify 
a summit; but then he suggested that an informal meeting be- 
tween himself and Khrushchev could take place in New York 
‘without presenting the picture of a “Summit” meeting’.4° A 
month later Eisenhower had once again changed his mind, ac- 
cepting that a summit meeting should take place in August, 

whether or not there had been progress at Geneva over the 
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Berlin question; but Macmillan was soon cast down to discover 

that he had changed his mind back, and he fired off another 

appeal to the president. This appears to have had some effect, 
though Macmillan was at first unwilling to recognise the bene- 
fits. Eisenhower extended an open invitation to Khrushchev 
to visit the United States, which was accepted. 

Interestingly, Macmillan was incensed. 

... this foolish and incredibly naive piece of amateur diplomacy has 
the following results: 

(a) He has made any further ‘progress’ at Geneva less likely. The 
Russian position will harden. 

(b) He will have a very difficult task in explaining to the American 
people that there is no progress at Geneva and yet he has asked 
Khrushchev to have a jolly visit to America. 

(c) There will be no Summit. 

(d) The French and German Governments and people will be 
suspicious and angry. 

(e) My own position here will be greatly weakened. Everyone will 
assume that the two great Powers — Russia and U.S.A. — are going to 
fix up a deal over our heads and behind our backs. My whole policy 
— pursued for many years and especially during my Premiership — of 
close alliance and co-operation with America will be undermined. 

. This shows that Gaitskell and Crossman and Co. are right. 
U.K. had better give up the struggle and accept, as gracefully as 
possible, the position of a second-rate power. 

. Ministers were very angry indeed when I unfolded this story 
to them. I purposely did not try to underestimate the dangers or 
excuse the failure of my diplomacy.#! 

The panic of a man who thinks he has failed in his principal 
and overriding objective — not to allow himself and his coun- 
try to take second place in the eyes of the world — is obvious 
enough here. Within a fortnight he had changed his view 
of the proposed Eisenhower— Khrushchev meeting, largely be- 
cause the press was giving him part of the credit for it: ‘this 
is said to be the result of the Macmillan initiative. The British 
broke the ice.... I am relieved that this is the interpretation 
of history which is universally accepted.’# 

By the middle of 1959, in short, Macmillan’s sense of diplo- 

matic timing was closely attuned to the forthcoming General 
Election. He had been amusingly rude to a Labour MP who 
had taunted him with going to Russia to court domestic pop- 
ularity. He had irritated Eisenhower and Dulles by his avidity 
for public exposure during his Washington visit in March. He 
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was now determined to have the best possible context for the 
poll. He urgently wanted a test-ban policy, before the election, 
because of ‘the intense emotional preoccupation, especially 
among young people, with the fall-out effects from nuclear 
tests’.44 On the other hand ‘from the electioneering point 
of view [a summit] would be better as a prospect in the future 
than a modified success or even failure in the past’.45 He made 
sure that Eisenhower’s world tour in July began in London, and 
staged a televised ‘discussion’ of foreign affairs between presi- 
dent and prime minister. Finally, he expressed ‘considerable 
relief’ when, a few days before the election, Eisenhower an- 

nounced that the Khrushchev visit, which took place in Septem- 
ber, had removed most of the American objections to an early 

summit meeting.*6 
After winning the election Macmillan was nonetheless anx- 

ious to maintain the momentum which had steadily gathered 
in 1959. Eisenhower wanted a summit in December, with a 

preparatory meeting of Western heads of government. De 
Gaulle, on the other hand, saw no substantial change resulting 

from the Khrushchev visit and proposed a ‘Western summit’ 
rather later — perhaps in April. Macmillan, who by now was 
prepared to go anywhere at almost any time so long as he had 
a summit to go to, was predictably annoyed, and duly relieved 
when de Gaulle was brought round. At the preparatory meet- 
ing — in Paris on 19 December - there was a consistent effort 
by France, Britain and the United States to prevent Adenauer 
from making preconditions about Berlin which would frustrate 
the intentions of a summit. When Adenauer tried to get back 
to the non possumus position about Berlin which the Western 
allies had taken before the Geneva Conference began, Eisen- 
hower was ‘very firm and almost rude’. The Chancellor, only 
temporarily quelled, subsequently suggested to Macmillan that 
a proposal to hold a series of summits in different capitals 
would be ‘helpful in winning elections’, to which Macmillan 
replied ‘that I was not thinking of elections but of our duty to 

God and to mankind’.4’ 
The Paris discussions lasted for three days, during which 

Macmillan and Lloyd were able to get ‘nearer to the French 
without losing the Americans’.4® This was in part because de 
Gaulle seemed, temporarily, to accept the stately moves by 
Britain towards the Common Market, which the Americans 

were encouraging; in part because de Gaulle, for his own 
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reasons, was interested in tripartite discussions between Britain, 

France and the United States over defence, even though France 
had by now withdrawn from the NATO staff structure. The 
Paris meeting could therefore be counted as a considerable 
success for Macmillan in many areas. He got substantial agree- 
ment that the Western powers would make moderate demands 
about Berlin. He persuaded Eisenhower, at the last minute, 

to continue the moratorium on nuclear tests, so that negotia- 
tions for a treaty could go ahead. He brought France closer 
to an equal footing with Britain and the United States on de- 
fence matters, inside Europe and beyond; and in return for 

this mediation between de Gaulle and Eisenhower he hoped 
for support in Britain’s efforts to enter Europe. Looking for- 
ward to 1960, he could expect a fruitful year in international 
relations. 

Macmillan was too optimistic about the forthcoming sum- 
mit, which was settled for 16 May in Paris. He had lengthy 
discussions with de Gaulle in March, which seemed to offer 

the prospect of continued friendly discussions and concerted 
action on defence and other matters. Out of the blue, the 

Russian representatives at the technical conference on the nu- 
clear testing produced a proposal linking a ban on large tests 
(which could be monitored) with a moratorium on smaller 

tests. Macmillan leaped at the chance to persuade the Ameri- 
cans to make a further move in reply, and went to Washington 
at the end of March to hold talks, which resulted in a joint com- 

muniqué accepting the Russian proposals; this was achieved by 
bolstering Eisenhower against vested interests within the Amer- 
ican defence establishment which wanted to continue testing 
indefinitely. All this confirmed his view of the merits of steady, 
incremental and piecemeal efforts to improve Great Power re- 
lations. 

The early months of 1960 were filled for Macmillan with 
diplomatic activity. His trip to Africa, with the Winds of 
Change speech carefully prepared to be delivered in Cape 
Town, and the Commonwealth Conference which dealt with 

South Africa,49 were taxing; the state visit of General de Gaulle, 

in April, was more of an opportunity to display Western soli- 
darity and remind the public of the better aspects of wartime 
co-operation between Macmillan, de Gaulle and the Ameri- 

cans. Then, days before the Paris summit, an American U2 

reconnaissance aircraft was shot down in Russian airspace, and 
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the pilot, with his cameras, photographs and espionage equip- 
ment, captured and put on display by the Russian government. 
Macmillan’s first reaction was an angry amazement that the pi- 
lot had omitted to kill himself and blow up his aircraft. He 
was further taken aback when the American government pro- 
duced a series of implausible cover stories instead of refusing 
to discuss intelligence matters at all. 

Since all the powers were spying on one another, and 
Britain’s own series of photographic reconnaissance flights had 
only just finished, Macmillan found it easy to take a prag- 
matic: view of what had happened. ‘[E]spionage was a fact 

of life’, as he tried to tell Khrushchev when the leaders fi- 

nally reached Paris, and it was not something for statesmen 

to become excited about. His main concern was for the sum- 
mit. The first signs were that Khrushchev was not going to 
let the incident frustrate the conference, but the crescendo 

of American excuses and counter-denials culminated in Eisen- 
hower’s admission on 1] May that he had authorised the U2 
mission. Hence Macmillan’s second encounter at Paris, after 

a brief formal meeting of Western leaders, was with an angry 
Khrushchev, supported by his foreign affairs and defence min- 
isters, demanding a full apology from Eisenhower, a promise 
to desist from any future aerial espionage, and punishment of 
those responsible in the United States government. Talking 
it over with Eisenhower and de Gaulle afterwards, Macmillan 

urged that the conference should continue, even though de 
Gaulle was convinced that Khrushchev intended a rupture of 
relations. There was not much he could do in the first plenary 
session the next day, where Khrushchev was bitingly critical 
of the American position; nor did he make much impact on 

the three heads of government when he visited them in turn 
that evening. Khrushchev was no more accommodating in pri- 
vate, refusing to attend the first formal session of the summit 

(planned for 10 a.m. the next day and postponed until 3 p.m.) 
unless Eisenhower met his conditions. Macmillan, in some des- 

peration, prevailed on Eisenhower and de Gaulle to withhold 

their statement declaring that the summit was over until 10 in 

the evening, but ‘So ended — before it had ever begun — the 

Summit Conference.’°9 At Khrushchev’s press conference the 

next day ‘it is possible that none of the experienced chroniclers 

of an antic world had ever before heard one leader of a great 

nation address the leader of another great nation in words of 
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such abrasive and calculated bitterness and challenge’.>! 

Macmillan was naturally anxious that the conference should 

not be a complete loss. During the comings and goings of 

17 May Gromyko, the Russian Foreign Minister, had made en- 

couraging noises about the test-ban conference going on in 

Geneva. On the 18th de Gaulle and Eisenhower had opened 

up the possibility of strengthening the ‘tripartite’ arrangements 

if Khrushchev unilaterally signed a peace treaty with East Ger- 

many, as he was threatening to do. But the outcome devas- 
tated Macmillan’s policy of being seen to be indispensable to 
the settlement of the world’s problems. He was inseparably 
identified with the idea of a summit. Yet when the world’s 
leaders were at last brought together, it was shown that at such 
an occasion a series of false steps, by any or all of the pow- 
ers represented, could do more damage to world peace in a 
couple of days than in months or even years of diplomatic pos- 
turing. Macmillan was hit hard. Eleven years later he wrote in 
his memoirs of ‘disappointment amounting almost to despair’; 
his private secretary later remembered that ‘this was the mo- 
ment he suddenly realised that Britain counted for nothing; 

he couldn’t move Ike to make a gesture towards Khrushchev, 

and de Gaulle was simply not interested. I think this repre- 
sented a real watershed in his life.’52. Whatever Khrushchev’s 
motives in refusing to be conciliated — and it is likely that he 
was under pressure from conservative voices among his own 
colleagues, and was also profoundly shaken by the tactlessness 
of the American reaction to the U2 incident — this was a major 
blow to Macmillan’s prestige as a statesman. The immediate ef- 
fect on British public opinion was slight, but it was a failure to 
be remembered when his domestic popularity began to wane. 
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Chapter 7 

FROM THE PARIS SUMMIT 

TO THE TEST-BAN TREATY 

THE NUCLEAR THREAT 

The diplomatic sequel to the failure of the Paris Summit in 
1960 was depressing. Khrushchev refused further personal 
dealings with Eisenhower, and any summit was thus postponed 
until the new president was in office. The Russians withdrew, 
abruptly, from the Geneva Disarmament Conference at the 
end of June. There was a minor incident when an American 
survey aircraft was shot down in international airspace in July. 
On the other hand the Russians made no further progress to- 
wards signing a peace treaty with East Germany, and although 
East-West relations did not markedly improve during 1960, 
they did not become catastrophically worse than they had been 
immediately after the Summit. Nonetheless, Macmillan’s pre- 
occupation was now with strengthening the military posture 
of the Western alliance, and strengthening Britain’s position 
within it. He pressed ahead with ‘tripartitism’, the plan for reg- 
ular meetings between the heads of the three Western nuclear 
powers to discuss problems of global politics and strategy which 
transcended NATO.! He also tried to exploit the doctrine of 
‘interdependency’, which he had worked out with Eisenhower 

in 1957, to make Britain’s nuclear deterrent effective. It was in 

these negotiations that it finally became clear, albeit two years 
later, that Great Power status in a nuclear world was more than 

Britain could afford; but while they lasted Macmillan was able 
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to persuade himself that he had solved the problem of being 

poor and powerful at the same time. 

The 1957 Defence White Paper was, in its time, one of 

Macmillan’s most substantial contributions to Britain’s global 

stance. Its central concept, that of getting the maximum effec- 

tiveness at a reasonable cost, was the essence of his approach 

to the problems of government in his first year as prime min- 

ister. The idea had evidently been formed by his year at the 

Treasury and also his service at the Ministry of Defence, for 

although he had not had long in the Defence Ministry, and 

felt overshadowed by Eden when he was there, he had been 

given an excellent opportunity to think about the economics of 

modern warfare.2 In 1957 the aspiration to maintain a military 

force based on conventional weapons, large forces under arms, 

and peacetime conscription had been abandoned. In its place 

came a smaller, all-volunteer force, with the planned abolition 

of National Service in 1962; a reduction of the regular army; a 

net reduction in the size of the Navy, especially in its contribu- 

tion to NATO; and a reduction of Fighter Command, with the 

withdrawal of tactical air forces from Germany. All of these 

cuts were to be counterbalanced by reliance on the nuclear 

deterrent to prevent war in Europe, and major improvements 

in the mobility of the army to discourage trouble overseas. 
Although the nuclear solution was expected to be cheaper 

than conventional forces, there were two paths to potentially 
uncontrollable expenditure. On the one hand, effective nu- 
clear warheads had not been developed for large-scale produc- 
tion in Britain in 1957. The series of nuclear tests described 
above had been part of the development process of these new 
weapons. The difficulty, and indeed the cost, of such devel- 

opment was sharply reduced by the repeal of the MacMahon 
Act by the Americans in 1958; this gave Britain access to bomb- 

making technology which could readily be used in British fac- 
tories. The problem of delivery systems was rather more com- 
plicated. The V-Bomber fleet, despite its hoped-for longevity, 
could not be expected for very much longer to be able to drop 
nuclear bombs on towns protected by sophisticated anti-aircraft 
systems. The Blue Steel air-to-ground missile was developed to 
extend the V-Bombers’ range and service life. The perceived 
vulnerability of piloted aircraft then led to the development 
of Blue Streak, a land-based surface-to-surface missile, which 

was extensively tested. Blue Streak was in turn abandoned in 
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February 1960, on the grounds that weapons launched from 
fixed sites on land were vulnerable to pre-emptive strikes. This 
left Britain with the capacity to make nuclear bombs, but no 
way to drop them on the enemy except the early version of 
Blue Steel. The Chiefs of Staff made the case for a submarine- 
launched missile as the most desirable delivery system for the 
future. This was accepted by the Cabinet Defence Committee, 

but this left a gap until the Polaris rocket, then being devel- 
oped by the United States, was ready for service. Incidentally, 
it committed the Cabinet to an ‘independent’ deterrent which 
depended entirely on American supplies. 

During Macmillan’s visit to Washington in March 1960, he 
obtained a promise that until Polaris was ready the Americans 
would supply the Skybolt air-to-ground missile, now in a late 
stage of development, on which British-made warheads could 
be mounted. ‘This allows us to abandon Blue Streak (rocket) 

without damage to our prospects of maintaining — in the late 
60s and early 70s — our independent nuclear deterrent.’4 

Macmillan effectively admitted in his memoirs that the gov- 
ernment had mishandled Blue Steel and Blue Streak, and 

recorded with gratitude that the Labour Party’s divisions over 
unilateral disarmament once more allowed an easy victory in 
the Commons against what might have been ‘legitimate cen- 
sure’. He had also committed himself, in advance of full dis- 

cussion in Cabinet, to allowing the Americans to build a Po- 
laris base on the Clyde as a quid pro quo for Skybolt, and had 
an uneasy moment in October when, after the Cabinet ap- 
proved the submarine base, there were rumours that Skybolt 

would never be finished. Although the test-ban negotiations 
continued lackadaisically, Macmillan was now leading his Cab- 
inet more and more closely into an interlocking military al- 
liance with the United States. Confrontations over the Congo, 
and an amusing row with Khrushchev at the United Nations in 
November 1960, confirmed the impression that the new Rus- 
sian leadership and the NATO alliance were drifting further 
apart, with the consequence that British policy was more and 
more bound up in the ‘special relationship’ with the United 

States. 
This had two consequences. American pressure reinforced a 

tendency which was already established to strengthen Britain’s 
political links with the EEC; this is discussed separately be- 

low. The other consequence was that Macmillan’s relationship 
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with the incoming president was of great significance. He had 

traded for many years on his intimacy with Eisenhower; now 

he had to make some connection with a new leader of the 

most powerful nation on earth. As soon as John Kennedy was 

elected he sent him a long and ruminative letter which empha- 

sised four themes. He led with the need to reflate the Western 

economy by easing credit, with the corresponding need to re- 

store Third World confidence in capitalism by increasing com- 

modity prices; his other two themes were the test-ban talks at 

Geneva, and the need for a general disarmament agreement.® 

This was intended only as an introduction, for he was already 

preparing a paper on the future of the Western alliance, later 

known as the ‘Grand Design’, which met the new decade with 

a curious mixture of resignation and defiance. 

1. The Free World cannot, on a realistic assessment, enter on 

1961 with any great degree of satisfaction. 
In the struggle against Communism, there have been few suc- 

cesses and some losses over the past decade. 
In the military sphere, the overwhelming nuclear superiority of 

the West has been replaced by a balance of destructive power. 
In the economic field, the strength and growth of Communist 

production and technology have been formidable. (Indeed, it ought 
to be, for that after all is what Communism is for.) 

In the political and propaganda field, Russian ...subversion, 
blackmail, seduction and threats, as well as the glamour of what 

seems a growing and dynamic system, have impressed hesitant and 
neutral countries, and are proving especially dangerous among the 
newly independent nations of Africa and Asia. Against this back- 
ground the long predominance of European culture, civilisation, 
wealth and power may be drawing to an end. 

2. On the other hand, we have seen a pretty firm cohesion on 
our side, based on the readiness of the United States to reject ‘iso- 

lationism’ and play its full role, militarily and economically, as the 
leading nation of the Western coalition.... 

3. Britain — with all her experience — has neither the economic 
nor the military power to take the leading réle. We are harassed 
with countless problems — the narrow knife-edge on which our own 
economy is balanced; the difficult task of changing an Empire into a 
Commonwealth ...; the uncertainty about our relations [with] the 

new economic, and perhaps political, state which is being created 

by the Six countries of continental Western Europe; and the uncer- 
tainty of American policies towards us — treated now as just another 
country, now as an ally in a special and unique category. 

[Section omitted] 5. I am an unrepentant believer in ‘interde- 

pendence’. 
The Communist danger — in its various forms — is so great and 
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so powerfully directed that it cannot be met without the maximum 
achievable unity of purpose and direction.... 6 

Like so much of Macmillan’s writing, this document demon- 

strates an acute intelligence and a reasonable command of 
the great Churchillian sweep as a form of literary expression. 
It also highlights the gap between his understanding and his 
achievement, for although he was able in the short term, to 

a very remarkable degree, to call in the New World and its 
new president to redress the balance of the old, the exercise 
had shown few lasting results by the time he left office in 1963. 
The first omens were good. Kennedy confirmed all the nuclear 
weapons agreements which the Eisenhower administration had 
made. He was less forthcoming about Britain’s relationship 
with Europe; in particular he did not like Macmillan’s theme 
of tripartitism, because he distrusted de Gaulle’s politics. But 
he was ready to meet Macmillan at the end of March and a 
visit to Washington was duly arranged. In the event the meet- 
ing was advanced in an atmosphere of emergency. Macmillan’s 
visit to the West Indies was interrupted by an urgent message 
from Kennedy seeking talks about the developing crisis in Laos, 
and the two leaders met on 25 March 1961 at Key West. This 
was their first meeting, although Macmillan had naturally had 
full briefings about the president from the Washington ambas- 
sador, his old North Africa colleague Harold Caccia. 

The Key West meeting launched a personal relationship be- 
tween Macmillan and Kennedy which deepened and strength- 
ened even as the ‘special relationship’ between their two coun- 
tries came under pressure in the early 1960s. Indeed the re- 
laxed intimacy which became apparent whenever the two men 
met may have shielded Macmillan from a full appreciation of 
the truth about the relative power of the two nations and the 
importance attached to the United Kingdom by policy-makers 
in Washington. Above all the disparity in age between the two 
men — Kennedy was forty, Macmillan sixty-seven when they first 
met — pandered to all Macmillan’s romancing about British 
Greeks in the new Roman Empire. There is no doubt that 
Macmillan felt unexpectedly at ease in Kennedy’s company 
and developed an affection for him which scarcely waned even 
when, many years after Kennedy’s assassination, the more un- 
savoury aspects of his life and character were made public.’ 

This first meeting was an occasion to match Macmillan’s con- 
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cerns. Kennedy had summoned him early for advice and help. 
In the late 1950s the United States was deeply involved in Laos, 
propping up the government of Prince Souvannha Phouma 
against the communist Pathet Lao, who were supported by 
their neighbours in China and North Vietnam. Macmillan 
had counselled Eisenhower against military intervention, but 
‘advisers’ were sent covertly in 1960, and the outgoing admin- 
istration left Kennedy with a plan to intervene in strength in 
association with the other SEATO powers. Britain, the chief of 

these, believed that this would fail militarily, whatever its po- 
litical effect. By now the anti-ccommunist government in Laos 
was divided, with Phouma in exile and the former Defence 

Minister, General Phoumi, in control. Phouma, much more 

conciliatory towards the Pathet Lao, was recognised by the So- 
viet Union, which caused more anxiety in Washington. “They 

back a certain Phoumi’, recorded Macmillan of Eisenhower 

and his advisers, ‘we, I do not know why, prefer Phouma.’® Al- 

though Macmillan was concerned to keep communism out of 
South-East Asia, his principal worry was that the British Chiefs 
of Staff, mindful of the difficulties experienced by Templer in 

suppressing the communist revolt in Malaya, had decided that 
this was a war which could not be won by conventional forces. 
He arrived at Key West and went almost directly into a presen- 
tation of the military options by the American staffs, who at 
this point proposed an all-American invasion. Only then were 
Kennedy and Macmillan left alone, and they agreed rapidly 
that the huge expedition just described to them was ‘not on’.9 
Macmillan went on to warn that the SEATO operation, which 
was the alternative, was no more likely to succeed, and that 
the British Chiefs of Staff were warning against even symbolic 
commitment of British troops to the operation. His best offer, 
which Kennedy reluctantly accepted as final, was that Britain 
would ‘join in the appearance of resistance’ but would not be 
committed to doing anything.1° 

Surprisingly this cautious note did not sour relations between 
the two leaders; partly no doubt because of Macmillan’s charm 
but partly because events overtook it between the Key West 
meeting and the planned visit to Washington which took place 
in April. Kennedy did not immediately countermand the Pen- 
tagon’s plans. A SEATO meeting in Bangkok accepted the 
full plan — alarming the Foreign Secretary, who was present — 
but meanwhile the Russians agreed to a British proposal for a 
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cease-fire and a conference. Macmillan credited this as ‘a great 
triumph for British diplomacy’;!! Khrushchev merely observed 
that Laos would in any case ‘fall into our laps like a ripe ap- 
ple’.!2 Whatever the reason, the improvement in Laos seemed 
to justify Macmillan’s stance, and the Washington talks were 
more productive for it. However, the gap between British and 
American expectations soon became clear, especially in regard 
to Russia and the bomb. 
The ‘Grand Design’ document was built upon the assump- 

tion that the United States would support her allies econom- 
ically and militarily, in return for which Western solidarity 
would inhibit communist expansion wherever that expansion 
seemed to be a threat. Advice, both from Britain and to a 

lesser extent from France, would help the United States to the 

correct policies throughout the world. Macmillan was busy de- 
veloping the ‘Grand Design’ argument to show that the two 
‘major dangers’ to the cohesion of the Atlantic Community 
were the development of the Common Market ‘as a political 
entity which may deviate from the concept of the Atlantic Com- 

munity and develop into something like a “third force”’, and 
‘the aspiration of France to develop an independent nuclear 
capacity’. His preferred solution was to bring Britain closer to 
the Common Market and engage the French in tripartite con- 
sultations.!3 Kennedy’s response to this, in Washington, was 
open in principle but reserved in detail. He surprised Macmil- 
lan by accepting the spirit of Tripartitism with a proposal to 
meet Macmillan and de Gaulle every six months outside the 
aegis of NATO; on the other hand, he was unwilling to give 
the French very much nuclear information, as Macmillan had 
wanted. He reiterated the American desire that Britain should 
join the Common Market, to make the economic revival of the 

West more likely.14 He pointedly did not take Macmillan into 
his confidence about the ‘Bay of Pigs’ operation in Cuba, which 
the United States was about to undertake, nor did he suggest 

that the forthcoming talks with Khrushchev (set for June, in 
Vienna) should be anything but a bilateral private meeting be- 
tween the two leaders of the Great Powers. Perhaps because 
he resented Macmillan’s tepid attitude to anti-ccommunist op- 
erations in Asia, his inclination at this stage was, if anything, to 

consider Britain mainly as a potentially important actor on the 
European stage, whose global influence was distinctly patchy 
and likely to diminish. He was also inclined to distrust the cau- 
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tious British line on Berlin. The personal ‘special relationship’ 
was even at this point more comprehensive than the diplomatic 
relationship between the two powers. 

Macmillan’s standing with Kennedy improved somewhat af- 
ter the president’s first official visit to Europe in May and 
June. First, having decided that ‘it would be undesirable to 
assist France’s efforts to create a nuclear weapons capacity’ ,!® 
Kennedy was exposed to the full force of French displeasure. 
Second, he had a catastrophic meeting with Khrushchev in 

Vienna, in which the Soviet leader refused to concede any- 
thing on nuclear tests, abused the president about his readi- 
ness to consider nuclear war, and reiterated his threat to 

Berlin. Kennedy, not expecting such a robust, confident and 
aggressive performance, lost his temper but later regretted that 
there was no subject on which he could find agreement with 
Khrushchev. He returned from Vienna via London, and in pri- 
vate talks with Macmillan seemed glad to relax and be consoled 
and advised. The immediate consequences of the London visit 
were small — Macmillan tried to impress on Kennedy the fool- 
ishness of sabre-rattling over Berlin, but this advice did not 

long survive exposure to the hawkish influence of the State De- 
partment when Kennedy got home — nevertheless, it improved 
personal relations. Kennedy later said touchingly of Macmillan 
that ‘I can share my loneliness with him’, even though he did 
not necessarily accept all the advice he was given.!6 
The real test of the ‘relationship’ came in the Berlin crisis 

which began with the sudden erection of the Berlin Wall in 
August 1961. Kennedy’s European visit had been accompa- 
nied by a definite hardening of military preparations on both 
side of the Iron Curtain in Europe, and a loss of momentum 

in any progress towards disarmament. The test-ban talks were 
foundering (with Macmillan ruminating about ‘how are we to 
throw the blame on the Soviet Government. Or (more hope- 
fully) is there any chance, if we keep the Conference alive, of 
some change for the better?’)!7 When on 15 June Khrushchev, 
not for the first time, announced the imminence of a peace 
treaty between Russia and East Germany, the Americans re- 
sponded with military contingency planning and a supplemen- 
tary defence budget which included provisions for more air- 
raid shelters and an increase in the selective service draft. 
Macmillan, dismayed by the air-raid shelters and what they im- 
plied, was even more dismayed by the impact of international 
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uncertainty on sterling, which was already in some discomfort 
because of the trade cycle. He urged Kennedy to be more 
circumspect and to emphasise negotiation more strongly; and 
in the resulting diplomatic excitement had to accept that the 
American press, under inspiration, were once more criticising 

him for being ‘soft’ on Berlin. Macmillan believed that the 
Americans were in fact softening themselves when the crisis 
was brought to a head by the East German government, which 

sealed its borders with West Berlin on 13 August, in part to stop 
the efflux of refugees whose departure threatened the viability 
of the crumbling East German economy. 

This took place in the midst of the West German elections 
which added further tension. The Americans were inclined to 
make demonstrations by sending troops and tanks to Berlin; 

the French, as Macmillan remarked, ‘seem to contemplate war 
with equanimity’, but, as he also observed, had neither the 
resources, nor ultimately the determination to resist the Rus- 

sians by force. Macmillan’s preference was to negotiate, on 
the straightforward grounds that if the Western allies threat- 
ened to go to war over Berlin and then, inevitably, backed 

down, they would lose very much more than they could ever 
hope to gain. Intense telephonic discussion with Kennedy, 

and more leisurely and formal interchanges with de Gaulle, 
only enabled him to control events intermittently. Exchanges 
of notes, and troop movements in Berlin, took place against 

the background of tiresome negotiations about nuclear test- 
ing, in which both America and the Soviet Union resumed 

tests while talking about banning them altogether. Macmillan 
was always in favour of negotiation over Berlin and as much 
restraint as possible in resuming nuclear tests, but throughout 
1961 he was rarely able to prevent hawkishness in Washington 
or in Europe. Only towards the end of the year did he succeed 
in getting Kennedy and his advisers to accept the prudence of 

negotiation, while de Gaulle was still loftily opposed and the 

new German government, in which Adenauer was now only 

the head of a coalition, still hankered in public after a reuni- 

fied Germany. There was no sign that 1961 had healed the 

damage caused by the abortive summit of May 1960. 
A further meeting at Bermuda in December 1961 was in- 

tended to restore some cohesion to the Western alliance. Once 

again, it had a wonderfully restorative effect on the personal 

relationship between Macmillan and Kennedy, but left a great 
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deal still to be done to harmonise the policies of Britain and 
America. The British Cabinet was politically committed to a 
moratorium on atmospheric testing; the American defence es- 

tablishment wanted to resume atmospheric tests to keep up 
with developments made by the Russians in their recent tests, 
and wanted to carry them out on Christmas Island, a remote 
British possession in the Pacific; the British defence establish- 
ment, with the Cabinet’s support, wanted to test the Skybolt’s 
warhead underground in Nevada. At Bermuda the Ameri- 
cans wanted to trade the Nevada tests, which they had ear- 
lier blocked, for access to Christmas Island, and Macmillan 

was forced to agree, despite some energetic pleading. On 
the other hand, he found Kennedy prepared to negotiate over 
Berlin, and impatient with Adenauer and de Gaulle. This was 
the one area in which British and American policy had con- 
verged since their last meeting, and contrasted with the other 
matters under discussion which included Laos, the Congo and 
the European Common Market. The failure to make any real 
progress at Bermuda inspired Macmillan to write a long let- 
ter to Kennedy in January 1962, urging ‘a supreme effort to 
make progress in the field of disarmament and nuclear tests, 
in which we at present have not worked out an effective plan 
of campaign’.!8 This persuaded some officials in Washington, 
but not all. Kennedy finally agreed to answer his letter posi- 
tively, but the impression was abroad in Washington that the 
British were soft, and given to emotional blackmail. As a re- 
sult the Anglo-American position on relations with Russia was 
distinctly blurred in the first part of 1962, with Khrushchev’s 
unpredictable temper adding further to the uncertainty. The 
‘effective plan of campaign’ proved all too elusive. 
The most tangible, but perhaps least effective moves came 

through the disarmament talks, opened once again in Geneva 
in March. It was preceded by some ill-tempered Notes be- 
tween Khrushchev and the Western leaders, and by the Amer- 
ican announcement at the beginning of March of a new series 
of atmospheric nuclear tests. All Macmillan could do was to 
get Kennedy to postpone this announcement by two days, so 
that the other Western powers would know about it before the 
newspapers. Russian objections to on-site inspection to mon- 
itor nuclear testing remained the main obstacle to a test-ban 
agreement, and Macmillan urged the British negotiators to per- 
suade their American counterparts that on-site inspection was 
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unnecessary, but to no avail. Kennedy refused a request to 
make a direct and personal appeal to Khrushchev over veri- 
fication, and Macmillan was reduced to the observation that 
‘it may well be that both Mr. Ks are similarly placed and that 
both have to deal with military and political pressure’.!9 He 
did not add that neither Mr K was very much inclined to listen 
to British advice. The talks came to nothing. 

CUBA 

The state of superpower politics in the early autumn of 1962 
was therefore not good. Macmillan was perhaps presumptuous 
to feel a great responsibility for this himself, but there is no 
doubt that British external policy, for example towards Africa 

and the Middle East, and British domestic economic policy 
were both frustrated by the apparent paralysis of detente. Yet 
there was no reason to think that because things were bad they 
could only get better. In the third week of October American 
photographic reconnaissance aircraft discovered ‘a major build 
up of medium-range missiles in Cuba’.?° By the time this was 
conveyed to Macmillan the president’s National Security Coun- 
cil had taken the fundamental decisions which determined the 
course of the first part of what became the ‘Cuban Missile Cri- 
sis’. Rather than attacking the bases by air and then invading 
Cuba to destroy the missile sites, the American policy-makers 
decided to establish a naval blockade to prevent Soviet or neu- 
tral ships carrying any further arms to Cuba. The decision was 
very narrowly taken, with strong pressure from groups within 
the Pentagon to foreclose with a military decision, and coun- 

tervailing pressure for restraint from the Secretary of Defense 
himself (Robert McNamara), from the State Department and 

from Kennedy’s brother Robert, the Attorney-General.*! As a 
result there was rather little that Macmillan could do to influ- 
ence the course of events. He spoke to Kennedy on a secure 
telephone link at 11.30 p.m. on 22 October, the first of many 

conversations during the crisis days. By this time, after some 
changes of mind, he had decided not to advise an immediate 

invasion. His estimate of the European situation suggested to 
him that Khrushchev might use Cuba as a bargaining counter 
to get the West out of Berlin, and he wished to avoid that; 
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he had not yet thought of the alternative bargain, which was 
a Soviet offer to remove missiles from Cuba in return for the 
removal of intermediate-range Jupiter missiles from bases in 
Turkey. He was therefore ready to say, when asked by Kennedy, 
that he would prefer a blockade to an air-strike, and was appar- 
ently pleased to be told that this had already been decided. For 
the next two days he was kept informed of American decisions 
as they developed. 
The blockade was formally imposed on Wednesday 24 Octo- 

ber. Soviet ships known to be carrying missiles were still some 
distance outside the quarantine area, and there was time for 

the Secretary-General of the United Nations, U Thant, to ap- 
peal to Kennedy to call off the blockade and to Khrushchev 
to call off the shipments. Both Kennedy and Macmillan recog- 
nised this message as dangerous to Western interests: ‘it looks 
sensible and yet it’s rather bad’.?2 During the next two days 
fourteen ships turned back, apparently because the Russians 
did not want missile-carrying vessels to fall into American 
hands, and others steadily approached the quarantine line, 

which was now drawn at 500 miles from Cuba. The Ameri- 
cans continued military preparations for an invasion. On the 
evening of the 24th Kennedy sought Macmillan’s advice on 
whether to invade, and Macmillan replied the next day coun- 
selling against it, but this was a problem for the future. For the 
present, the state of play between the superpowers depended 
on Soviet decisions, and for two days no attempt was made to 
run the blockade. On 26 October the Soviet Union proposed 
to bargain the Cuban missiles against the Jupiters in Turkey. 
Macmillan suggested instead that the Thor missiles based in 
Britain be immobilised, at least temporarily, as part of a deal, 
but events moved on. 

On Saturday 27 October an American U-2 plane was shot 
down over Cuba, and Kennedy threatened to invade the next 
Tuesday (30 October) if the missiles were not removed. On 
the same day Khrushchev sent two messages. The first offered 
to send no more missiles into Cuba, and remove those already 
there, if Kennedy withdrew his invasion threat and abandoned 
the blockade; the second made a formal, and of course much 
less accommodating, proposal to undertake reciprocal with- 
drawal of missiles in Cuba and Turkey. The president’s advis- 
ers, constituted into a small group known as ExComm, spent a 
difficult day in which they ‘felt nuclear war to be closer on that 
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day than at any time:in the nuclear age’,23 but finally decided 
to answer the first note and ignore the second. The Russians 
replied by agreeing to dismantle the missiles, and the crisis was 
over. 
The significance of the Cuban Missile Crisis remains contro- 

versial. The simplest explanation was that on the Soviet side it 
was an attempt to alter the status quo in nuclear deterrence, 
which favoured the Americans as long as the prevailing de- 
livery method for nuclear bombs was the intermediate-range 
ballistic missile; American weapons could be stationed in Eu- 

rope (or Turkey) and attack the Soviet heartland, while the 
Soviet Union had no secure bases from which to threaten the 
United States. American leaders, quite naturally, preferred 
to retain the asymmetry until the intercontinental ballistic mis- 
siles, then under development, came into service. Alternatively 

Khrushchev might merely have been attempting to increase his 
bargaining strength over Berlin. Whatever the cause, Britain, 
and Macmillan, had no difficulty in taking the American side, 

and during the crisis British diplomacy was mobilised to urge 
the reasonableness of the American case on Europe and the 
Commonwealth. Another controversy arises over why, or in- 
deed if, Kennedy and Khrushchev were prepared to risk nu- 
clear war at this point in order to change or maintain the bal- 
ance of power. Quite possibly neither leader wanted to move 
‘to the brink’, but on both sides the management of the crisis 
seemed to leave both of them with too few options. Ignorance 
of one another’s intentions was one problem; another was the 
infighting between interests in the decision-making structure. 
Historians are very well informed about crisis-management on 
the American side, but of course hardly informed at all about 
Russian problems. 

Both these controversies add emphasis to the point that this 
was a crisis between the superpowers. No other nation had 
much to contribute to the vital decisions which might have led 
to a nuclear war. Macmillan’s contribution, as a statesman on 

the world stage, is therefore very much in question. Observers 
best placed to judge, such as the ambassador in Washington, 
David Ormsby-Gore, were sceptical: ‘I can’t honestly think of 
anything said from London that changed the US action — it 
was chiefly reassurance to JFK.’*4 This is confirmed by the 
full record of conversations published in Macmillan’s mem- 

oirs, and even more so by Macmillan’s own observation that 
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he ‘played the cards above their face value’ when describing 
his consultations with Kennedy to a sceptical House of Com- 
mons after the event.28 His own description of the crisis as 
‘one of the great turning-points in history’ is distinctly double- 
edged. It suggests, above all, that the immediacy of the crisis 
cut out the lesser powers, even as brokers, to be replaced by the 
telephone ‘hot-line’ between Washington and Moscow. How- 
ever much the crisis ‘brought the intimacy, and trust, between 

Macmillan and Kennedy to a new peak’,?6 it confirmed that this 
was not a relationship in which Britain under Macmillan was 
genuinely playing the role of Greece to the American Rome. 

SKYBOLT AND THE TEST-BAN TREATY 

It should not have been a surprise to Macmillan or anyone else 
that in December 1962 Dean Acheson, formerly Eisenhower’s 
Secretary of State, should have made a widely quoted speech 
to cadets at West Point, remarking that Britain’s preferred réle 
outside Europe, as head of the Commonwealth and with a 
special relationship with the United States was ‘about played 
out’.2” This fairly accurately represented opinion in the Amer- 
ican foreign policy establishment, and it corresponded to con- 
sistent American pressures to bring Britain into the Common 
Market, a process of negotiation which was indeed then at its 
peak. Unhappily for Macmillan it coincided with the revela- 
tion that the Skybolt missile, upon which Britain’s immediate 
plans for a nuclear deterrent had been based since the Wash- 
ington Conference of March 1960, was likely to be cancelled 
by the American government. There is now no doubt that Sky- 
bolt (‘a pile of junk’ according to Robert McNamara)?8 would 
never have met NATO’s needs, and was not worth develop- 
ing. This was probably known to technical staffs in Britain 
in 1961, but was not appreciated by ministers. On 8 Novem- 
ber 1962 Ormsby-Gore in Washington was told that the project 
was going to be cancelled, but the response of Peter Thorn- 
eycroft, then Minister of Defence, was to do nothing, in the 

hope that political considerations would lead the Americans 
to change their minds. In this he was doubly mistaken: firstly 
because political considerations in the US Department of De- 
fense under McNamara were more likely to bias the decision 
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in favour of cancellation than away from it, because they felt 
no enthusiasm for the independent British deterrent, and sec- 
ondly because it was hard fact, not a political fiction, that the 
missile did not work.2? On 6 December the information that 
Skybolt was to be cancelled had been leaked to the press. At a 
NATO meeting in Paris on 11 December Thorneycroft asked 
McNamara point-blank if the American government would ‘be 
prepared to state publicly that it would do everything possi- 
ble to help Britain preserve its independent nuclear role’, but 
got no reassurance.°? This was apparently the result of poor 
communications within the American administration: McNa- 
mara did not know that Macmillan had in November obtained 
Kennedy’s agreement to the proposition that there would be 
no publicity before the decision was made and no decision 
about cancellation without consultation with the British. 

Macmillan and his government were violently attacked in the 
press and the House of Commons for what many thought was 
fresh evidence that the ‘special relationship’ was a snare and a 
delusion. In this atmosphere Macmillan went to Rambouillet 
to meet de Gaulle and learn that there was little prospect of 
French help in admitting Britain to the Common Market, and 
then to Nassau to meet Kennedy for what had been planned as 
a discussion of world issues. Instead the whole conference was 
taken up with Skybolt and the question of its replacement by 
Polaris. In discussions, with advisers present, which Macmillan 

recorded as ‘protracted and fiercely contested’ the Americans 
agreed to supply Polaris missiles on which the British would 
put their own warheads. The British Polaris fleet would be 
‘assigned’ to NATO except in the event of ‘supreme national 
interests’ being at stake, and the British government was to 
determine when that was. If there was ever a moment when 
Macmillan had been able to apply the leverage of the ‘special 
relationship’, this was it; and he did not do so only in the 
intimate private chats which had characterised his earlier pri- 
vate meetings with the president. On the American side many 
of the Defense Department representatives dismissed the inde- 
pendent British nuclear deterrent as a military absurdity, and 
among the president’s foreign policy advisers there were some 
who argued that to give Britain special treatment over Polaris 
would offend the French and thus jeopardise British entry into 
Europe, which was now an important object of American pol- 
icy. Against all this Kennedy himself appears to have argued 
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that Macmillan needed Polaris for domestic political reasons, 

and was inclined therefore to give it. This was the final de- 
cision, and Macmillan was even able, after direct appeals to 
Kennedy, to get the weapon without paying a substantial con- 

tribution to development costs. 
The Nassau Agreement underlined how much Macmillan 

in his international diplomacy was committed to the idea of 
Britain’s independent nuclear deterrent, which was his ticket 
to the inner circle of power. It may well have caused trouble 
for the Common Market negotiations — though these were in 
great difficulty anyway — but it confirmed him in his own eyes 
as a fully paid-up international statesman. What he had done 
was to succeed in making Britain a technological client of the 
United States as the only means of maintaining Great Power 
status. This was a contradiction, as his political opponents at 
home were quick to point out. Even his Cabinet colleagues 
were perturbed, resolving while he was still in Nassau ‘to em- 
phasise their view that the Government were being asked to 
pay a heavy price and that for this reason the independent 
role of Her Majesty’s Government in the use of nuclear force 
must be clearly and unambiguously expressed’.3! 

In contrast, Macmillan’s contribution to the Test-Ban Treaty, 

signed in July 1963, was to make a success of the role of broker 
between the superpowers. His own commitment to the idea of 
banning nuclear tests had waxed and waned rather more than 
his memoirs admit. To seize the opportunity, even for a partial 
ban, in 1963 was a recognition that Britain’s interest coincided 
with the world’s interest in retarding a nuclear arms race. 

In a sense the possibility of a ban on nuclear tests had never 
left the international agenda. Like the standing disarmament 
talks at Geneva, which were often paralysed if not actually ad- 
journed, it often appeared as a point for argument in the 
diplomatic interchanges between Russian and American lead- 
ers. During the periods when leaders on either side were not 
actively hostile to it because their own armaments programmes 
were at a testing stage, the main obstacle was the question of 
verification. Atmospheric tests could be monitored fairly eas- 
ily. They had been the norm when the nuclear powers had 
wanted to study the effects of nuclear explosions upon troops 
and armaments; but once the effects were known it was com- 

paratively painless to abstain from them. Both superpowers 
undertook atmospheric tests in the early 1960s to check the 

168 



FROM THE PARIS SUMMIT TO THE TEST-BAN TREATY 

effects of the new hydrogen bombs. Underground tests were 
more appropriate for testing and refining the mechanism of 
new warheads, and were much more difficult to detect. The 

art of seismic measurement had to develop rapidly to. keep 
up with the problem of distinguishing small underground nu- 
clear explosions from natural earth tremors. Until 1963, and 

indeed beyond, it was assumed by Western scientists that the 
indications from seismology would have to be checked by on- 
site inspections. The Russians, especially after the U2 affair, 

saw this as espionage, and at that point, usually, discussions 

broke down. 
Macmillan’s interest in a test ban, as shown by his early en- 

counters with the problem described above,*? was twofold. On 
the one hand it promised to be his own personal contribution 
to détente and thus to history; on the other hand it was an im- 

portant part of his domestic political strategy to contain the op- 
position to nuclear armaments. Macmillan was shaken by the 
success of the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament among the 
Christian middle classes and the groups whom he continued to 

identify as former Liberal voters whose true loyalty should be 
attached to the Conservatives. In his dealings with the Labour 
Party in Parliament the nuclear issue was almost an unalloyed 
advantage to him; divisions within the party were so acute that 
Gaitskell was regularly humiliated in public by his own follow- 
ers. The advantage did not extend out of doors, where for long 
periods it seemed to turn public opinion against the British in- 
dependent deterrent. Since the independent deterrent was 
the pivot upon which Macmillan’s defence and foreign policy 
hinged, he needed any help he could get in justifying it. The 
possibility of a test ban, negotiated from strength and offering 
the prospect at least of a slowing down of the arms race, could 

give him the political lever he needed.*8 
He was therefore particularly eager to listen to suggestions 

emanating from Russia, especially after the Cuban Missile Cri- 

sis, that there was some hope of a limited agreement on test- 

ing. At the end of November 1962 Khrushchev proposed a 

total ban on tests, arguing that there was a de facto agreement 

not to test weapons under water, in the atmosphere or in space 

and this needed only to be made formal and extended to un- 

derground tests. The sting in the tail was his suggestion that 

inspection was unnecessary because seismic equipment could 

be devised to do the same job. This letter, to Macmillan, was 
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soon followed by a letter to Kennedy repeating the proposal 
but offering to permit a limited number of inspections. The 
American reaction was that the three inspections per year, as 
proposed, would not be enough; and although Macmillan put 
some pressure on Kennedy at Nassau it became clear that dis- 
agreements within the decision-making establishment in Wash- 
ington were once again limiting the President’s freedom of 
action. Early in 1963 it could be seen that the military sim- 
ply wanted to continue testing to build up American strength, 
and that they had powerful support in Congress. Kennedy 
himself appears to have favoured a test ban in principle, but 
counted the domestic political costs and found them daunting. 
Macmillan’s most important initiative came after the Geneva 
disarmament talks had reached yet another impasse in early 
March, and on 16 March he sent a huge essay to Kennedy 
suggesting that Khrushchev’s change of mind on inspection, 
though illogical, was a real opening.34 He also emphasised 
the possibility of a non-proliferation agreement, since a formal 
test-ban treaty would encourage powers now on the brink of 
exploding nuclear weapons to halt their programmes.2> One 
of the key issues in non-proliferation was to prevent German 
access to nuclear weapons, while making it impossible for the 
agreements which maintained Germany’s status in the NATO 
alliance to be ‘represented by a bad German in the future as 
the modern counterpart of Versailles’. Macmillan linked this 
with the understandable Russian hatred and fear of Germany, 
and saw a test ban treaty associated with a non-proliferation 
agreement as another means of containing Germany without 
rancour. He concluded with the suggestion of another summit 
conference, this time to be held at Geneva with some diplo- 
matic preparation, to take advantage of Khrushchev’s apparent 
flexibility. 
Washington’s response was distinctly cool. The summit idea 

was seen as an attempt to commandeer the president as part 
of Macmillan’s forthcoming election campaign, and a project 
which might unsettle the other European allies. The Pentagon 
and the State Department were predictably opposed to further 
concessions over the substance of a test ban. Macmillan’s ef- 
forts eventually bore fruit only in a joint letter from Kennedy 
and Macmillan to Khrushchev on 15 April, proposing a dis- 
cussion between special emissaries. To get this Macmillan had 
had to fall in with the American suggestion that NATO’s nu- 
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clear defences should be organised in a ‘multi-manned’ nu- 
clear strike force; this being a development of a clause in 
the Nassau agreement which had provided for a multilateral 
force.36 Macmillan had to run even harder after Khrushchev’s 
reply came in early May, complaining that Western leaders were 
haggling about the number of inspections and remarking that 
‘Our people would be quite right to take their Government 
very severely to account if it entered into negotiations about 
how many spies we will admit on to our territory per year, and 
what sort of conditions we will create for these spies.’37 This 
was the sort of thing which appealed to Macmillan’s sense of 
humour but not to that of the State Department. In the event a 
fairly calm reply was sent, acknowledging Khrushchev’s agree- 
ment to exchange emissaries, and after another rude letter 
from Khrushchev about the multi-manned force and the threat 
from a ‘revanchist’ Germany the meeting was settled. 

Even so there remained considerable doubt about what 
could be agreed. The two emissaries — Averell Harriman for 
the United States and the surprising choice of the impetuous 
and inexperienced Lord Hailsham for Britain — were selected 
and briefed. On 2 July Khrushchev altered his longstanding 
commitment to negotiating an absolute ban on tests, and ac- 
cepted a limited ban which would enshrine in a treaty the 
current (but transient) de facto agreement not to test in the 
atmosphere, under water or in outer space. This effectively 
brushed aside the argument about inspections by proposing to 
allow underground tests. Macmillan, desperate for an agree- 
ment for domestic political reasons, urged the Americans on: 

‘The situation is dramatic and vital for me. If there is any 
chance of our agreement and a Summit Meeting afterwards, I 
will fight on in home politics. If not, I shall feel inclined to 
throw in my hand.’38 Up to the end he was bargaining with 
Kennedy and his advisers about the symbolic importance of a 

ban, even if it were partial. 
There were, indeed, quite stark transatlantic differences in 

policy. Kennedy made a triumphant tour of Europe in late 
June, trying above all to emphasise the American commitment 
to the defence of Western Europe against communism. He 
spoke in Berlin (Ich bin ein Berliner); he inaugurated a presi- 
dential rite by visiting Ireland in search of his ancestors; and 

he made a personal call on Macmillan at Birch Grove. The 

‘Birch Grove meeting, the last personal encounter between the 
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two men, has been hugely romanticised by Macmillan, in his 
memoirs?? and in a particularly heartrending television broad- 
cast. The visit lasted twenty-four hours, and consisted largely 
of private talks between the two leaders. The agenda was dom- 
inated by the test-ban talks and the American proposal for a 
multi-manned force. On both issues the president yielded to 
Macmillan’s preferences, agreeing to go fast on the test ban 
and slowly on the multimanned force. Significantly, the two 
men agreed that ‘the main object is not to provide more nu- 
clear weapons for NATO (which already has too many) but to 
solve the German problem, now and in the future’.4? Macmil- 
lan concluded that “We got all we wanted’; the Americans got 
rather less, and resented the fact. The special relationship 
seemed to be creaking. A further source of friction was an 
unexpected proposal from Washington, in early July, that if 
France could be induced to sign the Test-Ban Treaty the Amer- 
icans would release a good deal of the nuclear information 
which had once been withheld even from the British under 
the Macmahon Act. Macmillan, rather crossly, saw this as an 

opportunity to win the French over to a new British applica- 
tion to join the Common Market, but felt aggrieved that the 
offer had not been available in time to support the application 
which had failed. Even as the Moscow talks began he feared 
that American stubbornness would frustrate them. 

In the event all was well. In ten days the negotiators prepared 
an agreement for signature. There was some disagreement be- 
tween Harriman and Hailsham, particularly when the British 

negotiator seemed too keen to take Khrushchev’s bait of a 
non-aggression pact. The treaty was definitely a partial ban, 
leaving underground tests unhindered. Technical wrangling 
delayed, but did not in the end prevent, a provision allowing 

any country which wanted to accede to the treaty to sign it: 
a provision which marked the beginning of a move towards 
non-proliferation. The treaty was signed on 25 July, after a 
number of minor American objections had been withdrawn. 
Macmillan, on hearing this over the telephone from Kennedy 
‘went to tell D. and burst into tears. I had prayed hard for 
this, night after night’, and then visited the House of Com- 
mons where he found ‘everyone very happy’. The reception 
of his announcement was ‘like the greatest of my Parliamentary 
successes’.4! For once there is little doubt that this was Macmil- 
lan’s achievement. His voice had been persistent in advising 
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Kennedy to go ahead,when neither the president’s own advis- 
ers nor indeed the rest of the British government had been 
convinced that either the opportunity or necessity for a partial 
treaty existed. It was the culmination of six years of diplomatic 
effort to keep Britain at the ‘top table’ in international diplo- 
macy, and unlike the summit conferences for which Macmillan 

yearned it did some positive good and no apparent harm. 
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IMPERIAL RETREAT 

In January 1957 Britain had a fairly large and very turbulent 
colonial empire. Macmillan’s anxiety to give at least some of 
it back to the indigenous inhabitants in part reflected his own 
estimate of the cost of keeping it on, but much of his policy 
was an attempt to channel the development of policies which 
had been under discussion since the Conservatives’ return to 
office in 1951, or even before. Within the Conservative Party 
the Empire/Commonwealth was a potent symbol for the right 

wing. Protecting the interests of the old white dominions was 
uppermost in the minds of many opponents of closer integra- 
tion with Europe, while the interests of white settlers had con- 

strained the policies of the Churchill and Eden governments 
in both East and West Africa. In Britain’s miscellaneous posses- 
sions east of Suez and in Cyprus, the desire to retain military 

or naval bases (or, in the case of Singapore particularly, air- 
bases to help complete the encirclement of Russia) made both 
politicians and Whitehall uneasy about local political develop- 
ments which tended to loosen ties between the colonies and 
the imperial power. 

Macmillan’s personal views on the Empire were not com- 
pletely formed when he entered on his premiership. At the 
Colonial Office during the war he had been interested in land 
reform and economic reconstruction, especially in West Africa; 

in opposition he had paid a visit to India and spoken in the 
Second Reading of the India Independence Bill, accepting, on 
his party’s behalf, that independence was inevitable. In his 
memoirs he was careful to assure his readers that ‘The “wind 
of change” did not sound the “bugle of retreat” under my Pre- 
miership as a sudden and discordant note’,! but he had played 
little part himself in the accommodation between Conservative 
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instincts and local political necessity during the Churchill and 
Eden years. The immediate problems he inherited in 1957 
were in Cyprus, Central Africa and the Persian Gulf. Cyprus 
was solved largely by negotiation, the Persian Gulf problem by 
sheer military force; the problems of the Central African Feder- 
ation accumulated during his first administration and survived 
to deepen the gloom of his second. 

By far the most important of Macmillan’s initiatives, though, 
was the projection of an idea, for domestic as well as imperial 
attention. ! The “Winds of Change’ speech, delivered in Cape 
‘Town in February 1960, was addressed to audiences in Britain 
and East Africa as much as to the South African parliamen- 
tarians who heard it.) By committing the British government 
to a rapid process of decolonisation, coupled with full polit- 
ical rights for native populations, he made a shining virtue 
out of unwelcome necessity. According to colleagues,? he did 
not find the leaders of the ‘New Commonwealth’ particularly 
congenial, and would probably have preferred the Common- 
wealth as a collection of white-run dominions, but that did not 

seem possible and he did not seriously attempt to hold back the 
advance to self-determination. In the short term, his policy an- 
‘tagonised no one who was not thoroughly disaffected already, 
and won the enthusiastic support of reformers; in the long 
term it gave his own government and later Conservative ad- 
ministrations a position from which to deal with African states 
emerging from colonialism into independence. 

His policy towards other countries’ ex-colonies, and towards 
the states on the periphery of Britain’s present and former pos- 
sessions which were part of the ‘informal empire’, was less clear 
cut. Since the bonds were not formal, it was not so obviously 
necessary to loosen them, and many anxious hours were spent 
attempting to maintain spheres of influence for Britain in the 
Middle East and Africa. In most cases this was expensive and 
futile. In Iraq and the Persian Gulf Britain simply could not in- 
fluence the political process which produced General Qassim 
in Iraq and a number of violently anti-Western regimes in the 
Arabian Peninsula. In Africa, the collapse of the Belgian colo- 
nial empire embarrassed not only Belgium, but also the major 
Western powers, including Britain, which tried to intervene to 
maintain a pro-Western stability. Macmillan’s opinions were in- 
fluenced both by his belief in the dangers of Soviet expansion 
and by his reluctance to abandon a position of hegemony. 
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WINDING DOWN THE EMPIRE 

On 28 January 1957 Macmillan fired a warning shot across 
the bows of Lord Salisbury, the Lord President, who was the 

leading opponent of imperial retreat in the Cabinet. 

It would be good if Ministers could know more clearly which terri- 
tories are likely to become ripe for independence over the next few 
years — or, even if they are not really ready for it, will demand it 
so insistently that their claims cannot be denied — and at what date 
that stage is likely to be reached in each case. 

I should also like to see something like a profit and loss 
account for each of our colonial possessions, so that we may be better 
able to gauge whether, from the financial and economic point of 
view, we are likely to gain or to lose by its departure. This would 
need, of course, to be weighed against the political and strategic 
considerations involved in each case.3 

This cold and unhurried calculation, rather than a policy 
of scuttle, underpinned even the contorted negotiations over 
Cyprus and the Central African Federation which so exhausted 
the Cabinet’s patience under Macmillan. In relation to the 
Empire, his policy initiatives do not seem especially original: 
he decided to prostrate himself before the inevitable, but did 

little either to advance or to retard the decolonisation pro- 
cess except by choosing efficient and reform-minded Colonial 
Secretaries. At home, though, he was remarkably successful 
in reconciling his followers to his policy. Above all, he tried 
to handle relations with the dependent and recently indepen- 
dent Empire so that British interests, somewhat fuzzily defined, 
were preserved. Commonly this meant a continuing rdle for 
Britain’s former dependencies in resisting the expansion of 
communist power either from Russia or from China. This was 
not always easy and sometimes proved impossible. When it 
failed, his reputation suffered accordingly. 

Cyprus 

Macmillan’s comparative inexperience and rather obvious lack 
of interest in the colonial empire helps to explain why his han- 
dling of colonial questions was at first a matter of crisis man- 
agement, only later becoming a fairly coherent programme 
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of withdrawal from Africa and possessions east of Suez. The 
Cyprus question, for example, had taxed him while he was For- 
eign Secretary. After his departure to the Exchequer the guer- 
rilla campaign run by the Greek-Cypriot EOKA movement had 
continued. Its immediate aims included the release of Arch- 
bishop Makarios, leader of the Orthodox community, from 

exile in the Seychelles; its relationship with Greek-Cypriot soci- 
ety had become more complex, as the right-wing antecedents 
of its leader, General Grivas, were balanced by the entry of 
left-wingers into the organisation. In an attempt to renew the 
movement towards a civil settlement, Macmillan persuaded his 

Cabinet in March 1957 to release Makarios, who was allowed to 

return to Athens but not to Cyprus itself. This caused Lord Sal- 
isbury, who had a resigning cast of mind, to leave the govern- 
ment. The government’s subsequent policy moved from parti- 
tion through “Tridominium’ — a scheme of shared suzerainty — 
to independence with a guarantee for British sovereign bases 
and a constitution drafted to preserve the rights of the Turkish 
minority. Agreement was finally reached in February 1959. It 
was an entertaining vignette of prime ministerial diplomacy, 
closely resembling the patient and exacting work Macmillan 
had faced in the Eastern Mediterranean during the war. 

The main difficulties on the way were the unpredictability 
of the Greek and Turkish governments and the hesitation of 
Macmillan’s Cabinet colleagues, who were concerned (with 
their back bench) about the possible blow to Britain’s pres- 
tige in the apparent loss of empire, and were more practically 
troubled by the future of the British bases on the island. The 
governor of Cyprus, Sir Hugh Foot, was the instrument of pol- 
icy. During 1958 he built on earlier constitutional proposals* 
to devise a power-sharing constitution which he proceeded to 
put into practice in readiness for elections in 1959, regardless 
of the unrelenting hostility of EOKA. Macmillan’s contribution 
was to visit Ankara and Athens in July 1958, where he was able 
to write up his diary with the same verve and sardonic obser- 
vation of Greek politics which he had demonstrated in 1944, 
and incidentally to move the Greek government a few inches 
towards a settlement. His response to the two governments’ 
reception of British proposals was characteristic: he was ‘re- 
lieved that both the Greeks and the Turks objected in the first 
instance. It would have been fatal if one had accepted and the 
other refused.’> He won the backing of the Cabinet and the 
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Opposition, but the Greek population of Cyprus reacted with 
a full-blown guerrilla war. Fortunately this did not sway the 
United Nations General Assembly, which was as co-operative 
over Cyprus as it had been outraged over Suez. 

In December 1958 the Turkish and Greek governments de- 
cided to attempt their own solution. Macmillan and Lennox- 
Boyd, the Colonial Secretary, looked on with suspicion and or- 
dered Foot to make no concessions directly to General Grivas, 
the EOKA leader. Macmillan’s concerns were mainly for the 
domestic political complications, but also for the position of 
British bases. -Fortunately the two governments were prepared 
to concede the status of the sovereign bases, and also to put 
pressure on Archbishop Makarios to accept a ‘balanced’ con- 
stitution. The settlement, negotiated between Greece, Turkey 
and Britain after earlier bilateral talks between the Greek and 
Turkish governments, was signed on 19 February 1959. Cyprus 
became an independent republic in 1960, with a Greek presi- 
dent, a Turkish vice-president, a legislative assembly with quotas 
from each community, and devolution of certain functions to 
communal assemblies. The new constitution gave the Greeks, 

as Macmillan reminded them, less than the Radcliffe Report 
or the Foot-Macmillan plan of 1958 would have done. British 
strategic interests were preserved, and indeed the British pres- 
ence in Cyprus was to last longer than the 1960 constitution, 
whose collapse precipitated the Turkish invasion of Cyprus in 
1974. 
The Cyprus settlement was a success for Macmillan, for Sel- 

wyn Lloyd, for Lennox-Boyd, and for Sir Hugh Foot. It had 
been achieved by patience as much as by flamboyant ges- 
ture, and the final setthkement reflected Macmillan’s instinct 

for matching commitments to resources. Quite apart from 
the conflict between Greek and Turk, Macmillan had had to 

carry his party with him. The early departure of Salisbury had 
made this easier: without a focus for discontent, the Cabinet 

was able to accept the logic of the concessions to the Cypriots 
without revolt. A minority on the back benches was still disaf- 
fected, and made its position clear during the final discussion 
in February 1959. ‘In a struggle about this, we shall have been 
very hard-pressed here — by the Socialists, by the Liberals, by all 
the wet-fish Press.... If we stood firm on sovereignty against 
leases, we would have been accused of being the wreckers. If 
we had given in, we should have had a Parliamentary crisis with 
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the Party.’ In the event Macmillan’s command of the House 
allowed him to deflect trouble by attacking Gaitskell, who was 
by then very unpopular among Conservative MPs, and preserve 
his own position. 

The Central African Federation 

The Central African Federation was another colonial issue 
which threatened Conservative harmony at home as well as 
Britain’s position abroad. The unhappy history of the Fed- 
eration dated back to 1939, when the Bledisloe Commission 

recommended that the three British possessions in Central 
Africa — Southern Rhodesia, Northern Rhodesia and Nyasa- 
land — should form a closer association. The post-war Labour 
government had proceeded very slowly with the idea, aware 
that African opinion suspected it as a means to entrench white 
rule in the three territories. The white settlers, led by Sir God- 
frey Huggins, the prime minister of the self-governing colony 
of Southern Rhodesia, pressed ahead; conferences were held 

in 1951 in London (March) and at Victoria Falls (September) 

which set out the principle that a federation was desirable for 
economic reasons, but that the political development of the 
two protectorates — Northern Rhodesia and Nyasaland — would 
be in the hands of the British government and the territorial 
governments rather than the Federation, as would the land 
rights of the African populations of those territories. The in- 
coming Conservative government embraced the federation ea- 
gerly, and it was established in October 1953. Huggins became 

federal prime minister; he retired in 1956 and was succeeded 

by his protégé, Roy Welensky. 
The CAF was partly an economic experiment, uniting North- 

ern Rhodesia’s mineral wealth with Nyasaland’s labour surplus 
and the industrial and agricultural wealth of Southern Rhode- 
sia. To reassure investors, the 1953 discussions had contained 

an explicit promise that the Federation would not be dissolved 
without the consent of all the territorial governments, although 
this was not written into the Federal constitution. This was the 
source of a major conflict for Macmillan’s government. The 
African political parties in all the territories were opposed to 
the Federation, and politicians from the two northern territo- 

ries had boycotted the 1953 discussions. The African parties 

also announced their intention to boycott the 1958 Federa- 
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tion elections, preferring to demand self-government outright. 
The early development of the Federation was dogged by argu- 
ments between the Colonial Office, responsible for the north- 

ern territories, and the Commonwealth Office, responsible for 

Southern Rhodesia. In Southern Rhodesia a Dominion Party 
sprang up, demanding full independence with Dominion sta- 
tus, and threatening a unilateral declaration of independence 
both from Britain and from the Federation. Centrifugal forces 
seemed almost irresistible, but to preserve the Federation the 
British government was party to a further extension of the pow- 
ers of the Federal government in 1957, giving it more respon- 
sibility for external relations. 

Helped by the African boycott, Sir Roy Welensky’s Federal 
Party won the federal elections in November 1958, and rela- 
tions between Britain and the Federation began to deteriorate 
rapidly. Welensky himself, a former engine-driver and boxing 
champion who had first come to Macmillan’s attention as Di- 
rector of Manpower in Southern Rhodesia during the war, im- 
posed his own combative personality on the discussions, but he 
undoubtedly had the support of the majority of the white set- 
tlers throughout the Federation. His first contact with Macmil- 
lan after the election was in conferences to draw up a new con- 
stitution for Northern Rhodesia, in which he stood up for the 
interest of the white minority against Macmillan’s rather lan- 
guid attempts to take steps towards a multi-racial polity. Politi- 
cal discontent, especially in the northern territories, mounted 

steadily. In February and March 1959 riots broke out across 
the Federation, leading to a state of emergency in each of the 
territories. Mr Justice Devlin was sent out to investigate them, 

and returned in July with a report declaring that Nyasaland 
was ‘no doubt temporarily — a police state, where it is not safe 
for anyone to express approval of the policies of the Congress 
Party’.’ This prompted Macmillan to describe him as a ‘Fe- 
nian’. Although this episode temporarily found Macmillan 
and Welensky on the same side, the accord was not to last. 

Macmillan ordered the Governor of Nyasaland, Sir Robert Ar- 
mitage,? to write an alternative report. This he did, in two days 

at Chequers, and the government officially preferred his view. 
The Cabinet discouraged the Colonial Office ministers from 
resigning, and Macmillan appeared to be a stout defender of 
the survival of the Federation. 

For all this, the government was actively reviewing the future 
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of the Federation, to, Welensky’s despair. In March a Royal 
Commission was set up under Lord Monckton, and the Com- 
monwealth Secretary, Lord Home, persuaded Welensky to ac- 
cept it. Macmillan saw his government’s purpose as to ‘get in 
again and influence the European settlers’.! Technically the 
commission was to take evidence and prepare materials for the 
review of the Federation’s constitution which was due in 1960, 
but in practice it was expected to be the opportunity to air 
views and prepare positions, so its composition and terms of 
reference were tendentious. After much wrangling the Labour 
opposition refused to nominate members. The final constitu- 
tion of the Commission called for five African members, but, 

as Macmillan noted, all the leading African politicians were in 

prison, so it could be said that those nominated would not be 

representative. There was considerable debate with Welensky 
about whether the Commission was to be allowed to entertain 
the possibility of breaking up the Federation by permitting se- 
cession. Welensky insisted on a strict interpretation of under- 
takings given in 1953; Macmillan had to be more flexible, at 

least in private, to get any non-Conservative representative on 
to the Commission. At the end of October Welensky changed 
his mind about the Commission and tried to get it called off. 
Macmillan refused, and the venture went ahead. 

He tried to give it some impetus during his tour of Africa, 
which began on 5 January 1960. During his visits to the Fed- 
eration territories he was confronted with two problems. A re- 
mark made in Lagos was either misquoted or misrepresented 
to mean that the African populations of the northern terri- 
tories would have some choice about whether to stay in the 
Federation,!! and the settlers were correspondingly incensed. 
In Nyasaland Macmillan concluded that ‘the cause of the Fed- 
eration was almost desperate because of the strength of African 
opinion against it,’!2 and had to bring about the release of Dr 
Hastings Banda, the leader of the Malawi Congress Party, to 
give evidence to the Monckton Commission. This caused fur- 
ther trouble with Welensky, who later claimed that Macmillan 

had misled him about British intentions towards Banda. At 
best Macmillan’s visit to the Federation territories was a useful 
holding action which persuaded some of the white settlers in 
Southern Rhodesia that the British government was not going 
to abandon them immediately; at worst, it further eroded confi- 

dence between Welensky and the Cabinet ministers responsible 
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for the affairs of Africa. 
The speed and even the direction of policy towards the 

Federation was changed by the 1959 election and consequent 
Cabinet reshuffle. Lennox-Boyd, who was a slow decoloniser 
and enjoyed the confidence of much of the Conservative back 
bench on colonial issues, resigned for personal reasons. He 
was replaced by Ian Macleod. Even before the election there 
had been friction within the Cabinet over the pace of change in 
the colonial possessions, aggravated by the Cyprus affair, and 
the new Colonial Secretary was firmly at one pole in a newly 
polarised situation. Welensky immediately detested him, and 
tried to play him off against Home, who remained Common- 
wealth Secretary and who was by his own account much less 
eager to give up the colonial empire. After Macmillan’s return 
from Africa, Macleod demanded that Banda be released from 

prison to give evidence to the Monckton Commission.!> Home 
and the Commonwealth Office supported Welensky’s demand 
that he should be kept in detention. Macmillan wanted to sup- 
port Macleod, but found the Cabinet divided; after Home had 

visited Rhodesia it was decided that Banda should be released 
on the day Monckton left the Federation. At this Macleod 
threatened to resign, causing Macmillan to suspect a plot ‘a 
la Thorneycroft’.!4 Fearful of the political consequences of 
resignation, Macmillan then resolved to let Banda out three 

days before Monckton’s departure, and commissioned Home 
to bring Welensky round — which he did. Although this re- 
solved the immediate Cabinet crisis, it was the first sign that 

Macmillan might have difficulty with his party if the process of 
decolonisation moved ahead too rapidly. 

The Monckton Commission duly went to the Federation in 
February 1960, and duly reported in October. Within a month 
of its arrival Monckton, on the first of a number of regular visits 

home to consult the Cabinet, persuaded Macmillan in a private 
discussion that secession should be admitted as a possibility.15 
The Commission’s enquiries revealed a profound suspicion of 
the Federation, especially among Africans in Nyasaland, and 
the final report!6 suggested that the right to secede should be 
acknowledged, even if only as a safety valve to encourage the 
northern protectorates to accept the Federation and its many 
economic advantages. Welensky exploded, accused Macmillan 
of a breach of faith in allowing secession to be mentioned, 

and demanded that the British government repudiate the re- 
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port. Macmillan refused. Welensky was eventually persuaded 

to soften his position, but Macmillan thought he himself had 

had a difficult press,!7 and the omens for the Review Confer- 
ence were not good. 

The first attempt at reviewing the Federation was a confer- 
ence in London in December 1960, but this came to nothing 
after both Banda and Joshua Nkomo (of Southern Rhodesia) 

walked out of the talks. In the subsequent February two sepa- 
rate conferences were held: for Southern Rhodesia in Salisbury 
and for Northern Rhodesia in London. Discomfort within the 
Cabinet, fuelled by Macleod’s passion for early and generous 
transfers of power in Africa, was threatening Macmillan’s posi- 
tion. Macmillan suggested that African representatives should 
have something close to parity with Europeans in the Legisla- 
tive Assembly for Northern Rhodesia, but found some of his 
Cabinet shocked and Macleod once more talking of resignation 
because the proposed pace was too slow. Welensky’s Federal 
Party boycotted the Northern Rhodesia talks, and Welensky 
warned that he would mobilise troops to prevent disturbance 
in the territory. Macmillan started to prepare for ‘open rebel- 
lion’ in Southern Rhodesia.!8 

By now Welensky’s open dealings with the Tory Right were 
causing concern to the prime minister. Lord Salisbury was 
always ready to hear Welensky’s views and amplify them, and 
there was a deep suspicion of Macleod on the back bench. The 
replacement of Home at the Commonwealth Office by Duncan 
Sandys did little to change the relationship between the Com- 
monwealth and Colonial Offices, and the Cabinet was kept in 

a permanent state of tension. A White Paper was published, to 

the great displeasure of Welensky, and a protracted and emo- 
tional haggling ensued over the precise numbers of reserved 
seats to be given to European and African members in the two 
houses of the Assembly. Macleod’s resignation threats became 
‘a daily event’.19 No sooner was an agreement reached than 
riots in Northern Rhodesia led to a further postponement, and 
further tension between Macleod and Sandys. Finally Macmil- 
lan tried to solve the political problem by moving Macleod 
to be Chairman of the Party and making Reginald Maudling 
Colonial Secretary. It was the first move in an attempt to limit 

the domestic political damage of a colonial problem which had 

no obvious solution. 
Maudling soon proved himself ‘plus noir que les négres’,?° and 
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held the job for only five months. His first effort was to re- 

open the question of further increasing African numbers in 

the Northern Rhodesia Assembly, which Macmillan described 

with some irritation as ‘quite impossible’.?! Resignations were 

once more in the air. On 27 February 1962 the Cabinet finally 

accepted Maudling’s proposals for Northern Rhodesia, which 

would in effect give it the right to secede. The personal ten- 

sion was so great, however, that Macmillan shortly afterwards 

appointed Butler as Secretary of State with responsibility for 

Central Africa, relieving both Maudling and Sandys of their 

respective rdles in the area. It is hard to resist the conclusion 

that this was a carefully poisoned chalice for Butler. Until the 

spring of 1962 it had been the government’s policy to preserve 

the Central African Federation. By the end, the British govern- 

ment was probably the Federation’s only friend, as the seces- 

sionist mood took root among the white settlers in Southern 

Rhodesia. Now this policy was to be reversed and Butler was to 

lead the retreat. Everyone understood that he was to wind the 

Federation down; the final act was brought about at the end 

of 1963, when the Federation was formally dissolved, but he 

had been prominent in arranging the successive conferences 

which had hammered out the details. Macmillan remarked at 

the end of 1962 that ‘The Federation was a good idea’, but his 

memoirs also make the point that ‘It was an enormous relief 

to me to be spared the almost daily flow of telegrams...and 

the continual and divergent pressures which had operated un- 

der the old system.22 For Macmillan, March 1962 marked the 

end of his direct interest in the affairs of the Central African 

Federation. 

Black and White in Africa 

Imperial problems in Africa did not at first seem to extend 

beyond the wretched Central African Federation. West Africa, 

which Macmillan knew from his war service in the Colonial Of 

fice, was moving rapidly towards self-government. At his first 

Commonwealth Conference, held in London in June 1957, 

Kwame Nkrumah of Ghana attended as the first African prime 

minister to be present at such an occasion. By then it was al- 

ready decided that Nigeria would be represented at a future 

Commonwealth Conference, and expected that the Central 
African Federation would also receive its independence and 
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join the Commonwealth. The Union of South Africa, even af- 
ter the victory of the Afrikaner National Party in the 1947 elec- 
tions, was a full member of the Commonwealth. Macmillan’s 
optimistic policy was to use the idea of the Commonwealth to 
hold together the complex of strategic and economic interests 
which engaged Britain in Africa. 

The difficulties of this course soon became apparent. On the 
one hand the newly independent African states, which were set 
up with Western-educated political leaders and parliamentary 
governments, were at risk of losing one or both of these assets 
under pressure from economic difficulties or inter-tribal and 
inter-regional friction which the post-colonial regimes were un- 
able to contain. Their continued interest in Britain and the 
Commonwealth could not therefore be guaranteed. On the 
other hand, the African states were hostile to any political ar- 
rangements which seemed to perpetuate colonial domination. 
The Central African Federation, led by the strident Welensky, 
was one of these suspect arrangements; the other was the in- 
ternal policy of South Africa, where the Nationalists were tight- 
ening apartheid and preparing to declare a republic. 

In the first part of Macmillan’s premiership, the African Em- 
pire outside the Central African Federation caused few prob- 
lems, as policy already laid down saw the independence of 
Nigeria and apparently steady progress towards further self- 
government in Kenya after a lull in the Mau-Mau guerrilla 
campaign, which throughout the 1950s had threatened the 
lives and livelihoods of white settlers. In early 1959 two passing 
episodes suggested that the existing rate of change was polit- 
ically unacceptable. A riot at the Hola internment camp in 
Kenya was forcibly suppressed, with eleven inmates beaten to 
death by their guards. Quite apart from the effect in Kenya, 
this affair gave the Labour Party an opportunity to pillory the 
government before a General Election, calling for an enquiry 
and for the resignations of Lennox-Boyd and the Governor, 
Sir Evelyn Baring. The Conservative Party was also up in arms. 
Macmillan feared a Cabinet split, and set up an ‘African Com- 

mittee’ to avert it. The precise details are obscure, but it ap- 
pears that the Attorney-General, among others, was by July anx- 
ious to see Lennox-Boyd resign, while Macmillan desperately 
wanted him to stay on until the election.?3 This affair under- 
mined Conservative confidence in the long-term survival of an 
Empire which depended on such vigorous repression.*+ 
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The Hola massacre coincided with the second disturbing 

episode, the Nyasaland riots which led to the declaration of a 

State of Emergency in the territory, and also in the Rhodesias, 

and to a large number of arrests including that of Hastings 

Banda. The Devlin Report and the reaction in the Central 

African Federation, described above, further complicated the 

moves towards a political settlement in East Africa; the uprising 

itself confirmed that African opinion throughout the continent 

was not content to accept the timetable being imposed by the 

colonial power. 
As a test for Macmillan’s policy the tension in East Africa 

was augmented by developments within South Africa, which 

threatened both the Commonwealth as a potential interna- 

tional bloc, and Britain’s control over the process of decoloni- 

sation in its remaining possessions. By the end of 1959, even 

after a successful General Election, Macmillan was faced with 

African challenges which unsettled his government and threat- 

ened to undermine his global policy. At the beginning of 

1960, in what he described as ‘a few weeks of comparative 

calm in our external and internal affairs’,22 Macmillan went 

on a grand tour of Commonwealth countries in Africa. This 

complemented a similar extended tour of the Commonwealth 

in Asia and Australasia which he had undertaken in 1958, but, 

as he admitted, was more testing because the relationship be- 

tween Britain and the African countries was much more un- 

certain. In the short term his main concern in policy was 

to improve the situation in the Rhodesias, but he went with a 

longer term aim of defining in public the relationship between 
the Commonwealth and African nationalism. He went, in fact, 

to meet people and make speeches, and at the age of sixty-six 
this put considerable strain on his health. In Accra he engaged 
in a debate with Nkrumah, in which one phrase was a refer- 

ence to ‘the wind of change [which] is blowing right through 
Africa’.26 He then went to Nigeria, where he found that tribal 

and regional tensions were scarcely being contained in the par- 
liamentary structure set up in the 1947 Constitution. He could 
hardly have been expected to do anything about this on the 
spot, but it is significant that direct contact with the leading 
Nigerian politicians does not seem to have inspired him to any 

alteration in the thrust of British policy, which was to wait until 
some semblance of harmony broke out before granting full in- 
dependence to a Nigerian federation. Moving on to Salisbury, 

188 



IMPERIAL RETREAT 

he confronted the problems of another doomed federation be- 
fore going on to South Africa, where his main purpose was to 
be consummated. 

Macmillan had brought from England a speech written for 
the most part by Sir John Maud, the British High Commis- 
sioner to South Africa, and refined by the Cabinet Secre- 

tary and the Commonwealth Office ministers, Alec Home and 
Macmillan’s son-in-law Julian Amery. The press were warned 
to wait for something especially significant at Cape Town, and 
were obliged by a speech which directly criticised the inter- 
nal policies of the South African government. Partly from the 
need to soften the blow to an audience made up largely of solid 
Afrikaners, but also because there was more than one message 
to deliver, it was a complicated text whose subsequent reputa- 
tion has over-simplified it. Undoubtedly the recommendation 
of ‘a society which respects the right of individuals, a society 
in which men are given the opportunity to grow to their full 
stature — and that must in our view include the opportunity 
to have an increasing share in political power and responsibil- 
ity’ was a direct snub to the policy of apartheid and ‘separate 
development’. It was recognised as such by the world’s press, 
and therefore taken up with enthusiasm all over the Common- 
wealth, including the white Dominions. But it also contained 
other strands of argument. There was a good deal of flattery 
for the Afrikaner community as ‘the first of the African nation- 
alisms’. More to the point, Macmillan urged his listeners to ac- 
cept the need to keep the communist bloc out of Africa, and to 

tune policy so that the newly independent countries were not 
tempted by Russian influence. He repeated his view that de- 
laying the full recognition of political rights for Africans would 
create both uncontrollable internal unrest, and the conditions 

for the spread of communism. This was a definition both of 
British policy, and of Macmillan’s fears. Maud reported to 
London that the speech and the visit had ‘set South Africa in 
a ferment’.?7 

The hypothetical problem became real within the year. The 
Sharpeville massacre in March and the outbreak of civil war in 
the Congo in July raised the stakes dramatically. South African 
leaders had already decided to turn their country into a repub- 
lic, and had the support of a referendum of the white popula- 
tion. They also wished to remain in the Commonwealth, but 

even those Commonwealth countries which were inclined to let 
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them do so despite their internal policies could not stomach 

the regime’s behaviour at Sharpeville. At the Commonwealth 

Conference in May, Macmillan strained every nerve to pre- 

vent the Commonwealth itself from breaking up. In April he 

had feared that if Britain vetoed a UN resolution critical of 

apartheid ‘the new Commonwealth... will never forgive us'{78 

but noted that Australia and New Zealand wanted it vetoed. 

Britain abstained, but the tension remained to be resolved, or 

not, by the conference. Although the plenary sessions on world 

problems went smoothly, informal discussion of South Africa’s 

internal policies was emotional and dangerous. Macmillan’s 

one aim was to keep the Commonwealth together, and he en- 

gineered a bland agreed communiqué which made matters no 

worse, but made them no better either.*9 

There is no doubt that Macmillan’s aim was to keep South 

Africa within the Commonwealth. In this endeavour he failed 

completely, not because of any obvious mistake or misjudge- 

ment, but simply because every other party to the problem 

was stubbornly determined to maintain positions which would 

make South Africa’s continued membership impossible. In July 

the South African government decided to hold a referendum 

on the question of establishing a republic. Macmillan, who 

had only weeks before warned Verwoerd that he thought it 
unlikely that the Commonwealth would accept an application 
for readmission if South Africa did become a republic, asked 

him to postpone it. He also looked for support from the other 

Commonwealth prime ministers, in effect asking them to say as 
little as possible in the hope that South African intransigence 
would not be increased by public pressure. For the moment 

Nkrumah, the principal African objector to apartheid, agreed 
not to object to readmission; Tunku Abdul Rahman, of Malaya, 

was much more forthright, making it clear that his country’s 

boycott of South African goods was part of a consistent policy 
to resist apartheid which it would take as far as was neces- 
sary. The South African referendum, in October, produced 

a tiny majority in favour of the republic. Verwoerd promptly 
wrote to Macmillan asking his advice on how to manage an 
application for continued membership of the Commonwealth, 

and making it clear that South Africa would not amend its 
racial policies for the sake of gaining admission. Verwoerd’s 
determination to avoid making any concession of any sort on 
apartheid very nearly succeeded in keeping South Africa in the 
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Commonwealth. Macmillan energetically urged Nehru and 
Diefenbaker of Canada, who both had great potential influ- 
ence over the objectors, to remain uncommitted on the sub- 
ject until the Commonwealth prime ministers met in March. 
His plan, repeatedly described, was to allow South Africa to 

remain so that Commonwealth influence could be exerted on 
behalf of black South Africans, and both Nehru and most of 

the sceptical African and Asian leaders were prepared to nego- 
tiate on this basis. The main difficulty before the conference 
was that Diefenbaker would not drop his objections. When the 
prime ministers gathered, the combination of Canadian deter- 
mination and the characteristically offensive deportment of the 
South African delegation towards black Commonwealth lead- 
ers and their concerns left no room for manoeuvre. Macmillan 
recognised after two days of discussion that there was no hope 
of compromise, and he decided to avoid a vote which might 
have split the Commonwealth by aligning Australia, Britain and 
New Zealand on the side of readmission against all the rest. 
Verwoerd was persuaded to withdraw his application, and the 
prime ministers got on with other business. 

There is no doubt that this was a major setback for Macmil- 
lan. He despaired for the future of British influence in Africa, 
and for the Commonwealth, and found himself heavily criti- 
cised by the usual opponents for his readiness to countenance 
Commonwealth interest in the domestic policies of a member 
state. Lord Salisbury was characteristically critical, with support 
from the Rhodesia lobby, and the argument made it more diffi- 
cult to find a resolution of the problems of the Central African 
Federation. But by this time the government’s position was so 
uncomfortable in so many respects that an extra setback hardly 
affected Macmillan’s determination to continue. 

THE CONGO AND THE LIMITS OF POWER 

A sudden emergency in the Congo focused Britain’s African 

concerns. The decolonisation of the Belgian Congo in 1960 

showed that Britain’s preferred course of procrastination and 

finesse was not the only road to disaster. The handover of 

power was agreed in January 1960, with Belgian withdrawal 
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to be completed within six months. Optimistically, the agree- 

ment provided for a democratically elected constituent assem- 

bly, which would have to make fundamental decisions about 

whether the independent Congo would be a federal or a uni- 

tary state, and concomitantly to decide on the relationships 

between the central government and the disparate regions of 

Belgium’s immense colonial empire in Central Africa. By July, 

as Macmillan noted, the result was ‘murder, rape, intertribal 

warfare, mass flights of Europeans, etc. The Prime Minister 

(Congolese) called Lumumba...is [said to be] a communist 

and probably a-Russian agent; the Premier of Katanga (where 

the mineral wealth is) is a moderate, and wants to be inde- 

pendent. Sir Roy Welensky wants Katanga to be independent 

and would like to send in troops.’3° In short order, the Bel- 

gian government sent troops back to the Congo to protect 

Belgian civilians; Lumumba appealed first to the United Na- 

tions and then directly to Ghana and the Soviet Union for 
protection against the Belgians; and Tshombe, the prime min- 

ister of Katanga, who was on good terms with Belgium and 
the largely Belgian-owned mining companies in his province, 
declared his independence. Katanga shared a border with the 
Rhodesias, and Welensky wanted Tshombe’s independent gov- 

ernment supported as a buffer-state against communism or 
chaos in the Central African Federation. This conundrum . 
tested Macmillan’s tactical sense. In July, when Welensky asked 
him to keep the United Nations out of Katanga, he consulted 
Home, who had just become Foreign Secretary, and refused. 
His reasoning was that the presence of the United Nations 
would keep the Russians out. Nevertheless the United Nations 
contingent which began to arrive on 18 July was forbidden by 
Tshombe to enter Katanga, and did not force the issue. This 
heightened the pressure on Macmillan, who knew that his own 
right-wingers as well as business interests with connections in 
the rich Katanga mining belt wanted him to recognise Katanga 

as an independent state. 
In early August he defined the ‘chief objects of British policy’ 

as: 

(1) To prevent Congo turning into Korea. Therefore, however attrac- 

tive in some ways the separation of Katanga may seem, the result 
may be a Korean-type war, following on Russian support to the 
rest of the Congo. 
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(2) To support, through U.N., some kind of federalist solution .... 
(3) To stop foolish but dangerous movements by African countries 

alone.... 
(4) To work as closely as we can with French and other Europeans in 

NATO, including Belgians. 
(5) To get Americans to be temperate and intelligent.3! 

In practice this meant voting in favour of a United Nations 
resolution requiring the Belgians to withdraw from Katanga in 
favour of United Nations troops, but simultaneously forbidding 
the United Nations contingent to interfere in internal con- 
flicts within the Congo. Fortunately Tshombe now accepted 
a United Nations force in Katanga, and the policy could be 
defended plausibly to a suspicious House of Commons. 

The behaviour of Nkrumah confirmed Macmillan’s fear 
of the ramifications of any Pan-African intervention, for the 
Ghanaian leader was reported to have imported Soviet aero- 
planes with Soviet advisers to form the basis of an army of in- 
tervention. So long as this came to nothing, Macmillan could 

reassure himself that ‘we seem to have avoided a direct or in- 
direct intervention by the Great Powers’*? but he kept getting 
news of further Soviet supplies to Ghana and to Lumumba’s 
forces. Then on 5 September Lumumba and the President of 
the Congo, Joseph Kasavubu, dismissed one another, and in 

the subsequent chaos Colonel Joseph Mobutu, with American 
support, seized Leopoldville, declared Lumumba deposed and 
expelled his Russian advisers. In November the United Na- 
tions recognised Kasavubu as head of state in the Congo, and 
Lumumba was captured by Mobutu’s forces at the beginning 
of December, but the escape of Lumumba’s deputy, Gizenga, 
left the Congo divided in three. Tshombe remained in control 
in Katanga; Mobutu held Leopoldville; Gizenga maintained a 

pro-Soviet government in Stanleyville. 
The fact that this tragi-comedy of errors represented some- 

thing of a vindication of Macmillan’s policy reveals what the 
essence of that policy was. His main concern was to prevent 
a communist hegemony in Central Africa by supporting the 
United Nations. While it was in theory desirable that the 
United Nations should finish the job of pacifying the Congo, 

it was far more important that they should be doing the job 

at all. Macmillan therefore makes much in his memoirs of 

the United Nations Assembly discussion of the Congo in Octo- 
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ber, attended by many national leaders, at which Khrushchev 

famously banged the table with his shoe by way of heckling 
Macmillan’s speech.33 His point was not that anything par- 
ticular had been done about the unhappy Congo, but that 
Khrushchev had been tripped up by the Congo issue, and 
failed to take advantage of it as part of a general propaganda 
thrust against the West. 

But the price of this success was an eternal vigilance. In 
January 1961, at Casablanca, the Conference of African States 

declared its support for Lumumba; some of the member coun- 
tries withdrew their contingents from the United Nations force, 
and the Commonwealth members, led in this instance by 
Nehru and Nkrumah, denounced Tshombe and Kasavubu. 

Lumumba was murdered by the Katangan authorities into 
whose care he had been transferred, and both the Russians 

and the ‘Casablanca powers’ recognised Gizenga’s government 
in Stanleyville as the legitimate Congolese government. In 
Leopoldville, Kasavubu replaced Mobutu with Joseph Ileo. In 
Katanga and the areas governed by Leopoldville, increasing 
use was made of European mercenaries, some British, to gain 
military advantage. The Russians stepped up their campaign 
against United Nations intervention, but on 21 February 1961 
failed to get the Security Council to abandon the Congo oper- 
ation. A brief outbreak of progress in February saw an agree- 
ment between Kasavubu, Tshombe and others which prefig- 

ured a federal system for the country, but this broke down 
when Kasavubu tried to bring Gizenga into the deal. Tshombe 
took this as a sign to repudiate the previous agreement, and was 
thereupon arrested. This episode provoked a reaction from 
Macmillan’s right. Welensky, with backing from the Conserva- 
tive right wing, reopened his attack on British support for the 
United Nations. Macmillan responded by repeating his plea 
that ‘an independent Katanga, and its friends, would have to 
face the hostility, both on the ground and in the UN, of most 
of the rest of Africa. This would provide the Russians with 
just the kind of opportunity they are looking for.... ’.34 But 
Welensky and his Conservative sympathisers quite enjoyed the 
hostility of the rest of Africa, and Macmillan’s position was fur- 
ther weakened. 

In June Tshombe was freed, and signed but immediately re- 
pudiated an agreement to incorporate Katanga into a federal 
Congo. Nevertheless a Congolese parliament finally met in 
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July, without Katangan representatives, and Cyrille Adoula, a 
trade unionist who was supported by the CIA, was elected pre- 

mier, with Gizenga as his deputy. When the United Nations 
contingent moved in force to invade Katanga in August, the 
pressure on Macmillan was stepped up. The Katanga govern- 
ment had employed large numbers of white mercenaries to 
strengthen their ground and air forces, and fighting was heavy. 
Remarkable atrocities were reported, carried out by all parties 
including the United Nations contingent, and the Conservative 
Right denounced British collusion in the attempt to destroy the 
independence of Katanga. Macmillan, privately, became ner- 
vous that Gizenga’s influence in the Congolese government 
was growing too fast. 

Unless we and the Americans act quickly and resolutely, we shall 
have undone in a week all we have done — at huge expense — in a 
year. Congo will be handed to Russia on a plate. The Union Miniére 
properties will be ‘nationalised’ and run by Russian communists, and 
a most dangerous situation created in Africa — as well as [a] great 

financial and moral blow to the West and especially to European 
civilisation. 

Macmillan therefore sought help from President Kennedy to 
rein in the United Nations force. Dag Hammarskjdld, the 

Secretary-General, was persuaded to bring about a cease-fire, 

and was on the way to meet Tshombe when his aircraft crashed 
in Northern Rhodesia. In the event, this tragedy hardly de- 
flected the processes of diplomacy, and a cease-fire was duly 
agreed in late September, but Macmillan was still impaled on 
the horns of his own political dilemma. In his view, only United 
Nations action would keep Russia out of Central Africa, but if 

United Nations action backfired he faced a dangerous rebel- 

lion from his right wing. 
His difficulties extended from the 1922 Committee to the 

Cabinet. A decision was taken in early December to supply 

heavy bombs to the Indian airforce detachment serving in the 

Congo, to neutralise Katangan airfields from which white mer- 

cenary pilots were flying missions against the United Nations 

troops. This divided the Cabinet — the Foreign Secretary had 

been very reluctant to accede to the request and other min- 

isters were also opposed — and enraged the 1922 Committee. 

It is striking that Macmillan was surprised by the vigour of the 

reaction. He remarked that ‘for some reason (I suppose, age 
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and infirmity) I have felt this “crisis” far more than I should 
have done — have worried and slept badly and so on’.?5 He was 
so anxious that he persuaded Kennedy to overrule his United 
Nations representative, Adlai Stevenson, and press for an im- 

mediate cease-fire, and also got Kennedy to promise financial 
support for a large hydro-electric project in Ghana. These rab- 
bits were duly pulled out of the hat in the Commons on 14 
December, helping the government to a majority of ninety- 
four. Only ten Conservatives abstained, including those whom 

Macmillan described as ‘the small group of people who really 
hate me — Lords Hinchingbrooke and Lambton; Nigel Birch; 

Mr Turton...’.36 The centre of the party remained loyal, in 
spite of Macmillan’s fears. 

The episode of the bombs indicates how haphazard Macmil- 
lan’s policy towards the Congo had become. Because of his 
fears, perhaps exaggerated, for his own political safety, he had 
given United Nations policy a further, probably salutary, jolt 
towards a settlement. This led to the Kitona agreement of 20 
December between Tshombe and Adoula, which like all pre- 

vious agreements was soon repudiated by Tshombe. Macmil- 
lan optimistically reflected that the parliamentary crisis had 
come about because ‘Members (who have up to now shut their 
eyes to the realities of the modern world) have been rudely 
awakened. Britain (or France, or Germany, or any European 

Power) can no longer exert a decisive influence on these world 
events.’9” It is not clear, though, that his own estimate of the 

limits of British power was accurate, nor that he had an unam- 
biguous policy towards the Congo. In late December, confer- 
ring with Kennedy at Bermuda, he complained that the United 

States was too eager to urge on the United Nations contingent 
and told the President that Tshombe was among the West’s best 
friends in Central Africa. In return, Kennedy wanted Macmil- 
lan to discourage Welensky from supplying arms to Katanga, 
but found the British representatives immovable.38 Macmil- 
lan was in the peculiar position of being more sympathetic to 
Adoula and the United Nations in public (and in his memoirs) 
than he was in private, and attracting criticism from his own 
right wing for adopting a position which did not really repre- 
sent his policy. This was perhaps a greater misjudgement than 
the transient panic over the bombs episode, for it led him into 
more and more contradictions. 
Although the principles which supposedly underlay Macmil- 
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lan’s policy towards the Congo remained constant, they inter- 
acted strangely with the march of events to produce a policy 
which for the rest of his premiership grew more, rather than 
less, inconsistent. After the parliamentary crisis of December 

1961 he continued to insist that the best hope for the Congo 
was to leave Katanga with considerable autonomy in a federal 
system, so that it could contribute its mineral wealth to the 

paralysed Congolese economy. He condemned any attempt 
to impose a unitary state, and resisted United Nations action 
which might tend in that direction. He was encouraged in 
this attitude by the arrest of Gizenga, and corresponding re- 
duction in the fear of Russian influence, in January 1962. In 
practice his principles now led him to defend Katanga against 
the authority of Adoula’s government, and to resist the sort of 
military action by the United Nations which Britain had sup- 
ported in 1961 — a position closer to Welensky’s, but too late, 
of course, to please Welensky himself. 

In March 1962 Macmillan made a lot of trouble before 
bowing to American pressure to contribute to the cost of 
United Nations operations in the Congo; in April he told the 
Americans that Tshombe’s position had to be maintained so 
long as Britain was involved in the Central African Federa- 
tion. The Americans concluded that Macmillan was encourag- 
ing Tshombe to obstruct the reintegration of the Congo, and 
protested. Without any progress in talks between Adoula and 
Tshombe, Adoula warned that he would have to resort again 

to force, and was only deflected by an American initiative to 
impose economic sanctions on Katanga. This threat had a 

small effect: the Katanga government agreed to a federal con- 
stitution, but no sooner was it inaugurated in October than 
Tshombe repudiated it, leaving the United Nations to carry 
out its sanction of using military force again. Macmillan, com- 
plaining that ‘before the Communist danger had been happily 
overcome, we had worked in harmony; now that it had been 

removed, we seemed to be drifting apart’ ,°9 continued to resist 

American pressure to support the United Nations. This led to 
a bruising confrontation at the Nassau conference in Decem- 
ber 1962, in which the Americans pointed out that Tshombe 
seemed incapable of keeping agreements, and that any policy 
which depended on his agreement was therefore doomed to 

failure. Macmillan, as part of the price for the Polaris missiles, 

agreed to United Nations action; operations began almost im- 
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mediately and Tshombe was finally forced out of the country 
in January 1963. He took refuge in Northern Rhodesia, but 

this implied no practical support and he fled to Europe in June 
1963. Adoula’s unitary state took over, and at the end of the 
year expelled all Russian diplomats from the Congo. 

The best Macmillan could say about his Congo policy in ret- 
rospect was that ‘through this somewhat painful journey we 
managed to avoid the main dangers, both internally and in the 
Commonwealth’, though he later told a rightly sceptical biog- 
rapher ‘Kennedy and I, we drove the Russians out...’.4° In fact 
even the main dangers were hardly avoided, and the evolution 
of policy demonstrates with uncomfortable clarity the limits 
on Macmillan’s power both internally and externally. His pol- 
icy towards the Congo was predicated on keeping Russia out 
of Central Africa and protecting British interests, which were 
specifically British business interests in the mineral wealth of 
Katanga. He could only work indirectly, and none of the avail- 

able instruments were really under British control. Welensky 
would not do what he was told, and enjoyed the support of the 
Conservative right wing in his disobedience. The: Common- 
wealth, far from being a source of diplomatic strength, was 
prone to division, and represented a brake on British power. 
The United States had its own preferred solutions, and in ex- 
treme situations simply enforced them on a reluctant ally. The 
elimination of Russian influence was finally brought about by 
means precisely opposite to those favoured by Macmillan. At 
home, the dissatisfaction of the Conservative right wing seemed 
increasingly to frighten him, and his fumblings over support 
for Katanga in 1961 and the bombs episode at the end of that 
year contributed to the loathing which was felt for him by his 
party opponents, and even to discontent within the Cabinet. 
The sureness of touch which was his main claim to power was 
rarely in evidence over the Congo. 

IMPERIAL OVERSTRETCH IN AFRICA? 

The Congo affair, interlocked so closely in time and space with 
the demise of the Central African Federation, underlined the 

continuity between Macmillan’s problems in the African em- 
pire, caused by the developments which prompted his Wind of 
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Change speeches, and his dilemmas as a Great Power diploma- 
tist. It hardly mattered that one tract of African territory was 
part of Britain’s colonial empire, the other the residue of an- 
other country’s defunct imperium. The pitfalls for Macmillan 
had much in common. Local nationalism, intersected by tribal 
and regional differences in countries whose borders were the 
artificial product of nineteenth-century imperialism, was too 
powerful to be contained permanently by colonial authority. 
Self-government, followed sooner or later by independence, 

was an outcome accepted by all parties. Disagreement was as- 
sured, though, over the rate of political change, over the best 

means to ensure that decolonisation was not accompanied by 
an increase of Russian influence in Africa, and over the best 

way to secure the preservation of white interests in the inde- 
pendent African states. | 
The principles underlying Macmillan’s policy were, in broad 

outline, consistent. In every African territory he wanted Britain 
to emerge with as much residual influence as was compati- 
ble with the consent of the emerging African political forces, 

and he wanted the successor governments to be friendlier to 
Britain than to Russia. Usually this meant moving faster than 
at least half of his Cabinet would have liked, and there is no 

doubt that Lennox-Boyd as Colonial Secretary, and Home, first 
at the Commonwealth Office and later at the Foreign Office, 
were more determined to hang on to the colonial empire than 
Macmillan would have wished. The magnitude of Macmillan’s 
political problems, especially after the implicit warning broad- 
cast in his Wind of Change speech in Cape Town, was pro- 
portionate to the strength of the links between local white 
interests in Africa and the Conservative Party. Bits of the 
Empire could be given back to the inhabitants without at- 
tracting much attention if no powerful vested interests had 
a foothold in British politics. Thus Tanganyika and Uganda, 
with small European populations and insignificant economic 
assets, gained their independence by 1963 with little fuss. The 
Central African Federation was difficult to unravel because it 
had been knitted together so carefully by an alliance between 
the white settlers of Southern Rhodesia and the Conservative 
governments of Churchill and Eden. Welensky’s undoubted 
political talents, working in harness with Salisbury and disaf- 
fected back-benchers such as Lambton, created parliamentary 

difficulties which continually threatened to ambush the gov- 
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ernment. Even within the Federation there was less resistance 

to withdrawal from Nyasaland, which had few assets besides a 

surplus population, than to a settlement in Northern Rhodesia 
which contained some of the richest copper mines in the world. 

Parliamentary trouble reflected the anxiety of the proprietors. 
On the other hand the Conservative Party machine, which was 
loyal to the leadership, was used to make direct contact with 
tractable political movements among the settlers.*! 

A contrasting problem was presented by Kenya, where moves 
towards independence for an African-dominated polity had 
been rather faster after the end of the Mau Mau troubles. In- 

stead of the mining wealth of Northern Rhodesia, Kenya had 
an efficient capitalist agriculture in the White Highlands, and 

a settler class with close connections at home. Macmillan sum- 

marised the position in conversation with Kilmuir in 1961: 

We both feel anxious about Kenya. In-seme-ways this1s more diffrent 
at home-even-than-Centrat Africa. People are not yet accustomed to 
the idea that, sooner or later, we shall have to accept independence 

in Kenya.... ‘Sooner or later’ — the Colonial Office are thinking 
in terms of 1964, which seems to many of us foo soon. From the 

Party point of view, Kenya is going to create a big problem. We 
might even split on it. Lord Salisbury and Lord Lambton could 
easily rally a ‘settler’ lobby here of considerable power The Kenyan 
settlement has been aristocratic and upper middle clas§ (much more 
than Rhodesia) and has strong links with the City and the Clubs.4? 

In the event the settlers in Kenya struck a different bargain 
with African nationalism than had been attempted in Rhode- 
sia. An adequate, if not generous, land settlement reduced the 

anxieties of the settlers, and no Welensky emerged to link set- 
tler anxieties with a Conservative lobby. There were in any case 
fewer whites in Kenya than in Rhodesia (about 50,000 against 
more than 200,000 in Southern Rhodesia). Macmillan noted in 

April 1961 that ‘the Party here are very suspicious’ 43 of moves to 
release the principal African leader, Jomo Kenyatta, but polit- 
ical conditions did not encourage the spread of this suspicion 
to the centre of the Party, and there was nothing approach- 
ing the panic which seized Macmillan in December about the 
Congo bombs episode. Internal self-government, with Ken- 
yatta as prime minister, was inaugurated in June 1963 and 
independence in December. Kenyan independence was not 
painless, but its political fallout was less poisonous to Macmil- 
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lan than the affairs of the Central African Federation. 
In these transactions, Macmillan and his successive Colonial 

Secretaries took the view that a die-hard resistance would ulti- 
mately let in the Soviet Union, which would be even worse for 
trade and for British interests than early independence. Their 
position, and that of the interests, was fundamentally the same 
over the Congo. Pressed by business interests and the Welen- 
sky lobby to support Katanga at the expense of the economic 
viability of the Congolese federation, Macmillan and Home 
decided that keeping the Russians out took priority. As soon 
as the Soviet problem was eased by Adoula’s success, Macmil- 
lan’s sympathy for Tshombe was renewed, but he now found 
himself outflanked by the United States, whose policy-makers 
wanted to maintain support for the Congolese government af- 
ter Macmillan had lost interest in it. It was a confusing and 
indeed rather confused policy, but it was largely consistent with 
what was going on at the same time elsewhere in Africa. 

Did the Wind of Change blow Macmillan any good? It is 
evident from his memoirs that he was proud of the Cape Town 
speech, and that he credited it with some impact on the sub- 
sequent decolonisation of Africa. His enemies, if anything, 
thought it was even more influential than he did. Even so, it 
is difficult to resist the impression that Macmillan was not an 
enthusiast for colonial affairs. He was happy to delegate when- 
ever possible, taking direct control only when Anglo-American 
or Anglo-Russian relations were at stake, or when the domes- 
tic political impact of some colonial issue was damaging the 
government’s standing with the Conservative Party. Perhaps 
as a result of this detachment, his judgement on colonial and 
African matters was uncertain, and his achievements, even tak- 

ing into account the intractable problems which he faced, were 
rather less than his aspirations. 

THE END OF INFORMAL EMPIRE 

The futility of Britain’s diplomatic efforts in much of Africa 
was matched by frustration in the exercise of power on the pe- 
riphery of British possessions in the Middle East and in Asia. 
For Macmillan and his immediate predecessors, one of the 
most uncomfortable legacies of the Second World War was the 
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loss of Britain’s rdle as a global prefect, keeping small and 
unruly nations in order wherever their behaviour threatened 
British or European interests. The Cold War sharpened the 
definition of British interests abroad, and of course brought in 
the United States as the principal military power in the West. 
Much of Macmillan’s time and effort was spent in harmonising 
British and American policies towards political change outside 
Europe. He thought he was bringing the Americans in to sup- 
port British policy under British guidance; the Americans, un- 

derstandably, thought of Britain as a useful ally rather than as a 
mentor. The results were sometimes comic, sometimes tragic. 
In the early years of his premiership the major incidents were 
in Iraq, the Lebanon, and over the unhappy islands of Quemoy 
and Matsu; during his second government, he tried to offer ad- 

vice and support to the United States about Laos and Vietnam. 
While British and American policies were undoubtedly closer 
together at the end of his premiership than at the beginning, 
contemporaries recognised that this had come about because 
the alliance was no longer being operated as a partnership be- 
tween equals. America led; Britain followed, sometimes at a 
distance, sometimes with dignity. 

The Middle East 

Developments in the Middle East, besides Suez, neatly illustrate 

the logical progression from Great Power behaviour through 
partnership to very unequal partnership. In 1955, as For- 
eign Secretary, Macmillan had defended the position of one 

of Britain’s clients in the Persian Gulf, the Sultan of Muscat 

and Oman, by sending troops to occupy the Buraimi Oasis. 
The occasion was a territorial claim by Saudi Arabia, which 

the Sultan disputed. Neither the United States nor the Com- 
monwealth was consulted, and on one occasion armed conflict 

nearly broke out between British troops and American civilians 
working for the ARAMCO oil company, which had the support 
of the US government.‘ The same troops were conveniently 
available to help suppress a rebellion against the Sultan which 
began later in the year under the Imam of Oman, and was sup- 
ported by Saudi Arabia and Egypt. The Imam and his brother, 
Talib, were persistent and energetic, and by the middle of 1957 
central Oman was controlled by the rebels. The Sultan ap- 
pealed for British help, and in July the Cabinet agreed to pro- 
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vide ‘unprovocative’ support, such as military supplies by airlift 
and the presence of a second frigate to patrol the coast. In ad- 
dition the Cabinet decided to send RAF units to attack rebel 
positions with leaflets followed by rocket fire, it being too hot 
to send infantry. On this occasion, Macmillan immediately 
informed Eisenhower and received a tentative message of sup- 
port. But after the attacks had begun, Dulles turned up in 
London and it took some effort of public relations to link his 
visit to disarmament rather than to American concern about 
British excesses. 

The initial operation against the Omani rebels was a quali- 
fied success, in that the towns were restored to the Sultan. 

Operations in the hills, conducted by the Sultan’s army with 
British reinforcements, continued for some time. This was 

done without active co-operation from the United States, and 
in August 1957 Macmillan was irritated by American refusal to 
support Britain at the United Nations when a number of Arab 
countries tried to call a Security Council meeting to protest 
against British aggression. 

At the same time, in Syria, an internal political struggle be- 
tween left-wing officers and the old regime was being won by 
the left, with considerable support from the Russians. Dulles 
was duly alarmed, and proposed to invoke the new Eisenhower 
Doctrine to intervene. Macmillan, concerned at the growth of 
Russian influence but equally concerned that the Syrians might 
cut oil supplies to the West if provoked, tried at first to restrain 
him. ‘The real problem is not to discourage the Americans, if 
they are really serious and will see through any action to the 
end; at the same time not to stimulate them to do something 

which (if it goes off at half-cock) will be fatal.’46 On the same 

day he wrote to Dulles with a lucid exposition of the domino 
theory of communist subversion which was later to be the log- 
ical spine of American policy throughout the Middle and Far 
East: 

...we seem to be unable to deal with this method of infiltration, 

which brings about Communism by an internal coup. 
The next stage, then, may be an attempt to subvert Lebanon 

and Jordan by the same methods. If we do nothing, both of these 
countries might easily fall. Then I suppose the pressure will turn 
against Iraq.... 47 

Macmillan was looking for a ‘reasonable casus belli’ to justify 
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a military operation against Syria, but he was also afraid that 

Dulles might back out at the last minute. His old friend Harold 

Caccia — now ambassador in Washington — warned him that ‘If 

anything goes wrong, you may be sure that Mr Dulles will place 
the blame elsewhere.’48 Macmillan sent his private secretary to 
Washington to advance the discussions, and decided to stop 
consulting the Cabinet about the details of his exchanges with 
Dulles. In early September the Americans appeared to be get- 
ting ready to use force, and Macmillan asked Duncan Sandys, 
the Defence Minister, to find out what military action Britain 

could take in support of Iraq if war broke out between Iraq on 
the one side and Syria and Egypt on the other. 
Although the United States began to step up its action with 

a well-publicised delivery of arms to Jordan, the Syrian affair 
went off the boil in September, causing Macmillan to complain 
that ‘the Americans may be learning, but they are playing their 
hand abominably and allowing the Russians to take trick after 
trick’.49 A further opportunity was provided by a border dis- 
pute between Syria and Turkey, which led to direct threats 
by Russia against Turkey and concomitantly by the Americans 
against Russia. At this point Khrushchev very pointedly backed 
off, telling the Turkish ambassador that the border incident 

posed no threat to peace. “Thus’, as Macmillan recalled in 
his memoirs, ‘to all appearances the whole matter came to an 
end’.50 

What, though, was ‘the matter’ which was now ended? 

Macmillan’s very private communication with Dulles, and his 
contemplation of military action, both suggest that he was try- 
ing to lead the Americans towards an attack on Syria which 
would have had the effect of strengthening Western influence 
in the Middle East. If this was the intention, rather than the 

mere defence of an admittedly unsatisfactory status quo, it was 
clearly a failure, and Khrushchev’s sudden affability towards 

Turkey was a significant and successful gesture to advance Rus- 
sian interests. In that case, it could be said that Macmillan and 

Dulles had actually failed; and even if their intentions were 
more modestly to hold the ring in the Middle East, they had 
had no conspicuous success. As at Bermuda, there was now 
some evidence of close Anglo-American co-operation, but not 
much sign that it did either party any good. 

In the first part of 1958 Britain was still exercising an un- 
apologetic suzerainty around the Persian Gulf, and trying to 
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retain its powerful influence in Iraq, whose economy and in- 
deed political life was dominated by the Iraq Petroleum Com- 
pany, a British concern with strong official links. In February 
Syria and Egypt announced their union in the United Arab 
Republic; the Yemen, though still a monarchy, joined in a fed- 

eration with the new body in early March. The response by 
pro-Western Arab governments was to form the Arab Federa- 
tion, consisting of Iraq and Jordan. Nuri Said, who returned 

to the premiership in Iraq in February, tried to get Britain 
and the United States to support the Iraqi economy if dur- 
ing a conflict with Syria the vital oil pipelines were cut. To 
this Macmillan agreed, but with some reservations that Nuri’s 
schemes were too grandiose and that he was telling different 
stories to his British and American friends. Macmillan and 
Lloyd were also unhappy about Nuri’s proposal that Britain 
should abandon her protectorate over Kuwait so that Kuwait 
could join the Arab Federation. The determination to hold 
on to control wherever possible was well illustrated by Aden, 

which was in political turmoil and vulnerable to direct attack 
from the Yemen. In July, after a couple of months of trouble 
in Lahej, one of the Aden protectorates, Macmillan recorded 

in his diary that ‘the young Sultan has gone over to Nasser.... 
He will have to be deposed.’5! He was. This was the exercise 
of colonial power. 

The exercise of indirect influence, by comparison, was much 

more difficult. On 14 July the Iraqi monarchy was overthrown, 
taking with it Britain’s closest friend in the Middle East, Nuri 
Said, who was lynched enthusiastically by an angry mob. The 
Iraqi revolt precipitated a crisis in Middle Eastern politics 
which threatened to exceed Suez in its range and severity. 
The pro-Western government of the Lebanon under President 
Chamoun had already warned Britain and the United States 
that it might at any moment ask for military assistance against 
Egyptian ‘infiltration’ and military threats from Syria,>? and the 
Cabinet had agreed in May to take action if asked. Faced with 
the resurgence of pan-Arabism in Iraq, Chamoun now called 
in his promise, and Macmillan learned that the Americans in- 

tended to respond. His reaction, after making understandably 

arch comparisons with Suez, was to reflect on the wider prob- 

lem. In the Cabinet: 

The general feeling was uncertainty as to what the American policy 
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really would be. Nothing could be more fatal than for the Americans 

to go to the Lebanon and rest content with that or soon retire in 

favour of a U.N. force. We had to carry, on our economy, all the evil 

effects that might follow — in Iraq, Syria and the Gulf. Our sterling 

oil might dry up and what real guarantee had we from U.S.?53 

Macmillan soon learned, by telephoning Eisenhower, that 

the United States had already taken the decision to send troops 

to the Lebanon, and tried to persuade him that an action con- 

fined to the Lebanon ‘entailed much greater risk to us than 

to the Americans’. This estimate was confirmed two days later 

when King Hussein of Jordan, whose cousin Feisal had just lost 

his kingdom in Iraq, appealed for British and American assis- 

tance against presumed military threats from Egypt, Syria and 

possibly Iraq. The Cabinet’s reaction was a fascinating study 
in the effect of the Suez trauma. Macmillan’s own view of the 
desirability of sending troops is heavily disguised both in his 
own memoir account and in the Cabinet records. The closest 
one comes to candour is his advice, to a Cabinet which already 

seemed very determined to go ahead, that it would be ‘quixotic 
but honourable’, and even this is delphic.54 His greatest anxi- 

ety seems to have been to ensure that, in contrast to the Suez 
operation, all members of the Cabinet should have been fully 
informed of the political and military context, including discus- 
sions with allies, before taking a decision. In the small hours 
of 17 July he telephoned Dulles twice, only to discover that 
he thought it ‘rash but praiseworthy’ to intervene and would 
provide logistical and moral support but no troops. Macmil- 
lan then ‘went with Butler and Norman Brook [the Cabinet 

Secretary] into another room’ and in a private discussion con- 

cluded that the Cabinet were determined to press on. Even 
then, his summing up covered all the difficulties in some de- 
tail, including the point that the political risks in Britain were 
finely balanced. After all this, the Cabinet was unanimous. ‘So 

I said “So be it.” ’.55 
After all this trouble to avoid recriminations from disaffected 

colleagues, Macmillan went peacefully to bed, but woke up to 
a dreadful blow from the Foreign Office, which had forgot- 
ten to get permission to fly through Israeli airspace to deliver 
troops to Amman. This crisis in turn was averted, while the 
House of Commons gave the government a comfortable ma- 
jority. With the troops in Jordan, Macmillan became anxious 
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that they could not défend the monarchy without reinforce- 
ments and logistical support from the Americans. In the event 
this was unnecessary since the threat from other Arab pow- 
ers evaporated and the troops were withdrawn in November, 
to the tune of mutual congratulation between Macmillan and 
Eisenhower. Although Britain had in part led the Americans 
into action, there was now no doubt that only the United States 
was actually capable of mounting a successful operation in the 
Middle East. 

Quemoy and Matsu 

Quemoy and Matsu were two very small islands off the coast 
of mainland China, which were occupied by the defeated army 
of Chiang Kai-Shek in 1949 when the body of his Kuomintang 
forces were withdrawn to Taiwan. Since 1954 the United States 
had been formally committed to defending the islands by force 
against territorial claims by the communist regime. For some 
reason still unknown Chinese forces began an artillery bom- 
bardment of the islands, which by now held a garrison of 

80,000 men, on 23 August 1958. Britain had declared in 1955 

that the mainland regime had a good claim to the islands. 
Macmillan was in a dilemma: should he support the Ameri- 
cans and risk his relations with India and the Afro-Asian group, 
or stick to the established British position and jeopardise ‘the 
friendship and alliance which I have done so much to rebuild 
and strengthen’?56 The Americans themselves were in difficul- 

ties because Dulles clearly believed that the loss of the islands 
would be the first stage in the collapse of the ‘anti-Communist 
barrier’. The American response was to warn the mainland 
regime that they would use force to defend the islands and 
that this force would necessarily include the use of nuclear 
weapons against airbases. 

Macmillan, alarmed, urged Dulles and Eisenhower to put 
together a movement at the United Nations to call for demili- 
tarisation of the islands and the maintenance of the territorial 
status quo. Macmillan’s initiative was in effect ignored by Wash- 
ington, largely because Chiang Kai-Shek refused absolutely to 
withdraw from the islands. Eisenhower and Khrushchev were 
soon trading threats, but on 11 September Eisenhower de- 
clared on television that the United States would not yield to 
force but was ready for negotiation. In Britain a badly-handled 
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article by Randolph Churchill gave Evening Standard readers 

the impression that Macmillan was prepared to back the Amer- 

icans with force. This had to be deflected, but the House was 

not sitting and Macmillan was not unduly disturbed by the state 

of British public opinion. By 19 September Khrushchev and 

Eisenhower had reached the stage of exchanging written in- 

sults, but Eisenhower told Selwyn Lloyd on 21 September that 

he was against the use of atomic weapons in any operations to 

defend the islands.5”7 At this point the crisis seemed to reach 

a plateau: the bombardment was temporarily suspended on 6 

October, resumed on 20 October, then scaled down to alter- 

nate days from 25 October, and finally abandoned in March 
1959. Nobody knew why it had started or why it had ended. 
Although Macmillan himself wondered pointedly what was 

‘the moral to be drawn’ from this affair, it is not too difficult 

to supply one. British policy over a matter which clearly threat- 
ened the global interests of the Western alliance was different 
in tone from that of the Americans. Although Macmillan him- 
self had expounded versions of the ‘domino theory’ in his 
analyses of many international incidents, and had congratu- 
lated himself on the superior wisdom of British diplomacy, the 
reality of global power was that on the Western side the United 
States decided what would be done.5® 

STILL AT THE TOP TABLE? 

While trying to exercise power outside Europe, Macmillan was 
concerned to maintain as much as possible of the pax Brit- 
tanica with which he had grown up. He believed himself to 
be a realist, compared with some of his Cabinet and many of 
his back-bench followers, and proposed to maintain British in- 
fluence by co-operation with the United States. In the end 
Britain’s withdrawal from Africa was conducted quickly, with 
more dignity in some countries than in others, and always with 

discomfort. While trading on Britain’s experience and wisdom, 
in the ‘Greeks and Romans’ analogy which so readily came to 
his lips, he often criticised the Americans for diplomatic inep- 
titude. It was painful for him, no less painful for others, to 
recognise that the United States alone possessed the military 
force to police the world. His particular error was to assume 
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that his relationship with American presidents, backed up by 
the British diplomatic machine, was enough to channel that 
power in the appropriate direction. 
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Chapter 9 

TOWARDS EUROPE 

For almost the whole of Macmillan’s premiership Britain’s re- 
lations with Western Europe were contentious and important. 
At the beginning, he was determined to complete the edifice 
of the European Free Trade Area, the incarnation of ‘Plan 

G’. Next he had to overcome the prejudices of his party and 
persuade them that full British membership of the Common 
Market would be desirable. Finally he launched Britain’s appli- 
cation to join, with strong support from the United States. His 
commitment to closer association with Europe was consistent 
and enduring. The conventional wisdom is that his reasons for 
this were ‘political’ rather than ‘economic’; in other words that 

he did not closely calculate the financial or economic impli- 
cations of joining the Common Market, because he saw over- 
riding diplomatic reasons for strengthening Western Europe 
against Russia. Moreover, it is said, he saw Britain as the effec- 

tive leader of the new Europe, cementing the Western Alliance 
with its close connections both to the United States and to the 
Commonwealth. Largely for that reason the British application 
was thwarted by de Gaulle, and Macmillan’s policy came crash- 
ing to the ground, the victim of his inability to understand the 
European perspective on European integration. 

It would be hard to deny that Macmillan and his Cabinet 
were preoccupied by the strength of the Western Alliance, or 
that, especially after the 1959 election, they saw Britain’s entry 
into Europe as part of a Grand Design for the West which did 
not happen to appeal to de Gaulle. Pressure from the United 
States was also based on the hope that Britain in Europe would 
help to curb the Germans and the French. Yet the history of 
Macmillan’s own commitment to Europe belies any purely poli- 
tique explanation. As we have seen,! he began his European 
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enthusiasm in the late 1940s as a Cold Warrior who also saw do- 

mestic political advantages for his party in pressing for greater 
integration with Europe. During his brief encounter with the 
European Defence Community, as Minister of Defence and as 
Foreign Secretary, he supported closer integration but backed 

‘confederal’ rather than ‘federal’ solutions to defence prob- 
lems. But as Chancellor, responding after the event to the 

Messina proposals of 1955, he had co-operated with Thorney- 
croft to introduce a wholly different note into the discussion. 
With the six Messina powers obviously determined to build 
upon the functional institutions of the European Coal and 
Steel Community, he began to see European economic inte- 
gration as a way to shock the British economy into life. Taking 
the view that it would be impossible to integrate Britain into 
the Common Market which the Messina powers were devising, 
because of Britain’s trading links with the Commonwealth, he 

elicited ‘Plan G’ from officials and backed it strongly in Cabinet 
from the middle of 1956.2 Henceforward the ‘political’ and the 
‘economic’ motives for the closer integration of Europe were 
inseparable in his mind. As he put it, with supreme ambiguity, 
in his memoirs: ‘Our purpose was to consolidate the political 
and economic resources of all Europe in the common stand 
of the free world against Communism and disruption’.% 

Suez overshadowed all other foreign policy problems for 
Britain between the autumn of 1956 and the Bermuda con- 
ference, when the process of mending fences with the United 

States began in earnest. Although official Whitehall monitored 
the development of the Messina plans up to the signature of 
the Treaty of Rome on 25 March 1957, there was no serious 
discussion by ministers. Plan G was accepted by the Commons 
in November 1956, and a White Paper appeared in January. 
After this, British attempts to ‘enter Europe’ took the form of 

two campaigns. From April 1957 until the end of 1958 minis- 

ters pressed ahead with Plan G. Reginald Maudling, eventually 

with a seat in the Cabinet, was given the job of co-ordinating 

departmental activity and negotiating with European govern- 

ments, while a ministerial committee oversaw policy and tried 

with some success to inspire the Conservative Party in sup- 

port of the idea. This effort collapsed when the French, at an 

OEEC meeting in December 1958, declared flatly against any 

co-operation between the Common Market countries and the 

proposed European Free Trade Area. There was then a long 
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pause. In July 1961 the Cabinet decided to make a formal 
application to join the Common Market as a full member. In 
January 1963 these negotiations in turn collapsed in the face of 
a French veto. Macmillan, who had spent a great deal of polit- 
ical capital in persuading the country and reluctant members 
of his party that entry was a good idea, was deeply shaken.4 
What was Macmillan’s contribution to these negotiations, 

and his attitude to them as they developed? For the most 
part he was concerned with high policy, squaring de Gaulle 
and Adenauer and trying to reconcile British interests in eco- 
nomic co-operation with political tensions which were very of- 
ten caused by developments in defence policy and superpower 
relations. Macmillan paid visits to Paris and Bonn (respectively 
in March and May 1957) which at least made the difficulties 
clear. In both capitals he was attacked for the defence cuts 
and met resistance over his EFTA proposals. From the begin- 
ning the French were less helpful than the Germans. They 
had pressed successfully for their colonial empire to be in- 
cluded within the Common Market tariff wall, a move which 

was bound to make it more difficult to negotiate an amicable 
settlement with the Commonwealth countries. The German 
position was more promising, in that Adenauer seemed sim- 
ply to want to delay discussions until the Treaty of Rome was 
not only signed but ratified by the six signatories. Macmillan, 
impatient at the delay, was struck by the strength of mutual sus- 
picion between France and Germany which was likely to make 
any negotiation difficult; more immediately difficult was that 
he did not warm to Adenauer, and that the French republic 
was about to enter a period of political turmoil, inaugurated 
by the fall of the Mollet government in May. ‘What I chiefly 
fear’, he wrote in April, ‘and what we must at all costs avoid, 
is the Common Market coming into being and the Free Trade 
area never following.... °5 

To prevent this, he tried to launch a political initiative, on 
the grounds that 

I feel sure that the pressure for European integration, though ex- 
pressed in economic terms, really derives from the strong desire 
of many European countries for some form of closer political as- 
sociation. We should take advantage of this, since, while we are 
in something of a straitjacket as regards economic integration, we 
may well be able to show Europe that we are prepared for a closer 
political association .... 
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...we must take positive action in this field, to ensure that the 

wider Free Trade Area is more attractive than the narrow Common 

Market of the Six. We must take the lead, either in widening their 
project, or, if they will not co-operate with us, in opposing it.6 

Reginald Maudling was appointed as an ‘Apostolic figure’ to 
negotiate both with the Messina powers and with the larger 
group who were to make up the Free Trade Area. His main 
problem, it then seemed, was the interest of many of the po- 
tential EFTA nations, and also of the Commonwealth, in the 

arrangements to be made for foodstuffs. The British plan 
was to exclude foodstuffs altogether from the arrangement 
between the Six and the Eleven (EFTA countries). The Six 

let it be known that they wanted a system of managed mar- 
kets. Although they were not much concerned to export food 
to Britain, this would imply that tariff barriers would eventu- 
ally be raised against the import of Commonwealth foodstuffs 
into Britain. This was a sticking point for the Empire interest 
in the Conservative Party, and provided ammunition for the 

Beaverbrook press, which was consistently opposed to any sort 
of co-operation with Europe throughout Macmillan’s premier- 
ship. 

While Maudling carried on his negotiations in the second 
half of 1958, Macmillan’s rdle was merely avuncular. The 
OEEC decided firmly to go ahead with a Free Trade Area in 
October, and Maudling set about negotiating its terms and 
the terms of its relationship to the Six. Macmillan was able 
to tell Commonwealth countries, on his 1958 tour, that the 

agricultural problem could probably be settled, but in fact 
the suspicions of the French government were an obstacle in 
themselves. Macmillan believed that the French were afraid of 
British industrial competition, added to the already formidable 
competition of Germany; this was confirmed when French ne- 
gotiators suggested that tariff arrangements between the Six 
and the Eleven should be negotiated on an industry-by-industry 

basis, and that European goods should be admitted to Com- 

monwealth countries with preferential tariffs. Neither of these 

conditions were acceptable to the British, and Maudling de- 

cided that ‘the French are determined to wreck it’.”? In April 

Adenauer came to London, and Macmillan was able to ‘coun- 

teract the poison which the French have been pouring into his 

ears.’8 Unhelpfully, the last government of the French Fourth 
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Republic was in its final throes; it collapsed at the end of May, 
and Charles de Gaulle became prime minister. This entirely 
altered the climate in which negotiations took place. Although 
de Gaulle’s views on Europe were not very different from the 
instincts of the Quai d’Orsay, his personal authority in France, 
even before he made himself President of the Fifth Republic 
in December, was such that Macmillan found himself negotiat- 
ing most issues personally with the French head of state, who 
would then direct French policy where he wanted it to go. 

On Macmillan’s visit to Paris in June 1958 the European 
question was only third on the agenda, after nuclear deter- 
rence and the various crises in the Middle East, but it pro- 

duced headaches. Macmillan rather wanly hoped ‘that this 
period of hesitation will now be over and that a period of de- 
cision will have begun’. De Gaulle’s response was to indicate 
a general preference for co-operation with Britain and other 
European countries, ‘But we must find means of arriving there 
without destroying the equilibrium of France’s economy and fi- 
nances...and without basically putting at issue the agreements 
existing between the six member countries of the European 
Common Market. You and we will have to make an effort 
of imagination and of will.’"!° This coincided with a renewal 
of French obstruction on the negotiating committee. Macmil- 
lan tried to enlist Adenauer in his support, warning him that 
de Gaulle ‘still regards this very much as an economic prob- 
lem and did not perhaps fully appreciate the political impli- 
cations’.!! The threat of a Franco-German bloc in opposition 
to co-operation with EFTA receded when Adenauer took of- 
fence at the first proposal to emanate from de Gaulle for a 
‘tripartite’ defence relationship between France, Britain and 
the United States. Macmillan hoped to ‘exploit his anger with 
the French...to some account’!2 but this proved impossible 
since the structure of the Common Market was such that any 
nation had an effective veto. By October Macmillan decided 
that ‘de Gaulle is bidding high for the hegemony of Europe’, 18 
and made a last attempt to get de Gaulle to see the political ad- 
vantages of co-operation between EFTA and the Six. This was 
rudely, and finally, rejected in an official French pronounce- 
ment on 14 November that ‘it is not possible to create a Free 
Trade Area as wished by the British’. The EFTA negotiations 
therefore proceeded separately, and the agreement for a Free 
Trade Area was signed by seven countries in November 1959. 
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Trade Area as wished by the British’. The EFTA negotiations 
therefore proceeded separately, and the agreement for a Free 
Trade Area was signed by seven countries in November 1959. 

The lesson of EFTA was that de Gaulle had not become any 
easier since he had first had dealings with Macmillan in Algeria 
in 1942. After December 1958 the effective political leaders of 
the three major Western powers could trace a common associ- 
ation to the North African campaign of 1942-43, but these his- 

toric friendships did remarkably little to improve the harmony 
of the alliance. Macmillan in particular managed to gain little 
or no advantage from his old ‘contacts’ in his effort to improve 
Britain’s standing in Europe. Shortly after the EFTA treaty was 
signed he reflected in a letter to Selwyn Lloyd that: 

For better or worse, the Common Market looks like being here to 
stay at least for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, if we try to 
disrupt it we should unite against us all the Europeans who have felt 
humiliated during the past decade by the weakness of Europe ... The 
question is how to live with the Common Market economically and 
turn its political effects into channels harmless to ourselves... Since 
the French are fundamentally in a very strong position politically, I 
believe that we shall not succeed in bullying them into accepting us 
as a partner in Europe; we shall have to coax them... The Germans, 
however, are not in a strong political position, and I would have 
thought there was some chance of bullying them. 

This rumination led to a meeting at Chequers with Lloyd, 
Heathcoat Amory, the Chancellor, and Maudling, the Presi- 

dent of the Board of Trade, together with a select handful of 
civil servants, at which Macmillan was outspoken about ‘the 
Jews, the Planners, and the old cosmopolitan element’ among 
European politicians who wanted a supra-national European 
organisation. He declared that ‘U.K. must try and preserve 
its position as a Great nation with world-wide responsibilities. 
We did not see it as part of our future policy to seek to re- 
vive a powerful Germany.’ This led him to the conclusion that 
the Common Market increased global stability and that further 
efforts to disrupt it were unwise.°5 

During 1959 and 1960 British aspirations to a closer eco- 
nomic relationship with Europe fell into abeyance, partly, it 
would seem, because the British economy was temporarily 
strong. The political ends which Macmillan had often de- 
scribed for Europe were sought a different way: in particular 
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and often cynical reactions to Macmillan’s summitry were dis- 
couraging, and the effort of winning de Gaulle around afresh 
to every initiative was taxing. This alone suggested to Macmil- 
lan after the failure of the 1960 summit that the unity of the 
West needed further nurture. This led to his Grand Design 
document, noted above, and thus to a renewal in 1961 of the 

initiative which had lapsed more than two years earlier. 
On this occasion the predominance of the political over the 

economic motive was more apparent. Knowing that he had ac- 
tive support from most of the Kennedy administration, Macmil- 
lan began to educate his Cabinet and his party about the polit- 
ical advantages of an undivided Western Europe. The problem 
of agriculture was recognised early and faced: the agricultural 
lobby in Britain was asked to state its precise needs, and in 

April high-level messages to Australia and Canada elicited the 
minimum requirements of those countries. Edward Heath was 
designated as a negotiator, much as Maudling had been ap- 
pointed to carry through the EFTA proposal, even before the 
Cabinet had fully considered the decision to make an appli- 
cation to join, and he went to the Western European Union 
meeting in February to announce that Britain was prepared 
to consider changing its stance towards the Common Market. 
Then Macmillan began on his Cabinet. In April and May he 
wooed the doubters, among whom Butler could certainly be 

counted and also Duncan Sandys, who was particularly loyal 
to the idea of the Commonwealth. The major risk was that 
Cabinet doubters could lead a dissident movement within the 
Conservative Party, which was being stirred up enthusiastically 
by the Beaverbrook press. The Cabinet discussions went on 
alongside the answering of Parliamentary Questions, and the 
government was not helped to answer this attack by its lack of 
a formed policy. But by 22 July Macmillan was able to get a 
unanimous decision, and this was announced and debated in 

the Commons. His main concern throughout this period was 
with the known opponents, some of them left over from Suez 

(of whom the noisiest was Lord Hinchingbrooke): ‘It is getting 
terribly like 1846. Anyway, none of these...can be Disraeli to 
my Peel.’15 

During the rather extended period in which the Cabinet 
was making up its mind a number of missions were sent out 
to Commonwealth countries, which had the incidental effect 

of cementing the loyalty of Sandys, who was to be ‘St John 
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the Baptist’ to Australia, New Zealand and Canada. Except 
for Diefenbaker in Canada, most Commonwealth prime minis- 
ters were surprisingly willing to wait and see if the right terms 
could be achieved; and although this reserved their positions 
for the future it at least allowed Macmillan to argue to his own 
followers that the interests of the Commonwealth were being 
considered. As the Cabinet was getting ready to take the de- 
cision, Edward Boyle warned the prime minister that ‘I don’t 
see how the Conservative Party can avoid some sort of split 
on this issue. But the example of Balfour after 1903 suggests 
that the attempt to avoid any split, on some hotly contentious 
issue, may simply result in a far greater and more damaging 
one (and in electoral disaster) .’16 

In the event the Cabinet decision was unanimous and the re- 
sponse of the House of Commons remarkably positive; Macmil- 
lan’s main critics came from the Opposition, led by Harold 
Wilson, and the Conservative abstentions were kept down to 
twenty-two. As Macmillan launched this venture for the sec- 
ond time, he remarked that ‘I should judge the chances are 
“against” an agreement, unless — on political grounds — de 
Gaulle changes his mind.’!” It was not a promising beginning. 
The formalities of application took some time, and it was not 
until October 1961 that the full text of the United Kingdom 
bid to enter the Common Market was made public in Brussels. 

By that time the domestic opposition to the proposal had 
grown, and the attitude of the Canadian government was caus- 
ing considerable satisfaction to de Gaulle, who was relying on 
time and Commonwealth opposition to save him from the need 
to veto British entry. Macmillan’s problem was to balance the 
need for consent, both in Europe and in Britain and the Com- 
monwealth, against the risk that delay would allow irresistible 
opposition to build up. In Europe he had some allies, dating 
back to the Council of Europe, who could keep the British 
informed of the possibility of progress. One of these was Jean 
Monnet, who had no official appointment but presided over 

a pressure group called the ‘Comité d’Action pour les Etats- 
Unis d’Europe’, which gave him contacts in many European 
governments. Monnet knew and admired Heath, whom he 

briefed on the French reaction, and by October was able to 

tell Macmillan in a personal meeting that the French view, at 

least, seemed to be softening. He agreed with Macmillan that 

it was important to ‘have a quick negotiation and get it over. 
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If it dragged, opposition and pressure groups would grow in 
strength.’18 Monnet was convinced of Macmillan’s determi- 
nation to press ahead with the application because he saw a 
change of heart in the Cabinet: ‘ils commencent a se rendre 
compte que les “relations privilégiées” qu’ils ont eues avec les 
Etats-Unis ne continueront pas.... Il y avait donc la beau- 
coup plus qu’une décision tactique de Macmillan, c’était le 
choix déliberé de changer de cap et de rejoindre le conti- 
nent.’!9 In Europe, sympathy for Macmillan’s position varied 
in proportion to the belief that he had indeed decided to ‘re- 
join the continent’ and reconsider the Special Relationship; 
and also to European views of British willingness to join on 
exactly the same basis as other members. Monnet, in fact, had 

already warned von Brentano of Germany that it would be im- 
portant to insist that ‘il n’y ait pas d’exceptions aux régles com- 
munes qui créeraient des division d’interéts entre l’Angleterre 
et les autres membres de la Communauté’.2° Since much of 
Macmillan’s negotiation with the Commonwealth depended on 
implicit promises that there would be special treatment for 
agricultural produce, this was potentially a dangerous sticking 
point. 

De Gaulle’s active distrust of Anglo-Saxons now became the 
critical element in European politics. From conversations with 
Kennedy in November 1961 he knew first that the Americans 
wanted to reach a settlement with Russia over Berlin, which he 

did not want, and second that the Americans wanted Britain 

in the Common Market. This was enough to arouse his sus- 
picions. On his visit to Macmillan at Birch Grove he was un- 
helpful about British entry. “Charming, affable, mellow as the 
General now is’, wrote Macmillan, ‘his little pin-head is as small 

as ever. His views are inward, not outward looking. I fear he 

has decided to oppose us — yet, in a way, he wants us in Eu- 
rope.’*! After talking to Adenauer in December, he wrote to 

Macmillan that ‘nous avons réaffermé notre intention de faire 
avancer les choses, en souhaitant tous les deux que la Grande- 
Bretagne puisse se joindre un jour a notre organisation dans les 
mémes conditions o0 nous y trouvons nous-mémes’.22 This left 
the date of Britain’s expected entry grandly ambiguous, and 
reminded Macmillan forcibly of the unpopularity of special 
conditions for British entry. Although de Gaulle was known to 
oppose a federal Europe, and in many ways to favour the sort 
of Europe which Macmillan himself preferred, it was painfully 
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evident that for him:the critical issue was not the structure of 
the new organisation but the position of France within it. 

Negotiations on detail lasted just over a year. In Britain, 
opposition built up a head of steam just as Macmillan had pre- 
dicted: the Conservative Party conferences in 1961 and 1962 
were persuaded, but grass-roots Conservatism was easily swayed 
by appeals to Empire and xenophobia. In his memoirs Macmil- 
lan dismisses this rather too readily.23 Although there were 
other reasons for the series of by-election defeats in Novem- 
ber 1962, the Common Market issue sapped morale in a party 
which had been shaken by the ministerial dismissals in July. 
Macmillan told his senior party colleagues that Europe 

...will come along, probably not as quickly as we think, but it will 
come along.... We can’t say we must definitely go in or they will all 
say Yah!, so for the moment the antis can go drip, drip, drip.... If 
in the Common Market will have to fight; and if out, will fight hard, 

won't just sink back depressed.?4 

The effect of this was to raise the political stake for Macmil- 
lan, making it possible that he would suffer for success almost 
as much as for failure in the Common Market negotiations. But 
his own reasons for persisting were so strong that he remained 
unshaken. He told Home in April 1962 that ‘there is only one 
issue now which dominates everything for the next few months. 
Shall we or shall we not be able to bring off our entry into the 
Common Market? On that the fortunes and probably the life of 
the Government depend.’?> On a visit to de Gaulle at Champs 
in June 1962 he was treated to old-fashioned courtesy and tra- 
ditional unhelpfulness in equal measure: de Gaulle mentioned 
that to include Britain in the Common Market would change 
its character, but linked this with a hint that a common Euro- 

pean policy towards defence and, for example, Berlin might be 
achieved without economic integration. If Macmillan’s motive 
for pursuing the European option had been strictly political 
this might have been appealing, but in any case it was heavily 
qualified by de Gaulle’s demand for British help in getting an 
independent nuclear deterrent for France. This Macmillan was 
not prepared to support. The final outcome of this meeting 
was never clear, for though Macmillan came away satisfied that 
the French veto would not be automatic, the nuclear issue was 

too important to be finessed in this way. 
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Macmillan’s lack of effective influence over American policy 
and publicity now became an important handicap in his Euro- 
pean ambitions. The American defence establishment, led by 
Robert McNamara, made public its own reservations about the 
British and French independent nuclear deterrents. Kennedy 
was also persuaded to criticise French ambitions for a nuclear 
role. Macmillan became impatient: 

...I shall have a chance to tell Rusk ...what terrible damage the 
Americans are doing in every field in Europe. In NATO, all the 
allies are angry with the American proposal that we should buy 
rockets to the tune of umpteen million dollars, the warheads to 
be under American control. This is not a European rocket. It’s a 
racket of the American industry. So far as the Common Market is 
concerned, the Americans are (with the best intentions) doing our 

cause great harm. The more they tell the Germans, French etc. 
that they (U.S.A.) want Britain to be in, the more they incline these 
countries to keep us out.27 

During the negotiations for entry into the Common Market, 
which Edward Heath was conducting at Brussels, the fine detail 
of economic compromise was concerned largely with the privi- 
leged position which Britain wished to maintain for its imports 
of food from the Commonwealth; but the outcome was de- 
termined by French concerns about the political and strategic 
position of an enlarged Europe, and this in turn was influ- 
enced by de Gaulle’s perception of what Macmillan was up to 
with the Americans. 

De Gaulle’s own standing was changed, for the worse as far 
as Britain was concerned, by his victory in October 1962 in 
a referendum which he called to reinforce his own position 
against the National Assembly by providing for the President 
of the Republic to be elected directly by universal suffrage. 
He also led his Gaullist party to a sweeping victory in a gen- 
eral election at the end of November. With Adenauer believed 
to be opposed to British entry, although the Italians were in 
favour, de Gaulle’s perception of the French national inter- 
est assumed an overriding importance. Much would rest on 
the meetings which Macmillan had with de Gaulle on 15-16 
December and with Kennedy at Nassau on 18-21 December. 
Since, as described above,28 these discussions were dominated 
by the issue of the nuclear deterrent and the cancellation of 
Skybolt, Macmillan was acutely embarrassed in his relations 
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both with de Gaulle'and with the Conservative Party. 
At his meeting with de Gaulle he had to explain that if Sky- 

bolt were cancelled he would ask for Polaris missiles for British 
submarines, and that if these were denied (but only then) he 

would order the building of a truly independent deterrent. 
Since the Americans were not expected to allow France to buy 
Polaris missiles, this was a sensitive issue; de Gaulle could argue 

that if the Americans cancelled Skybolt and allowed the British 
to buy Polaris, without permitting the transfer of nuclear tech- 
nology to France, this would discriminate intolerably against 
the French independent deterrent. Even though Macmillan 
promised technical co-operation between France and Britain, 
up to the limits permitted by the Anglo-American agreements 
on proliferation, events had sown doubt in de Gaulle’s mind. 
At Nassau Macmillan argued hard for the opportunity to buy 
Polaris, which was given, rather reluctantly, by the Americans 

who feared that it would upset the delicate balance of sensibil- 
ities in Europe. He was afraid of British reactions to an affair 
which seemed to the likes of the Beaverbrook press to demon- 
strate the contempt with which the American president and 
his advisers treated Britain, but rather neglected the impact of 
his limited success on the French position. In fact the Polaris 
agreement was financially generous to Britain, and the Amer- 
ican expedient to mollify France by offering Polaris missiles 
without warheads was patently unhelpful to de Gaulle. 

The other aspect of his discussion with de Gaulle had been 
an exploration of French attitudes to British entry to the Com- 
mon Market. Macmillan’s record gives the impression that 
he had won the arguments but already lost the debate. De 
Gaulle argued simply that the Common Market should remain 
unchanged; its extension to Britain, the Scandinavian coun- 

tries, Ireland, Portugal and Spain, would change its character 

and present the risk that France might be outmanoeuvred at 
Brussels. Junior French ministers and diplomats explained pri- 
vately, with varying degrees of apology, that de Gaulle was de- 
termined not to lose control of Europe, and feared that Britain 
would be too strong a player. Even the notorious difficulties 
about agricultural policy were less important than de Gaulle’s 
political determination to retain effective control of the Com- 
munity. De Gaulle’s chosen moment to reveal his hand was a 
press conference on 14 January, in which he took the oppor- 

tunity to claim that the Nassau deals about nuclear weapons, 
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which he alleged contained secret provisions directed against 
French interests, were further evidence of Britain’s unsuitabi- 

lity to join Europe. Though Macmillan was outraged at a slur 
on his honour, there was nothing he could do. The French 
Foreign Minister, Couve de Murville, demanded an end to the 

Brussels negotiations, and by the end of January the other 
Common Market nations, all of whom still seemed to want to 

continue negotiations on British entry, were forced to comply. 
In the spring of 1963 this was a grave blow to Macmillan’s 

own position, as well as to British policy. He was blamed by 
his anti-European opponents for exposing the country to an 
unnecessary humiliation, and those who supported him on the 
issue were demoralised. Opinion polls were unfavourable and 
getting worse, though soon enough the Common Market prob- 
lem gave way to the Profumo affair. Altogether the veto was as 
bad for the Conservative Party as it was for Macmillan. Butler, 
chatting to Tony Benn on 20 February, observed that 

...you know the Common Market breakdown was a much bigger 
shock for us than your chaps realised. I am very doubtful about 
it and I only supported it because of our exports. If we had gone 
through with it we might have faced a real farmers’ revolt. 

- Macmillan and de Gaulle had been going different ways for 
some time, especially with regard to the Americans in Europe. I 
always thought those shooting parties at Chateau Rambouillet were 
a mistake, especially getting Lady Dorothy out of mothballs for the 
trip. No truths were ever exchanged. 

.... but it may make it easier for us to win the Election.29 

Butler, ‘wildly indiscreet and of course utterly unreliable’ was 
thinking of his own position; he was also an open opponent of 
the Common Market, who would not have been unhappy to 
see his old rival stricken by the issue. Although he was cautious 
about the episode’s effects on his party he was in no doubt that 
‘the PM will carry on. He’s in good shape.’ He did. 
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Chapter 10 

‘IS IT TOO GOOD TO LAST?’ 

POLICY AND POLITICS AT HOME 

1957-63 

Macmillan gave less attention to domestic policy and politics 
than to foreign affairs, though the imbalance was not as great 
as his memoirs would suggest. Like any twentieth-century ad- 
ministration, the Macmillan governments were preoccupied by 
economic problems. Macmillan himself, and one or two of his 

colleagues, struggled to place those problems in a large con- 
text and develop a strategy to deal with them: most of the 
Cabinet seems to have been buffeted by short-term disasters. 
At the same time the Conservative Party under Macmillan had 
a remarkably clear view of the social and political implications 
of policy. Macmillan as prime minister supported Butler, suc- 
cessive chairmen of the party, and the Research Department 
under Michael Fraser in a concerted attempt to use social and 
economic policy to buttress the electoral prospects of the Con- 
servative Party, striving to create a land fit for Tories to live in. 
This was both a short-term effort, focused on the 1959 Gen- 

eral Election, and a long-term strategy to outflank socialism 
(in any of its British forms, including but not limited to the 
Labour Party) by setting up a property-owning democracy in 
which there would always be a minimum electoral coalition sup- 
porting the Conservatives. One of the most striking features 
of Macmillan’s premiership was the institutionalisation of that 
strategy by the incorporation of ministers, party officials and 
civil servants into a single policy-making community. 
The workings of that community were far from perfect, and 

after the election victory in 1959 the government seemed to 
lose control of the economy which it had deliberately heated 
up for that event. At the same time, and partly for the same 
reasons, the Conservative Party lost some of its confidence in 
its leaders and began to lose direction, so that after Macmillan 
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was forced by ill-health to resign in October 1963 the new lead- 
ership under Alec Douglas-Home was unable to focus on issues 
which could bring electoral victory in 1964. Even so, the 1964 
election was a close-run business, and not wholly discreditable 
to a party which, some thought, had been dogged by presenta- 
tional disasters for the previous three years. Macmillan’s own 
reputation as politician and policy-maker has never escaped as- 
sociation with the ‘thirteen years of Tory misrule’ which was an 
effective slogan for the triumphant Labour Party in 1964. More 
recently his premiership has been assailed from the Right, on 
the grounds that he was persistently lax in his economic policy, 
permitting inflation, unruly trade unions, and uncontrolled 
public expenditure to sabotage Britain’s recovery from the evil 
consequences of the Second World War and the Attlee govern- 
ments. 

FROM RETRENCHMENT TO INFLATION 

So much of Macmillan’s later reputation, for good or ill, rests 
on his apparent complacency about the British economy that 
his early pronouncements on the subject bear quotation. At 
the second Cabinet meeting of his administration Peter Thorn- 
eycroft, the new Chancellor, explained the steps he would take 
to protect the country from the financial effects of Suez. “No 
significant increase in taxation can be contemplated — indeed, 
it must remain the objective to reduce taxation if possible. The 
necessary relief to the Budget must therefore be achieved by 
reductions in each of the main fields of defence, the civil es- 

timates, and public investment.’ His proposals were met with 
unctuous sympathy by the spending ministers, who went on to 
explain rather clearly why the savings requested would be dif- 
ficult in their own particular cases, until they were reminded 
of reality by the prime minister who ‘said that the defence and 
social services, however desirable they might be in themselves, 
would be of no avail if the attempt to sustain them at unre- 
alistic levels resulted in the collapse of the economy’.! From 
this discussion flowed both the Defence White Paper and a re- 
view of public-sector investment by Percy Mills, the Minister of 
Power, which laid the responsibility of generating investment 
capital on the energy industries themselves. Similar discussions 
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at other meetings produced a range of characteristic policies 

for taxation and the social services which consistently reduced 

public expenditure and benefited the taxpayer and saver. 
This was the policy context for Macmillan’s notorious “Never 

had it so good’ speech. He told a crowd at Bedford on 20 July 

1957: 

...most of our people have never had it so good. Go around the 
country, go to the industrial towns, go to the farms, and you will 
see a state of prosperity such as we have never had in my lifetime. 
What is beginning to worry some of us is ‘Is it too good to be true?’ 
or perhaps I should say ‘Is it too good to last?’ For, amidst all this 
prosperity, there is one problem that has troubled us — in one way 
or another — ever since the war. It’s the problem of rising prices. 
Our constant concern today is — can prices be steadied while at the 
same time we maintain full employment in an expanding economy? 
Can we control inflation? This is the problem of our time. 

The tone of this passage and the content of the whole speech 
both reflect the fact that Macmillan had been one of the most 
cautious Chancellors of the post-war period and had carried his 
caution with him to 10 Downing Street. His 1956 Budget, less 
deflationary than he had wanted because of Eden’s refusal to 
take a political risk, had been intended to control the damage 

done by Butler’s fat years at the Treasury. His own last months 
at the Treasury had been buffeted by the financial storms of 
Suez. In choosing Thorneycroft for the Exchequer, he was 
knowingly putting an austere figure in charge of the govern- 
ment’s economic policy, who would first repair the damage 
to the reserves and then continue to run the economy within 
reasonably tight limits. 

But no economic policy is socially neutral, and the effect of 
Thorneycroft’s proposals was to challenge some of the political 
assumptions of his colleagues, and set a theme for debate which 
outlived his own chancellorship and dominated the Macmillan 
years at least until 1961. At the end of January 1957 Macmillan 
convened a small group to discuss the Budget proposals before 
they were seen by the full Cabinet, and Thorneycroft produced 
his first proposals, directed at social service expenditure. His 
justification was forthright: 

For many years we have had the sorry spectacle of a Government 
which spends too much, drifts into inflation, then seeks to cure 

the situation by fiscal and budgetary measures. These attempts in 
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turn lead to flagging production, taxes are reduced, and demand 
stimulated: but we shrink from the measures necessary to cut ex- 
penditure decisively, and inflation starts again. There is only one 
way out of this unhappy circle, and that is to cut expenditure and 
not to increase taxation... but to reduce it.2 

This was all very well, but it produced a fine crop of rebut- 
tals. Boyd-Carpenter, the Minister of Pensions, observed that 
Thorneycroft’s proposals on Family Allowances ‘would involve 
a complete reversal of the policy and philosophy followed by 
the Government since 1951’; Macleod at the Ministry of Health 
protested that ‘we would find it difficult to rebut the political 
charge that we were now beginning to dismantle the Health 
Service’. Macleod put it better in a ‘Top Secret’ note to 
Macmillan which commented on the proposed charges for 
board and lodging in hospitals: ‘43 per cent of the beds are 
occupied by mental patients, many of the others by the aged 
and by children, and we can’t tax the old and the young and 
the mad to help the surtax payers’.4 

Macmillan’s difficulty was that he wanted a Budget for po- 
litical as well as economic effect; and surtax payers, or at 

least income-tax payers, were indeed the group the party most 
wished to help. Harold Watkinson, the Minister of Aviation 
urged that ‘If we can make everybody anxious to belong to 
a broadly based and prosperous middle class, we shall also 
bring a great many of the more successful Trade Unionists to 
our side.’> The Cabinet agreed in principle that Thorneycroft 
should have £40 million in savings from the social services, 
and in discussion in early February of where these should be 
found Macmillan himself intervened to suggest cutting welfare 
milk and orange juice and raising money for the Health Ser- 
vice from a ‘health stamp’. The justification for this peculiar 
choice of measures (the health stamp would have been a new 
tax) was that the other target, family allowances, would be po- 

litically controversial and ‘The political difficulties indeed are 
all the greater if we hope to give some relief to the better- 
paid salaried classes in the same year.’ It was in the midst of 
this discussion that Macmillan issued his notorious question to 
Michael Fraser of the Conservative Research Department: 

I am always hearing about the Middle Classes. What is it they really 
want? Can you put it down on a sheet of notepaper, and then I will 
see whether we can give it to them.’ 
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The answer in due course came back, from Fraser and from 

other party figures, that Conservative voters on fixed incomes 
needed most help. In the event the first Budget of Macmil- 
lan’s administration, in April 1957, was quite relaxed. Thorn- 

eycroft reduced taxes by a total of about £100 million, in what 
Macmillan cheerfully described as the ‘give-away’.8 Since he 
had reduced the Bank Rate from 5.5 per cent to 5 per cent in 
February, this appeared extremely generous to consumers and 
to industry. The benefits of the income tax reductions went 
partly to surtax-payers and partly to families with children; al- 
though Macmillan’s diary record gave half to each group (£25 
million each), later analysis suggested that remission of surtax 
was worth £35 million in a full year, extra relief to families 
being worth only £17 million. The rest went to reducing di- 
rect taxes. This all made an excellent impression politically, 
winning enthusiastic support from Conservative back-benchers 
and condemnation (which Macmillan accepted, enjoyed and 
brushed off) from the Opposition. S.C. Leslie, in charge of 
the Treasury’s information service, declared in a note to Sir 
Roger Makins in the Treasury that ‘the Government wants to 
create an opportunity state and an incentive economy’, and the 
political message was confirmed after the Budget statement by 
Oliver Poole, who wrote to Macmillan that: 

I feel that this Budget gives a clear indication as to the lines that 
the Government will follow in its economic policy between now and 
the General Election, and gives us a firm base from which to start 
to regain the confidence of those of our supporters who have been 
wavering.9 

Nevertheless, it was intended to increase the government’s 
surplus, and in its impact on the level of demand in the 
economy it was among the least expansionary Budgets of the 
To50s 10 
The government’s sharp response to an acceleration of price 

increases in the early summer and sterling crisis in the late sum- 
mer of 1957 was therefore rather less of a reversal than it might 
appear. The attack on sterling was probably the result of spec- 
ulative movements in ‘hot money’ and therefore not of lasting 
importance to the economy. The increase in domestic prices 
had more profound significance, and its analysis goes deeper 
to the heart of Macmillan’s policy. Like most of his contem- 
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poraries, he was groping towards an explanation of domestic 
inflation. His recollections of the occasion in his memoirs and 
elsewhere were dominated by genuflection to Keynes, who had 
often said that a domestic price inflation of about 2.5 per cent 
per annum was an acceptable corollary of economic growth, 
and a preferable alternative to unemployment.!! This was the 
price inflation that followed from the deliberate expansion of 
demand in the economy. But Macmillan and other Conserva- 
tives also believed that wage increases contributed directly to 
inflation by increasing costs, and were worried that organised 
labour was too strong for the economy, while there are hints 
that the Cabinet was also concerned that an increase in the 
money supply caused inflation. Confronted with rising prices 
in 1957, the government tried to address all these problems at 
once, with results which were somewhat haphazard and incon- 
sistent. 

An outbreak of industrial unrest in March 1957 was the first 
test. Negotiations in the shipbuilding industry broke down on 
5 March. A threatened strike in the engineering industry had 
been postponed in late February, after strenuous efforts by 
Macleod, the Minister of Labour, but with deadlock in ship- 

building it seemed likely that it would be revived. The railway 
unions and the electricity supply workers were also threaten- 
ing to strike. Macmillan feared a general strike, ‘Yet I feel 
sure the men, apart from their Communist leaders, don’t want 
anything of the kind.’!2 His own explanation was that ‘we are 
now paying the price for the Churchill-Monckton regime — 
industrial appeasement, with continual inflation’.!> Four days 
after making this trenchant analysis in the privacy of his diary, 
Macmillan left for Bermuda. Shortly before he went he met 
employers’ representatives in the company of Macleod, and 
decided that it would be reasonable to settle the railway strike 
with an offer of 4 or 5 per cent. This, he ascertained, ‘would 

not be regarded as having sold the pass by private industry’.!4 
The engineering strike began the same day. Butler, as deputy 
prime minister, consulted Macmillan about the negotiations by 

telegram throughout the conference, and the prime minister 
was back in charge by 27 March. By 2 April the railways dispute 
had been settled by granting 5 per cent, and the other strikes 
had been called off. Macmillan described this as ‘a novel and 
harassing experience’;!5 it was also an occasion for consider- 
able trimming, since he had simultaneously decided that the 
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TUC would not co-operate in moves to postpone wage-claims. 

Instead, he veered towards a campaign for greater productivity, 
‘and the better productivity is, the less objectionable the wage 
claims’.!6 In the absence of a real policy for greater productiv- 
ity, this was not very different from the Churchill-Monckton 
regime, and inevitably the wage-claims came up for settlement 

before the productivity gains were seen. 
In this uncomfortable atmosphere the exchange crisis of 

September 1957, in which a run on sterling appeared to 
threaten the gold and dollar reserves, precipitated a crisis 
within the Cabinet. Thorneycroft responded by treating ex- 
change difficulties as a consequence of domestic inflation. This 
he sought to cure by raising the Bank Rate to 7 per cent, 
and restricting government expenditure.!’7 Thus far, he had 
the support of Macmillan and his Cabinet colleagues, though 
Macmillan disliked the rise in the Bank Rate, arguing at first 

that ‘So far from raising it, it should be reduced, and thereby 

you gain in three ways. You gain on the exchanges, you gain 
on the Budget, and you gain politically.’!§ He gave way to Trea- 
sury advice, which came alike from Thorneycroft, his officials, 

and his junior ministers Nigel Birch and Enoch Powell.!9 The 
government’s statement was made on 19 September; Robert 
Hall, from the Treasury Economic Section, observed that it 

‘was done by Ministers and they would not listen to any sug- 
gestion that what they were saying did not make much sense 
as economics’.20 

Macmillan’s involvement in this early discussion was highly 
significant. It is clear that Macmillan and Thorneycroft shared 
both an economic vision and a political nightmare. Returning 
from his holiday in September, the prime minister circulated 
to colleagues a fearsome memorandum on the economic and 
political situation, commenting on 

...a sense of frustration, amounting almost to despair, among cer- 
tain classes of the community, who do not believe the Government 
have either the knowledge or the courage to handle the problem; 

and while the great mass of the people have never ‘had it so good’ 
there is a growing feeling that if the situation is allowed to drift, it 
may end in disaster. It therefore becomes not an economic but a 
political decision as to what we are to do. 

the Conservative Party cannot approach the next election 

with any confidence, for two reasons. Since the first Reform Bill 

it has been very rare for the same Party to win even two elections 
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running, and to win three is almost a miracle. Secondly, while the 

great mass of the working population and the majority of the entre- 
preneur class have gained from the inflation, those who have been 

injured by it are disproportionately represented in the Party organ- 
isation in the constituencies. 

. the only practical thing to do is to reduce demand. This can 
only be done by reducing the total volume of money which comes 
into the system.?1 

This was quickly capped by Thorneycroft’s own draft proposals 
for supporting sterling: 

The Tory Party may lose the next election anyway. What matters is 
not whether it loses but why. If we are thrown out because we are 
thought to have been too tough in defence of what we conceived to 
be our national and imperial interests and have allowed a modest 
growth in unemployment, we shall be returned again, perhaps quite 
soon. If we are thrown out because we have flinched from our duty 
and allowed our economy to drift into disaster, I see no particular 
reason why we should ever be asked to resume control.... The 
essence of my proposal is that we take steps and be seen to take 
steps which will limit the level of money available in the economy.22 

Thorneycroft’s specific proposals caused some alarm in GEN 
611, the Cabinet committee formed to deal with the exchange 
problem, partly because they might injure some parts of the 
economy, partly because of some risks in their presentation. 
Macleod warned of the dangers of over-confidence in minis- 
terial speeches, such that Freddie Bishop, Macmillan’s private 

secretary, urged that ministers be told to stick to the same 
simple line. This was finally set out by Thorneycroft at the 
Mansion House on 8 October, and became a brief for min- 

isters by Charles Hill, the Information minister, under the 

theme ‘We intend to keep the supply of money in line with 
the resources available.’ Macmillan himself had put it more 
incisively: ‘we shall not finance with new money any increase 
of wages that may emerge either from arbitration or from pri- 
vate agreement.... We must make it clear that while we will 
not finance inflation, we are not attacking employment. We 
are asking for a pause, not for a retreat.’*3 This view was crit- 

icised by Roy Harrod, who described it as ‘pre-Keynesian.... 
Hardly any economists under the age of 50 would subscribe to 
it.’ Macmillan sent his views to Thorneycroft and Hill, but did 

not change his position.*4 
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The discussion over the September measures is important 
because it sets the scene for Thorneycroft’s resignation early 
the next year, because it exemplifies the monetarist philoso- 
phy behind Macmillan’s thinking at this critical point in his 
administration, and because it indicates the intimate relation- 

ship between economic and political strategy which was typical 
of Macmillan’s better years in Downing Street. The exchange 
crisis was nearly over when consideration of expenditure plans 
for 1958 began; Thorneycroft argued that the estimates should 
be held to the 1957 figure, which amounted to a reduction of 

£153 million from the proposals made by the departments. 
Although the spending ministers reduced their estimates by 
about £100 million, Thorneycroft refused to contemplate any- 
thing less than capitulation to his demands, and resigned on 
6 January 1958 with Birch and Powell. He was replaced by 
Derek Heathcoat Amory (the Minister of Agriculture), who 

carried out the policy on which the Cabinet had been able 
to agree, and very shortly afterwards began to relax the de- 
flationary stance of the previous two years in response to im- 
provements in the economy. It was the first major crisis of 
Macmillan’s Cabinet, and it was appropriate and significant 
that this should be about economic matters. 
The intensity and later notoriety of the Thorneycroft resigna- 

tion crisis has tended to cast a misleading light on Macmillan’s 
own economic attitudes. Like the resignation of Bevan from 
Attlee’s Cabinet over prescription charges and the economics 
of rearmament, Thorneycroft’s departure had many levels of 
meaning. The final occasion was a row over £50 million of ex- 
penditure, which in retrospect seems disproportionate to the 
outcome. Macleod at the time thought that Thorneycroft was 
‘obsessed and dominated by Powell’, and Macmillan agreed 
with him; his old crony Percy Mills wrote that “You did every- 
thing in your power to prevent a rupture — indeed much more 
than you could have been expected to do’, and the economist 

R.A. Allen quoted an international financier as saying ‘I would 
like to see the Government cutting every penny of expendi- 
ture; but if it is a matter of political judgement I would prefer 
to trust Macmillan rather than Thorneycroft.’25 The Cabinet 
was particularly anxious that Thorneycroft should be seen as 
going out on ‘ “family allowances”, “welfare milk” etc.’, while 
Macmillan in answering the rather acerbic resignation letters 
was very keen to insist that the resigning ministers were not 
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the only people to believe in resisting inflation. 
Commenting later, Powell and others have discerned a fun- 

damental difference of philosophy between Macmillan and the 
dissentients, whose stand on this occasion has been likened 

to an early commitment to monetarism which contrasted with 
what they saw as Macmillan’s willingness to finance expansion 
by expanding the money supply.?6 Although this makes some 
sense in the 1990s, and although Heathcoat Amory’s regime at 
the Treasury saw very much less resort to monetary measures 
of economic management, it does not fit so well as an inter- 

pretation of the 1950s. Macmillan himself warned the Cabinet 
on 8 November that: 

The most important of the general principles is simple, namely that, 
while we have no intention of interfering with the established pro- 
cesses of collective bargaining and will continue to accept the awards 
of arbitration tribunals, we shall refuse to create more money to 
finance wage awards which are not matched by increased output. 
This is the cardinal proposition; and on this proposition we should 
HES Ee 

If this is not monetarism, it is certainly not wanton expan- 
sionism either. Moreover, if Thorneycroft took it seriously, it 
explains why he believed that his Cabinet colleagues had been 
converted to the policy of holding the money supply constant, 
and were now looking for a policy which would favour price 
stability over full employment.?7 

In retrospect Thorneycroft’s desire to restrict expenditure 
smacks of Lord Randolph Churchill’s resignation threat over 
the Naval Estimates in 1887: doing what Chancellors always 
do, but pressing the point to its limit. Churchill thought there 
was no one to replace him, but he famously ‘forgot Goschen’. 
Thorneycroft’s calculation was not so explicit, and both Birch 
and Powell were convinced that the threat of resignation would 
not in fact change the Cabinet’s mind. Nevertheless, it was un- 

derstood on both sides as a simple row about the levels of 
spending, and most commentators, particularly those later as- 
sociated with the ‘New Right’ in the Conservative party, shared 
Macmillan’s belief that Thorneycroft was driven on by Powell 

and Birch, scarcely understanding the principles underlying 

their wish to contain expenditure.2® Macmillan’s own sugges- 

tion in 1956 that Eden should ‘get another Chancellor’ over 

the subsidies on bread and milk was of the same order. 
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It is therefore unwise to read into the row any suggestion that 
dissenting Conservatives were about to divide the party over the 
economic theory which related inflation directly to the volume 
of the money supply. Thorneycroft himself had, admittedly, 
moved away from the Keynesian attitudes which had held the 
upper hand in the Treasury since the early 1950s. In August 
1957, just before the September Measures, he summoned the 

economist Lionel Robbins from his holiday in Austria and ap- 
parently accepted from him the advice that the Treasury should 
be attending to the money supply and the state of the reserves 
rather than ‘tuning’ the national income aggregates to achieve 
a particular combination of growth and unemployment. Of- 
ficials resisted, but were told that ‘it was idle to protest since 
the policy had been settled’.29 But Macmillan and his Cabinet 
colleagues could hardly be convicted, at this stage in his min- 
istry, of buying political popularity with the taxpayers’ money, 
since the whole thrust of his policy had been towards defla- 
tion and retrenchment. Powell is wrong to attach great signifi- 
cance to 1957 as the year when the proportion of government 
expenditure to national income began to grow again after a 
period of decline; in fact Thorneycroft’s one and only Budget 
in 1957 was more expansionary than the Budget introduced by 
Heathcoat Amory in 1958.30 Moreover, Thorneycroft’s actions 
as Chancellor, even during the period of the estimates crisis, 

were a great deal less monetarist than his words. The money 
supply had in fact been falling (as a proportion of gross na- 
tional product) for a long time, and began to go up after his 
September Measures; instead of restricting the money supply, 
Thorneycroft was merely reducing public expenditure like any 
Keynesian would do if intent on deflation.3! The differences 
of approach between Macmillan and Thorneycroft were bet- 
ter illustrated by the argument over the Bank Rate, in which 
Macmillan argued for reliance upon direct controls of credit 
through controlling bank deposits and hire purchase agree- 
ments, while Thorneycroft preferred to rely simply on move- 
ments in the rate of interest. Nevertheless, the resulting crisis, 
and unfavourable press comment, laid the foundation for the 
criticism of Macmillan as a reckless electioneer, unwilling or 
unable to sustain an unpopular economic policy. 
The record of the crisis gives some indication of the na- 

ture of Macmillan’s attitude both to Thorneycroft and to the 
economy. On 22 and 23 December, Thorneycroft put his point, 
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first to Macmillan and:then to a small group of senior minis- 
ters. Asking for what Macmillan thought was ‘more, I fear, 
than is feasible politically’ in the way of cuts in welfare expen- 
diture, Thorneycroft was rebuffed by his colleagues; but his 

demand for £153 million in expenditure cuts was not categor- 
ically rejected. A sum of £105 million of reductions had been 
proposed by the spending departments in the first week in Jan- 
uary. Thorneycroft had thus got two-thirds of what he wanted, 
which compares fairly well with the ‘four-fifths’ which Macmil- 
lan had accepted as his price for staying on as Eden’s Chan- 
cellor. He continued to ask for the full measure of cuts, and 

found himself under attack not from Macmillan but from the 
spending ministers. Duncan Sandys, who had actually reduced 
the defence estimates below the levels of the previous year, 
warned that the whole Defence team would resign if forced to 
accept the abandonment of his pay and allowances proposals, 
and similar grumbles emerged from the Ministers of Labour 
and of Health. Thorneycroft thereupon resigned, in ‘brutal 
terms, calculated, if unanswered, to do the maximum injury to 

sterling’ .3? 
Macmillan answered his letter by pointing out that: 

We have two objectives, one to restrain the supply of money, the 
other to hold back pressure for more rewards, including wages and 
salaries. You say that the estimates for the next year must be the 
exact equivalent of the sum spent this year. The rigid application of 
this formula, to be carried out immediately and without regard to 
any other consideration, would do more harm than good. For, as 

became clear in our discussions, to apply it literally must involve cuts 
in vital services, including those especially affecting certain aspects 
of family life — and this without any regard to the effect upon the 
industrial front and on the task of those who have the responsibility 
of working for wage-restraint. 

This is not a matter of popularity. We have never shrunk from 
unpopular measures. This is a matter of good judgement. 

. I feel it necessary to put on record that throughout the twelve 
months in which this Government have been in office you have had 
the full support of the Cabinet in the financial and economic policies 
which we have worked out together. 

[After being presented with higher estimates] ...the Cabinet was 
able to reduce this excess to something less than one per cent of 
the total of current government expenditure.... 

I therefore cannot accept that there is any difference of principle 

between the rest of the Cabinet and yourself.... 38 
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Like most resignation exchanges, this was thoroughly disin- 
genuous and confected for publication. Thorneycroft’s letter, 
according to Macmillan, was typed up with the month but not 
the day shown, for the precise day to be filled in later by hand. 
Macmillan was deliberately dressing up a frantic effort at com- 
promise in the clothing of principle. Nevertheless, one is left 
with the impression that Macmillan and his Chancellor were 
not far apart either in their understanding of economic theory, 
or in their economic practice up to the point of resignation. 
If one was monetarist, so was the other. The difference be- 

tween them was that Thorneycroft had Powell and Birch at his 
back, forcing him to dig in his heels on a very weakly expressed 
principle. The practice of economic management went on very 
much as before, at least until the middle of 1958. 

Like the strike wave of the previous spring, the 1958 esti- 
mates crisis clashed inconveniently with an important foreign 
engagement. Macmillan, as was by now the pattern, gave pri- 
ority to foreign affairs. On 6 January, after a Cabinet meeting, 
Derek Heathcoat Amory accepted the Exchequer, and the nec- 
essary minor changes were made in the ministry. At the end 
of the day Macmillan demurely ‘gave a sherry party for the 
Commonwealth High Commissioners and their wives’,34 and 
departed the next day for his Commonwealth tour. 

During the weekend he had spent hours of anxious effort on 
a press statement about the resignations which proclaimed that 
‘the best thing to do was to settle up these little local difficulties 
and then turn to the wider vision of the Commonwealth’. This 
magnificent gesture of unflappability was a calculated risk: it 
certainly set a positive tone for the Commonwealth trip, and by 
good fortune it left a Cabinet at home backing him to the hilt, 
with Butler in charge to pick up the pieces. During the Com- 
monwealth tour he was anxious about ‘great confusion and 
perplexity in the Party’,°5 especially since the economic debate 
in the Commons on 24 January had seen an effective interven- 
tion by Thorneycroft. He began to believe in ‘a deep plot... he 
may be calculating on another “sterling crisis” this autumn and 
the breakup of the Government in conditions which would al- 
low him to seize the leadership of the party from me and Rab’ .36 
Although the temper of the House after his return in Febru- 
ary relieved his mind somewhat, the usual spring strikes and 
strike threats — London buses, railways, and oil-tanker drivers 
on this occasion, though the railwaymen accepted a 3 per cent 
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increase and stayed at work — posed the risk that Thorneycroft, 
Birch and Powell would stir up the back benches. Only in July 
was he confident that ‘the political as well as the economic tide 
had turned’ in his favour.37 
Although the substance was cautious, the tone of economic 

policy set by Macmillan and Heathcoat Amory was benignly ex- 
pansionist. Macmillan was the initiator, writing to Heathcoat 
Amory in March that ‘I am assuming... that the situation will 
allow of some relaxation of monetary policy. This ought re- 
ally to be the prelude to tax remissions.’°8 The prime minister 
was soon going further, goading his Chancellor in meetings 
to reject the official Treasury view that there was no slump 
ahead.39 He warned him against policies which tended to an- 
noy the taxpayer: “Those which are merely intended to annoy 
what remains of the possessing classes are not attractive to our 
Party and are better left to a Socialist Chancellor.’4° Heathcoat 
Amory introduced his Budget in April with the declaration that 
‘as a Government, we are convinced that the long-term welfare 

of this country demands a steady expansion of our national 
economy. That is the objective of all our policies. We shall 
not, therefore, keep the brakes on one day longer than we 

must. We dislike restrictions intensely, and we are eager to re- 
sume expansion.’4! But the need to say this shows how cautious 
his Budget actually was, with no change beyond small cuts in 
purchase tax and minor changes to investment allowances. The 
Banker described it as being ‘as deflationary as anyone could 
wish’ .4? 

Since the economy was already moving into recession, it was 
an unhelpful budget which stored up trouble for 1959. Be- 
tween this and the next Budget, Macmillan was engaged in 
a constant dialogue with his Chancellor about the need for 
expansion. Heathcoat Amory — ‘worth 20 Thorneycrofts’ ac- 
cording to Macmillan‘ — recalled that Macmillan was ‘almost 

a wild inflationist at that time’.*4 In practice, though, his ex- 

changes with Heathcoat Amory were a private discussion about 

details in the tactical handling of a recession in the later part 

of 1958, not a debate about the philosophy of economic pol- 

icy. The exchanges are revealing about his methods as well as 

his attitudes. Throughout 1957 and 1958 he kept up a reg- 

ular correspondence with the economist Roy Harrod, then a 

Student of Christ Church. Harrod was an ebullient expansion- 

ist. Macmillan regularly sent his letters for Treasury comment, 
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which was generally discouraging but more carefully expressed 
after a crisp note from Downing Street explained that ‘PM 
did not want a draft reply [to Harrod’s letter]. He wanted 
an informed commentary, illustrated by figures.’4° Macmil- 
lan wanted to deal with the recession by short-term measures 
such as lifting credit restrictions and permitting more public 
investment of a sort which would not create long-term com- 
mitments.*6 His response to Treasury caution was increasingly 
sarcastic and impatient. The Chancellor, perhaps unwisely, 
sent in a disquisition on Treasury Control, which Macmillan 
liberally decorated with red ink: 

I would not deprecate [investment], for in the last 50 years we have 

been not nearly investment-minded enough. But at a time of great 
shortage of savings, the aggregate of Ministers’ desires will always 
outrun the constable. We then need a system of presenting the 
whole picture so that Ministers can take rational choices on which 
is the more and which the less important. [Macmillan: ‘Rot’].... 

I am bound to say that these periodic attempts to cut or to increase 
short-term capital expenditure are likely to frustrate the whole objec- 
tive of exercising effective control over the long-term programmes 
and keeping them in line with our long-term resource to carry them 
out. [Macmillan:‘Have you ever been in a) war b) business c) active 
politics?’ ] 

Amory wanted to have a short term and long term programme, 
both of which would be published as a guide to departments, 
‘But if we are forced to keep on chopping and changing, 
our control will undoubtedly collapse altogether. [Macmillan: 
‘Hurrah!’]’. The prime minister noted, finally: ‘Chancellor of 
Exch. This is a very bad paper. Indeed, a disgraceful paper. It 
might have been written by Mr Neville Chamberlain’s ghost.’47 

By the end of the year demand and output were once again 
rising. During 1958 prices had been kept down by an in- 
ternational recession. Finally, in January 1959, Macmillan 
heeded Harrod’s call for ‘a thumping great above-the-line Bud- 
get deficit’,4#8 and decided to force expansion. With the Bank 
Rate already reduced to 4 per cent, and the international con- 
vertibility of sterling restored, the Budget of March 1959 gave 
a very significant stimulus to the economy just as the interna- 
tional recession was coming to an end. The Banker concluded 
that ‘its aim is as reflationary as any responsible commentator 
had advocated, and a good deal more so than most people had 
advocated’. The years of deflation were over. 
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The combined effect’ of tax cuts, investment allowances and 
an expansion in world trade caused British industrial produc- 
tion to rise by 10 per cent in a single year. This was about dou- 
ble the figure predicted by the Treasury, and left Heathcoat 
Amory with an overheating economy in early 1960. The extra 
demand brought in imports, which jeopardised the balance of 
payments and the position of sterling. The ‘standstill’ Budget 
of 1960, and the resort to ‘mini-Budgets’ in 1961, discussed 

in the next section, were efforts to repair the damage caused 
by the policy change of 1959. In an assessment of Macmil- 
lan’s economic policy, the 1959 Budget therefore looms large. 
There is little doubt that it was his Budget rather than Heath- 
coat Amory’s, or that it contributed mightily to the onset of a 
lethal combination of inflation, balance of payments difficul- 
ties, and slow growth of industrial production in the years after 
the 1959 election. Nor can it be denied that the immediate ef- 
fects, seen straight away in higher living standards for most of 
the population, were an enormous help to the Conservatives 
in getting re-elected in the General Election in October. But 
one cannot assume too much cynicism in Macmillan’s think- 
ing, nor dismiss his attitude to the expansion of the economy 
merely as a hangover from his reaction to poverty in pre-war 
Stockton. Macmillan and all his Chancellors faced the prob- 
lem of dealing with the domestic economy at the same time as 
wrestling with the balance of payments and the condition of 
international trade. Movements at home did not always match 
movements in the wider world, yet many of the instruments 
then used — changes in the Bank Rate, manipulations of the 
level of government expenditure and thus of demand, credit 
controls and so on — affected both the internal and the ex- 
ternal economy. What was appropriate for one could be very 
inappropriate for the other, and the fiasco of 1959-60 was 
caused by a particularly acute mismatch of domestic and exter- 
nal needs. No single line of policy, taken to an extreme, could 

have been right. 
Macmillan’s contribution to the 1959 Budget was to lean to- 

wards the expansion of domestic demand as part of a policy 
which also included relaxed credit controls and a low Bank 
Rate. As the Budget was being prepared, unemployment was 
rising (to a peak of 620,000). Later analysis suggests that 
production was also beginning to rise, and that the recession 

induced by the previous two Budgets was beginning to lift; 
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but Heathcoat Amory came under tremendous pressure to 

do something, and correspondingly prepared a vigorous e€x- 

pansionary Budget. Macmillan himself is generally credited 

with the major expansionary item: an increase in the size of 

the income tax cut from the sixpence proposed by Amory to 

ninepence. In retrospect it can be seen that each of the eco- 

nomic instruments favoured by Macmillan and his Chancel- 

lor was inappropriately applied. In all cases, they made bad 

guesses about the necessary changes to be made, but they were 

guesses about the levels to be set, not about which instruments 

to use. In particular, the timing of budgetary moves was in- 

ept, leaving necessary action too late so that both slumps and 

booms were amplified rather than damped down. Bad forecast- 

ing in the Treasury, which underestimated the likely growth 

in demand, contributed to their decisions.*9 Different figures 

would not have produced the same problems, but they might 

nevertheless have produced different problems which were just 

as bad. No prime minister or Chancellor since the war, except 

Thorneycroft very briefly, had actually chosen to abandon any 

of the instruments Macmillan used, and even Thorneycroft had 

used what he did use in very similar ways. 

The most important question is whether Macmillan could 

have affected the underlying weaknesses of the British econ- 

omy by anything he did or forbore to do in the 1959 Budget 

or the economic measures of late 1958 which preceded it, or 

in his handling of wage claims in these two years. The an- 

swer to this conundrum depends on the favoured interpreta- 

tion of the causes of Britain’s economic weakness. For those 

who think that excessive government expenditure was at the 

root of economic decline, the course of government spending 
since 1945 is a convenient explanation. The years 1958-59 are 
of pivotal importance, since they saw the reversal of a steady 
reduction of government expenditure as a proportion of GNP 
which had begun soon after the Conservatives returned to of- 
fice in 1951. In contrast, for those more concerned with the 

inflationary pressure of wage demands, 1958 and 1959 must at 
least seem better years than the early 1950s. Tactical flexibil- 

ity, and some good luck, held back the rate of wage increases. 
If, however, the explanation of decline is to be seen as the 
failure of British productivity to rise as fast as that of other 
industrial countries, the Macmillan government’s acts of omis- 

sion and commission before the 1959 election must be seen 
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in a different light. From this perspective the major criticism 
of Macmillan’s policy was that it concentrated too heavily on 
transient economic indicators such as the balance of payments, 
the rate of inflation and the growth of the money supply. The 
manipulation of government expenditure and credit probably 
did these symptoms little good, and the 1959 Budget almost 
certainly did them harm. However, the alternatives suggested 
by Macmillan’s critics were no more likely to bring about rad- 
ical change; in particular, those like Thorneycroft and Birch, 

who simply wanted a different trade-off between unemploy- 
ment and inflation, had no suggestions to offer about how to 

improve both measures at the same time. 

SELWYN LLOYD AND THE PAY PAUSE 

After the 1959 election Macmillan’s handling of economic pol- 
icy was fitful and confusing. His expansionist instincts were 
always evident, but economic policy competed with the attrac- 
tions of foreign affairs, especially the challenge of entering Eu- 
rope. His successive Chancellors were given little credit, and 
relatively little support; and yet he made it clear in 1962 that 
he resented the degree to which the insoluble problems of the 
British economy were left to him to solve. 

Soon after the election the macro-economic consequences of 
expansion became obvious. Heathcoat Amory nervously con- 
templated the inflation that his Budget was bound to create, 
and wanted to cool the economy down. Macmillan responded 
that a deflationary Budget would ‘either be very foolish or very 
dishonest’ after the 1959 Budget and the election victory, and 
urged a ‘standstill’ programme. The Chancellor insisted that ‘a 
Budget which just balanced tax concessions against tax remis- 
sions would be inflationary’.5° Macmillan set about persuad- 
ing the Cabinet to deflect the Chancellor from his intentions, 

and largely succeeded. Politically, his problem was that Heath- 
coat Amory found it very difficult to look enthusiastic about 
a Budget which he did not like, and the effect on the House 

and the public was uneven. The 1960 Budget took money 
out of the economy at some points and put it back at oth- 
ers. Shortly afterwards, responding to movements on the ex- 
changes, Heathcoat Amory imposed hire-purchase restrictions 

243 



MACMILLAN 

on cars and consumer durables, and increased the banks’ de- 

posit ratios in order to restrict credit. The Treasury expected 

that this would reduce domestic demand and release goods for 

export. In fact it did no such thing: employment held steady 

while production failed to rise (resulting in a drop in produc- 

tivity) and exports remained stable partly because British prices 

were too high. Almost incidentally the domestic demand for 

cars and consumer durables dropped of its own accord, and 

the government was found once again to have kicked vulnera- 

ble domestic industries to the ground just as they were sinking 

naturally to their knees. 
At the same time Heathcoat Amory made it clear that he 

wanted to resign, for genuine personal reasons, and Macmil- 

lan moved Selwyn Lloyd from the Foreign Office to take over 
the Treasury. Lloyd’s appointment facilitated an apparent 
revolution in economic policy-making which has coloured re- 
cent interpretations of Macmillan’s own policy and position. 
The events of 1960 persuaded many Treasury officials, who in 
turn persuaded Lloyd, that the sort of demand-management 
favoured by Chancellors since the early 1950s did not work be- 
cause industry would not respond rationally and constructively 
to the circumstances which governments created by their bud- 
getary decisions. The problem lay not only in macro-economic 
tides but in the micro-economic behaviour of British indus- 
try. Macmillan himself, with Thorneycroft, had taken rather 

the same view of British industry in the mid 1950s, and seen 
the invigorating effect of European competition as a necessary 
stimulant. Now Lloyd and his advisers proposed to improve 
industry’s performance by various forms of planning, taking 
their cue from French models. 

Early in 1961 Treasury officials and leading businessmen, 
with the approval of ministers, discussed French economic 

planning with officials of the Commissariat du Plan.5! In July 
Macmillan wrote encouragingly to Selwyn Lloyd that ‘I do not 
think we ought to be afraid of a switch over towards more di- 
rection. Our Party has always consisted of a number holding 
the laissez-faire tradition but of an equal number in favour of 
some direction.... So far as | am concerned I have no fear 
of it because these were policies I recommended before the 
war. Therefore I shall be able to claim, like Disraeli, that I 

have educated my party.... Besides, it is always a good thing 
to steal the Whigs’ clothes while they are bathing, it is a very 
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old Conservative tradition.’52 At the 1961 party conference 
he urged more positive intervention in the economy. The 
proposal finally put forward in 1962 was that a National Eco- 
nomic Development Council (NEDC, soon dubbed ‘Neddy’), 
with representation from the government and from both sides 
of industry, would draw up a plan which included a target for 
the growth rate of the British economy. A number of industrial 
planning groups (‘Little Neddies’) would work out the impli- 
cations of that growth rate for their own sectors and agree 
the investment levels, manning and wage levels necessary to 
attain it. In principle, this would enable growth without infla- 
tion, through the co-operation of capital, labour and the gov- 
ernment. This was corporatism, in a very limited and British 
sense, and it was the very sort of interventionist consensus- 
driven policy-making method against which Conservatives re- 
belled both under Edward Heath and, more consistently, after 

1975 under Margaret Thatcher. 
This large vision, later taken over and amplified by Wilson’s 

Labour government from 1964 to 1970, but with little more ef- 
fect, did not get very far at all under Macmillan, despite his per- 
sonal commitment to the idea of planning. The explanation 
for failure lies mainly in the sequence of events after Heath- 
coat Amory’s retirement. The new Chancellor was confronted 
by weaknesses in the balance of payments and the balance of 
trade, and the Cabinet was puzzled enough to set up an en- 
quiry at the end of November 1960 in which Macmillan himself 
took a leading part as chairman of a committee on increasing 
exports. None of this made any measurable difference to the 
balance of payments. The Bank Rate, forced up in January 
1960 from 4 per cent to 5 per cent, then to 6 per cent in June, 
had brought inflows of speculative or ‘hot’ money into Britain 
which were then withdrawn smartly in March 1961 when the 
German Mark was revalued. This ebb and flow was far more 
influential in the short term than the underlying performance 
of the economy. Lloyd’s April 1961 Budget was launched in an 
atmosphere near to crisis, which did not help its reception. He 
made some reductions in direct taxation which Macmillan had 
urged, making up for the losses by miscellaneous increases in 
indirect taxation. He also gave himself powers to invoke ‘reg- 
ulators’ between Budgets; these were the payroll tax, which 
was an addition to National Insurance contributions, and the 

power to vary purchase tax and some excise taxes upward or 
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downward during the year. Macmillan later recollected how 
‘we thus introduced into the management of the economy the 
now popular concept of the stimulant and the tranquilliser’. 
He himself was showing signs of an addiction to external eco- 
nomic advice, minuting to his private secretary after reading a 
Treasury paper that ‘I must see Roy Harrod.’53 Unfortunately 
the result of his actions was anything but political tranquillity. 
The run on sterling caused Lloyd, under strong pressure from 
his officials, to invoke the purchase tax regulator in July in 
a ‘Little Budget’ which also introduced the ‘Pay Pause’. At 
this point Macmillan himself was under extreme pressure. On 
15 June he took to his bed and wrote a note of seven policy 
areas which were either troublesome (security matters) or in- 
soluble (all the others: the economy, Europe, Laos, Central 

Africa, Berlin and recruitment to the forces).54 Although he 
supported Lloyd both in his economic measures and in his 
refusal to go as far as Treasury officials wanted, his memoirs 

suggest a man almost too tired to defend the fundamentally ex- 
pansionist position which he favoured. External critics, then 
and later, condemned the government for their preoccupa- 
tion with the balance of payments and their permanent air of 
surprise at each succeeding crisis. 

While the use of the regulators offended economic journal- 
ists, the Pay Pause upset large sections of the public. It applied 
only to public sector workers, and had a practical impact only 
on groups such as nurses and teachers who could not or would 
not use the strike weapon. In November 1961 the electricity 
workers forced the Electricity Council to breach the pause, and 
ministers could do nothing about it. Increasingly Macmillan 
came to believe that his government’s handling of the econ- 
omy was critical to its political survival, and that the Treasury 
was unable to bring about the necessary changes. In partic- 
ular, there was no firm policy to follow the Pay Pause, which 
was due to expire in April 1962. In due course a White Pa- 
per, known afterwards as the ‘guiding light’ policy, appeared, 
an obvious compromise among a divided group of ministers 
and officials.°°> The guiding light was a figure of 2-2.5 per 
cent as a permissible range for wage increases: it did not con- 
tain any suggestion of how this was to be achieved or policed, 
and it bore no obvious relationship to the other elements of 
economic policy such as fiscal or public expenditure measures 
being developed by Selwyn Lloyd at the Exchequer. 
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Lloyd’s inability to. cut an effective figure was but one de- 
pressing feature of a depressing political landscape. A series of 
disastrous by-elections in the spring of 1962 persuaded Macmil- 
lan that his party was at great risk. The Liberal victory at Orp- 
ington, in which Eric Lubbock turned a Conservative majority 
of 15,000 into a Liberal majority of 8,000, was only a false dawn 
for the Liberals, but it scared the Conservatives; in other by- 

elections Liberals were forcing Conservatives into third place 
in Labour seats or splitting the vote in damaging ways. While 
Labour had nothing much to be pleased about, the Conserva- 
tive leadership was convinced that the trend had to be reversed. 
Macleod, the chairman of the party, blamed the defeat openly 
on the Pay Pause. At the same time Macmillan was fulminat- 
ing that his colleagues were unable to take up the challenge 
of reformulating economic policy, and thrusting the burden 
upon him. Lloyd’s 1962 Budget was unhelpful, largely because 
it lacked any noteworthy measure except the taxation of con- 
fectionery; in retrospect it has been condemned as being one 
of the most pernicious of post-war budgets, in that it deflated 
an economy which was already on the brink of recession, but 
at the time its caution was rather welcomed than not.*6 

In May Macmillan found himself preparing a huge policy 
statement for the Cabinet, which finally discussed it at the end 
of the month. Its proposals were quite radical, though difficult 
for any government to attain. He insisted that he wanted to 
maintain full employment, stable prices, economic expansion 
and a favourable balance of payments, all at the same time; the 
only way to do this was an incomes policy, and he developed 
his reasoning in a political analysis which is discussed at more 
length below.5? He won the acceptance of the Cabinet and the 
1922 Committee, and set about a detailed plan. Meanwhile he 
had decided that Lloyd must go before long, because of his 
apparent inability to press on with any development of the Pay 
Pause. The abrupt dismissal came on 12 July, and created a 
political storm which lasted through the weekend and into the 

next year. Reginald Maudling took over; and though he took 

some time to get into his stride, he was clearly better fitted than 

Lloyd to the task which Macmillan had defined as the role of 

the Chancellor.58 
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MAUDLING AND INCOMES POLICY 

Macmillan’s attempt to fight his way back from the political iso- 

lation brought about by the ‘Night of the Long Knives’ which 

followed Lloyd’s dismissal included an unusually full and ef- 

fective speech in the confidence debate which Gaitskell intro- 

duced on 26 July. After dealing, to his own satisfaction at 

least, with the accusations of political panic, he turned to eco- 

nomic policy with the ringing declaration that ‘an incomes 

policy is... necessary as a permanent feature of our economic 

life’59 and went on to launch the National Incomes Commis- 

sion (NIC) as a statutory body. Of all possible routes out of 

his difficulties, this was not very happily chosen. Unlike the 

other innovations of the period, though, it was undoubtedly 

Macmillan’s own. He had overseen its development in the 

Spring of 1962 by a group of civil servants, because he be- 

lieved that his Cabinet colleagues had failed to find a successor 

to the pay pause. The plan was logically watertight. Macmil- 

lan had determined on an expansionist economic policy and 

selected Maudling as the right Chancellor to effect it, and the 

principal danger in an expansionist policy was believed to be 

wage-inflation. Control of incomes from employment had to 

be addressed directly. The Cabinet was reluctant, and Macmil- 

lan had to write two forceful papers to get his way, urging his 

colleagues that ‘the feeling has grown that it is neither fair 

nor possible to operate an incomes policy in the public sector 

when it is not observed in the private sector’.6° The decision 
to manage an incomes policy outside the purview of the NEDC 
was rather odd, though, and the NIC’s terms of reference were 

slow to emerge. By November 1962 it had been decided that it 
would review specific wage-settlements on reference from the 
government, rather than discuss general policy as NEDC was 
to do. In practice it did little during the government’s lifetime, 
and its most significant act was to raise the ‘guiding light’ for 
settlements from 2-2.5 per cent to 3-3.5 per cent. The trade 
union movement refused to co-operate with the NIC, a sharp 
contrast to its engagement with NEDC discussions. Though os- 
tensibly a main pillar of the government’s economic strategy, 

the NIC was too easily portrayed as an irrelevance. 
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Of the rest of the economic strategy, Macmillan himself was 
closely identified with an expansionist policy but rather dis- 
tanced from the specific activities of the NEDC. In expansion 
his chosen instrument was Reginald Maudling, whose intelli- 
gence and drive were undoubted. Some critics have argued 
that Maudling was unduly cautious in his first months,®! but all 
agree that the 1963 Budget was based on an unusually clear 
reading of the significance of economic indicators. Even so, 
the Chancellor’s obvious reluctance to exploit the regulators 
which Lloyd had bequeathed him for use between Budgets, 
and the rather long delay between the announcement of ex- 
pansion in the 1963 Budget and the actual effect of the new 
tax allowances meant that the stimulus was applied long after 
the economy had started to expand. Conservative economic 
policy in the 1950s and early 1960s was cruelly described as ‘ei- 
ther too little too late or too much too late’; Maudling erred 
on the side of too much, and spent the last year of his chan- 
cellorship, after Macmillan’s retirement, trying to control the 
resulting inflation. 
One reason for this was the political context in which eco- 

nomic policies were being made. Maudling cheerfully ignored 
the NEDC in the first months of his chancellorship, but sud- 
denly took it up in early 1963 as he was preparing his Budget. 
The Budget itself, the main political purpose of which was ‘to 
obtain union support for an incomes policy’,®2 was deliber- 
ately generous and closely followed the terms of the NEDC’s 
ambitious plan for a 4 per cent growth rate. None of this was 
informed by a profound belief in the effectiveness of tripartite 
arrangements for policy discussion or planning. Instead the 
government was driven by recurrent crises, not just on the for- 
eign exchanges and in the balance of payments figures, but also 
in industrial relations. Over the winter of 1962-63 the most 
egregious case was that of the electricity industry, in which the 
winter’s pay dispute was only settled in March 1963 with a 6 
per cent award which the government promptly referred to the 
NIC. The combination of an incomes policy which obviously 
did not work with a policy for economic growth which did little 
to reduce unemployment was a daunting prospect. Maudling’s 
flirtation with the NEDC had much to do with a political effort 
to induce the trade unions, who were represented on it, to co- 

operate in controlling wage increases; planning, in the sense 
that the NEDC itself understood the activity, was less important 
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either to Macmillan or his Chancellor. 

Towards the end of his premiership, in November 1962, 

Macmillan wrote a memorandum on ‘The Modernisation of 

Britain’.63 Its two main points were that ‘in order to enhance 

our competitive power and to ensure a level of exports com- 

mensurate with full employment at home, we have to increase 

our productivity by bringing our productive capacity into full 

use, by eliminating restrictive practices and by developing to 

the utmost the new methods which technology is bringing 

within our reach’; and that ‘we have to re-organise the struc- 

ture of the island in such a way as to rectify the imbalance 

between south and north — between the “rich” areas and the 

“poor” regions, the under-employed regions — and redress the 

grave social anomalies which are created by this imbalance’. 

Although this note now resonates with cliché, like the ‘never 

had it so good’ speech quoted at the beginning of this chap- 

ter, both are good illustrations of his personal response to eco- 

nomic problems, and there is a genuine and marked differ- 

ence between them. When he first reached 10 Downing Street 

Macmillan still had a Treasury pallor: he was determined to 

manage public expenditure and national income aggregates, 

as a Keynesian, to permit growth without inflation, and in his 

first two years he was more anxious about inflation than about 

growth. Moreover, he had to be aware of the need to recover 

from the financial consequences of the Suez crisis, for which he 

himself was largely responsible. His personal interventions in 

questions of taxation, interest rates and the money supply were 

sometimes eccentric, but in essence he left it to his Chancellors 

to manage the economy as best they could, subject to the po- 

litical guidelines about which he was never reluctant to remind 

them. His economic views were indeed so inchoate that it is 

difficult to say whether he was or was not an early monetarist: 

his views on the importance of containing the money supply 

were clear, but like Macleod’s at the same period they did not 

prevent him from disagreeing profoundly with Thorneycroft 

about the political expediency of particular measures. 

Macmillan’s personal commitment to growth left him uneasy 

when the 1959 Budget was followed by inflation without sustain- 

able growth. This did not produce a U-turn, such as two sub- 

sequent Conservative prime ministers have attempted at least 

once,®4 but rather shifted his attention away from the peren- 

nial crises of the rate of unemployment, the gold and dollar 
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reserves and the balance of payments and towards the medium- 
and long-term concerns which appear in his ‘Modernisation’ 
memorandum. While he continued to interest himself in eco- 
nomic affairs by chairing Cabinet committees, his direct inter- 
ventions with his Chancellors were even more infrequent than 
in the previous premiership. It is scarcely. surprising that he 
found this frustrating, especially in 1962 when Selwyn Lloyd 
seemed unable to manage short-term macro-economic prob- 
lems, long-term structural planning, or the nuances of political 
presentation. 
Some of Macmillan’s disengagement from economic ques- 

tions in the last years can be explained as the weariness of a dis- 
illusioned man; but that disillusion took the very specific form 
of a search for structural cures for what he regarded as a struc- 
tural problem. Critics of British economic policy in the 1950s 
and early 1960s have taken up Samuel Brittan’s metaphor of a 
‘Macmillan Cycle’ in economic management.® This, allegedly, 
was a four-year sequence in which governments would fear to 
intervene during a boom, when they should have been cool- 
ing demand, and then would panic just after the boom broke, 

so that their deflationary measures sent the economy into a 
dive. Some time after the inevitable recovery had begun, the 
same governments would begin to inflate the economy, start- 
ing the cycle all over again. Brittan, at least, acknowledged that 

Macmillan had only been one of many who indulged in this 
behaviour. In recent mythology Macmillan has also been con- 
demned for financial incontinence, weakness in the face of the 

trade unions, over-confidence in the techniques of demand- 

management and an excessive liking for government expendi- 
ture. There was no period in his premiership or his chancellor- 
ship about which all of these charges could be sustained; there 

were long periods, especially at the beginning, for which none 
of them could. It should not be surprising that even in terms 
of the economic indicators which he and his contemporaries 
tended to favour to excess, such as the balance of payments, 
the unemployment rate, the gold and dollar reserves and in- 
flation, the ‘Macmillan years’ were markedly better than the 
1970s and the 1980s. This is perhaps faint praise, since the 
economies of industrialised Europe were forging ahead, but it 

is a proper corrective to the myth. 
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MANAGING THE PARTY 

Macmillan’s achievement in restoring Conservative political 

fortunes in time for the 1959 General Election has been de- 

scribed by one historian as ‘bringing his party back from the 

dead’.66 This is hardly an exaggeration. Suez was a major blow 

to the party, the worst accident to befall the Conservatives as 

a governing party in peacetime in the twentieth century. The 

impact upon the back bench was at first numbing, with many 

MPs unable to decide whether the operation or the withdrawal 

was the greater mistake, and uncertain of their political future 

under their new leader. The Economist remarked soon after his 

appointment that it was ‘presumably intended to bind up the 

wounds of Suez, but what it has really enswathed beneath the 

bandages is not, at first sight, the harm to the nation but the 

hurt feelings of the Conservative party itself’.6” In the coun- 

try the popular perception of the Conservatives as a party of 

prosperity and competence gave way to distrust; in June 1957 a 

Gallup poll showed Labour 7 per cent ahead, with fewer than a 

third of the electorate approving of Macmillan’s performance 

as leader of the party and prime minister. The measure of 

his achievement is that in August 1959 67 per cent of voters 

polled by Gallup approved of his performance. By the time 

of the election, timed for October 1959 to take advantage of 

the favourable consequences of the 1959 Budget, the Conser- 

vatives, under a competent and apparently confident leader, 

would have found it extremely difficult to lose office. 
This reversal of fortunes was achieved by a strengthening 

of the party organisation and an improved presentation of its 

policies and of its leader. Without taking a direct part in organ- 

isational renewal, Macmillan enthusiastically supported Oliver 

Poole (who was not an exciting figure) and Lord Hailsham 
(who was), in their efforts as chairmen of the party to make 
the structure set up by Lord Woolton as efficient as possible. 
Macmillan himself counted the first year of his premiership as 
an unmitigated electoral failure. The Conservatives suffered 
adverse swings in every by-election, and although this was to 
be expected by a party in office the average swing was much 
larger than in 1955 or 1956. In Warwick and Leamington, in 

March 1957, a comfortable majority of nearly 30 per cent of 
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the vote was reduced to less than 5 per cent, a swing of 12.2 
per cent; lesser but still unpleasant swings were sustained at 
Edinburgh South (10.2 per cent) and East Ham North (8 per 
cent) in May and at Gloucester (10.5 per cent) in September. 
In Gloucester, which had been a Labour marginal, Liberal in- 
tervention cut the Conservative share of the vote by two-fifths, 
without affecting the Labour vote at all. This was doubly worry- 
ing because popular support for the government did not seem 
to be recovering at the same rate as back-bench Conservative 
support in the Commons. 

Macmillan’s solution was to demote Oliver Poole, who had 

been chairman of the party since Woolton retired in 1955, and 

replace him by Hailsham. Poole retained the deputy chairman- 
ship, and continued to run Central Office, while Hailsham set 
out to inspire the party. The 1957 Conference, in Brighton, 

was marked by the regular early morning appearance of Hail- 
sham in a bathing suit on the beach (in October) and his 

energetic ringing of a handbell. Though distasteful to some, 
particularly the more refined spirits on the Labour front bench, 

this appears to have had an important effect on the rank and 
file of the party. This change of tone was followed by a major 
recruiting drive, ‘Roll Call for Victory’, in 1958, which concen- 

trated on recruiting a broader spectrum of social groups into 
the party. Concern for the party’s image as the party of priv- 
ilege had earlier inspired an advertising campaign, launched 
by Central Office in June 1957, with themes chosen to appeal 
to women and to the more prosperous elements of the work- 
ing classes. Thus began an effort, more enthusiastic and more 
successful than anything undertaken by Labour, to come to 
terms with social change and to present the Conservative Party 
as a party of the whole nation. The theme of prosperity for 
all classes — the attitude captured by the apocryphal claim that 
‘You’ve never had it so good’ — was the basis of the party’s 
highly effective appeal in 1959. Although it resonates down 
the years, this phrase did not in fact sum up the whole of the 
party’s appeal, which was also directed more conservatively to 
the narrow self-interest of the middle classes. 

There is no doubt that Macmillan approved of this devel- 
opment and in large part inspired it. He cheerfully used lan- 
guage about economic policy — the ‘give-away’ in Budgets was a 
favoured phrase — which makes him appear a cynical and showy 
manipulator of public greed and an exploiter of any social 
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trend which tended to weaken the loyalty of Labour voters to 

their party. However the campaign was not at first based on his 

own personality. His name and photograph were deliberately 

excluded from the first advertising campaign,® and it was not 

until ‘Roll Call for Victory’ that he became a central image. By 

this time his public persona had been successfully cultivated. In- 

defatigable international travel, especially the Commonwealth 

tour in early 1958 which had been carefully managed for the 

Press, helped to make him a statesman. So did television: in 

May 1958 his personal approval rating in the Gallup poll was 

37 per cent, but two months after a televised interview with the 

American journalist Ed Murrow this had risen to 50 per cent, 

with some indication that television viewers were more likely 

than non-viewers to have changed their minds about him.®9 

Although the Murrow interview in retrospect appears stilted, 

it was considerably better than anything achieved by any previ- 

ous prime minister, and it capitalised on his carefully crafted 

reputation for ‘unflappability’. 

Meanwhile Macmillan was engaged in an exercise much 

closer to his heart, the reconstruction of Conservative policy 

in preparation for 1959. As a prime minister he was not noted 

for interfering in his colleagues’ departmental affairs, and in 

home policy his efforts can even seem sporadic and unhelpful 

when compared with his steady application to grave foreign 

problems. But his commitment to forward thinking and to 

the development of a modern form of Conservatism had been 

a consistent theme of his career since he entered Parliament, 

and he expected the party to reflect this enthusiasm. By his 
ministerial appointments he enhanced the stature of the Con- 
servative Research Department in the policy-making process. 
Macleod, Maudling and Powell, all former members of the de- 

partment’s staff, became ministers and ultimately Cabinet min- 

isters; Macmillan’s secretary, John Wyndham, was also a former 
member of the department. Other structural changes helped 
to co-ordinate the presentation of policy in the country. A 
‘Liaison Committee’ of representatives from the government, 
Central Office, the Whips and the Party Chairman met to co- 

ordinate the presentation of policy, and even to advise on the 
timing of policy initiatives which might seem controversial. 

More important, Macmillan set up a ‘Steering Committee’ 
consisting of himself, Butler, Hailsham, Macleod and Heath 

(the Chief Whip), together with party officers, which tried 
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to develop coherent policies for a Conservative Party in gov- 
ernment. This committee apparently originated in an acute 
memorandum by Michael Fraser, deputy director of the Re- 
search Department.” Fraser remarked that ‘our political aim 
in this period of office should have been to achieve some 
rehabilitation of the middle-class in the widest sense of that 
word, while not in the process alienating that wider measure 

of manual-working support which we had gained by 1955 and 
upon which we depend for a reasonable majority’. Conserva- 
tive strategy could either be a gradualist policy like that of 1951 
to 1955, or a two-stage process ‘concentrating on wooing our 
hard middle-class core in the early years of the Parliament and 
on wooing the margins later’. Because of Suez and its impact 
on the economy neither course had been followed consistently. 
Fraser suggested an early concentration on anti-inflation mea- 
sures, leading to ‘the re-establishment of a pattern in the public 

mind’, and this was undoubtedly the policy implied by Macmil- 
lan’s own attitudes in 1957 and the economic policies described 
above.’! Organisationally he wanted a means to feed the policy 
ideas of Conservative Party groups ‘within the limits of con- 
stitutional propriety’ into the government machine ‘for more 
detailed analysis and criticism’. 

With a formidable membership, the Steering Committee was 
intended to oversee this process. Its method of work in its first 
two years was simple and effective. Issues were brought up, by 
members or officers, and delegated as appropriate to the Con- 
servative Research Department or to mixed groups of MPs and 
officials, or even to ministers. The results of their efforts were 

reviewed by the Steering Committee, and the ministerial mem- 

bers, with Macmillan in the lead, could if they wished push 
policy forward in government. To a remarkable extent this 
had the support of senior civil servants. The Cabinet Secre- 
tary, Norman Brook, offered that his official colleagues would 
‘take more responsibility for day-to-day administration ...and 
thus give senior Ministers a little more time to think at large 
and to join with you, as required, in political planning’.’”* The 
more important function of the Steering Committee was to 
guide the preparation of the next election manifesto, a task 
which began in earnest in April 1958. In this part of the work 
Macmillan’s instincts predominated: he identified the prob- 
lem of ‘how to present what is in fact “Safety First” into a policy 
which looks as if it is moving forward’, and influenced the tone 
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of the campaign towards ‘On the basis of what has been done, 
move on.’73 Although most of the work of drafting the mani- 
festo was undertaken by party officers, calling particularly on 
the Research Department, the manifesto went through many 
drafts and was frequently reviewed by senior ministers under 
the chairmanship of the prime minister. This was one of a 
number of ways in which Macmillan successfully fused party 
and government. 

After the highly successful 1959 campaign, the Steering Com- 
mittee met less frequently — about twice a year — and the con- 
duct of policy research was left more to the initiative of the 
Conservative Research Department, under Fraser. Though no 

bad thing in itself, this development reflected the relative lack 

of inspiration from Macmillan and from his ministerial col- 
leagues. The successive policy failures of the early 1960s, from 
the abrupt reversal of budgetary policy in 1960 through the 
failures of summitry to the Night of the Long Knives, won 
Macmillan little public credit and began to erode his support 
within the Conservative Party, both in Parliament and outside 
it. He was constantly aware of the risk to the party’s position, 
reminding his Cabinet colleagues before the 1960 Party Con- 
ference that ‘since Parties depend for their continuing strength 
upon the new voters coming in, we must not allow the thought 
to develop over the next year or two that we have done well 
but that we have completed our task’.’4 It was an uphill strug- 
gle. In February 1961 he warned Selwyn Lloyd that ‘the youth 
and energy of President Kennedy are in danger of creating a 
kind of image that he and his country are young and full of 
ideas and that we are out of date, governed by ageing polliti- 
cians’.’”° The cure on that occasion was to remind the House of 
Commons that Britain did not have American rates of unem- 
ployment, but every twist in economic policy seemed to make 
the party’s situation worse. 
From the middle of 1961 Macmillan grew more preoccupied 

with a listlessness in Cabinet which seemed to reflect his own 
exhaustion. Although Lloyd pressed ahead woodenly with eco- 
nomic measures which were broadly to Macmillan’s liking, he 
produced few new ideas. The burden of innovation fell in- 
stead on the prime minister’s shoulders, as by-election disaster 
followed by-election disaster. His major policy statement to 
Cabinet on 28 May 1962, which launched the idea of an in- 
comes policy to succeed the pay pauses, constituted a political 
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analysis as well as an: ‘economic prescription. He returned to 
the risk of staleness in government, urging his colleagues that 
‘we must leap forward in the same kind of way and in the same 
kind of spirit that we should have done had we been now in 
Opposition instead of in power for eleven years’. Besides the 
incomes policy itself, he was seriously attempting to re-launch 
Conservatism as a party of national appeal: 

First the working classes as we are apt in this room to call them, but I 

suppose there’s some new name for them now. If they are to accept 
an incomes policy however promulgated by whatever Government 
or by a wider body, in my view the time has come now to state 
definitely we can no longer accept the difference of status between 
the wage earner and the salary earner. We must work toward the 
ending of the sharp division between the manual worker and the 
staff. I think we should state that clearly as our purpose... If the 
working classes are to play in this hand they must feel that they 
play as full members of the team and not fighting for their strength 
and therefore tending to abuse their strength. Secondly the middle 
classes — the Orpingtonians. At present they feel the victims of both 
sides, pushed about between large industry and the Trade Unions to 
whom they see us what they call surrender. They have immensely to 
gain from an incomes policy and it shouldn’t be difficult to persuade 
them... They suffer in a free for all unless of course we were to throw 
the full employment ball away and go for a violently deflationary 
policy somewhat like that between the wars, when undoubtedly the 
standard of living of the middle classes was high... But I am sure 
that no one anymore seriously proposes the creation of large scale 
unemployment; nor do I think any Government is likely to survive 
it, so that that really cannot be a hope for the middle classes. 

To this idiosyncratic version of the traditional Conservative 
appeal to inter-class unity he was determined to add ‘a new 
attitude towards the unity of the nation as a whole and their 
different claim upon each other, to try and create a kind of 
moral position on which it is almost anarchical and indecent to 
oppose this line of thought’. This rather unexpected moral 
tone was carried through in his first incomes policy paper, 
which included ‘the idea that in the long run Britain’s contri- 
bution to the present dramatic changes in human society and 
in world relations demands not only a sound economic basis, 
but a realisation of the spiritual and moral issues at stake. The 
new approach would be presented as the first step, but only as 
the first step, in a new total phase of our national development 
and our national influence for good.’7” 
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The Conservative Party’s experience in the early 1960s does 

not suggest that this lunge for the high moral ground was ever 

likely to be successful as a strategy for party unity. While the 

economic failures probably had the greater effect on public 

opinion, and thus posed the more serious threat to the re- 

election of the party, it was the challenges of external policy 

which undermined the relationship between Macmillan and 

his back-benchers. Quite simply, Macmillan and his ministers 

were capable of deciding on policies towards Europe and the 

colonies which many of their parliamentary supporters would 

not stomach. Local party associations were also divided, espe- 

cially when MPs were prepared to voice their suspicions. As a 

result the party organisation was positively relieved when the 

Common Market negotiations failed, and a Research Depart- 

ment committee noted in 1961 that ‘the party is divided over 

Colonial policy into (a) the progressives (mainly the younger 

members) who endorse it, (b) the great majority, who accept 

it, with regret, as inevitable, as, of course, it is and (c) the 

right wing (mainly the older members ...) who are frankly 

critical.’78 The Macmillan Cabinets, especially after 1959, were 

preoccupied with what they saw as the inevitable decline in 

Britain’s power to influence world events unaided. In this, and 

in home affairs, they were reconciled to change, and made it 

their business to control it and influence its direction. This was 

a difficult position to explain to some of their followers, who 

were impatient when told that policy, for example towards the 

colonies, ‘raises difficult problems of timing: if we go too fast, 

we risk having a Congo on our hands; if we go too slow, we risk 

having an Algeria on our hands’.”9 Plenty of Conservatives did 

not want to go anywhere at all, fast or slow, and were prepared 

to blame the prime minister for making them do so. Minis- 

ters had to make decisions, and some later regretted that they 

had moved so fast to decolonise,8° but the passions of their 

followers did not make it easy to plan coolly. 

Back-bench suspicion of Macmillan’s foreign policy, stretch- 

ing back to Suez and the resignation of Lord Salisbury, made 

opportunities for a small number of MPs whom he identified as 

personal enemies. Not all of them were significant actors, and 

many were in fact more critical of his domestic policies, but 

they thrived on his vulnerability to criticism from traditionally- 
minded sections of the party, such as the agricultural lobby 
(over the Common Market) and the local associations where 
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loyalty to the former Empire was important. Macmillan was 
perhaps unduly sensitive to parliamentary criticism from ‘the 
usual malcontents’: back-benchers such as Robin Turton, Lord 
Hinchingbrooke and Nigel Birch. Birch in particular, who 
never forgave the prime minister for the 1958 estimates crisis, 
was capable of wounding interventions, of which the ‘Never 
glad confident morning again’ rebuke to Macmillan’s leader- 
ship over the Profumo affair was merely the most memorable. 

Macmillan had other enemies within the party who were too 
significant to ignore, and these he made into colleagues. Thor- 
neycroft and Powell, unlike Birch, returned to office and were 
treated with distant respect. Butler formed a constructive work- 
ing relationship with his rival, though his leaks and ambiguous 
asides to journalists left no doubt that he would have preferred 
to be leader himself. The result, as in most governments, was 
that back-bench loyalties were sometimes directed to particular 
leading ministers rather than exclusively to the prime minister 
himself. Until 1963 this gave the government safe majorities, 

and in practice reassured Macmillan about his political future. 

LLOYD, PROFUMO AND ENCIRCLING GLOOM 

The dismissal of Selwyn Lloyd in 1962 and the resulting reshuf- 
fle known as the Night of the Long Knives, was to be a break- 
point in the life of Macmillan’s last government. In early July 
1962 Macmillan discussed his intention of removing Lloyd with 
R.A. Butler, who soon leaked the news to the Daily Mail. At 
that stage the prime minister was only thinking of a general 
Cabinet reshuffle in the autumn, which could be the occasion 

for a number of useful moves. The Mail printed the story on 
Thursday 12 July, which was the morning of a Cabinet meeting 
at which Macmillan’s latest paper on incomes policy was dis- 
cussed.8! The Chancellor, who took little part in the discussion 

according to Macmillan’s recollection but contributed fully ac- 
cording to his own,®? had an appointment to see Macmillan at 
6.00 p.m. to discuss repayment of Britain’s IMF loan. Shortly 
beforehand, Macmillan’s private secretary, Tim Bligh, warned 
Lloyd that he was going to be dismissed. The interview was dif- 

ficult for both men, and in the tension of the moment Macmil- 

lan apparently opened up a new perspective in which Lloyd’s 
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departure was to be part of a general reshuffle including Lord 

Mills and Lord Kilmuir, the Lord Chancellor. 

Overnight Macmillan concluded that matters could not rest 

there, and when he heard the next morning that Lloyd’s ju- 

nior minister, John Hare, was proposing to go too he decided 
to outflank further trouble by carrying out the whole autumn 
reshuffle in a single summer’s day. On 13 July, in addition to 
Kilmuir and Mills, Harold Watkinson left Defence, David Eccles 

left Education, John Maclay left the Scottish Office and Charles 
Hill lost his position as Minister of Housing. Maudling went to 
the Treasury from the Colonial Office, which was amalgamated 
with the Commonwealth Office under Duncan Sandys. Butler 
left the Home Office to become a sort of deputy prime minis- 
ter with responsibility for Central Africa, and was replaced by 
Henry Brooke. Thorneycroft, now rehabilitated, was promoted 

to be Secretary of State for Defence, and Macmillan’s son-in- 

law, Julian Amery, went to Aviation. William Deedes became 

Minister without Portfolio, Sir Edward Boyle went to Education 
and Sir Keith Joseph to Housing. Sir Reginald Manningham- 
Buller became Lord Chancellor. Although some of the new 
men were more pliable than those they replaced, and Boyle 
and Joseph were markedly clever, the new team did not look 
so very much better than the old that the Press and the public 
were convinced. 

By the Saturday it was clear that the reshuffle had been a 
political disaster, and Macmillan went to Birch Grove to rest. 
A Liberal MP remarked that “Greater love hath no man than 
this, that he lay down his friends for his life’, and the mud 
stuck. For almost a week the Press criticism and parliamentary 
suspicion continued, dying away only after a reasonably good 
meeting of the 1922 committee on 19 July. But no one could 
easily forget such an act of mass disloyalty, and Macmillan’s 
reputation never recovered. Gaitskell made the best of his 
opportunity in Parliament by observing in the economic debate 
on 26 July that ‘there is really no doubt that this was the act 
of a desperate man in a desperate situation, and the desperate 
situation was the steady, remorseless and steep decline of the 

Conservative Party’s fortunes in by-election after by-election’.83 
With hindsight it must be observed that the decision to dis- 

miss Lloyd was not a bad one, and that Macmillan’s only mis- 
take was to panic and hold his reshuffle all at once. There 
was an urgent need for new blood at the Treasury, and the 
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inadequacies of the previous year must be attributed in part 
to Lloyd’s lack of imagination, as well as the unusually incom- 
petent Treasury forecasts which informed his Budgets. The 
practice of delegation, which normally allowed Macmillan to 
concentrate on tricky external problems, had clearly broken 
down, and put on to the prime minister’s shoulders a bur- 
den which it was not reasonable for him to bear. Butler’s leak 
was unfortunate, and the consequent panic reflected badly on 
Macmillan himself. 
The next political disaster, the Profumo affair, was a wa- 

tershed, and one of the few parliamentary episodes to merit 
singling out as a turning point in Macmillan’s political career. 
The outlines of the story are clearly imprinted on British po- 
litical memory, though some of the details remain tantalis- 
ingly unclear. John (Jack) Profumo, was appointed Secretary 
of State for War in 1960. In 1961, at Lord Astor’s house at 

Cliveden, he began an affair with Christine Keeler, a semi- 

professional prostitute. This came to an end by December 
1961. It is likely, but not certain, that Keeler was at the same 

time conducting an affair with the Soviet Naval Attaché, Cap- 
tain Ivanov. In March 1963 two of Keeler’s other lovers were 
charged, separately, with assaults on her, and the Press became 

aware of rumours linking her with Profumo. The matter was 
raised in the Commons, as a security issue, by George Wigg, 
Labour’s self-appointed expert on security matters.54 
On 22 March 1963 Profumo made a personal statement to 

the House, denying ‘impropriety’. Macmillan evidently be- 
lieved him, but the Opposition were not tempted to share his 
confidence in Profumo’s honesty, and produced on 9 April a 
memorandum by Wigg which described not only Profumo’s af- 
fair but also the mediating role of Stephen Ward, an osteopath 
and acquaintance of Lord Astor, who ostensibly acted as pimp 
for Keeler. In May, after Harold Wilson had sent in a second 
letter and included a long note from Ward accusing Profumo 
of lying to the House, Macmillan began to take the matter se- 
riously and referred it to MI5. On 4 June Profumo confessed 
that he had had an affair with Keeler and that he had lied 
to the Commons. Within a week the News of the World was se- 
rialising Keeler’s life story which, though brief (she was only 
twenty years old), was well stocked with matters of interest to 
readers. Macmillan, who had realised only at the end of May 
that this was a major political problem, was obliged to defend 
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his government in the Commons, and finally did so in a debate 

on 17 June. 
It is significant that even with the hindsight of autobiogra- 

phy Macmillan did not see how much damage this incident 

did to his own standing. His case was good in parts. He had 

not moved in Profumo’s circle, and he had not been told un- 

til very late by the Security Services that Keeler might have 

been asked to obtain nuclear secrets from Profumo. He was 

aware that the implicit charge against him was that he had not 

pressed Profumo when the first statement was made, and that 

he had allowed himself and the House to be deceived. His an- 

swer was open: he had thought it better to let the Chief Whip 

ask the questions, and for his own part he preferred to be 

loyal to his friends and colleagues until any accusation against 

them was proven. He found it impossible to conceive that a 
man would behave as Profumo behaved, so he did not jump 
to unpalatable conclusions. He was deeply unwilling to talk 
or even think about sexual impropriety, and, so it would ap- 
pear, had preferred to ignore the few hints that came to him. 
Aware that the party might have asked more from its leader, the 
Whips made it clear to the back bench that Macmillan would 
resign if his majority were cut. He survived, but only just, with 
a majority of fifty-seven and the sound of Nigel Birch’s denun- 
ciation ringing in his ears: ‘I myself feel that the time will come 
very soon when my Right Hon. Friend ought to make way for 
a much younger colleague.... [he quoted Browning’s ‘Lost 
Leader’] “Never glad confident morning again!” — so I hope 
that the change will not be too long delayed.’ 

Things duly got worse rather than better. The chairman of 
the 1922 Committee was known to have talked about a new 
leader; a Gallup poll was damning; Cabinet colleagues were 

thought, by Butler, to have muttered in corners; the quality 

Press was condescendingly critical and outraged by turns. The 
appointment of Lord Denning as a one-man commission of 
inquiry into the security aspects of the case deflected some 
public curiosity, but the trial of Stephen Ward for living off 
immoral earnings, and Ward’s suicide on 3 August, excited it 
once more. The publication of Denning’s report in Septem- 
ber gave little foothold to the critics, though: despite some 
censorious subheadings, Denning concluded that there was 
less in the Keeler—Profumo—Ward-Ivanov story than met the 
eye. Gallup polls, and the evidence of the Downing Street and 
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party postbags, suggest that sympathy for Macmillan began to 
increase after July, and was still increasing when his sudden 
illness plucked him from office. This in turn suggests that the 
Profumo affair only confirmed the impression of Macmillan’s 
loss of grip upon the leadership of the party, rather than cre- 
ating a doubt which had not been there before. Macmillan’s 
political touch had been in question since the Night of the 
Long Knives, and he had never truly regained it. 

DUSK 

Hindsight lends an inevitability to Macmillan’s departure from 
office in October 1963, but in the summer of that year there 

was no such clear expectation. The impact of the Test-Ban 
Treaty, announced to the House on 11 July, burnished his 
reputation as an international statesman. Though Macmillan 
himself was overcome with emotion, and the Commons’ reac- 

tion was favourable, it did not restore public enthusiasm for the 
government. With the certainty of an election before October 
1964, the question of the Tory leadership could not be shirked 
indefinitely. Macmillan’s age was beginning to tell against him: 
the sudden death of Hugh Gaitskell and the election of Harold 
Wilson as Labour leader had pointed an unfavourable contrast 
between youth and experience. Although the Profumo affair 
was dying away, it had added permanently to the minority of 
Conservative MPs who wanted a new leader, and reports of 
‘scheming’ in June were a straw in the wind.85 Macmillan con- 
tinued to play on the party’s reflex loyalties with a successful 
appearance before the 1922 Committee in July and consoled 
himself that his government was gaining in the opinion polls, 
though it was still trailing the opposition. In private, however, 

he was already beginning to brood about resignation and it 

seems clear that the metabolic effects of the early stages of 

prostate disease were contributing to an indecisive moodiness. 

Throughout August and September he travailed, getting con- 

flicting advice from senior colleagues and Conservative Party 

officers. By mid-September he had apparently made up his 

mind sufficiently to inform the Queen that he would not lead 

the party in the next election. 
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A symptom of his state of mind was that this ‘decision’ was al- 
most immediately reversed, and in the very last days before the 
Party Conference, which was to begin on 8 October, Macmillan 
was thrashing the matter over with colleagues, especially Lord 
Home, with his family, especially his son Maurice, and with 

the party hierarchy. Oliver Poole for the party officers was 
convinced that he should go. Maurice Macmillan agreed, but 
Macmillan’s brother-in-law, James Stuart, thought that there 

was support for his staying on. Senior Cabinet colleagues, when 
asked on 7 October, indicated a majority in support of his stay- 
ing on to fight the election. He decided that day to go on, and 

to announce to the full Cabinet on 8 October that he would 
continue. 

It was in the middle of the night of 7-8 October that Macmil- 
lan was seized by the ‘excruciating pain’ of his prostate ill- 
ness. Despite this, he announced to the Cabinet on 8 Octo- 
ber that he intended to carry on to fight the election, and 
his colleagues, apparently discounting his pallor as the usual 
hypochondria, accepted his decision.86 Then, in an extraor- 

dinary collapse of mood, he succumbed to despair in a series 
of interviews with doctors. The doctors persuaded him that 
he had to have an immediate operation; Macmillan persuaded 

himself that this meant that he could not carry on. Much con- 
troversy has since surrounded the events of 8 October, with 
some arguing that the late arrival of his usual physician, Sir 
John Richardson (who was in the Lake District when called), 
allowed Macmillan to be influenced unduly by the advice of the 
surgeons who warned that he would be unfit for some months. 
However the rapid play of feeling is to be interpreted, the con- 
sequence was that in the evening of 8 October Macmillan told 
Butler explicitly that he could not fight the election and that 
the party must be told. On 9 October he wrote to the Queen 
warning her that he must resign, and on 10 October he under- 
went an operation which removed his prostate gland and, as 
it transpired, gave him twenty more years of remarkably active 
life. 

Macmillan’s message to the party was read out by Alec Home 
to the Party Conference in Blackpool on the afternoon of 10 
October. There ensued the most extraordinary and undigni- 
fied display of naked ambition and mutual backstabbing, which 
finally undermined the credibility of the Conservative Party’s 
historic methods of choosing its leaders. With two peers, Hail- 
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sham and Home, in the ring because recent legislation had 
allowed them to resign their peerages, the long-serving heir- 
apparent Butler waiting perpetually for his just recompense, 
and the late entry of Reginald Maudling as a representative of 
the post-war generation, both party and country were treated 
to a spectacle of indecision and mistrust. Hailsham quickly 
disqualified himself in the eyes of most senior Conservatives 
by thrusting himself forward as a candidate within hours of 
the announcement. Macmillan, extraordinarily, took the view 

that he could not formally resign until he knew how to ad- 
vise the monarch about his successor. He thus took control 
from his sickbed of a process of decision in which ultimately 
only the Cabinet was involved, though MPs and constituency 
parties were consulted hurriedly. One important result of the 
haste was that the name of Home emerged late in the proceed- 
ings as the only man who could unite the Cabinet, even though 
he was hardly considered during the consultation of MPs and 
the constituencies. He was also Macmillan’s own clear choice, 

by the end, and he therefore became prime minister on 18 
October, although he would have been thought a rank out- 
sider if the fateful Cabinet meeting of the 8th had decided to 
look for a successor. Butler, Maudling and Hailsham, abetted 

by Macleod and Powell, raised their voices in protest and for 
twenty-four hours it seemed possible that Home would have to 
form his Cabinet without them; but like most such protests it 
rapidly collapsed and all but Powell and Macleod, both pas- 
sionate supporters of Butler, eventually joined. Macmillan’s 
life at the top was suddenly ended. 
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Chapter 11 

MACMILLAN IN PERSPECTIVE 

Macmillan’s rapid recovery from the physical illness which pre- 
cipitated his resignation left him in an unusual and uncom- 
fortable position, especially after his party went down to defeat 
under his chosen successor (‘an Edward Grey, not an Asquith’) 
in 1964. Though many observers blamed Macmillan’s legacy 
for the débacle, he himself did not and his belief in his own 

political skills did not diminish. His massive exercise in auto- 
biography, completed in 1973, helped to convince him that 
he had been right most of the time. He was therefore a frus- 
trated and sometimes a dangerous elder statesman. Although 
he expressed private impatience at the difficulties of the Heath 
government in the early 1970s, he waited a long time before 
making his public criticisms of the Thatcher administration, 
finally delivering a notorious speech regretting the ‘sale of the 
family silver’ to the Tory Reform Group in November 1985, 
little more than a year before he died. By then he was remark- 
able not just for his longevity but for the trenchant intellect 
and sense of mischief which he preserved almost to the end. 
The legend of Supermac was largely Macmillan’s own inven- 

tion, with some retrospective assistance from his official biogra- 
pher. Alistair Horne’s biography, more usefully, has elaborated 
the fragility and complexity of Macmillan’s character, in which 
anxiety, introversion and a tendency to debilitating depression 
were represented as strongly as moral courage and caustic wit. 
But perhaps because Macmillan remained in the public eye as 
a particularly showy elder statesman, his political position has 
been subject to the misunderstandings of modern polemic. Es- 
pecially after the ‘family silver’ speech, critics from the Conser- 
vative Right emphasised his contribution to inflation, through 
the 1959 Budget, and to the growth of ‘collectivism’ through 

269 



MACMILLAN 

the habit of dealing with trade unions and eventually the estab- 

lishment of the NEDC. The other wing of the party seized on 

his ‘Middle Way’ period but also on his commitment while in 

office to the ‘One Nation’ imagery which left-wing and centrist 

Conservatives commonly use to celebrate the politics of con- 

sensus. Neither of these is easy to reconcile with the historical 

record. 
Macmillan can easily be represented as a monetarist and 

proto-Thatcherite, both in economic and in social policy. As 

Chancellor of the Exchequer and then for a time as prime min- 

ister he enthusiastically limited public expenditure, and relied 

openly on monetarist tactics (if not a full-blown monetarist 
policy) to control inflation. This suited the rentiers in his party 
very well, and what he used cheerfully to call the ‘giveaway’ 
in his Chancellors’ Budgets was as often as not given to the 
reasonably well off rather than to the poor. Like most Conser- 
vative prime ministers since the war (including Mrs Thatcher), 

he enjoyed trimming the defence budget, except for nuclear 
weapons, and he was sceptical about government measures 
which had the effect of transferring resources from what he 
called ‘the possessing classes’ to others. He inveighed against 
restrictions on economic activity, and without ever abandoning 
an ironic detachment presided over a Cabinet with leanings to- 
wards social libertarianism, for example towards betting shops 
and the legalisation of some forms of homosexual activity. 

There was an obvious discontinuity between the Macmillan 
of 1955-58 and the Macmillan of 1959-63. During 1958 he em- 
braced the idea of expansion and encouraged his Chancellors 
to a series of measures which had the effect of overheating the 
economy without providing the means to supply the demand 
which fiscal largesse had created. After that point Macmillan’s 
governments were committed to demand-management as their 
main weapon of economic policy. It was used with ever increas- 
ing enthusiasm to protect the balance of payments and the 
value of the pound. From this period grew the legend of the 
‘Macmillan Cycle’, much criticised by economists such as Sam 
Brittan and taken into the folk-memory of the Conservative 
Party as a reason for not trying to intervene counter-cyclically 
as Keynes and his followers might have suggested. 

But it is difficult to argue that this justifies modern criti- 
cisms of Macmillan’s fundamental policy. Many of the errors 
of Heathcoat Amory, Lloyd and Maudling can be attributed to 
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the lack of sound information and forecasting ability, so that 
the Treasury’s intervention amplified the business cycle rather 
than smoothing it down; they were comparable in that sense 
with the ‘Barber boom’ of 1972 or the ‘Lawson boom’ of 1987. 
Macmillan’s ministries were further hampered by their com- 
mitment to a strong pound. This might have been mistaken, 
but it is not the mistake for which he is usually castigated. 
Another important dimension of Macmillan’s politics was 

the ease with which he used social and economic policy to 
reinforce the electoral position of the Conservative Party. Al- 
though the loyal Michael Fraser found reason to criticise his 
ministerial colleagues for lack of focus in their use of policy 
weapons before the 1959 election, Macmillan himself had a 
consistent record of building up the ‘possessing classes’, both 
by increasing their numbers by such means as a private housing 
programme and by rewarding with fiscal generosity the rentiers 
who existed already. Without much sentiment for the ‘prole- 
tarian hides’ of the organised and unionised working classes 
who wanted a socialist order, he was content to encourage so- 

cial mobility (so long as it did not reach the aristocracy) and 
individual prosperity for working-class families. The one in- 
strument of policy from which he tended to shrink was unem- 
ployment, but this again supported the effort to consolidate 
an electoral coalition behind the Conservative Party. 

Macmillan would have wished to be remembered as an inter- 
national statesman. The essence of his policy was to maintain 
British influence in the world by finesse rather than force. He 
consistently overestimated what could be achieved by attach- 
ing Britain to the policy of the United States and bending 
American policy to British interests. The potent metaphor of 
the British as Greeks to the American Romans blinded him 
to the inconsistencies between British and American interests, 

and allowed him to believe, even after Suez, that the United 

States would be prepared to favour British interests over those 
of other Western states. In return he was anxious to give the 
Americans as little reason as possible to withhold assistance. 
This exaggerated concern for the ‘special relationship’, among 
other misapprehensions, fatally crippled his approach to the 

Common Market in 1962. 
In contrast he suffered from rather fewer illusions in his 

dealing with the end of empire. Macmillan could see, from the 
beginning of his premiership, that the colonies would cost too 
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much to keep. His objective was to get rid of them with the 

minimum damage to British political and strategic interests. 

The policy questions, which he generally left to his colonial 

secretaries and, for the Central African Federation, to Butler 

were often intractable but rarely as tricky as the difficulties they 

caused for the Conservative Party. While apparently sharing 

his party’s discomfort at the contemplation of majority rule in 

the countries of the former African empire, he managed to 

deflect the attacks of his Conservative opponents by ignoring 

them and appealing wearily to historic inevitability. The Winds 

of Change speech, above all, reflected a realism which was 

beyond the grasp of many of his back-benchers; nevertheless, 

like so many of Macmillan’s insights, it did not lead to decisive 

action to solve the problems which it analysed. 
But above all he was an aficionado of the Cold War. Without 

the consistent hostility and mutual suspicion between the West 
and the Soviet bloc which characterised the 1950s and early 
1960s, none of Macmillan’s foreign policies would have made 
sense. Though a self-proclaimed economiser in defence expen- 
diture, he assumed without agonising reflection that Britain’s 
defence should consume a higher proportion of the national 
wealth than in any other European country, with all the con- 
sequences that fact had for other aspects of policy. He told 
the Commons in 1958 that ‘never has the threat of Russian 
and Soviet Communism been so great, or the need for coun- 
tries to organise themselves against it so urgent’.! He assumed 
a world role, where other European nations saw a continen- 
tal role for themselves. He assumed that sterling would exist 
as a reserve currency for the West and for allies of the West 
throughout the world. He assumed that Britain had a unique 
role to play in Europe but not of it, because of a divine mis- 
sion to cement the alliance between Western Europe and the 
United States against the Soviet threat. Each of these propo- 
sitions now seems contestable, but without them his policies 

would have led nowhere. 
Macmillan made much of his past. His play-acting as a faded 

Edwardian in the 1950s was an agreeable joke. More seriously, 
he used his own experience in the Great War, as a Northern 
MP between the wars, and particularly his opposition to Cham- 
berlain’s foreign policy, as reference points in his presentation 
of himself and his policies when he was prime minister. There 
was a cynicism, but also a nervousness in his self-regard. In 
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1961 he composed a classic cameo: 

Mr Gaitskell accuses me of what he calls Edwardian nonchalance — 
what others have called unflappability. I think if he had a little more 
experience of life he would know that sometimes in dangerous mo- 
ments it is advisable, even if one feels alarm, to cultivate an outward 
show of confidence. I learned that in early youth under fire on the 
battlefield. Unfortunately, for reasons which I wholly understand, 
this experience was not vouchsafed to Mr Gaitskell, Mr Wilson, Mr 
Brown, Mr Jay, and the other leading members of the Labour front 
bench. 

This gem was entrusted to George Christ, who was in charge 
of wounding observations at Conservative Central Office, ‘for 
some suitable Garden Party or possibly even Party Conference’. 
Even the normally brazen Christ found it difficult to stomach, 
and replied firmly that it really ought to come from some other 
minister, not Macmillan himself. Macmillan, on reflection, 
agreed.? He was also inclined to overdo his private joke about 
his age and infirmity. During the Suez crisis, even before he 
became prime minister, he told the Commons that ‘I could also 

look forward ...if these unlikely events had not taken place 
and when I had reached what is the end of, normally, the last 

decade of one’s life, political life at any rate, to retirement from 
many of these troubles’. At this, some impatient Honourable 
Members interjected ‘Cheer up.’ In later years he was more 
vulnerable than he liked to pretend to the charge that he had 
lost his touch. Although he told colleagues who protested at 
the satires of the television programme ‘That Was The Week 
That Was’ that ‘It is a good thing to be laughed at. It is better 
than to be ignored’,> but he was often worried that he was 

genuinely suffering the effects of age and tiredness. 
The record suggests, though, that these references to the 

past were largely oratorical tricks, and even the constant Mu- 
nich references were symbolic utterances as much as guiding 
principles of action. If he could kindle his audience’s memo- 
ries and its prejudices, especially against the men of Munich 
or the experience of the dole-queues, he could move them 
towards the objective of the moment, whatever that objective 
might be. When Macmillan began to believe his own rhetoric 
of the past, as he clearly did over the Anglo-American rela- 
tionship, he fast began to make mistakes. The more successful 
Macmillan was the relentless innovator: building houses, in- 
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venting Premium Bonds, wrenching like an economist’s Mr 
Toad at the controls of the stop-go economy, pulling together 
a hasty pastiche of French economic planning machinery into 
NEDC, negotiating a Test-Ban Treaty, or marching the Con- 
servative Party towards a politically and economically united 
Europe by reminding them of their historic hatred for the 
French. So fearless was he of innovation that he could rarely 
resist the comparison with two fiercely innovative Conservatives 
of the 19th century, Peel and Disraeli. On more than one oc- 

casion he reminded colleagues that ‘it is always a good thing 
to seize the Whigs’ clothes while they are bathing, it is a very 
old Conservative tradition.’® 
He also developed, towards the end of his premiership, a 

refreshing impatience with the conservatism of the party in 
power, even though it was his own party under his own leader- 
ship. This was evident in his teasing of Selwyn Lloyd: ‘I suppose 
you read the Daily Worker. It is much the best paper for us to 
study.’7 It could also be heard in his private remarks to Cabi- 
net as he introduced his incomes policy in May 1962 with the 
advice that ‘we must leap forward in the same kind of way and 
in the same kind of spirit that we should have done had we 
been now in Opposition instead of in power for eleven years. 
We must appear full of life and vigour with some new plans to 
put before the people.’® Not long before that meeting, com- 
plaining about a Treasury ruling on racing cars because ‘my 
grandsons tell me that we have lost the sympathy of youth and 
enterprise’, he delivered a broadside against the hapless Selwyn 
Lloyd which could have been aimed at the whole party: 

Whenever Britain seems to excel or have the chance to excel in 

anything, H.M.G. clamps down. We have the drivers; not in future 
the cars. Drab; second-rate; without zest or pride. That’s what we 

risk Britain and British people becoming.9 

By the end of his premiership, Macmillan’s attitude to the 
Conservative Party had nearly come full circle: the rebel of the 
1930s was a rebel still. 

It is a stern test of statesmanship that a prime minister should 
leave Britain stronger, diplomatically or economically, than he 
or she found it. None have passed it this century, and Macmil- 
lan certainly did not. But he had a broader vision than most 
leaders of the 1950s and 1960s, and greater courage in facing 

274 



MACMILLAN IN PERSPECTIVE 

change. In his time he avoided many of the obvious pitfalls and 
rescued a little dignity from the wreckage. One man alone can 
do little more. 
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1894 

1906 

1912 

1914 

1919 

1916 

1919 

1920 

1923 

1924 

1927 

CHRONOLOGY 

February 10 

March 

October 

August 

28 September 

20 July 

15 September 

March 

21 April 

December 

October 

Born, 52 Cadogan Place, London SW 

Scholar of Eton 

Classical Exhibitioner, Balliol College, 

Oxford 

Elected Junior Treasurer, Oxford 
Union 

Commissioned King’s Royal Rifle Corps 

To France with 4th Bn, Grenadier 

Guards 

Wounded at Loos 

Wounded on the Somme 

Wounded near Ginchy and evacuated 
to England 

Appointed ADC to the Duke of 
Devonshire, Governor-General of 

Canada 

Married to Lady Dorothy Cavendish 

Enters Macmillan publishers 

Stands unsuccessfully as Conservative 
candidate for Stockton-on-Tees at the 

general election 

Elected for Stockton 

Joint author of Industry and the State 
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1928 

1929 May 

1930 

1931 

October 

1932 March 

May 

1933 December 

1935 

1936 June 

1937 June 

1938 December 

1940 February 

May 

1942 February 

December 

1943 2] February 

May 

June 

July 
1944 October 

CHRONOLOGY 

Helps Winston Churchill with 
Industrial De-rating Bill 

Loses Stockton in general election 

Dorothy Macmillan commences lifelong 
affair with Robert Boothby 

Expresses qualified support for Mosley 
Memorandum 
Supports Beaverbrook’s campaign 
against Baldwin’s leadership of the 
Conservative Party 

Nervous breakdown 

Re-elected for Stockton in general 

election 

The State and Industry 

The Next Step 

Reconstruction 

Helps to form Next Five Years’ group 

Resigns Tory Whip over Abyssinia 

Reapplies for the Whip, June 

The Middle Way 

Mission to Finland 

Appointed Parliamentary Secretary, 
Ministry of Supply 

Parliamentary Under-Secretary for the 
Colonies 

Minister-Resident in North Africa 

Injured in air-crash, 21 February 

Axis surrender in North Africa 

Becomes Minister-Resident for 

Mediterranean theatre 

Negotiates Italian Armistice 

Liberation of Greece, from October 

liberation of Yugoslavia 

277 



1945 

1947 

1949 

1951 

1952 

1953 

1954 

1955 

1956 

1957 

May 

May 

July 

November 

May 

August 

December 

October 

Apnil 

December 

April 

November 

January 

January 

March 

September 

September 

March 
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Klagenfurt Cossack episode 

Appointed Secretary of State for Air 

Defeated at Stockton in general 
election 
Elected in by-election for Bromley 

Joins Opposition front bench 

Contributes to The Industrial Charter 

Delegate to Council of Europe 

Minister of Housing 

Presses for active European policy 

300,000 houses target reached 

Appointed Minister of Defence 

Appointed Foreign Secretary in new 
government by Eden 

Appointed Chancellor of the 
Exchequer 

Premium Bond budget 

Advocates “Plan G’ for European Free 
Trade Area 

Suez crisis 

Appointed Prime Minister 

At Home: 

Imposes financial stringency on 
Government departments with help of 
Thorneycroft 

Initiates Defence White Paper 

Industrial unrest 

Balance of payments crisis in 
September leads to further spending 
cuts and the Estimates Crisis 

‘Steering Committee’ for Party set up 

Abroad: 

Bermuda Conference with Eisenhower 
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1957 

1958 

1959 

March 

Apmil 

June 

July 
July 

October 

January 

February 

Apnil 

January 

May 

July 
August 

July 

November 

December 

March 

October 

February 

February 

February 

November 

CHRONOLOGY 

Archbishop Makarios released 

‘Plan G’ negotiations commenced 

Commonwealth Conference in London 

Intervention in Oman, July 

Macmillan begins negotiations towards 
Test- Ban treaty 

‘Declaration of Common Purpose’ with 
United States 

At Home: 

Thorneycroft resigns 

Industrial unrest 

Heathcoat Amory’s first Budget 

Abroad 

Macmillan’s Commonwealth tour 

Charles de Gaulle becomes French 

prime minister 

Iraqi monarchy overthrown 

Qemoy and Matsu bombardment 
begins 

Macmillan begins to negotiate Cyprus 
settlement 

Berlin crisis 

French reject Common Market-EFTA 
deal 

At Home: 

Expansionist Budget 

General election victory 

Abroad: 

Macmillan visits Russia 

Proposes summit conference 

Cyprus agreement signed 

Riots in Central African Federation 

EFTA agreement signed 
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1960 

1961 

January 

March 

July 
November 

January 

February 

February 

March 

March 

May 

july 
December 

December 

April 

July 
September 

March 

March 

May 

August 

August 

December 

December 
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At Home: 

Bank rate forced up 

‘Standstill Budget’ 

Lloyd succeeds Amory as Chancellor 

Macmillan chairs unemployment 
enquiry 

Abroad: 

African tour 

‘Winds of Change’ speech, Cape Town 

Monckton Commission goes to Central 
African Federation 

Sharpeville massacre 

Macmillan visits Washington to procure 
Skybolt missile 

Paris summit conference 

War in Congo begins 

Macmillan prepares ‘Grand Design’ 
document, December—January 

London Conference on Central African 

federation 

At Home: 

Lloyd’s ‘regulators’ Budget 

‘Little Budget’ introduces Pay Pause 

National Economic Development 
Commission launched 

Abroad: 

Macmillan meets Kennedy at Key West 

Commonwealth Conference on South 

Africa 

Macmillan begins negotiations on 

‘tripartitism’ with France 

Common Market application renewed 

Berlin Wall erected 

‘Congo bombs’ crisis 

Bermuda meeting 
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1962 

1963 

March 

12 July 

July 

September 

March 

March 

October 

December 

December 

March 

June 

September 

9 October 

January 

June 

July 

CHRONOLOGY 

At Home: 

Orpington by-election 

‘Night of the Long Knives’ 

National Incomes Commission 

launched 

Vassall case 

Abroad: 

Disarmament talks recommence, 

Geneva 

Butler put in charge of Central African 
Federation business 

Cuban Missile Crisis 

Dean Acheson’s West Point speech 
declares Britain’s global role ‘about 
played out’ 

Skybolt cancelled, Polaris bought 

At Home: 

Profumo affair breaks 

Profumo resigns 

Denning Report 

Macmillan resigns because of ill-health 

Abroad: 

French veto on Common Market entry 

Kenyan self-government 

Test-Ban Treaty 
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FURTHER READING 

SOURCES 

Macmillan’s own correspondence and papers, evidently volu- 
minous, were used by Alistair Horne in the official biography 
but remain closed to historians. Macmillan also kept an ex- 
tensive diary for much of his life. Extracts from his period 
as Minister-Resident are published in his War Dianes (London: 
Macmillan, 1984), and his memoirs, especially of the premier- 

ship, obviously depend on the diaries and reprint copious ex- 
tracts from them. Like most prime ministers, Macmillan made 
extensive and arguably improper use of government papers in 
his memoirs, in which he often paraphrases Cabinet papers 
when he does not reproduce them verbatim. 

Primary sources for his early political life are thinner, but 
there is useful material in the Lloyd George and Beaverbrook 
collections (in the House of Lords Record Office) about his 

political tergiversations in the 1930s. Among printed primary 
sources for that period, Stuart Ball (ed.), Parliament and Politics 

in the Age of Baldwin and MacDonald: the diaries of Sir Cuthbert 
Headlam, 1924-1935 (London: Historians’ Press, 1992), are 

the recollections of a County Durham MP who was as close 
to Macmillan as any politician; but he made little impact on 
other published diarists, such as Harold Nicolson, Hugh Dal- 

ton, Lord Crawford, or Chips Channon (except for references 
to the Boothby affair deleted by Robert Rhodes James when he 
edited The Diaries of Chips Channon for Weidenfeld and Nicol- 
son in 1967). 
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For the war period his own diaries, mentioned above, can 
be supplemented by skimpy references to his work preserved 
in the Public Record Office in the records of the Ministry of 
Supply and the Colonial Office, and more fully by his direct 
correspondence with Churchill when he was Minister-Resident, 
in PREM 3, and his telegrams which are in FO 660. As an 
ambitious Conservative in opposition he left some mark on 
the papers of the Conservative Research Department in the 
Bodleian Library (much of it critical commentary on his views 
or pretensions by Research Department staff); and inevitably 
he also made an impact on R.A. Butler’s papers, now at Trinity 
College, Cambridge, in which Butler’s own memoranda, espe- 
cially in boxes G18 to G33, provide intermittent commentaries 
on the rest of Macmillan’s career. 

As Minister of Housing and Minister of Defence his office 
correspondence is of course preserved in the Public Record 
Office, but other sources for that part of his career include his 
comments on Europe which are more conveniently found in 
Documents on British Policy Overseas, series 2, 1, (1950-52) than 

in the Foreign Office papers; and his participation in Cabinet 
discussions and in dialogue with the prime minister are found 
respectively in Cabinet minutes and papers, CAB 128 and 129, 
and in PREM 11. For his service as Foreign Secretary the prin- 
cipal source is FO 371, usefully supplemented by the diaries of 
Sir Evelyn Shuckburgh printed in Descent to Suez: diaries 1951-56 
(London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1986); there is also cor- 

respondence with Eden in the Avon papers in the University 
of Birmingham which in addition covers the next phase in his 
career, the Chancellorship of the Exchequer. As Chancellor 
his office papers are in T 172, with a useful special set on the 
Suez crisis in T 236; the diaries of Sir Robert Hall, printed in 

Alec Cairncross (ed.), The Robert Hall Diaries, Vol. IT 1954-1961 

(London: Unwin Hyman, 1991) contain some acute comment. 

The volume of government paper on his premiership is im- 
mense, and at the time of writing it is ‘open’ for the period 
until 1962. A great deal of sensitive, and therefore interesting, 

material has been withheld from the Public Record Office, es- 

pecially on nuclear policy and on Anglo-American and Anglo- 
Soviet relations. It must be said, though, that this leaves plenty 
to be going on with, and the best place to start is undoubtedly 
PREM 11, the prime minister’s Private Office papers. Most of 
the material by Macmillan which is eventually found in Cabi- 
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net papers in CAB 129 can also be located here, along with a 
great deal else. Because of Macmillan’s consistent interest in 
the party-political consequences of government policy, there 
is much to be gained by following issues through from PREM 
11 to the papers of the Conservative Party and the Conser- 
vative Research Department. Conservative Party papers also 
offer insights into Macmillan’s electoral performance. Lord 
Woolton’s ‘diary’, in the Bodleian Library, contains a few gems 
from this period, as do the papers of Walter Monckton in the 

same archive. Of the published sources for the period, few are 
truly primary, except for Harold Evans, Downing Street Diary: 
the Macmillan years 1957-63 (London: Hodder and Stoughton, 
1981), the recollections of the Downing Street press officer. 

BIOGRAPHY AND AUTOBIOGRAPHY 

Macmillan’s own six volumes (Winds of Change 1914-1939 
(London: Macmillan, 1966); The Blast of War 1939-1945 

(1967); Tides of Fortune 1945-1955 (1969); Riding the Storm 
1956-1959 (1971); Pointing the Way 1959-1961 (1972); At the 
End of the Day 1961-1963 (1973)) constitute a tour de force 

of historical self-justification, overwhelming subsequent histo- 
rians with detail and a plausible, sometimes witty and self- 
deprecating account of the predicament of an ambitious politi- 
cian. They are valuable principally for the quantity of primary 
material which they reprint, especially from the private diaries. 
The first, slightly premature attempt at a retrospective bi- 

ography was Emrys Hughes, Macmillan: portrait of a politician 
(London: Allen and Unwin, 1962), which in keeping with the 
time in which it was written portrayed its subject as a profound 
cynic. A more balanced account appeared in Anthony Samp- 
son, Macmillan: a study in ambiguity (Harmondsworth: Pen- 
guin, 1967), raising an interest in the intricacies of Macmil- 
lan’s political persona which was developed in Larry Sieden- 
top’s essay, ‘Mr Macmillan and the Edwardian Style’, in Ver- 
non Bogdanor and Robert Skidelsky (eds), The Age of Affluence 
(London: Macmillan, 1970). By contrast Nigel Fisher’s Harold 
Macmillan: a hography (London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 
1982) seems slight and superfluous. 
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The official biography by Alistair Horne is in two vol- 
umes, Macmillan, 1894-1956 (London: Macmillan, 1988) and 
Macmillan 1957-1986 (1989). Its strengths are the rich mine 
of personal recollection tapped by a biographer who enjoyed 
his subject’s confidence, and its exclusive use of Macmillan’s 
own diary and archive; some material is printed which does not 
appear in the autobiography. Its weakness is its majestic indif- 
ference to almost every other primary source which might bear 
on Macmillan’s life, except for some material from American 
presidential papers. In particular it neglects British govern- 
ment records and the available private collections of British 
politicians. It is therefore in some respects an extension of 
Macmillan’s own projection of himself, though it is helpful and 
candid about aspects of Macmillan’s private life which were en- 
tirely omitted from the autobiography. 

MACMILLAN’S WRITINGS 

Macmillan tried to make his political career by writing ex- 
tensively for the press when he was being ignored in Parlia- 
ment. His output of books and pamphlets, all helpfully pub- 
lished by Macmillan, began with Industry and the State (1927), 
written with John Loder, Oliver Stanley and Robert Boothby. 
Two pamphlets, The State and Industry (1932), and The Next 
Step (1932), were followed by Reconstruction: a plea for National 
Unity, a substantial volume published in 1933. He can safely be 
accounted author of at least part of The Next Five Years: an essay 
in political agreement (1935), and, with the help of Allan Young, 

of The Middle Way (1938). The Price of Peace, a pamphlet pub- 

lished in October 1938, was his last pre-war work. Between the 
end of the war and his return to office his output was confined 
to the press and a number of pamphlets drafted and redrafted 
within the Conservative Party machine. He did not return to 
authorship until his resignation; besides the autobiography he 
produced The Middle Way: Twenty Years After in 1966, which 
reprinted the original work with a lecture, first delivered in 
1956, explaining to his own satisfaction how the Conservative 
Party was the natural party of reforming government, and The 
Past Masters: politics and politicians in 1975. 
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SPECIAL TOPICS AND PERIODS 

Party politics in the 1920s is unevenly covered in the litera- 

ture. John Ramsden, The Age of Balfour and Baldwin (Harlow: 

Longman, 1978) is an authoritative account, concentrating on 

the party organisation but covering the problems of minorities 

such as the YMCA. There is also much material and valuable in- 

sight in Stuart Ball, Baldwin and the Conservative Party: the crisis 
of 1929-1931 (London: Yale, 1988); in Philip Williamson, Na- 

tional Crisis and National Government (Cambridge: Cambridge 
University Press, 1992); and in Robert Self, Tones and Tariffs: 

the Conservative Party and the politics of tariff reform, 1922-1932 

(New York: Garland, 1986). 

A longer tradition of writing about the 1930s bears more 
directly on Macmillan, starting with Arthur Marwick, ‘Middle 
Opinion in the 1930s: planning, progress and political agree- 
ment’, English Historical Review, 79 (1964). Arthur Marwick, 

Clifford Allen: the open conspirator (Edinburgh: Oliver and Boyd, 
1964), is complemented by Martin Gilbert (ed.), Plough my 
own Furrow (London: Longman, 1965) on the relationship be- 
tween Macmillan and Allen; other aspects of Macmillan’s ‘re- 
construction’ politics are covered in John Campbell, The Goat 
in the Wilderness: Lloyd George’s Political Career, 1922-1945 (Lon- 
don: Jonathan Cape, 1977), Max Nicholson, ‘The 1930s: Or- 

ganisation, Structure, People’, in John Pinder (ed.), Fifty Years 

of Political and Economic Planning (London: Heinemann Ed- 
ucational Books, 1981), and L.P. Carpenter, ‘Corporatism in 

Britain, 1930-1945’, Journal of Contemporary History, XI (1976), 

3-25. Simon Haxey (pseudonym), Jory M.P. (London: Gol- 
lancz, 1937) was fairly tolerant of Macmillan in the midst of 
a wholesale condemnation of the Tory Party. See also Robert 
Rhodes James, Bob Boothby: a portrait (London: Hodder and 
Stoughton, 1991). 
Appeasement and anti-appeasement is the stuff of which his- 

torical myths are made. Macmillan was rather more circum- 
spect in his opposition to Chamberlain’s policies than he al- 
lowed to appear in his memoirs, but so were most of those 
who later wrote about it. One must therefore turn to Neville 
Thompson, The Anti-appeasers: Conservative opposition to appease- 
ment in the 1930s (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1971), Anthony 
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Eden, Facing the Dictators (London: Cassell, 1962), Martin 
Gilbert, Winston Churchill Vol. V (London: William Heinemann, 
1976), and Maurice Cowling, The Impact of Hitler: British politics 
and British policy 1933-1940 (Cambridge: Cambridge Univer- 
sity Press, 1975), which say much about anti-appeasement but 
less about Macmillan. Adrian Smith, ‘Macmillan and Munich: 
the open conspirator’, Dalhousie Review, 68 (1988), 235-47, 
tackles the question head on, and Jorgen Rasmussen, ‘Gov- 
ernment and intraparty opposition: dissent within the Conser- 
vative Party in the 1930s’, Political Studies, 19 (1971), 172-83 is 
also useful. 

For Macmillan’s early war J.A. Bayer, ‘British policy towards 
the Russian—Finnish Winter War’, Canadian Journal of History, 
16 (1981), 27-65 provides a useful background, and for his 
stint at the Colonial Office M. Cowen and N. Westcott, ‘British 
imperial economic policy during the war’ in D. Killingray 
and R. Rathbone (eds.), Africa and the Second World War (Bas- 
ingstoke: Macmillan, 1987). For his service in the Mediter- 
ranean the essential background is Michael Howard, Grand 
Strategy, Volume 4 (London: HMSO, 1972) and the same au- 

thor’s The Mediterranean Strategy in the Second World War (Lon- 
don: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1968). See also John Charm- 
ley, ‘Harold Macmillan and the making of the French Com- 
mittee of Liberation’, International History Review, 4 (1982), 

553-67. The Greek episode has been particularly well cov- 
ered, notably in E.D. Smith, Victory of a Sort: the British in 

Greece 1941-1946 (London: Hale, 1988). On the Balkans, see 

P. Auty and R. Clogg, eds., British Policy towards Wartime Resis- 
tance in Yugoslavia and Greece (London: Macmillan, 1975). The 
‘Klagenfurt conspiracy’ first appeared in Nicholas Bethell, The 
Last Secret (London: Deutsch, 1977), then in Nikolai Tolstoy, 
Stalin’s Secret War (London: Cape, 1981), Nikolai Tolstoy, “The 

Klagenfurt Conspiracy’, Encounter, 60 (May 1983), 24-37, and 
finally Nikolai Tolstoy, The Minister and the Massacres (London: 
Hutchinson, 1986). It was deflated by Robert Knight, “Harold 
Macmillan and the Cossacks: Was there a Klagenfurt Conspir- 
acy?’, Intelligence and National Security, 1 (1986), 234-54, and 

finally destroyed by a libel judgement. Relations with Eden 
are well covered in Robert Rhodes James, Anthony Eden (Lon- 
don: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1986), which continues to be 

a useful source. 
On his return from Europe Macmillan became enmeshed 

287 



MACMILLAN 

in a political system which was not entirely ready to accept 

him. Besides the Eden biography, Anthony Howard has 

much to say in R.A.B: the life of R.A. Butler (London: Cape, 

1987). On the party in general J.D. Hoffman, The Conserva- 

tive Party in Opposition 1945-1951 (London: Macgibbon and 
Kee, 1964), though dated, remains useful, together with John 

Ramsden, The Making of Conservative Party Policy: the Conserva- 
tive Research Department since 1929 (London: Longman, 1980), 

which discusses the Industrial Charter and is also illuminat- 
ing on government-party relationships throughout Macmil- 
lan’s premiership. Macmillan’s ministerial contributions un- 
der Churchill are discussed rather blandly in Anthony Seldon, 
Churchill’s Indian Summer: the Conservative government 1951-1955 
(London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1981), and more sharply, 

as to Housing, in Harriet Jones’s unpublished London Ph.D. 
thesis ‘The Social Policy of the Conservative Party, 1951-1955’ 

€L992)% 
Richard Lamb, The Failure of the Eden Government (London: 

Sidgwick and Jackson, 1987), though somewhat breathless and 

inordinately critical of Macmillan’s part in the Messina affair, 
is useful for many aspects of his ministerial role in these years. 
For Macmillan’s short stint as foreign secretary it is necessary 
to go to treatments of particular themes over longer periods, 
which therefore tend to be useful also for his premiership. No- 
table among these is J. Baylis, Anglo-American Defence Relations 
1939-1980: the special relationship (London: Macmillan, 1981). 
At the Exchequer his work becomes part of the general prob- 
lem of British economic policy-making, and must therefore be 
studied in J.C.R. Dow, The Management of the British Economy 
1945-1960 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1965) 
and in Sam Brittan, Steering the Economy (Harmondsworth: Pen- 
guin, 1972). The Suez affair was a problem by itself, which has 

produced a huge volume of historical writing since the records 
were partially released in 1987. David Carlton in The Suez Cri- 
sis (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1989) is characteristically hard- 

hitting, as befits the author of Anthony Eden (London: Allen 

Lane, 1981). W.R. Louis and Roger Owen (eds), Suez 1956: 

the crisis and its consequences (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 
1989) contains a number of extremely authoritative chapters, 
as does S.I. Troen and M. Shemesh (eds), The Suez-Sinai Crisis, 

1956: retrospective and reappraisal (London: Cass, 1989); some 
of these, such as Julian Amery’s chapter in Troen and Shemesh 
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and Max Beloff’s in Louis and Owen, cover the political con- 
sequences during Macmillan’s premiership. W. Scott Lucas, 
Divided We Stand: Britain, the U.S. and the Suez crisis (London: 
Hodder and Stoughton, 1991) gives a blow-by-blow account at 
policy-making level, including the discussions with the United 
States in which Macmillan was most involved and arguably most 
at fault. The financial side is discussed by Diane Kunz in her 
contribution to the Louis and Owen collection, ‘The Impor- 
tance of Having Money: the economic diplomacy of the Suez 
crisis’, pp. 215-32, and by Lewis Johnman in ‘Defending the 
pound: the economics of the Suez crisis, 1956’ in T. Gorst, L. 
Johnman and W.S. Lucas (eds), Postwar Britain 1945-64 (Lon- 
don: Pinter, 1989), pp. 166-81. In the same volume W. Scott 
Lucas discusses ‘Neustadt revisited: a new look at Suez and the 
Anglo-American “alliance”’, pp. 182-202. Amid all this exact 
and exacting modern scholarship it is refreshing to return to 
the great self-justifying simplicities of Selwyn Lloyd, Suez, 1956 
(London: Cape, 1978) or Anthony Nutting, No End of a Lesson 
(London: Constable, 1967). 

Once the premiership is reached it is all the more difficult to 
focus on Macmillan as an individual; so much of the ebb and 

flow of historical interpretation is about the Macmillan govern- 
ment as a whole, rather than about Macmillan himself. More- 

over the Macmillan governments have thus far attracted rather 
less scholarly attention than the Churchill and Eden govern- 
ments which preceded them and whose documentary spoor has 
been longer in the public eye, or even than the Wilson govern- 
ments, whose history can be written without time-consuming 
recourse to the public records. This is partly because his gov- 
ernments contained no expert diarists, besides himself. One 
must therefore rely on the usual crop of memoirs, such as 
R.A. Butler’s Art of the Possible (London: Hamilton, 1971); 

Lord Kilmuir, Political Adventure: Memoirs (London: Weiden- 

feld and Nicolson, 1962); John Boyd-Carpenter, Way of Life 
(London: Sidgwick and Jackson, 1988); Reginald Maudling, 
Memoirs (London: Sidgwick and Jackson, 1978); Lord Home, 

The Way the Wind Blows (London: Collins, 1975); and, per- 

haps most usefully, John Wyndham, Wyndham and Children First 
(1968), written by Macmillan’s unpaid secretary and longstand- 

ing friend. More memorable than most of these are Clive Irv- 
ing, Ron Hall and Jeremy Wallington, Scandal ’63 (London: 
Heinemann, 1963) and Wayland Young, The Profumo Affair: As- 
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pects of Conservatism (Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1964). Inter- 
est in the Profumo affair, or rather the fate of Stephen Ward, 

has recently been revived by Anthony Summers and Stephen 
Dorril, Honeytrap: the secret worlds of Stephen Ward (London: Wei- 
denfeld and Nicolson, 1987) and in Phillip Knightley and Caro- 
line Kennedy, An Affair of State: the Profumo case and the framing 
of Stephen Ward (London: Cape, 1987); and in Ben Pimlott, 

Harold Wilson (London: Harper Collins, 1992) there is an in- 
teresting account of the Labour party’s use of the affair to rattle 
the government. 
On domestic policy the big issue was the economy. In addi- 

tion to J.C.R. Dow’s magisterial work cited above, it is necessary 
to consult the rather technical C.D. Cohen, British Economic Pol- 

icy 1960-1969 (London: Butterworth, 1971), which sadly lacks 
any narrative account and must therefore be supplemented 
by Samuel Brittan’s tendentious analysis in Steering the Economy 
(Harmondsworth: Penguin Books, 1971). Andrew Shonfield, 
British Economic Policy since the War (2nd edn, Harmondsworth: 
Penguin, 1959) was a remarkable contemporary study, as was 
Michael Shanks, The Stagnant Society (Harmondsworth: Pen- 
guin, 1961). The tradition of criticism is carried on in F. 
Blackaby, British Economic Policy 1960-1974 (Cambridge: Cam- 
bridge University Press, 1978) and in S. Pollard, The Wasting of 

the British Economy (London: Croom Helm, 1982). Sir Leo Pli- 

atzky, in Getting and Spending (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1982) 
offers an unusually sharp Treasury memoir, complemented by 
Alec Cairncross and Nina Watts, The Economic Section (London: 

Routledge, 1989). Discussion of the administration’s late con- 

version to planning can be found in Keith Middlemas, Power, 
Competition and the State, Vol I: Britain in Search of Balance 1940- 

1961 (Basingstoke: Macmillan, 1986) and Vol IJ: Threats to the 
Postwar Settlement 1961-1974 (Basingstoke: Macmillan, 1990). 
On external affairs the menu is richer, not least because of 

the salience of Anglo-American relations and the enormous 
literary productivity of retired American politicians. The gen- 
eral background is given by F.S. Northedge, Descent from power: 
British foreign policy, 1945-1973 (London: Allen and Unwin, 
1974). W.R. Louis and Hedley Bull (eds), The ‘Special’ Rela- 

tionship: Anglo-American relations since 1945 (Oxford: Oxford 
University Press, 1986) collects a large expert team; some spe- 
cial Anglo-American issues are covered in W.R. Louis, Jmper- 

alism at Bay: the United States and the de-colonization of the British 
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Empire (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1977); Alan Dob- 
son, The Politics of the Anglo-American Economic Special Relation- 
ship 1940-1987 (Brighton: Harvester Press, 1987); David Nun- 
nerly, President Kennedy and Britain (London: Bodley Head, 
1972); Timothy J. Botti, The Long Wait: the forging of the Anglo- 
Amencan nuclear alliance, 1945-1958 (New York: Greenwood, 
1987); Margaret Gowing, ‘Britain, America and the bomb’, in 
David Dilks, ed., Retreat from Power, Vol IT (London: Macmillan, 
1981), pp. 120-37; Richard D. Mahoney, JFK: Ordeal in Africa 
(New York: Oxford University Press, 1983), Richard Neustadt, 
Alliance Politics (New York: Columbia University Press, 1970). 
General works on American foreign policy which bear espe- 
cially on Macmillan’s premiership include George Ball, The Past 
has Another Pattern (New York: Norton, 1982); Dwight D. Eisen- 

hower, The White House Years: waging peace, 1956-1961 (Lon- 

don: Heinemann, 1966); William Kaufmann, The McNamara 

Strategy (New York: Harper and Row, 1964); Robert McNa- 

mara, The Essence of Security: reflections in office (London: Hod- 

der and Stoughton, 1968). Graham Allison, Essence of Decision 

(Boston: Little, Brown, 1972) examines the Cuban Missile Cri- 

sis, which is also laboriously covered, along with much else, 

in Arthur Schlesinger, A Thousand Days: John F. Kennedy in the 
White House (London: Deutsch, 1965). 

Besides the pleasures and pains of the special relationship, 
Macmillan’s contribution to decolonisation can best be under- 

stood against the background of John Darwin, Britain and De- 
colonisation: the retreat from Empire in the postwar world (Bas- 
ingstoke: Macmillan, 1987). See also R.F. Holland, ‘The Im- 

perial Factor in British Strategies from Attlee to Macmillan’, 
Journal of Imperial and Commonwealth History, 12 (1983), 165- 

86. On the unlamented Central African Federation, see Roy 

Welensky, Welensky’s 4000 Days (London: Collins, 1964). 
Last, the question of Europe. Miriam Camps, Britain and the 

European Community (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1964) is 
the first, and still the most useful, account of the evolution of 

policy and the negotiations leading up to the first rejection, but 
see Jeremy Moon, European Integration in British Politics 1950- 
1963: a study of issue change (Aldershot: Gower, 1985) and 
Robert J. Lieber, British Politics and European Unity (Berkeley: 
University of California Press, 1971). 
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° PROFILES IN POWER? 

General Editor: Keith Robbins, Principal, St David’s University College, 

Lampeter, University of Wales 

The latest addition to this distinguished series surveys the career of Harold 
Macmillan, from his days as an isolated and eccentric backbencher before 
the Second World War to his premiership of 1957-63. It explores his 
political ideas and political ambitions; his rise to supreme power; and the 
uses he made of it, in what was a key phase in Britain’s search for, and 
adaptation to, a post-imperial role in the modern world. 

Macmillan first achieved influence under Churchill during the war, but 
came to public prominence as a flamboyant and successful Minister of 

Housing in the early 1950s. He was then Foreign Secretary and Chancellor 
of the Exchequer under Eden. When the latter collapsed under the strain of 
the Suez debacle of 1956, Macmillan was well placed to elbow his lifelong 
rival, R. A. Butler, aside and snatch the supreme prize for himself. 

Macmillan’s premiership was in many ways unlucky, both at home and 
abroad. He presided over the dissolution of the British Empire, and the first 
stages of what has proved an irreversible economic decline; his “stop-go’ 
economic policies were notoriously unsuccessful; Britain’s first attempt to 
join the European Common ‘Market was rebuffed; and even the Special 
Relationship with Kennedy and the United States exposed, rather than 
disguised, Britain’s steady extinction as a Great Power. Yet most of this was 
inevitable. His ultimate reputation will depend on how posterity judges his 
understanding of these changes in the role and status of postwar Britain, and 
his skill in adapting himself and his country to meet them. 

John Turner’s short and incisive study is an impressive step towards that 
mature assessment. Using previously unpublished material, he shows that 
Macmillan was more successful and farsighted than his recent reputation has 
allowed, but also that his ‘unflappable’ image was the conscious creation of a 
devious and highly strung political operator, who used his power ruthlessly 
to reinforce his party’s - and his own - dominant position in British politics. 
The figure who emerges from these pages is not in many respects an 
attractive one; but it is more formidable and - in its indecisions and stresses - 

more human and revealing than the languid aristocratic persona so 
sedulously promoted by Macmillan in his elder statesman years. This is a 
book that will be necessary reading for anyone interested in the history and 

politics of postwar Britain, and its changing role on the international stage. 
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Holloway, University of London. 

Cover: Cartoon by Cummings (originally black and white, handcoloured by 
Margaret Blake), Daily Express 6 November 1960. Reproduced by kind permission 
of the Centre for the Study of Cartoons 

and Caricature, University of Kent at 
Canterbury. ISBN 0-582-5538b4-5 

ONGMAN 9 "780582"553866 


